Imperial College London Department of Brain Sciences

Evaluating Disorders of Cognition Using Integrative Genomics

Rahel Feleke

Submitted in part fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (PhD) June 2023

Copyright Declaration

The copyright of this thesis rests with the author. Unless otherwise indicated, its contents are licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-Non Commercial 4.0 International Licence (CC BY-NC). Under this licence, you may copy and redistribute the material in any medium or format. You may also create and distribute modified versions of the work. This is on the condition that: you credit the author and do not use it, or any derivative works, for a commercial purpose. When reusing or sharing this work, ensure you make the licence terms clear to others by naming the licence and linking to the licence text. Where a work has been adapted, you should indicate that the work has been changed and describe those changes. Please seek permission from the copyright holder for uses of this work that are not included in this licence or permitted under UK Copyright Law.

Statement of Originality

I hereby declare that the work presented in this document is original and independently conducted by me and my collaborators, as mentioned in the relevant sections. All sources of information and references used in this work have been properly acknowledged and cited. The ideas, concepts, and interpretations presented in this document are my own, and two papers have previously been submitted to two journals, Acta Neuropathologica and Brain. I take full responsibility for the authenticity and originality of this work.

The two publications mentioned in this work are as follows:

Feleke, R., Jazayeri, D., Abouzeid, M., Powell, K.L., Srivastava, P.K., O'Brien, T.J., Jones, N.C. and Johnson, M.R., 2022. Integrative genomics reveals pathogenic mediator of valproateinduced neurodevelopmental disability. Brain, 145(11), pp.3832-3842.

Feleke, R., Reynolds, R.H., Smith, A.M., Tilley, B., Taliun, S.A.G., Hardy, J., Matthews, P.M., Gentleman, S., Owen, D.R., Johnson, M.R., Srivastava, P.K. and Mina, R., 2021. Crossplatform transcriptional profiling identifies common and distinct molecular pathologies in Lewy body diseases. Acta Neuropathologica, 142, pp.449-474.

Acknowledgement

I would like to begin by thanking my Lord and Saviour, Jesus Christ. Through His providence, I have been able to overcome challenges and achieve success in my research endeavours. His steadfast presence has been a constant source of strength and comfort, and I am humbled by His grace and blessings.

I wish to express my sincerest thanks to the individuals who graciously donated their brain tissue, as their contribution has been instrumental in completing this thesis. Their generous contributions have enabled us to make progress in our understanding of neurological diseases. It is my hope that this research will honour their generosity by advancing our knowledge and ultimately leading to treatments for these devastating conditions.

I am incredibly fortunate to have had the support and mentorship of two great scientists, who have contributed significantly to the trajectory of my career. I would like to extend my heartfelt appreciation to my primary supervisor, Professor Michael Johnson, for his unwavering patience and steadfast guidance throughout my PhD journey. His expertise in systems biology, as well as his commitment to my development and improvement, have been important in moulding my research skills and assisting me in becoming a better research scientist. I am particularly grateful to Dr Prashant Srivastava, who gave me invaluable assistance and direction in assessing and analysing complex data. His advice and willingness to share his knowledge have been instrumental in the success of my research.

I am grateful to have been a part of a collaborative and dynamic research community that provided me with a learning and growing environment. I would like to thank my colleagues Jiahui Ji, Maya Abouzeid, Alexander Haglund, Jeong Hyun Ko, Ann C. Babtie, Liv Wiemann and Leonardo Bottolo for their support and friendship. Their constructive feedback, insightful discussions, and collaborative efforts have significantly contributed to my professional development and growth.

I shall be forever grateful to my dear family and friends, whose unwavering encouragement and support have been a constant source of comfort and strength to me. Their trust in my abilities has been the foundation of my success. To my dear parents and siblings, I cannot express my gratitude enough for their unconditional love. They have been my guiding lights, forever inspiring and motivating me to be my best self.

Finally, I would like to acknowledge the generous funding support of UKRI MRC for making my research possible. I would also like to extend my gratitude to Imperial College London for providing me with a stimulating and supportive research environment. The facilities, resources, and expertise available at Imperial College have been instrumental in facilitating my research and professional development.

Abstract

Integrative genomics embodies a collaborative approach that brings together various disciplines, merging genomic and computational methodologies to achieve a comprehensive understanding of complex biological systems. By integrating and analysing various omics datasets, researchers can uncover novel insights into biological processes, disease mechanisms, and molecular interactions.

This thesis applies integrative genomic approaches to study the biological mechanisms of cognitive disorders resulting from neurodegenerative and neurodevelopmental impairments. It includes three studies that utilise transcriptomic profiling to identify and assess these mechanisms. The final discussion chapter summarises the main findings, including shared and distinct mechanisms across different cognitive disorders, addressing technical limitations, and outlining future research directions.

The first study focuses on Lewy body diseases, utilising single-nucleus transcriptomics. Differential expression analysis reveals widespread dysregulation in neurons and glial cell types, with similar gene expression profiles observed in Parkinson's Disease Dementia (PDD) and Dementia with Lewy Bodies (DLB), while Parkinson's Disease (PD) shows distinct transcriptional profiles. Heritability enrichment analysis highlights a genetic association between glial cell dysregulation and PD age of onset. Additionally, a unique population of neurons associated with DLB, resembling medium spiny neurons, is identified.

The second study investigates early-stage abnormal tau species-related gene expression changes in Alzheimer's Disease (AD). Analysis of gene expression at the single-cell level demonstrates distinct patterns between Tau-proximity Ligation Assay (tauPLA) positive and tauPLA negative brain tissues. Dysregulation of genes in various cell-types in tauPLA positive samples is observed in the absence of neurofibrillary tangles. Reactive astrocyte activation, even in the absence of neurofibrillary tangles, is also reported for the first time in a transcriptomic-based study, suggesting their role in AD progression.

The third study examines the neurodevelopmental outcomes of valproate exposure. Transcriptomic analysis reveals significant gene expression changes in the brains of gestationally exposed pups, affecting synaptic function, neurodevelopment, and genes associated with schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, and IQ heritability. Differential splicing analysis suggests enduring effects on brain function through epigenetic encoding.

Convergent and divergent mechanisms underlying various neurodegenerative disorders are identified across the studies, including pathways related to axonal degeneration, mRNA splicing, synaptic organisation, autophagy, neuron death, phosphorylation, memory, mitochondrial function, and vesicle-mediated transport regulation.

This thesis contributes to understanding the biological basis of cognitive disorders through integrative genomic approaches, providing insights into shared and distinct mechanisms across different disorders. The findings have implications for the development of therapeutic interventions and underscore the importance of rigorous experimental design in transcriptomic investigations. Future research directions are outlined, aiming to further unravel the complex molecular mechanisms underlying cognitive disorders.

List of Abbreviations

- $\mathbf{A}\beta$ amyloid beta. 66
- A1 Reactive astrocytes. 94
- **AD** Alzheimer's Disease. v, 1, 4, 19, 65, 66, 134
- ADHD Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. 17, 106, 116
- AEDs Antiepileptic drugs. 99, 100
- **All-E** All Exposed. 112, 114
- All-N All Non-Exposed. 112, 114
- AMPA α -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid. 100
- **APOE** Apolipoprotein E. 29
- **APOE4** Apolipoprotein E 4. 29
- **APP** Amyloid Precursor Protein. 66, 92
- **ARIDIB** AT-rich interactive domain-containing protein 1B. 99
- **ASD** Autism Spectrum Disorder. 17, 99, 101, 106, 116, 118, 124, 125, 133, 134
- ASH1L ASH1 like histone lysine methyltransferase. 99
- ATP13A2 ATPase Cation Transporting 13A2. 28, 61
- ATP2B2 ATPase Plasma Membrane Ca2+ Transporting 2. 124

BD Bipolar Disorder. 106, 116, 126

BH Benjamin and Hochberg. 37, 77, 106

BIN1 Bridging Integrator 1. 29

BMI body mass index. 30

C-section Caesarean section. 104

CACNA1A calcium voltage-gated channel subunit alpha1 A. 45

CACNA1H Calcium channel, voltage-dependent, T type, alpha 1H subunit. 100

CACNG8 calcium voltage-gated channel auxiliary subunit gamma 8. 45

CAMATA1 Calmodulin Binding Transcription Activator 1. 118

CAMK2B Calcium/Calmodulin De- pendent Protein Kinase II Beta. 45

CAMK2D Calcium/Calmodulin Dependent Protein Kinase II Delta. 45

CAMK4 Calcium/Calmodulin Dependent Protein Kinase IV. 124

CCA canonical correlation analysis. 9

CDG Cross Disorders Group. 106, 116, 126

CDKL5 Cyclin- Dependent Dinase-Like 5. 56

cDNA complementary DNA. 4, 13, 34

CDR Cellular Detection Rate. 13, 37, 43

CHCHD2 coiled-coil helix coiled-coil helix domain 2. 28

CHD1 chromodomain helicase DNA binding protein 1. 98

CHD8 chromodomain helicase DNA binding protein 8.98

CMC Combined Multivariate and Collapsing Rare Variant Analysis. 14

- CNS Central nervous systems. 17, 94, 99
- CNVs copy number variations. 98
- Conos Clustering On Network Of Samples. 9
- **CPM** counts per million. 10
- \mathbf{CSF} cerebrospinal fluid. 66
- DDX3Y DEAD-Box Helicase 3 Y-Linked. 105
- **DE** Differential expression. 43
- **DEA** Differential Expression Analysis. 13, 36, 39, 83
- **DEGs** Differentially Expressed Genes. 41, 83, 105, 108, 112, 114, 134
- **DLB** Dementia with Lewy Bodies. v, 19, 20, 24, 33, 36, 37, 40, 134
- DLG2 discs large MAGUK scaffold protein 2. 45
- **DNA** Deoxyribonucleic acid. 3, 4
- DNAJC13 homolog subfamily C member 13. 28
- DNAJC6 DNAJ/HSP40 homolog subfamily C member 6. 28, 60
- **DPX** Distyrene, a Plasticizer, and Xylene. 73
- DSCAM DS cell adhesion molecule. 98
- DSM-5 Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental. 17, 98
- **DUBs** Deubiquitinating enzymes. 93
- DWLS Dampened Weighted Least Squares. 108, 111
- E-GAERS Exposed Genetic Absence Epilepsy Rats from Strasbourg. 105, 108, 112
- E-NEC Exposed Non-Epileptic Control. 105, 108, 112

EIF4G1 Eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4 gamma 1. 28

- **EMBL-EBI** The European Molecular Biology Laboratory-European Bioinformatics Institute. 107
- **EPI** Epilepsy. 106, 116
- eQTLs expression quantitative trait loci. 144
- ERK extracellular signal-regulated kinase. 101
- ERK1 Extracellular Signal-Regulated Kinase 1. 124
- ERK2 Extracellular Signal-Regulated Kinase 2. 124
- **EWCE** Expression Weighted Celltype Enrichment. 36, 38
- FBX07 F-box only protein 7. 28
- FDR false discovery rate. 37, 39
- FET Fisher's exact test. 82
- FFPE Formalin-Fixed Paraffin-Embedded. 72
- FGS first-generation DNA sequencing technology. 3
- FOXP2 Forkhead Box Protein P2. 56
- FOXP4 Forkhead box P4. 118, 125
- ${\bf FPR}\,$ false positive rate. 75
- GABA Gamma-aminobutyric acid. 100, 101
- GABAA gamma-aminobutyric acid A. 100
- GABRB3 Gamma-Aminobutyric Acid Type A Receptor Subunit Beta3. 124
- GAD2 glutamate decarboxylase 2. 118, 125

GAERS Genetic Absence Epilepsy Rats from Strasbourg. 102, 103, 110, 113, 116

- GBA Glucosylceramidase Beta 1. 28, 29, 59
- GGE Genetic Generalized Epilepsy. 100, 102
- **GO** Gene Ontology. 13, 37, 77, 106
- **GSEA** Gene-set enrichment analysis. 13

GWAS Genome-Wide Association Studies. 1, 14, 28, 31, 98, 116

H-MAGMA Hi-C-coupled MAGMA. 38, 78

 H_2O_2 hydrogen peroxide. 73

HCN1 Hyperpolarization Activated Cyclic Nu- cleotide Gated Potassium Channel 1. 124

HDAC histone deacetylase. 101, 126

HES heritability enrichment score. 14

hESCs human embryonic stem cells. 99

HGP Human Genome Project. 3

hiPSCs human induced pluripotent stem cells. 99

HTRA2 HtrA serine peptidase 2. 28

ID intellectual disability. 17

IGF1R Insulinlike Growth Factor1 Receptor. 56

IQ intelligence quotient. 2, 101, 106, 116, 126

KCNJ6 G protein-activated inward rectifier potassium chan- nel 2. 45

KDM6B Lysine demethylase 6B. 99

KEGG Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes. 77

KMT2A Lysine [K]-specific Methyl Transferase 2A. 99

KNN K-Nearest Neighbour. 11

LBDs Lewy Body Diseases. 20, 24, 26, 32, 43, 128

LD Linkage Disequilibrium. 14

LDSC Linkage Disequilibrium Score Regression. 14, 15, 79, 88, 106, 107, 116

LIGER Linked Inference of Genomic Experimental Relationships. 9

LRRK2 eucine-rich repeat kinase2. 28, 29, 92

MAGMA Multi-marker Analysis of GenoMic Annotation. 14

MAPK1 Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase 1. 56

MAPT icrotubule-associated protein tau. 29, 92

MAST Model-based Analysis of Single-cell Transcriptomics. 12, 36

MC1 monoclonal Receptor Polyclonal Antibody. 69

MDS Movement Disorder Societ. 33

MNNs mutual nearest neighbours. 8

MPPP 1-methyl-4-phenyl-4-propionoxypiperidine. 30

MPTP 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine. 30

MR Mendelian randomisation. 31

mRNA messenger RNA. 13, 24

MSN medium spiny neurons. 24, 60

mtRNA mitochondrial RNA. 140

N-GAERS Non-Exposed Genetic Absence Epilepsy Rats from Strasbourg. 105, 108, 112

- **N-NEC** Non-Exposed Non-Epileptic Control. 105, 108, 112
- NDDs Neurodevelopmental Disorders. 17, 98, 99
- NDs Neurodegenerative Diseases. 19, 136
- NEAD Neurodevelopmental Effects of Antiepileptic Drugs. 101
- NEC Non-Epileptic Control. 102, 103, 113
- NFTs neurofibrillary tangles. 66, 72, 73, 92, 95, 131
- NGS next-generation sequencing. 3
- NMDA N-metyl-D-aspartate. 101
- NTs neuropil threads. 73
- PARK7 Parkinsonism associated deglycase. 60, 92
- PC principal components. 35, 108
- PCA Principal component analysis. 11
- **PCR** Polymerase chain reaction. 4, 34
- **PD** Parkinson's Disease. v, 4, 19, 24, 33, 36, 37
- **PDD** Parkinson's Disease Dementia. v, 19, 20, 24, 33, 36, 37, 40
- PDE1A cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterase 1. 45
- PGC Psychiatric Genomic Consortium. 107
- PINK1 PTEN-induced putative kinase 1. 28, 29, 60, 92
- PMI post-mortem interval. 37, 43, 138
- **PNS** peripheral nervous systems. 17
- POLR3B RNA Polymerase III Subunit B. 99

PPP1R1B Protein Phosphatase 1 Regulatory Inhibitor subunit 1B. 56

PPP2R2B Protein Phosphatase 2 Regulatory Subunit Beta. 56

PRKN parkin RBR E3 ubiquitin protein ligase. 28, 29

PRS Polygenic risk score. 48

PSEN1 Presenilin 1. 29, 92

PSEN2 Presenilin 2. 29, 92

QC quality control. 41, 74, 104

RBD rapid eye movement sleep behaviour disorder. 33

RIN RNA integrity number. 34

 ${\bf RNA}$ Ribonucleic acid. 4

RNA-Seq RNA Sequencing. 4, 8, 12, 110

rno6 Rattus norvegicus reference genome. 104

 ${\bf rRNA}$ ribosomal RNA. 140

SCDE Single-cell differential expression. 12

SCN1A sodium voltage-gated channel alpha subunit 1. 18, 56, 124

SCN2A Sodium Voltage-Gated Channel Alpha Subunit 2. 124

scRNA-Seq Single-cell RNA Sequencing. 1, 4, 6, 8, 10, 12, 16, 76, 107, 111, 139

SCZ schizophrenia. 106, 116, 126

SFARI Simons Foundation Autism Research Initiative. 118, 119

SLC44A1 Solute Carrier Family 44 Member 1. 29

sLDSC stratified LD score regression. 15, 38

- **SNCA** α -synuclein. 27, 29, 46, 60, 92
- **SNP** single-nucleotide polymorphism. 1, 14
- SNPs Single nucleotide polymorphisms. 106
- snRNA-Seq Single-nucleus RNA Sequencing. 4, 6, 34, 39, 59, 70, 72, 74, 80, 82, 139
- SON SON DNA binding protein. 99
- SYNJ1 synaptojanin 1. 28, 60
- t-SNE t-distributed stochastic neighbor embedding. 11
- tauPLA Tau-proximity Ligation Assay. v, 72, 131
- **TBI** traumatic brain injury. 31
- TCF20 Transcription Factor 20. 99
- TCF4 Transcription Factor 4. 99
- TDP43 TAR DNA-binding protein 43. 93
- TIMP2 Tissue inhibitor of metal- loproteinases 2. 45
- TMEM175 Transmembrane Protein 175. 29
- UCHL1 ubiquitin c-terminal hydroxylase 1. 28, 60
- UMAP Uniform Manifold Approximation and Projection. 11, 35, 76, 82, 108
- **UMI** unique molecular identifier. 35
- **USA** United States of America. 18
- USP9Y Ubiquitin Specific Peptidase 9 Y-Linked. 105
- UTY Ubiquitously Transcribed Tetratricopeptide Repeat Containing, Y-Linked. 105
- **VPA** Sodium valproate. 100–103, 106, 110, 111, 113–116, 118, 123, 125

VPS13A Vacuolar Protein Sorting 13 Homolog A. 60

VPS13C vacualar pro- tein sorting 13C. 28

VPS35 vacuolar protein sorting 35. 28

WebGestaltR WEB-based GEne SeT AnaLysis Toolkit. 77, 106

 $\mathbf{WHO}\xspace$ World Health Organization. 19

 \mathbf{WHR} Waist-to-hips ratio. 116

Contents

\mathbf{A}	Abstract v		
1	Intr	oduction	1
	1.1	Genomics	3
		1.1.1 Bulk and Single-cell RNA-Sequencing	3
		1.1.2 Analytical methods to study the transcriptome	6
		1.1.3 Single-cell data pre-processing and analysis	8
	1.2	Disorders of cognition	17
		1.2.1 Neurodevelopmental influences on cognition	17
		1.2.2 Neurodegenerative influences on cognition	19
	1.3	Overview of Thesis	21
	1.4	Publications	22
2	Sing	gle-nucleus transcriptomics identifies common and distinct molecular patho	olo-
	gies	in Lewy body diseases	23
	2.1	Introduction	25
		2.1.1 Neuropathological features of Lewy Body Diseases	26

	2.1.2	Genetics of Lewy Body Diseases	27
	2.1.3	The influence of environment, diet and lifestyle factors	30
	2.1.4	Aim and objectives	32
2.2	Metho	ds	33
	2.2.1	Sample and tissue sectioning, nuclei and RNA isolation	33
	2.2.2	Single-nucleus RNA sequencing data generation and processing	34
	2.2.3	Mapping and post-alignment quality control	34
	2.2.4	Normalisation, clustering and doublet detection	35
	2.2.5	Joint graph generation and cell-type identification	36
	2.2.6	Generation of condition-specific cell-type specificity matrices	36
	2.2.7	Differential expression analyses	36
	2.2.8	Functional enrichment analysis	37
	2.2.9	H-MAGMA and LDSC	38
	2.2.10	Sub-clustering analysis	39
	2.2.11	Code and Data availability	39
2.3	Result	s	40
	2.3.1	Study design	40
	2.3.2	Data generation and pre-processing	40
	2.3.3	Joint graph generation	41
	2.3.4	Cell-type specific differential gene expression analysis	43

		2.3.5	Differentially expressed genes distinguish Lewy body dementias from	
			Parkinson's disease	45
		2.3.6	Identifying distinct and common molecular pathways in Lewy Body diseases	48
		2.3.7	Heritability enrichment analysis	53
	2.4	Discus	sion	59
		2.4.1	Transcriptional altercations in multiple cell-types distinguishes the Lewy	
			Body diseases	59
		2.4.2	Selective vulnerability of medium spiny neurons in Dementia with Lewy	
			bodies	60
		2.4.3	Pathways perturbed across multiple-cell types	60
		2.4.4	Heritability enrichment analysis reveals a genetic association between dif-	
			ferentially expressed genes and genetic determinants of Alzheimer's disease.	62
		2.4.5	Limitations of the study	63
3	Ass	essing	gene expression changes associated with the earliest detectable	
	abn	ormal	Tau species	64
	3.1	Introd	uction	66
		3.1.1	Amyloid and Tau pathology in Alzheimer's disease	66
		3.1.2	The role of tau oligomers in disease	66
		3.1.3	Tau seeding and propagation	68
		3.1.4	Techniques for detecting tau species	69
		3.1.5	Using tau-proximity ligation assay to visualise early tau-tau interaction	
			in situ	69

	3.1.6	Aims and objectives	70
3.2	Metho	ds	71
	3.2.1	Sample selection and tissue extraction	71
	3.2.2	Immunohistochemistry	72
	3.2.3	In situ tau proximity ligation assay	73
	3.2.4	Neuropathological analysis	73
	3.2.5	Nuclei Isolation and sequencing	74
	3.2.6	Analysis of single-nucleus data	74
	3.2.7	Quality control	74
	3.2.8	Integration of samples and cell-type identification	75
	3.2.9	Differential gene expression	76
	3.2.10	Functional enrichment of differentially expressed genes	77
	3.2.11	H-MAGMA and LDSC	78
	3.2.12	Single-nucleus trajectory analysis	79
	3.2.13	Code and Data availability	81
3.3	Result	S	82
	3.3.1	Transcriptomic profiling of the temporal cortex	82
	3.3.2	Cell-type identification	82
	3.3.3	Similar differential gene expression pattern was observed between inter- mediate and double positive groups	83
	3.3.4	Pathway enrichment analysis	85

		3.3.5	Heritability enrichment in differentially expressed genes	86
		3.3.6	Trajectory analysis	89
	3.4	Discus	sion	92
		3.4.1	Differential expression analysis highlights transcriptional similarities and differences between neurofibrillary tangle and early detected tau multimers	92
		3.4.2	Dysregulated neuronal and non-neuronal pathways identified in early tau pathology	92
		3.4.3	Activation of reactive astrocytes observed in early tau pathology	94
		3.4.4	Designing effective AD transcriptional analyses/ practical lessons sample selections	94
4	Inte	grative	e genomics reveals pathogenic mediator of valproate-induced neu-	
	rode	evelopr	mental outcomes	96
	4.1	Introdu	uction \ldots	98
		4.1.1	The genetic architecture of neurodevelopmental disorders	98
		4.1.2	Drug-induced neurodevelopmental disorders	99
		4.1.3	Translational animal model of VPA-induced teratogenicity	101
		4.1.4	Aims and objectives	102
	4.2	Metho	ds	103
		4.2.1	Experimental Design	103
		4.2.2	Transcriptome sequencing and gene expression data processing	104
		4.2.3	Differential gene expression analysis	105

	4.2.5	LD regression
	4.2.6	Deconvolution
	4.2.7	Code and Data availability
4.3	Result	s
	4.3.1	Study workflow and data collection
	4.3.2	Deconvolution analysis reveals no difference in cell-type composition be- tween VPA-exposed and non-exposed pup brains
	4.3.3	Differential gene expression analysis highlights transcriptional changes in VPA-exposed pup brains
	4.3.4	Pathway enrichment analysis reveals functional consequences of VPA- Induced differential gene expression in the developing brain
	4.3.5	Genes down-regulated by gestational VPA exposure are highly enriched for heritability for neurodevelopmental traits and disease
	4.3.6	Alternatively spliced genes in VPA exposed pups compared to non-exposed pups
	4.3.7	A substantial overlap between genes down-regulated in VPA-exposed pup brains and genes genetically linked to increased autism risk
4.4	Discus	sion $\ldots \ldots \ldots$
	4.4.1	No substantial shifts in the composition of the major cell-types
	4.4.2	Transcriptional dysregulation in pup brains following gestational VPA exposure
	4.4.3	Enrichments of heritability in the down-regulated genes
	4.4.4	Differential mRNA splicing in the brain

		4.4.5	Other anti-epileptic drugs	25
		4.4.6	Conclusion and future direction	26
5	Dise	cussion	ı 1:	27
	5.1	Discus	sion \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 1	28
		5.1.1	Using transcriptomics profiling to study brain disorders: A summary of key findings from the current studies	28
		5.1.2	Convergent and divergent mechanisms underlying various types of neurodegenerative disorders	32
		5.1.3	Overlapping and distinct perturbed pathways in neurodegeneration and neurodevelopment	33
		5.1.4	Challenges in transcriptomic data analysis arising from biological aspects 1	35
		5.1.5	Technical differences between single-cell and single-nucleus RNA-Seq $~$ 1	39
		5.1.6	The limitations of single-nucleus RNA-Sequencing	39
		5.1.7	Other technical limitations	41
		5.1.8	Alternatives to using single-nucleus RNA-Sequencing based differential expression analysis methods:	43
		5.1.9	Future work	44

Bibliography

147

List of Tables

2.1	Number of subjects per group 4	13
3.1	Differential expression analyses	7
4.1	Number of pups per group and exposure status)4
4.2	Differential gene expression analysis: case control comparisons	3

List of Figures

1.1	Decades of Progress	2
1.2	Overview of single-cell/ single-nucleus and bulk RNA Sequencing: Data Gener-	
	ation	5
1.3	An overview of single-cell/single-nucleus RNA sequencing data analysis	7
1.4	An overview of the chapters of the thesis	21
2.1	Overview of approach.	40
2.2	Cell-type proportions.	42
2.3	Gene expression changes and perturbed pathways across cell-types and disease	
	state	44
2.4	Cell-type-specific alterations of PD-associated genes and pathways across disease	
	versus control comparisons.	47
2.5	Pathways significantly enriched for up-regulated genes	49
2.6	Pathways significantly enriched for down-regulated genes	50
2.7	Genetically PD-linked pathways significantly enriched for up-regulated genes	51
2.8	Genetically PD-linked pathways significantly enriched for down-regulated genes.	52

		•	•	
XXV	l	1	1	

2.9	Genetic association analysis using Hi–C-coupled MAGMA and stratified LD	
	score regression.	54
2.10	Cell-type specific clustering of neurons	57
2.11	Proportions of neurons derived from each group for each cluster	58
3.1	Insights into Alzheimer's Disease progression through visualisation of tau protein	
	aggregates	68
3.2	Overview of samples used in the study	71
3.3	Overview of pre-processing steps and downstream analysis carried out using 16	
	human brain tissue samples	74
3.4	A UMAP plot representing nuceli dervied from all subjects.	83
3.5	Cell-type-specific gene expression changes and pathway across all comparison	84
3.6	Total number of differentially expressed genes across all cell-types	84
3.7	Reduced biological process gene ontology (GO) terms	86
3.8	Genetic association with cell-type specific differentially expressed genes across	
	all pairwise comparisons	88
3.9	Monocle 3 identified a strocytic gene sets referred to as modules $\ \ldots \ \ldots \ \ldots$	90
4.1	Overview of experimental design and data processing	103
4.2	Deconvolution on bulk samples showing cell-type proportion for each group com-	
	parison and for each major brain cell-type	111
4.3	Principal component analysis plots	112
4.4	Summary of differential gene expression results for valproate-exposed versus non-	
	exposed comparisons	114

4.5	Pathway enrichment for valproate-exposed versus non-exposed pups
4.6	Heritability enrichment in differentially expressed genes
4.7	Overlapping genes between different ASD-associated genes

Chapter 1

Introduction

Over the past few decades, interdisciplinary approaches to interrogate complex diseases have transformed the field of neuroscience research (Figure 1.1). Integrative genomics approaches using high throughput sequencing genomics data and computational tools are routinely used to identify disease-relevant biological and molecular pathways and characterise and study the function of vital organs [56, 77, 273]. Furthermore, associating disease-perturbed pathways with disease outcomes facilitates disease prevention, diagnosis and treatment [120, 204, 266].

For example, Jagadeesh et al.(2022) [133] used Single-cell RNA Sequencing (scRNA-Seq), epigenomic single-nucleotide polymorphism (SNP)-to-gene maps and Genome-Wide Association Studies (GWAS) summary statistics to infer cell type-phenotype relationships for neurological disorders, including γ -aminobutyric acid-ergic neurons in major depressive disorder. Furthermore, the authors also identified a disease-specific complement cascade process in multiple sclerosis. Similarly, Mathys et al.(2019) [205] used single-nucleus transcriptomes from the prefrontal cortex of late and early-stage AD samples to elucidate transcriptional changes in various cell-types. Additionally, the authors applied correlation analysis using gene expression and AD-related neuropathological traits using self-organising maps (unsupervised machine learning algorithms) to identify gene-trait correlation modules implicating genetic risk factors for both general cognitive function and AD.

In another example, Johnson et al. (2016) [142] applied system-level approaches to gene ex-

pression data from human hippocampus samples to draw connections between genetic factors that contribute to variation in cognitive ability (specifically, intelligence quotient intelligence quotient (IQ)) and those contributing risk to neurodevelopmental disease.

In this thesis, I will summarise three studies where I used integrative genomics approaches to elucidate some of the mechanisms underlying cognitive disorders arising from heterogeneous causes, including drug-induced neurodevelopmental impairments and neurodegeneration. In the current chapter, I will introduce the computational techniques used to study the transcriptome and briefly introduce the disorders of cognition under investigation. In Chapter 2 and Chapter 3, I will focus on diverse mechanisms that can cause dementia, including Lewy Body dementia and tau pathology, while Chapter 4 will focus on drug-induced neurodevelopmental impairments. In Chapter 5.1, I will summarise the convergent and divergent mechanisms underlying various types of dementia; lastly, I will discuss limitations and future work.



Figure 1.1: **Decades of Progress**. A timeline of some of the significant milestones in the field of genomics of neuroscience in the past few decades, highlighting the key breakthroughs and advancements that have shaped our understanding of the genetic basis of neurological disorders and brain function.

1.1 Genomics

Genomics is a branch of molecular biology that focuses on analysing and interpreting the entire set of genes, known as the genome, or a specific set of genes within an organism. Since the conception of the term "genomics" by Dr Thomas H. Roderick in 1986 [348], "omics" based biological research has been used to characterise and study biological processes that are vital for an organism to live. The omics era began in October 1990 after The Human Genome Project Human Genome Project (HGP) started. The project was launched by an international group of scientists with the aim of deciphering a reference human genome sequence to facilitate more effective approaches to studying human genetics. The result was generating an accurate reference sequence for each human chromosome (excluding large heterochromatic regions and a small number of gaps). This led to the HGP being instrumental in developing sequencing technologies for mapping and sequencing Deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) [122]. Since the early 2000s, using *in silico* (computational) techniques for analysing large-scale genomics datasets has broadened our understanding of biology, including the human brain. Following the HGP project, several studies (Figure 1.1) have generated multiple biological data (including genomics, transcriptomics, and proteomics) from both human and model organisms. In 2007, the first genome-wide atlas of gene expression in the adult mouse brain was generated by Lein et al. [177]. While in 2015, a multidimensional genomic database of the human brain (from both healthy and diseased samples) was generated by the PsychENCODE consortium [5]. Although these databases have proven effective in medical research, many questions remain regarding brain disorders.

1.1.1 Bulk and Single-cell RNA-Sequencing

The first-generation DNA sequencing technology (FGS) was a chain termination method developed in 1977 by Sanger and Coulson [117]. The method uses gel electrophoresis to create sequencing ladders and performs base calling using fluorescent-based labelling techniques. Over the last decades, high-throughput next-generation sequencing (NGS) methods have evolved to enable Ribonucleic acid (RNA) analysis by first converting RNA to complementary DNA (cDNA) by reverse transcription, followed by ligation of sequencing adaptors to the ends of the cDNA fragments and finally amplification of the fragments by Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) and generating RNA Sequencing (RNA-Seq) libraries [117]. Once libraries are prepared, DNA sequences are generated through a series of steps, which varies depending on the technology used [171, 277, 278, 368]. In general, libraries are first loaded onto a flow cell, where DNA fragments are immobilised and amplified, forming clusters containing multiple copies of the same sequences in close proximity. Next, a sequencing-by-synthesis process (using fluorescently labelled reversible terminators) occurs, involving iterative cycles of nucleotide incorporation and imaging for each cluster. The emitted fluorescence signal is detected to determine the sequence of each fragment. Following this, the raw fluorescence signal data undergo a data processing step, converting them into base calls that represent the DNA sequencing of each call, are stored as sequence reads. The reads are then used in the down-stream analyses using several computational tools [171, 277, 278, 368].

Depending on the down-stream analyses (Figure 1.2), there are two widely used sequencing types: single-end short sequencing and paired-end longer sequencing, the latter of which is used to gain more comprehensive information about the transcriptome and aimed at analysis focusing on novel transcript identification, gene fusions, and point mutations as well as differential expression [181]. Bulk RNA-Seq data provides measurements of gene expression values that represent an average across all the different cell-types in the tissue being analysed. Until recently, most gene expression analyses were based on gene expression data from bulk tissue samples. However, developing methods to assay the transcriptomes of individual cells, using a method referred to as scRNA-Seq, offered the opportunity to resolve gene expression within individual cell-types. For example, early scRNA-Seq work identified novel transcriptionally distinct classes of microglia [93] and dopaminergic neurons [123] and showed that these celltypes were enriched in genetic risk to AD and PD, respectively. Initially, scRNA-Seq of the brain was limited to fresh tissue samples, however, the introduction of Single-nucleus RNA Sequencing (snRNA-Seq) enabled the application of scRNA-Seq advantages to frozen brain tissue samples


Figure 1.2: Overview of Single-cell/Single-nucleus and bulk RNA Sequencing: Data GenerationThe experimental design involves the selection of biological samples, library preparation, and sequencing on the appropriate platform. After sequencing, the raw data undergoes several pre-processing steps, such as quality control and alignment to a reference genome. For single-cell/single-nucleus RNA sequencing, data are further processed to identify and quantify gene expression at the single-cell level, including normalisation, gene filtering, and clustering. Finally, downstream analysis can include differential gene expression, pathway analysis, and cell-type identification. Abbreviation: RNA-Ribonucleic acid.

[166],[110]. Several studies have explored the comparability between the nuclear transcriptome and the transcriptome of the whole cell. These studies have consistently demonstrated the reliability of snRNA-Seq, providing strong evidence that snRNA-Seq accurately represents the RNA content at the tissue level [110],[165]. Furthermore, Habib et al. (2017) showed the expression profile of single nuclei to highly correlate with the average profile of single whole cells (Pearson r=0.87)[110]. Additionally, 98% of transcripts are represented in whole nuclei versus whole cells [319].

The challenges in detecting differences in gene expression levels associated with disease using bulk-tissue RNA-Seq are confounded by differences in cell-type abundances that may result from the disease itself or occur by chance due to sampling or other systematic differences between case and control samples. In contrast, at least in principle, scRNA-Seq and snRNA-Seq offers an opportunity to identify cell-type specific differences in gene expression associated with disease states and discover rare or uncharacterised cell-types and cell states in diseased compared to healthy tissues. Since then, both techniques have been widely used due to the rapid technological advancement that allowed parallel analysis of thousands of cells, which was also accompanied by the development of data analysis pipelines capable of analysing large amounts of biological data [181].

1.1.2 Analytical methods to study the transcriptome

Both bulk and scRNA-Seq technologies provide powerful platforms for comprehensive analysis of the whole transcriptome. Quantitative gene expression analysis is crucial for generating hypotheses about the molecular mechanisms underlying disease and physiological states, and several computational pipelines have been developed to carry out this task [162, 352]. The pipelines for data analysis (after mapping reads to a specific reference genome and gene expression quantification), in general, include three main sections (Figure 1.3) [162, 352, 322, 58, 316]:

(A) **Data pre-processing**, including (i) quality control of count data; (ii) integration of count data.

(B) Data analyses, including (i) dimensionality reduction; (ii) clustering.



Figure 1.3: An overview of single-cell/single-nucleus RNA sequencing data analysis. The Single-cell/Single-nucleus RNA-Seq analysis pipeline refers to a series of computationally based analyses of transcriptomic data. The process involves several steps, including measuring the level of gene expression, checking the quality of the read counts, integrating the data, normalising the data, selecting specific features (most variable genes), reducing the dimensionality of the data, clustering cells with similar profiles, annotating the cells based on their characteristics (cell-type identification), and performing further analyses. The final set of analyses is particularly important as it helps researchers to distinguish between different cell populations, identify genes that are differentially expressed between different cell-types or conditions, and conduct various other analyses based on the transcriptomic profiles of the cells. Abbreviations: LIGER (Linked Inference of Genomic Experimental Relationships); CPM (counts per million);t-SNE (t-distributed stochastic neighbour embedding); UMAP (Uniform Manifold Approximation and Projection); PCA (Principal component analysis); RNA (Ribonucleic acid).

(C) **Downstream analyses**, including (i) differential splicing analysis; (ii) differential expression analysis; (iii) further downstream analyses to determine the functional consequences of differentially expressed or spliced genes. These analyses include (a) functional enrichment analyses, which test whether a set of genes is enriched for genes that contribute to certain biological processes, molecular function or cellular compartments beyond random expectation and (b) heritability enrichment analysis which tests whether a gene set (for example one consisting of genes differentially expressed between case and controls) is enriched for genes which contribute genetic risk for disease (heritability enrichment analysis) and (c) single-cell trajectory inference to explore the underlying path gene expression follows in a dynamic biological process such as between disease or developmental states.

1.1.3 Single-cell data pre-processing and analysis

Data pre-processing

A crucial requirement for a successful RNA-Seq study is a well-defined and meaningful experimental design. The design should start with a clear understanding of the biological questions to be addressed, which will influence the choice of library type, the number of biological replicates per condition (which influences statistical power), sequencing depth and steps required to minimise biases and/or confounding batch effects.

The preliminary steps for data pre-processing of RNA-Seq datasets include a quality check of raw reads outputted from the sequencer. For bulk RNA-Sequencing datasets, this is done using tools such as FastQC [10] and STAR [75] to map reads to a reference genome, adapter trimming, and generate counts. For scRNA-Seq, data pre-processing analysis (Figure1.3a-b) steps can be done using a tailored pipeline such as CellRanger [363] (which was developed to carry out quality checks of reads, mapping and count generation of single-cell datasets) or other computational tools tailored for each step separately [209, 270]. As part of the quality control initial steps for scRNA-Seq datasets, removing potentially 'empty' cells from the data matrices is a crucial step. These empty cells, also called ambient RNA-containing cells (cell-free transcripts in the solution in which the cells are suspended [191, 196, 369]), are among the main issues of using droplet-based scRNA-Seq assays. Their presence in the dataset could lead to systemic biases in downstream analysis [191]. In order to resolve this, Fleming et al.(2019) [369] used a deep generative model to learn the background RNA profile and separate cell-containing droplets from empty ones.

In some cases, single-cell datasets are generated using different technology platforms with differences in equipment, capturing time, reagents, and even handling personnel. These differences could introduce biases due to incomplete library sequencing, capture efficiency, differences in technology platforms or amplification bias (Figure1.3b), making samples incomparable [279].; therefore, batch-specific systemic effects need to be removed prior to downstream analysis [113]. To address this, several workflows have been developed. For example, to handle scRNA-Seq data, a mutual nearest neighbours (MNNs) based algorithm is used to align the datasets into shared space. The algorithm first identifies similar cells (mutual neighbours) between batches. The difference (batch effect) between the cells is then quantified and used as a scale to merge the datasets (batches). The degree of difference is also used to assess the batch effect's strength. Recently, a computationally less demanding approach known as fastMNN has been developed to compute the neighbours in dimensionally reduced space [113]. Among recently developed integration tools are:

(i) **Clustering On Network Of Samples (Conos)**, a method which uses a graph-based approach to construct a global graph (connecting all cells across several datasets). First, the algorithm identifies MNNs between cells in different datasets. Next, MNNs align the datasets and integrate them into a unified representation. Further, Conos allows the identification of clusters found across all datasets and those uniquely found in each dataset [19].

(ii) **Seurat Version 3** provides a method which aligns data batches using canonical correlation analysis (CCA) based approaches. Briefly, shared correlation structures are identified across datasets using CCA (which projects the data into a subspace). Next, MNNs are computed in the subspace and used as anchors to correct the data [299].

(ii) Linked Inference of Genomic Experimental Relationships (LIGER), an integration tool which uses a graph-based approach to integrate datasets. Briefly, the algorithm first constructs a graph using all cells, where each node represents a cell and the edges represent the similarity between cells based on their expression profiles. Next, the algorithm uses a graph-matching method to integrate the datasets by finding a common space in which cells from different datasets are aligned based on their expression profiles. After integration, joint clustering is performed to identify cell types conserved across the different datasets [338].

Data analysis

Furthermore, to ensure comparability of expression measurements across different cells in downstream analysis, it is crucial to address biases introduced due to technical variations, such as differences in sequencing depth, gene length, GC content, and dropout events. These biases can obscure underlying biological differences between samples, making it challenging to accurately interpret biological signals. To overcome this limitation, adjusting the expression measurements to make them proportional to the true expression levels (to normalise the data) before using raw counts in the downstream analysis is necessary [192, 41, 8].

Generally, the normalisation process includes either a linear regression approach (to estimate size factors) or a non-linear approach using parametric modelling on count data [8, 41, 112]. In both approaches, absolute counts are turned into ratios (i.e., how many transcripts of gene A are there per 10,000 total counts), and then the relative number (normalised value) is transformed to reduce the skewness or regress technical variation. Commonly used normalisation methods in the scRNA-Seq analysis include:

i) **LogNorm**, a method that is based on log transformation in which each gene is first transformed by taking the logarithm of the count values, followed by standardization of the value across all cells by subtracting the mean expression value and dividing by the standard deviation [41].

(ii) **counts per million (CPM)**, a widely used normalisation method which accounts for differences in sequencing depth. CPM is computed by dividing the raw count for each gene by the total number of reads in the sample, followed by multiplying (scaling) the value by a million [8].

(iii) sctransform, a method specifically designed for UMI-based scRNA-Seq data with high levels of technical noise or batch effects. Unlike other normalisation methods, which make assumptions about the data distribution, sctransform uses the Bayesian framework to model the distribution of technical noise in each cell. Briefly, sctransform fits a generalised linear model for sequencing depth as the explanatory variable, and UMI counts as the response variable. Next, each count is transformed into a Pearson residual using the parameters computed by the model. The transformed count is then used as a normalised value [112].

Moreover, dimensionality reduction techniques are applied in scRNA-Seq data analysis to mitigate noise that could impede the identification of meaningful patterns or structures [302]. By transforming the high-dimensional scRNA-Seq data into a lower-dimensional space, dimensionality reduction techniques retain the essential features that contribute to variation in the datasets while removing irrelevant features and noise, thus, improving the accuracy and interpretability of biological signals.

Principal component analysis (PCA) is a dimensionality reduction technique widely used to visualise biological or technical variation within a dataset [143]. The PCA method takes large input data (gene counts) and reduces the dimensions to a set of linearly transformed dimensions while maintaining as much of the data's variation as possible. The transformed dimensions are plotted as a two-dimensional plot. The plot can also be used in identifying technical and biological outliers. However, for complex structured datasets such as (single-cell datasets), non-linear combination methods are used, such as t-distributed stochastic neighbor embedding (t-SNE) [183] and Uniform Manifold Approximation and Projection (UMAP) [20]. While both methods are used to visualise complex datasets, UMAP estimates low dimensions of the dataset, while t-SNE reduces high dimensional dataset to low dimensional graph but focuses more on capturing local structure instead of the global structure.

In general, dimensionality reduction is applied prior to clustering, as reducing the dimensionality of high-dimensional data can help improve the performance and interpretability of clustering algorithms. The main goal of clustering is to group cells based on the similarity of their gene expression profiles, which can reveal cell-types, states, or sub-populations that may be present in the dataset. The two commonly used algorithms, Louvain and Leiden are based on K-Nearest Neighbour (KNN) graph [26, 313]. These (graph-based) clustering methods compute Euclidean distance on the PC reduced expression space to connect each cell to its nearest (k most similar) cell in the same dataset, and each cell is represented as a node in a graph. Once clusters are defined, known cell-type specific marker genes are used to identify the cell-type and downstream analyses are carried out on a cell-type basis.

The main difference between the Louvain and Leiden systems is their approaches to community detection. While Louvain starts with individual nodes in different communities and repeatedly combines them to optimise modularity scores, Leiden includes a refinement phase that evaluates the quality of each individual node migrations across communities. Compared to Louvain, this refining phase enables Leiden to create more accurate partitions, particularly in networks with highly heterogeneous community sizes or noisy data.

Data Interpretation

After clustering and identifying cell-types, several downstream analyses are carried out, including differential expression analysis, gene sets enrichment analysis and enrichment of heritability.

(a) Differential expression analysis

Differential expression analysis methods seek to quantify differences in gene expression between conditions and can be applied to single transcripts or genome-wide gene expression datasets derived from microarray [288], bulk RNA-Seq or scRNA-Seq datasets [8, 88]. Count data are usually normalised to enable direct comparison of gene expression between samples/groups, which is then analysed using a statistical method. Current methods used for bulk RNA-Seq differential analysis can be grouped into three main categories: (i) non-parametric methods (ii) Poisson or negative binomial model-based and (iii) linear models [290]. Parametric methods assume count distributions follow a specific distribution (log-normal, negative binomial, Poisson, or empirical bayes). For example, edgeR [257], a method which uses a parametric model (negative binomial) to model the counts. In contrast, non-parametric methods do not rely on such assumptions; therefore, they tend to be more robust when the expression of a gene deviates from a distribution assumed by the model [290].

Unlike bulk RNA-Seq-based methods, single-cell-based methods can theoretically characterise complex responses to biological or experimental perturbations. However, due to the heterogeneity, sparsity, small library sizes, drop-out events (due to the low capture efficiency of RNA molecules, some transcripts can be highly expressed in one cell and completely missing in another cell of the same population), and high noise level found in single-cell data, it is challenging to produce biologically accurate results using bulk-RNA Seq based methods [127, 190, 88]. For this reason, new methods have been proposed to address the challenges of drop-out events and multimodal expression values. Among the most commonly used methods, Single-cell differential expression (SCDE) [153] and Model-based Analysis of Single-cell Transcriptomics (MAST) [89] use a two-part joint model to identify differentially expressed genes. MAST is a tool tailored for scRNA-Seq data analysis. The method was developed to address the challenges associated with scRNA-Seq data including, bimodality in expression levels; technical assay variability, for example, messenger RNA (mRNA) quality; and extrinsic biological factors including, differences in cell sizes. MAST is based on a two-part generalised linear model that models the discrete expression rate of each gene across cells (using logistic regression) and the continuous positive gene expression mean (using the Gaussian linear model) in parallel. This allows a joint estimate of background and treatment effects. Further, MAST uses the fraction of genes detectably expressed in each cell termed Cellular Detection Rate (CDR) as a covariate to adjust for technical factors, including the dropout and biological factors, including cell volume.

Wang et al. 2019 [333] recently published a comparative study of Differential Expression Analysis (DEA) methods used, in which they observed methods with high true positive rates with low precision, while methods with high precision showed low true positive rates. Therefore, the authors concluded that precautions must be taken when choosing a method, and it is important to have a trade-off between true positive rates and the precision of identifying differentially expressed genes.

(b) Functional enrichment analysis

Functional enrichment analysis, including Gene-set enrichment analysis (GSEA) and overrepresentation analysis, is carried out to examine whether identified DEG sets are meaningful to biological or molecular mechanisms and to generate hypotheses regarding the underlying biological consequences of experiments. GSEA [301] has been used in downstream analysis since the year 2001 when Gene Ontology (GO) [61] was first launched to facilitate the interpretation of DEGs generated by cDNA microarrays. GO consists of a hierarchical structure of terms related to biological processes, cellular components or molecular functions and their relationships to lists of annotated genes. Gene annotations were manually assigned from experimental analysis or automated/computational methods. GO enrichment analysis is carried out to test if GO terms are under or over-represented within the DEGs sets or gene set of interest [301, 182].

(c) Enrichment of heritability

Heritability enrichment analyses are statistical methods used to test whether a set of genes (or genomic regions) are enriched for heritability to a specific trait or physiological phenotype beyond random expectation. Since gene expression may vary both as a cause and a consequence of disease, statistically significant enrichment of heritability is usually taken to suggest that the gene set has a proximal (i.e., causal) relationship to the phenotype under investigation. These forms of analysis can be done using common genetic variation SNP data from GWAS[324] or rare variant analysis [176].

There are various methods available for analyzing rare variants; one such approach is the Combined Multivariate and Collapsing Rare Variant Analysis (CMC) [179]. The method tests for association between rare variants and a trait by first collapsing variants within a genomic region, then comparing the frequency of the collapse variants between cases and controls. Further, it can be applied to genomics regions, including exons, introns and regulatory regions. Further, the heritability enrichment score (HES) for each region, as defined by the method, measures the extent to which a genomic region is enriched for heritability relative to the genome-wide average [179].

In a recent study, the authors performed a rare variant heritability enrichment analysis to identify genomic regions enriched for heritability in schizophrenia. By meta-analysing the whole exomes of over 121,000 cases and controls, the authors implicated several rare coding variants in 42 genes as conferring risk for schizophrenia (odds ratios of 3–50, $P < 2.14 \times 10^{-6}$ for 10 genes; and 32 genes at a false discovery rate of < 0.05) [282].

Common variants are typically used in heritability enrichment analyses because they are more prevalent in the population than rare variants, making them easier to study. There are several methods for conducting heritability enrichment analysis using common variants. Multi-marker Analysis of GenoMic Annotation (MAGMA) [43], and Linkage Disequilibrium Score Regression (LDSC) [40] are widely used methods to estimate genetic correlation. MAGMA uses a gene-level regression approach by first generating gene-level p-value as the mean of association of variants in the gene (using GWAS summary statistics and Linkage Disequilibrium (LD) corrected) and then calculates continuous p-values based on the association of the mean (overall) p-value of the gene with that of the gene of interest. In other words, the gene-set analysis tests if the genes in a specific set are more strongly associated with a trait than other genes.

Similarly, LDSC uses regression analysis to quantify the association between LD and test statistics of variants (using GWAS summary statistics). The final LD score of a variant is the sum of LD r^2 measured with all other variants. Unlike MAGMA, LDSC produces variants-level heritability estimates to partition heritability into separate categories. Additionally, an extension of LDSC known as stratified LD score regression (sLDSC), partitions heritability using functional annotations by considering the genetic linkage between variants.

Further, LDSC can distinguish between confounding factors such as population stratification and polygenicity. Both methods use GWAS genotype data to extract summary statistics about the causal variant. This is because using well-powered GWAS data rather than other sources of information (for example, using information from studies with well- characterised pathways and well-studied genes) prevents biases towards specific genes. Typically in RNA-Seq studies, enrichment of heritability is calculated using DEG sets as a set of interest to see if these genes can be genetically linked to a disease or phenotype for which the GWAS summary statistics were generated.

(d) Single-cell trajectory Analysis

One of the challenges in the analysis of the scRNA-Seq dataset is that the data only provides a snapshot of gene expression at a particular point in time. Throughout life or during development, cells transition from one state to another, each cell in different states expressing different sets of genes or genes at different levels of expression. This may be due to the cells being at distinct points of a dynamic process, for example, cell cycle or cell differentiation, or some cells in a tissue sample reflecting a particular developmental or disease state [263].

Trajectory inference methods, also known as pseudotime analysis, aim to order cells (using scRNA-Seq data) along a trajectory or continuum from one state to another based on similarities in the expression patterns of individual cells [45]. The trajectories (branches) are conceptualised as cellular "decisions" and can be linear, cyclic or tree-branch. This is because there are several lineages within a population of cells, each lineage steaming from a common initial group. Therefore, each branch (trajectory) can be used to investigate several cellular processes, including cell differentiation and development as well as transitions between disease states [45, 144].

A recently developed method, Monocle [316], uses scRNA-Seq data to construct single-cell trajectories. The algorithm first uses an unsupervised algorithm to learn the sequence of gene expression changes a cell goes through as part of the biological process of interest. Then, each cell is placed at its specific position in the trajectory. Monocle also uses regression analysis or graph autocorrelation analysis to identify genes that change expression as a function of the inferred pseudotime-a quantitative measurement of progress. Furthermore, monocle identifies co-regulated modules of differentially expressed genes [251]. In Monocle, modules refer to sets of genes that exhibit co-expression or co-regulation during a specific biological process. These modules are identified using unsupervised clustering techniques that group genes with similar expression patterns. By grouping co-expressed or co-regulated genes, Monocle enables the identification of key regulatory pathways and molecular mechanisms underlying cellular processes [46].

1.2 Disorders of cognition

The Oxford English Dictionary defines cognition as "the mental action or process of acquiring knowledge, thought, experience and the senses". Cognition encompasses all aspects of intellectual functioning (termed domains). The Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental (DSM-5), 5th Edition classifies these domains into six key categories: executive function, language, complex attention, learning and memory, perceptual-motor control, and social cognition [116]. These main cognitive domains play a key role in diagnosing neurological disorders. Assessments are typically carried out by several tasks aimed at each ability area. The main aim of the task is to measure and differentiate between different domains; a pattern of impairment in specific domains or across domains is often used to underpin a clinical neurological or neuropsychiatric diagnosis [116]. Neurocognitive disorders are a group of heterogeneous disorders encompassing a broad spectrum of clinical phenotypes. They may arise through multiple physiological (e.g., ageing) and pathological processes (e.g., neurodevelopmental abnormalities, genetic mutation, drugs, brain injury, epilepsy, neurodegeneration) [208, 148]. Therefore, they are classified in multiple ways and levels, such as the nature of the cognitive impairment or the aetiology.

1.2.1 Neurodevelopmental influences on cognition

Neurodevelopment, i.e., the development of the nervous system, is a complex and precisely regulated process involving neural tube formation, neural and glial proliferation and neuronal migration and organisation. A deficit introduced at any critical stage of development could lead to neurodevelopmental disorders [238]. Neurodevelopmental Disorders (NDDs) are neurological disorders arising from a defect in neurodevelopment and may affect both the Central nervous systems (CNS) and peripheral nervous systems (PNS), respectively [256]. Examples of CNS NDDs include learning disabilities, Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD), intellectual disability (ID), Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), cerebral palsy, conduct disorders, vision and hearing impairments and epilepsy. Individuals with these types of disorders may experience difficulties across a range of neurological functions such as memory and learning, motor skills, language and speech[238]. Treatments often involve a combination of pharmaceuticals as well as occupational and physical therapy. The prevalence of NDDs (as defined by DSM-5)58 is between 0.7-17% under 18 years old worldwide (spanning Africa, Asia, Australia, Europe, Latin America and the United States of America (USA)) [92]. The reported prevalence rates of individual NDDs include ADHD (5-11%), ASD (0.7-3%), and epilepsy (0.5%) [92]. Most NDDs have multiple risk factors, including genetic, biological, environmental (e.g., alcohol, illicit drugs, environmental contaminants), psychological and social. However, recent studies have shown some NDDs (e.g., IDs) are associated with mutations in specific genes. For example, DNA variants in sodium voltage-gated channel alpha subunit 1 (SCN1A), a gene that provides instructions for a protein responsible for the flow of sodium into neurons, are known to cause Dravet Syndrome, a severe form of epilepsy and intellectual disability [83].

Intellectual Disability

Intellectual disability (ID) is a neurodevelopmental disorder affecting around 1–3% of the world's population [18]. DSM-5 defines intellectual disability as a neurological condition characterised by (i) cognitive impairment in intellectual functioning (domains) such as problemsolving, learning (from experience as well as academic learning), vocabulary, reasoning, planning, abstract thinking, and judgement (ii) deficits in adaptive functioning including self-care, social and interpersonal skills (iii) early onset of these deficits (during the developmental period) [318]. Previously, ID classification was based on Intelligence quotient (IQ) scores. For example, an IQ between 50-70 is mild mental retardation, and IQ < 50 is used to define severe mental retardation [318, 129]. The severity of ID is assessed based on the level of support an individual has (based on the severity of the adaptive functioning deficits in the social, conceptual and practical domains). As with many other NDDs, the main causes of intellectual disability are not well defined. Among many contributing factors, including de-novo rare deleterious mutation [197, 325] as well as exposures to environmental contaminants (such as lead and mercury), which have been associated with intellectual disorders [207].

1.2.2 Neurodegenerative influences on cognition

Neurodegenerative Diseases (NDs) are ultimately debilitating conditions associated with progressive neuronal loss. For CNS NDs, symptoms can range from a progressive motor dysfunction, as in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (also known as motor neurone disease) or PD, to cognitive deficits in memory and executive function, as in various forms of dementia, including AD, DLB and PDD (the latter two also referred to as "Lewy Body Dementias"). Research has shown that age and a combination of genetic and environmental factors contribute to the risk of developing a neurodegenerative disease [124, 343, 36, 168].

Dementia is a term used to describe a deterioration in cognitive function beyond what is considered to be the biological consequence of ageing [235]. Dementia has many causes, unified around damage and loss of neurons. Dementia can affect several brain functions, including learning and memory, executive function, comprehension, calculation, movement and language. According to a recent report published by World Health Organization (WHO), approximately 55 million people live with dementia worldwide, and 10 million new cases are added every year. The social and economic impact of dementia is expected to increase with an increasing population. Although dementia is considered an age-related disease, it does not exclusively affect older people, and about 9% of cases are early onset-meaning the onset of symptoms began before the age of 65 [235], AD is the most common cause of dementia and accounts for 60-80% of cases. This type of dementia affects behaviour, thinking and memory. AD changes usually in the part of the brain responsible for learning, the entorhinal-hippocampal system [267]; therefore, early AD symptoms include difficulty remembering newly learned information. As the disease progresses, it affects other areas of the cerebral cortex involved in navigation, spatial orientation, behaviour, and personality [234].

PD is the second most common neurodegenerative disease. Typically, the basal ganglia and the substantia nigra are among the first regions to be involved. These brain regions play a key role in movement, leading to early symptoms that include rigid muscles, slowed movement (bradykinesia), lack of facial expression and difficulty with balance and coordination [218]. As brain

changes caused by PD gradually spread, other brain areas begin to be affected. For example, the individual may experience cognitive decline, including fluctuation in attention, memory and executive function [218]. By convention, if the cognitive decline develops more than one year after a PD diagnosis, then the individual is diagnosed with PDD [81]. However, if the cognitive decline is a presenting symptom or develops within one year of the onset of the motor symptoms characteristic of Parkinsonism, then the individual is diagnosed with DLB [210]. Therefore, the timing between the identification of dementia and the initiation of parkinsonism symptoms is used to determine if the dementia phenotype is diagnosed as PDD or DLB. The pathological hallmark of PD, DLB and PDD is the abnormal deposits of alpha-synuclein known as "Lewy bodies", leading to these three disorders as Lewy Body Diseases (LBDs). The mechanisms underlying LBDs remain largely unknown but include genetic [245]and environmental risk factors [245].

1.3 Overview of Thesis



Figure 1.4: An overview of the chapters of the thesis. The chapters are divided into three main sections. Section A (2) focuses on cognitive impairments caused by *in utero* drug exposure. Section B (3 and 4) focus on cognitive impairments caused by neurodegeneration. Section C (5.1) is the discussion and conclusion chapter.

1.4 Publications

1. Alexander Haglund, Verena Zuber, Yifei Yang, Maya Abouzeid, **Rahel Feleke**, Jeong Hun Ko, Alexi Nott, Ann C. Babtie, James D. Mills, Louwai Muhammed, Liisi Laaniste, Djordje O. Gveric, Daniel Clode, Susanna Pagni, Ravishankara Bellampalli, Alyma Somani, Karina Mc-Dade, Jasper J. Anink, Lucia Mesarosova, Eleonora Aronica, Maria Thom, Sanjay M. Sisodiya, Prashant K. Srivastava, Dheeraj Malhotra, Julien Bryois, Leonardo Bottolo and Michael R. Johnson. "Single-cell Mendelian randomisation identifies cell-type specific genetic effects on human brain disease and behaviour." bioRxiv (2022): 2022-11.

2. Rahel Feleke, Dana Jazayeri, Maya Abouzeid, Kim L. Powell, Prashant K. Srivastava, Terence J. O'Brien, Nigel C. Jones, and Michael R. Johnson. "Integrative genomics reveals pathogenic mediator of valproate-induced neurodevelopmental disability." Brain 145, no. 11 (2022): 3832-3842.

3. Rahel Feleke, Regina H Reynolds, Amy M Smith, Bension Tilley, Sarah A Gagliano Taliun, John Hardy, Paul M Matthews, Steve Gentleman, David R Owen, Michael R Johnson, Prashant K Srivastava and Mina Ryten. "Cross-platform transcriptional profiling identifies common and distinct molecular pathologies in Lewy body diseases." Acta Neuropathologica 142 (2021): 449-474.

4. Alina Schidlitzki, Pablo Bascuñana, Prashant K Srivastava, Lisa Welzel, Friederike Twele, Kathrin Töllner, Christopher Käufer, Birthe Gericke, **Rahel Feleke**, Martin Meier, Andras Polyak, Tobias L Ross, Ingo Gerhauser, Jens P Bankstahl, Michael R Johnson, Marion Bankstahl and Wolfgang Löscher. "Proof-of-concept that network pharmacology is effective to modify development of acquired temporal lobe epilepsy." Neurobiology of disease 134 (2020): 104664.

Chapter 2

Single-nucleus transcriptomics identifies common and distinct molecular pathologies in Lewy body diseases

Abstract

Parkinson's disease (PD), Parkinson's disease with dementia (PDD), and Dementia with Lewy bodies (DLB) are neurodegenerative disorders collectively known as Lewy body diseases (LBDs). This study aimed to comprehensively profile the transcriptomes of LBDs using single-nucleus RNA-Sequencing. Analysis of anterior cingulate cortex samples from neurologically healthy controls, PD, PDD, and DLB (n=7 per group) cases revealed significant transcriptional alterations across multiple cell types, providing insights into the commonalities and distinctions among these disorders. The selective vulnerability of medium spiny neurons (MSN) in DLB was observed, whereas PD and PDD subjects exhibited MSN-like neurons. Pathway analysis highlighted shared and distinct perturbations in biological processes, with (i) synaptic vesicle transport and oxidative stress response being uniquely down-regulated in the dementias (PDD and DLB); and (ii) up-regulated genes in PD were associated with metabolic processes, mRNA splicing, and autophagy. Furthermore, genetic associations indicated a link between up-regulated genes in astrocytes and oligodendrocyte precursor cells with PD age of onset risk, while microglia showed enrichment for Alzheimer's disease (AD) risk. However, down-regulated genes in LBDs did not exhibit significant genetic associations. The findings provide valuable insights into the transcriptomic landscape of LBDs, emphasizing the unique vulnerability of MSN in DLB and revealing shared and distinct molecular pathways. The study contributes to our understanding of LBDs and lays the groundwork for targeted therapeutic interventions. Nonetheless, limitations in sample composition and data analysis tools should be considered when interpreting the results.

2.1 Introduction

First described in 1817 by an English surgeon James Parkinson [101], Parkinson's disease (PD) is a progressive neurodegenerative disorder reported to affect approximately 10 million people worldwide [229]. Clinically, PD affects both the motor system [102], which causes symptoms collectively known as parkinsonism, including rigid muscles, slowed movement (bradykinesia) and lack of facial expression and non-motor systems across several cognitive domains, including executive and visuospatial functions. Neuropathologically, PD is characterised by the presence of Lewy bodies, eosinophilic intraneuronal inclusions first described in 1912 by Fritz Heinrich Lewy [82]. It is estimated between 50 to 80% [2] of people with PD eventually develop dementia [7], with an average time of about ten years from the onset of parkinsonism (motor symptoms) to the development of dementia. This form of PD is known as PD with Dementia (PDD) [7, 244].

Dementia, as described in previous Chapters 1.2.2, is a term used to describe a group of symptoms characterised by a progressive decline in attention, memory and behaviour, and frequently also involves autonomic dysfunction [242]. After Alzheimer's disease, the second most common form of dementia is Dementia with Lewy Bodies (DLB) [146]. As with PD, DLB is characterised by the presence of Lewy bodies, now understood to represent aggregates of alpha-synuclein protein [82, 146]. The clinical features of DLB and PDD are similar due to the overlap of cognitive impairments and diagnostic features. For example, the core diagnostic features of DLB, such as parkinsonism, fluctuating attention and cognition, are also considered core features of PDD [137]. This overlap led to a theory suggesting a continuous clinical spectrum for Lewy Body Dementias, which collectively encompasses both PDD and DLB (not to be confused with Lewy Body Diseases (LBDs), which includes PD) [62].

The distinction between DLB and PDD clinically is the time of onset of the parkinsonism relative to the cognitive impairment, such that if cognitive impairment begins within 1 year of the onset of parkinsonian motor symptoms, then clinically, the symptoms are described as DLB. However, if cognitive impairments happen after 1 year of the onset of parkinsonism, the symptoms are clinically defined as PDD [137, 62, 12]. With the recognition of the severity of the disease and the frequent difficulties in distinguishing PDD from DLB, there have been growing efforts to identify distinct clinical, neuropathological and genetic features of LBDs [12].

2.1.1 Neuropathological features of Lewy Body Diseases

Since the discovery of the chemical composition of Lewy Bodies by Spillantini et al. (1997) [292], PD has been described as a disorder of α -synuclein (α -syn), a neuronal protein responsible for regulating synaptic plasticity, promoting the synaptic organisation and vesicle transportation [297]. The two major neuropathological features of PD are (i) accumulation of intraneuronal α -synuclein-containing aggregates in the form of Lewy bodies and Lewy neurites, termed Lewy bodies pathology and (ii) loss of dopaminergic neurons in the substantia nigra [159].

The Braak staging system assesses the stage of α -synuclein pathology in PD. First introduced in 2003, Braak and colleagues developed six stages of Lewy bodies pathology in PD based on the idea that the temporal spread of the pathology originates in the brainstem (stages 1-2) and then spreads through the midbrain, basal forebrain, subcortical, temporal mesocortical regions (stages 3-4), and eventually spreads to the cerebral cortices where it appears in the anterior cingulate mesocortex and spreads to other cortical regions (stages 5-6) [35, 34, 317]. This predictable spread of Lewy bodies pathology supports the hypothesis that pathology propagates through the brain via a prion-like process [328]. Although this holds in most postmortem cases, in which there is a predictable sequence of lesions, results from other studies have shown that the severity of symptoms and the duration of parkinsonism does not always correlate with the Lewy bodies density and distribution [237].

For example, Jellinger (2009) reported that in some autopsy studies, up to 43% of PD cases do not follow the proposed pattern of progression [136]. In light of this, McKeith et al. (2017) [211] updated their diagnostic guidelines for assessing Lewy bodies pathology based on the predominance of pathology in specific regions, including the neocortical regions. Further, Levernez et al. (2008) [178] increased the specificity of this method by reducing the number of regions assessed and adding an amygdala-predominant category. PD, PDD and LBD can be viewed as existing on a spectrum of diseases related to each other via Lewy body pathology [137, 62]. In autopsy-based studies involving PD and PDD cases, the prevalence and load of neocortical α -synuclein were higher in PDD cases than in PD cases [287]. Similarly, α -synuclein loads in cortical regions (including the entorhinal, parietal, frontal, cingulate, and temporal cortex) are observed to be the highest in DLB and the lowest in PD, and intermediate in PDD cases [119, 27]. These observations are consistent with the dementia arising as a result of spread of Lewy bodies pathology through the cerebral cortex.

In addition to being conceptualised as alpha-synucleinopathies, Lewy body diseases (PD, PDD and DLB) are frequently associated with, and may be modulated by, comorbid AD-related pathology (hyperphosphorylated tau and amyloid- β plaques) [256]. For example, Jellinger et al. (2018) [137] observed amyloid- β (A β) burden was significantly higher in cortical regions in DLB than in PDD. Similarly, Kalaizakis et al. (2013) [145] showed that A β lesions were increased in PDD compared to PD in the entorhinal cortex. Further, studies have revealed an intriguing finding that links amyloid- β and tau neurofibrillary pathology to a reduced timeframe between the initiation of parkinsonism symptoms and the development of dementia [100, 57]. Furthermore, a cortical load of Lewy pathology was a good predictor of dementia in PD cases. Therefore, it has been suggested that the neuropathologies of tau, A β , and α -syn may all synergistically contribute to cognitive decline in the dementias with Lewy bodies [55].

2.1.2 Genetics of Lewy Body Diseases

Currently, PD is identified as a genetically heterogeneous disorder with two subtypes: (i) monogenic (variation in a single gene) familial PD with mendelian inheritance, a type of biological inheritance in which a single gene of high penetrance confers risk for a trait with dominant and recessive alleles inherited from either parent; (ii) a sporadic form arising from complex inheritance with less familial aggregation [157, 25]. In contrast, sporadic forms of PD are thought to result from a contribution of several factors, including environmental exposures, lifestyle and genetic susceptibility [157]. The first breakthrough in PD genetics came in 1997 when a missense mutation in the gene encoding α -synuclein (SNCA) was found to be associated with the autosomal dominant PD phenotype [297]. Since then, several other genes associated with autosomal dominant PD, including coiled-coil helix coiled-coil helix domain 2 (CHCHD2) [175], homolog subfamily C member 13 (DNAJC13) [25], Eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4 gamma 1 (EIF4G1), HtrA serine peptidase 2 (HTRA2) [157], eucine-rich repeat kinase2 (LRRK2), ubiquitin c-terminal hydroxylase 1 (UCHL1), and vacuolar protein sorting 35 (VPS35) [25] were identified through several studies. Further, mutations in LRRK2 gene was found to be the most common monogenic PD in the Ashkenazi and Arab population [308]. Similarly, genes associated with autosomal recessive PD were also discovered through genetic studies. These include ATPase Cation Transporting 13A2 (ATP13A2), DNAJ/HSP40 homolog subfamily C member 6 (DNAJC6), F-box only protein 7 (FBX07), PTEN-induced putative kinase 1 (PINK1), parkin RBR E3 ubiquitin protein ligase (PRKN), synaptojanin 1 (SYNJ1) and vacuolar pro- tein sorting 13C (VPS13C) [66, 219]. These findings highlight the genetic heterogeneity of monogenic PD, which may explain the difference in clinicopathological features, dementia risk, ages of onset and the presence and extent of Lewy body pathology in PD cases.

Kelin and Westenberger (2012) estimated monogenic forms of PD to account for 30% of familial and 3%–5% of sporadic cases [157]. However, numerous genetic studies have highlighted other forms (not related to monogenic forms) of PD. Notably, mutations in the gene Glucosylceramidase Beta 1 (GBA), which encodes for glucocerebrosidase, an enzyme involved in metabolising glucosylceramide, are considered to be a major genetic risk factor for PD [74]. Further, impaired activity of the enzyme was shown to cause an accumulation of α -synuclein. Moreover, in a population-specific study, Velez-Pardo et al. (2019) found that age at the onset of PD was significantly earlier in GBA carriers than non-carriers [321]. As of today, several GWAS studies have successfully mapped several loci associated with sporadic PD. Nalls et al. (2014) used data from over 14,000 individuals (including PD patients and control) to identify risk loci for sporadic and familial PD[223]. Surprisingly, the loci were found in genomic regions containing the genes SNCA and LRRK2. In a similar study, Nalls et al. (2019) used data from over 1.5 million subjects to identify 90 genome-wide significant risk loci (38 novel risk variants) across 78 genomic regions. Other notable GWAS studies: PD progression GWAS (Iwaki et al. (2019); Tan et al. (2020)) [132, 304]; and PD age at onset GWAS (Blauwendraat et al. (2019)) [24], highlight that a different set of genes may play a role in the age of onset and/or progression of PD once it is established. For example, PINK1, PRKN, SNCA, LRRK2 and Transmembrane Protein 175 (TMEM175) are genes associated with PD age at onset, while Solute Carrier Family 44 Member 1 (SLC44A1), GBA and Apolipoprotein E 4 (APOE4) were associated with PD disease progression [132, 304].

Based on the overwhelming evidence of shared clinical and pathological features of Lewy Body diseases, several studies were carried out to assess the genetic overlap between the diseases. Meeus et al. (2012) [213] performed a gene-based mutation analysis using genotype data from PDD and DLB cases (including familial and sporadic forms) and found several AD and PDrelated genes to contribute to the genetic aetiology of PDD and DLB. For example, pathogenic missense mutations were detected in the AD genes in Presenilin 1 (PSEN1), Presenilin 2 (PSEN2), LRRK2 and icrotubule-associated protein tau (MAPT), and duplications in PDrelated gene SNCA [213]. Similarly, Clark et al. (2009) [54] found GBA mutations to be associated with cortical Lewy body pathology and a less severe form of AD after adjusting for sex, age of death and APOE4 status, which is the strongest risk factor gene for AD [54]. Recently, a Lewy body dementia GWAS identified novel risk loci with a similar direction of effect in the genes GBA, TMEM175, Apolipoprotein E (APOE) and Bridging Integrator 1 (BIN1), identified in previous AD and PD GWAS [52]. Further, Guo et al. (2022) [107] used GWAS summary statistics from late-onset AD GWAS, PD GWAS and LBD GWAS and found positive genome-wide genetic correlations between the four neurological conditions. The strongest correlation was found between PD and Lewy Body dementias (PDD and DLB) (rg = 0.6352, se = 0.1880; P = 0.0007), while the weakest was between AD and PD (rg = 0.2136, se = 0.0860; P = 0.0130 [107]. Further, the authors carried out pathway enrichment analysis of 40 common genes identified through transcriptome-wide association analysis (TWAS) and found significant enrichment for GO term related to neurofibrillary tangle assembly. Genetic risk scores from these GWAS demonstrate that AD and PD share genetic risk factors and pathways (including lysosomal and endocytic related pathways) with Lewy Body dementias [107].

2.1.3 The influence of environment, diet and lifestyle factors

Although GWAS studies have found numerous genetic variations contributing to the risk and progression of Lewy Body diseases (with heritability estimates spanning from 20 to 30%) [151, 103, 106], environmental factors are still among the risk factors for neurological diseases. Recently, epidemiological studies have found several environmental factors, such as exposure to pesticides, cigarette and drug intake, abdominal obesity (body mass index (BMI)), caffeine and alcohol consumption, and physical activity, to be associated with PD risk [307, 217, 169]. For example, in 1976, a neurotoxin, 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine (MPTP) which kills dopaminergic neurons, was accidentally synthesised by a student who was trying to make synthetic heroin and which resulted in devastating parkinsonism in the predominantly young people exposed to this toxin [169]. Again, in 1983, in a peculiar but similar case involving young drug addicts, individuals who were exposed (injected intravenously) to the drug meperidine (MPTP is a potent analog of meperidine), developed parkinsonism [169]. Further investigation revealed that their parkinsonism was caused by the MPTP by-product of 1-methyl-4-phenyl-4-propionoxypiperidine (MPPP) synthesis. MPTP is a lipid-soluble neurotoxin that has the potential to cross the blood-brain barrier. Therefore, the drug is widely used to mimic PD symptoms in an experimental PD model [217, 310].

In an earlier study, Tanner et al. (2011) [307] applied a case-control study to explore the relationship between PD risk and certain pesticides. The findings showed a positive association between PD risk and exposure to a group of pesticides (including rotenone (OR=2.5; 95% CI, 1.3-4.7)) that inhibit mitochondrial complex I and other pesticides (including paraquat (OR=2.5; 95% CI, 1.4-4.7)) that cause oxidative stress. Interestingly, paraquat and rotenone (well-known pesticides used in animal models of PD) share a similar chemical structure with MPTP. Similarly, Xu et al. (2016), [346] performed a systemic search for studies on PDD risk factors and found a positive association between PDD risk and several non-genetic factors, including advanced age (odds ratio [OR] 1.07, 95% CI 1.03-1.13), male (OR 1.33, 95% CI 1.08-1.64), hallucination (OR 2.47, 95% CI 1.36-4.47), sleep behaviour disorder (OR 8.38, 95% CI 3.87-18.08) and smoking (RR 1.93, 95% CI 1.15-3.26). Interestingly, the authors found higher

education (RR 0.94, 95% CI 0.91-0.98) a protective factor for PDD. Further, other studies have highlighted that cognitive reserve may be protective against the progression of dementia [224]. However, more studies are needed to draw definitive conclusions. In 2020 the Lancet Commission report on dementia prevention identified 12 modifiable risk factors for dementia, including alcohol consumption, air pollution, diabetes, depression, obesity, traumatic brain injury (TBI), early education, hypertension, smoking, hearing loss, lack of physical activity and social isolation (which were estimated to account for 40% of worldwide dementia cases, although the prevalence of risk factors differ between countries) [187].

Given that epidemiological studies are susceptible to various biases [173], residual confounding, confounding by indication and reverse causation, their findings may not be reliable enough to establish causal relationships between environmental factors and PD risk. Therefore, researchers have employed Mendelian randomisation (MR), which uses genetic variants as instrumental variables to examine the causal effects of modifiable risk factors on disease outcomes [173]. For example, Heilbron et al., 2021 applied MR (using data from over 2 million PD cases and controls) to examine causal relationships and found smoking (OR 0.955; 95%confidence interval [CI] 0.921-0.991; p = 0.013) and higher BMI (OR 0.988, 95%CI 0.979-0.997; p = 0.008) to have a protective effect on PD; and higher daily alcohol intake (OR 1.125, 95%CI 1.025-1.235; p = 0.013) to increase the risk of PD[118]. Therefore, in order to dissect the pathogenesis of Lewy Body diseases, it is more beneficial to use integrative genomics (by combining multiple form of genomic analyses including RNA-Seq technology, integrative GWAS, MR [173]) approaches to assess the aetiology of the diseases.

2.1.4 Aim and objectives

In spite of the substantial progress made in the effort to describe the overlapping genetic, clinical and neuropathological features of LBDs, the biological basis and cellular drivers of pathology remain unclear. In the current study, Single-nucleus RNA-Sequencing was applied to anterior cingulate cortex samples derived from twenty-eight subjects to assess the extent of molecular and cellular heterogeneity in Lewy Body diseases (Figure 2.1). The anterior cingulate cortex was picked as a region of interest because previous studies have shown it to be one of the first cortical regions to be affected by Lewy body pathology and Lewy Body density in the region correlated with the development of dementia in PD-related studies [327, 131]. The objectives of the research reported in this Chapter were as follows:

- To generate source- single nucleus RNA-sequencing profiles across Lewy body diseases (PD, PDD, DLB).
- To assess cell-type specific transcriptional changes (namely excitatory neurons, inhibitory neurons, microglia, astrocytes, oligodendrocytes, oligodendrocyte precursor cells, and vascular cells) in PD, PDD and DLB.
- To assess cell-type transcriptional changes associated with Lewy body dementia (PDD and DLB compared to control and PD brains).
- To identify disease-associated cell types and biological processes enriched in the set of genes differentially expressed.
- To test for heritability of enrichment for relevant phenotypes (e.g., PD, AD) in the differentially expressed genes across the disease states.

2.2 Methods

2.2.1 Sample and tissue sectioning, nuclei and RNA isolation

Professor Steve Gentleman and Dr Bension Tilley [310] performed sample selection. PD, PDD, DLB and neurologically "healthy" individuals were obtained from the Parkinson's UK Tissue Bank. In total 21 cases (n=7 per condition) and 7 control samples were matched for age and other demographic and pathologic factors where possible. Parkinsonism was classified based on the current official International Parkinson and Movement Disorder Societ (MDS) Clinical Diagnostic Criteria for Parkinson's disease (MDS-PD criteria)[248], while PDD was defined by the latest clinical diagnostic criteria for dementia associated with Parkinson's disease [81]; and DLB was defined using the criteria set by the fourth consensus report of the DLB Consortium [81].

Furthermore, PDD and DLB individuals were separated based on positive clinical features, including fluctuating cognition, visual hallucination and rapid eye movement sleep behaviour disorder (RBD); and the "1-year rule" used to differentiate between PDD and DLB. Routinely used diagnostic process, Braak α -synuclein and Tau, were used for pathological assessment of the tissue samples. In order to ensure dementia arose from α -synucleinopathy, individuals with severe AD pathology were filtered out using Braak tau stage 3 as the maximum threshold. PD individuals were selected based on a lack of evidence for any cognitive impairments, including memory impairment, executive dysfunction and visuo-spatial dysfunction in the clinical case notes. Neurologically "healthy" controls were selected based on a lack of neurological features alongside other pathological diagnoses (refer to Appendix A, Table 1 for sample demographics and clinical and pathological measures).

All lab-based sample processing steps, including tissue sectioning, were carried out by Dr Amy Smith in the following steps: (i) 80 µm tissue block of cortical grey matter was sectioned from the anterior cingulate cortex, and adjacent sections were used for nuclei isolation; (ii) Buffer solutions (e.g., Homogenisation Buffer) were prepared using a combination of protocols from 10X Genomics and Krishnaswami et al. (2016) protocol; (iii) Tissue sections were suspended in 800 µL HB, homogenised, filtered through a BD Falcone tube and centrifuged at 1000g for 8 minutes. Further clean-up of nuclei was performed as per Krishnaswami et al. (2016) [160] with some adjustments including using 29% iodixanol solution at 13,000 g for centrifugation of the layered nuclei and adjusting the time to 20 minutes instead of 40 minutes suggested by the authors; (iii) the supernatant was removed, nuclei pellet washed with PBS bugger, filtered, centrifuged and washed again (all specific steps including time take for each step can be found in Krishnaswami et al. (2016) protocol); (iv) finally, nuclei were counted using Acridine orange dye routinely used to stain nuclei. RNA isolation was performed by BioXpedia using the following protocol: (i) samples were lysed and RNA extracted using QIAzol and Qiagen's RNeasy 96 Kit, respectively, (following manufacturer instructions). Quality of samples were evaluated by measuring their RNA integrity number (RIN), obtained using Agilent 4200 Tapestation (Agilent). Only samples with RIN value of 4.2 or above were selected for downstream analysis.

2.2.2 Single-nucleus RNA sequencing data generation and processing

snRNA-Seq data was generated using 10X Genomics Chromium Single Cell 3' Reagent Kit (v2 chemistry) following 10X protocols. Briefly, (i) approximately 10,000 nuclei were targeted, followed by amplification process (8 cycles of cDNA and PCR indexing (14 cycles); (ii) Qubit dsDNA HS Assay Kit (ThermoFisher) was used to measure cDNA concentration, while Bioanalyzer High-Sensitivity DNA Kit (Agilent) was used to assess quality and length of libraries; (iii) finally, samples were pooled and sequenced on 8 lanes of Illumina Hi-Seq 4000 high-throughput sequencer.

2.2.3 Mapping and post-alignment quality control

Generation of sequencing reads was carried out using Cell Ranger (v 3.0.2) protocol in the following steps: (i) raw base files were converted to FASTQ files; (ii) reads were mapped to exonic and intronic regions of the reference human genome version GRCh38, and gene

annotations were obtained from Ensembl v93; (iii) finally, gene barcode (unique molecular identifier (UMI)) matrices were generated for each sample. Following alignment to a reference genome, each sample was assessed for the following RNA-Sequencing metrics: (i) percentages of mapped reads; (ii) number of genes detected; (iii) average UMI count. All samples passed the threshold set for each metric (Figure 1). Quality control of reads was carried out in the following steps: (i) reads from "empty" droplets, a droplet which contains ambient RNA, were removed using **EmptyDrops** algorithm from the R package **DropletUtils** [193]. The algorithm removes nuclei droplets containing low amounts of RNA by applying the Dirichletmultinomial model of UMI count sampling in order to distinguish true nuclei from "empty" nuclei based on their deviation from the calculated profile of an ambient RNA pool (a pool of low amounts of RNA containing nuclei in datasets; and the parameter for UMI count (a measure of RNA content) was threshold at 300, a value based on in-house calculations); (ii) CreateSeuratObject() from the R package Seurat (v 3.0) [41] was used to generate an R object for each sample; (iii) for each sample, genes containing greater than 5% mitochondrial reads (mitochondrial genes with the prefix MT-) were removed; and genes detected in less than 5 nuclei were removed.

2.2.4 Normalisation, clustering and doublet detection

Once low-quality reads and genes were removed: (i) each sample was normalised using the Seurat's function LogNormalize(), in which counts for each nucleus are divided by the total counts for that nucleus and multiplied by a scale factor (set at 10,000 based on targeted number of nuclei) and natural-log transformed; (ii) each sample was then clustered using the function FindClusters() with the parameters 30 for principal components (principal components (PC)) selection and 2 for resolutions and visualised using a non-linear dimensionality reduction algorithm known as UMAP; (iii) finally, potential doublets or multiplets were removed using a doublet prediction function doubletFinder_v3(), as implemented in the R package DoubletFinder[209]. Briefly, the algorithm removes technical artefacts from each cluster (per sample) by first computing the distance between each nucleus to artificially generated doublets (which are generated by calculating the average expression profile of randomly selected nuclei

pairs), and if a nucleus has a higher proportion of artificial nearest neighbours, it is labelled as a "doublet" and removed from the cluster.

2.2.5 Joint graph generation and cell-type identification

Once the doublets or multiplets were removed, the Seurat function FindAllMarkers() was used to identify differentially expressed genes in each cluster compared to all other clusters. Each cluster was then assigned a cell-type by first calculating (using Fisher's exact test) the overlap between each cluster marker genes and a cell-type marker gene list derived from two human single-cell datasets [332]; and assigning a cell-type to a cluster based on the lowest p-value. A joint graph of all nuclei across all individuals was generated using **Conos** [19] pipeline. Briefly, pair-wise comparisons were performed across the datasets, followed by intersample edges calculations, combined with intra-sample edges to generate a joint graph; finally, cell-type labels were propagated using a randomly selected pre-labelled nuclei vector.

2.2.6 Generation of condition-specific cell-type specificity matrices

For each group (control, PD, PDD and DLB, separately), a gene cell-type specificity matrix was generated using the generate.celltype.data() function from the R package Expression Weighted Celltype Enrichment (EWCE) [285], a method which statistically assesses whether a specific cell type exhibits a higher expression of a set of genes than what would be expected by random chance. The matrices contain values from 0 to 1, with 0 value implying a gene is not expressed in a cell-type, while 1 implies a gene is expressed only in that cell-type. These values represent the proportion of the total expression of a specific gene in that cell-type.

2.2.7 Differential expression analyses

Differential expression analysis was carried out to compare transcriptional differences and similarities between the four groups. Briefly, separate matrices were generated for the seven celltypes identified in the dataset, and DEA was performed using the tool MAST [89] (refer to the method section in Chapter 1.1.2 Downstream data analysis, for a brief description of MAST). To explore gene expression differences across all cell-types between the three groups, after adjusting for sex, with age at death, post-mortem interval (PMI), CDR (which acts as a substitution for intrinsic and extrinsic factors that could influence gene expression) and individual identification number, the following comparisons were taken: 1) Comparisons between disease states (PD,PDD and DLB) and control (case-control); 2) Comparisons between disease states (case-case comparisons; a full list of comparisons can be found on Table 2.1). Genes with FDR < 0.05 and absolute fold-change > 1.5 were considered significant (differentially expressed).

2.2.8 Functional enrichment analysis

Functional term enrichment analyses were run for cell-type-specific differentially expressed gene sets from each pairwise comparison using the R package WebGestaltR (version 0.4.4) [182]. The analyses were carried out using (i) GO biological process terms and (ii) pathways associated with increased PD-risk in a large-scale pathway-specific polygenic risk analysis and rare variants analysis. The default values for WebGestaltR parameters were used, and false discovery rate (FDR) were adjusted using Benjamin and Hochberg (BH) FDR correction method. Pathways with FDR < 0.05 were considered significantly enriched. Furthermore, GO-derived pathways were reduced for redundant terms using the R-based functions from rutils https://github. com/RHReynolds/rutils, which is a combination of two R packages, GOSemSim [352] and rrvgo https://ssayols.github.io/rrvgo. Briefly, GO terms with less than 20 genes or more than 2000 genes are removed and semantic similarity scores are calculated for each enriched GO term using the function mgoSim() from the GOSemSim package. The function calculates the scores using a hierarchical clustering approach (complete linkage). The hierarchical tree was then cut at a threshold of 0.7. Next, a distance matrix is calculated from the semantic similarity scores using the function reduceSimMatrix() from the rrvgo package. Finally, the parent term with the highest semantic similarity score was used to represent each group of child terms.

2.2.9 H-MAGMA and LDSC

Genetic enrichment of association analyses were performed using two methods:Hi-C-coupled MAGMA (H-MAGMA) and sLDSC. Two different methods with different assumptions were used to increase the credibility of the genetic associations.

Both methods were run with two sets of gene lists: (i) DE gene sets across all comparisons and (ii) Cell-type specificity matrices (per group) calculated using the R package EWCE, which uses expression data to impute specificity values from 0 to 1. The annotations (gene lists) were run with 3 GWAS, including Parkinson's disease (PD)[222], Parkinson's disease Age of Onset (PD AOO)[24] and Alzheimer's disease (AD)[134]. For all the analyses, p-values were FDR calculated for the number of cell-types tested. Cell-type specific differentially expressed genes were tested to see they are genetically associated with a disease state (PD, PD-AOO, AD). H-MAGMA, an extension of MAGMA, uses fetal and adult brain Hi-C to compute chromatin interactions to exons and promoters in order to assign intronic or promoter (2kbp upstream of transcription start site) and exonic SNPs to their cognate genes based on their genomic location. The parameters used to compute association statistics were 10kb downstream and 35kb upstream. Similar parameters were applied to test for top 10% most specific gene sets in each group per cell-type.

stratified LDSC (v 1.0.0)(sLDSC)[90] was run by Dr Regina Reynolds. sLDSC was used to test for genetic association between genetic risk of PD, PD-AOO, and AD and cell-type specific DEGs or top 10% most specific gene sets per group. In order to capture regulatory elements, the window coordinates were extended by 100kb upstream and downstream of their transcription start and end site. Furthermore, all SNPs were a minor allele frequency of 0.05 were used to define a SNP using binary terms 0 (absent) and 1 (present). Next, the annotations were added to an existing baseline model of 53 annotations (provided by Finucane et al. (2015) (v 1.2)[90]) to generate new annotation files. Thereafter, HapMap Project Phase 3 (HapMap3) [60] SNPs were used for regression and 1000 Genomes Project Phase 3 [59] European population SNPs were used for LD reference panels. Due to their complexity and distance, the major histocompatibility complex regions were excluded from the analyses. Finally, using coefficient z-scores from the association statistics one tailed p-values were imputed and corrected for multiple testing (FDR). Those values with a positive contribution to a disease heritability were reported.

2.2.10 Sub-clustering analysis

In order to analyse level 2 (for example neuronal sub-types) cell-type specific clustering was performed for neurons (since they were the cell-type mainly highlighted by DEA and pathway enrichment analysis). Briefly, new matrices were generated for neuronal cell-type based on previous classification (refer to Chapter 2.2.5). For each matrix, a new Seurat object was generated and the following analyses were performed: (i) normalisation; (ii) clustering: (iii) cell-type identification. To classify the neuronal nuclei, a gene list curated by combining the top 10% most cell-type specific marker genes from Skene et al., 2018 [284] was used.

2.2.11 Code and Data availability

Code used to process and analyse single-nucleus RNA-sequencing data and to generate H-MAGMA outputs is available at: https://github.com/rahfel/snRNAseqProcessingSteps . snRNA-Seq data can be accessed through the Gene Expression Omnibus (accession ID: GSE178146).

2.3 Results

2.3.1 Study design



Figure 2.1: **Overview of approach.** Single-nucleus RNA-Sequencing data generated using 28 subjects. Abbreviation: GWAS, Genome-wide Association Studies. UMI, Unique molecular identifiers; PD, Parkinson's Disease; PDD Parkinson's Disease with Dementia; DLB, Dementia with Lewy Bodies.

Anterior cingulate cortex tissue samples were taken from a cohort of 7 non-neurological controls, 7 Parkinson's Disease without cognitive impairment (PD), 7 PDD and 7 DLB (Figure 2.1). Thereafter, snRNA-Seq data was used to generate cell-type-specific differential gene expression profiles.

2.3.2 Data generation and pre-processing

The tissue samples were taken from the anterior cingulate cortex, a region of the brain in which Lewy body densities correlate with Lewy Body Diseases (PD, PDD and DLB) severity. The subjects were matched for demographic and pathologic factors. However, there were significant differences in disease duration and the proportions of sexes between the group (which is also reflective of male bias in PDD and DLB previously described in the literature [225]) the ratio in each group was: 6 male / 1 female in control, 2 male / 5 female in PD, 5 male / 7 female in PDD and 7 male / 0 female in DLB. The mean disease duration in years for each group was: PD = 12, PDD = 11, and DLB = 6. The fact that DLB subjects had the lowest recorded disease
duration before death may reflect parkinsonism appearing several years before the development of cognitive impairment in subjects with PDD. Each group's mean age at death was: control = 75, PD = 83, PDD = 78 and DLB = 73. Median Braak tau stage was: controls = 1, PD= 2, PDD =2 and DLB = 2 (we considered a tau Braak state less than 3 to be indicative of no significant tau pathology). The median Braak α -synuclein stage was: control = 0, PD = 6, PDD = 6 and DLB = 6. Alafuzoff α -synuclein staging was used to stain the density of α synuclein in each brain tissue sample. The density was observed to increase in the order of PD > PDD > DLB. (The subjects' full clinical and demographic data are in Appendix A, Table 1). A total of 205,948 droplet-based single-nucleus were obtained from the samples after initial quality control (QC) assessments. The mean values for the QC metrics were: (i) an average of 89% of reads were mapped to the genome; (ii) an average of 1,398 genes were detected per nucleus; (iii) an average of 7,355 nuclei were detected per sample; (iv) an average 2,358 UMI counts were detected per nucleus (average of 98% valid barcodes). (Full QC metrics data can be found in Appendix A, Table 2)

2.3.3 Joint graph generation

A joint graph of all nuclei across all subjects was generated using Conos algorithm which computes a graph by estimating multiple inter-sample mappings (Figure 2.2). Each cluster was assigned a cell-type by assessing the overlap between Differentially Expressed Genes (DEGs) sets in each cluster and a list of marker genes derived from Wang et al. (2018) [332] in which a list of cell-type marker genes was generated by combining two human single-cell datasets. Fisher's exact test was used to carry out the significant overlap (p < 0.01). In total, across the full sample set, 75,826 excitatory neurons, 46,662 oligodendrocytes, 26,467 inhibitory neurons, 25,726 astrocytes, 12,497 oligodendrocyte precursors (OPCs), 13,788 microglia, and 4,532 vascular cells (including endothelial cells and pericytes) were identified. The proportions of cell types across each group were visualised using the R package ggplot2 (Figure 2.2). Full number of nuclei per individual can be found in Appendix A, Table 3.



Figure 2.2: Cell-type proportions. Proportion of Excitatory neurons, Inhibitory neurons, Microglia, Astrocytes, Oligodendrocytes, Oligodendrocyte precursor cells and Vascular (a mixture of pericytes and endothelial nuclei) derived from 27 subjects (n = 7 per disease group). Abbreviations: OPC, Oligodendrocyte precursor cells

Comparison type	Comparisons	Total number of subjects	Cases	Controls
Case-Control	Control vs DLB	14	7	7
	Control vs PDD	14	7	7
	Control vs PD	14	7	7
Case-Case	PDD vs DLB	14	14	0
	PD vs DLB	14	14	0
	PD versus PDD	14	14	0

Table 2.1: Number of subjects per group

2.3.4 Cell-type specific differential gene expression analysis

Differential expression (DE) analysis was carried out to explore the transcriptional changes associated with the disease state versus controls (case-control comparison) and between conditions (case-case comparison). The analyses were performed separately for each cell-type in a pair-wise manner (Table 2.1).

After adjustment for the covariates sex, age, PMI and CDR- defined as the fraction of genes that are detectable in each cell, 9,242 genes were found differentially expressed ($|\log 2(\text{fold change})|$ $> \log 2(1.5)$, FDR < 0.05) across all six pairwise comparisons across all seven cell-types (Figure 2.3a). Most of the differentially expressed genes (DEGs) overlapped across all comparisons, suggesting that most variable genes were similar across disease groups and reflective of the LBDs continuum hypothesis mentioned in previous studies. Further, the significant overlap of DEGs suggest that gene expression changes may not be entirely driven by the differences in cell-type proportions in the groups. Out of all the DEGs, approximately 36% were found to be uniquely (only found in one comparison and in one cell-type) differentially expressed in cell-type specific pairwise comparisons (across the six comparisons), in line with the view that gene expression changes exist between disease groups (Figure 2.3b).



Figure 2.3: Gene expression changes and perturbed pathways across cell-types and disease state. a Total number of differentially expressed gene (DEGs) across each pair-wise comparison (($|\log 2(\text{fold change})| > \log 2(1.5)$, FDR < 0.05). b Binary plot (yes or no) indicating with bars whether a specific gene (column) is down-regulated (upper panel) or up-regulated (lower panel) in a given cell type (rows). Number of DE genes in each comparison indicated on the x-axis. All results related to cell-type specific differential expression analysis and functional pathway enrichments across all comparisons can be found in Appendix A, Table 4 and Table 5, respectively. This figure was created for Feleke et al. (2021), which was generated during the course of this work and subsequently published [87]

Focusing on PD versus control comparisons, excitatory neurons had the largest number of DEGs (423 genes were up-regulated (have a higher expression in PD) and 665 down-regulated), followed by oligodendrocytes (436 gene up-regulated and 282 down-regulated) (Appendix A, Table 4 for a list of DEGs across all comparisons). For PDD versus control comparisons, there were more DEGs found in excitatory neurons (848 up-regulated and 1,293 down-regulated) as well as oligodendrocytes (392 up-regulated and 1,526 down-regulated). Expectedly, the total number of DEGs were higher for the DLB versus control comparison than any other comparison carried out: for excitatory neurons there were 1,136 genes were up-regulated and 2,971 down-regulated genes (nearly 4.5-fold found in PD versus control comparison); and for oligodendrocytes 353 gene up-regulated and 1,687 down-regulated genes.

Interestingly, among the genes differentially expressed (up-regulated in excitatory neurons in cases) across all three diseases (i.e., PD, PDD and DLB) versus control comparison, were genes involved in synaptic plasticity, signalling and memory formation including Calcium/Calmodulin Dependent Protein Kinase II Delta (CAMK2D), Calcium/Calmodulin De- pendent Protein Kinase II Beta (CAMK2B), G protein-activated inward rectifier potassium chan- nel 2 (KCNJ6), cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterase 1 (PDE1A) and Tissue inhibitor of metal- loproteinases 2 (TIMP2). Furthermore, genes that were down-regulated in the excitatory neurons in the disease groups compared to control groups were genes involved in neurotransmitter pathways, including PD-associated genes calcium voltage-gated channel subunit alpha1 A (CACNA1A), calcium voltage-gated channel auxiliary subunit gamma 8 (CACNG8) and discs large MAGUK scaffold protein 2 (DLG2). These observations align with the notion that α -synuclein aggregates-related synaptic dysfunctions are associated with cognitive impairment.

2.3.5 Differentially expressed genes distinguish Lewy body dementias from Parkinson's disease

Looking at the comparison between disease and control groups separately from disease against disease comparisons, three main themes emerged (Figure 2.3):

1. There was widespread gene dysregulation in the glia and the neurons.

- 2. Most of the DEGs detected in the disease groups, compared to controls, were only DE in one cell-type. For example, focusing on PD versus Control comparison, out of the 1,246 up-regulated genes, 945 (76%) were specific to a single cell-type, while for down-regulated genes, 893 genes out of 1,131 (79%) were cell-type specific. Similar observations were made for PDD, with 74% for up-regulated genes and 66% for down-regulated genes; and for DLB, 74% and 67%, respectively.
- 3. The gene expression profiles of PDD and DLB were very similar, in keeping with the overlapping clinical features and pathology between these two conditions (Figure 2.3a). Notably, there were fewer transcriptional similarities observed between PD and PDD (Figure 2.3a), again consistent with cortical involvement in patients with PDD compared to those without dementia.

Variable expression of SNCA across disease groups

Next, differential expression of genes derived from a recently published study of mutations implicated in PD susceptibility [25, 16], including a well-characterised gene SNCA, were explored. Of the 21 genes considered, 13 were differentially expressed in at least one major cell-type in at least one disease versus control comparison (Figure 2.4a). For example, excitatory neurons, inhibitory neurons, astrocytes and oligodendrocytes all showed significant up-regulation of SNCA in PD cases when compared with controls (fold change: 0.64-1.30; FDR: $2.6 \times 10^{-7} - 7.2 \times 10^{-157}$, Figure 2.4a).

Focusing on SNCA expression, the following observations were made (Figure 2.4b): (i) SNCA expression was up-regulated in PD relative to control samples across four cell-types (excitatory neurons, inhibitory neurons, astrocytes and oligodendrocytes); (ii) there was a decrease in the proportion of SNCA- expressing nuclei in PDD; (iii) there was a similar expression range of SNCA in control and PD; (iv) there was an absence of a neuronal subpopulation expressing higher levels of SNCA (top 10% highest expressing nuclei; Figure 2.4) in Lewy body dementias, as compared with PD and control group. The absence of nuclei with high SNCA expression in PDD and DLB may highlight a selective vulnerability of subpopulations of excitatory neurons



Figure 2.4: Cell-type-specific alterations of PD-associated genes and pathways across disease versus control comparisons. a Differential expression analysis of genes genetically linked to PD across cell-types and pairwise comparisons of disease groups with the control group. Non-significant genes (FDR > 0.05) are coloured grey, all other tiles are significantly expressed genes (FDR < 0.05). b SNCA expression distribution (in excitatory neurons) represented on ridgeline plot. Distributions have been split into 3 cumulative quantiles (0–50%, 50–90% and 90–100%) of the nuclei in each disease group. (Feleke et al., 2021)

which express high SNCA levels to neurodegeneration. Taken together, these observations support the notion that while there are transcriptional similarities between the Lewy Body diseases (based on the overlapping DEGs identified), PD has a distinct transcriptional profile from the other two Lewy bodies, likely relating to the absence of Lewy body pathology in the cortex of PD patients with solely motor features. In contrast, the Lewy body dementias PDD and DLB showed high levels of transcriptional concordance.

2.3.6 Identifying distinct and common molecular pathways in Lewy Body diseases

Functional enrichment analyses were performed on cell-type specific differentially expressed genes to explore their potential biological implications (Appendix A, Table 4 for terms identified using gene sets from case-case comparisons). Focusing on PD, PDD and DLB versus control comparisons, a total of 235 and 312 GO terms were enriched (significant at FDR < 0.05) for up and down-regulated DE gene sets, respectively. The significant pathways were reduced based on semantic similarity (carried out using R package rutilis). In total, 57 pathways for up-regulated and 68 pathways for down-regulated were enriched after adjustment for multiple testing (FDR < 0.05) (Figure 2.5). Focusing on the child terms which were significant using up-regulated DEG sets (including redundant terms), 106 out of 235 GO terms were uniquely enriched for a specific cell-type. For example, for DLB versus controls, GO terms including calcium ion transmembrane transport (FDR =0.037), calcium-mediated signalling (FDR =0.023) and chemical synaptic transmission, postsynaptic (FDR = 1.48×10^{-07}) were perturbed only in excitatory neurons. A full list of all significant terms for each comparison including child terms are found in Appendix A, Table 5. Furthermore, the highest number of enriched pathways were observed in those Lewy body diseases with cortical involvement (PDD and DLB), which is also reflected when comparing PD with PDD/DLB (Figure 2.6).

As well as analysing functional enrichment using GO categories, a set of curated PD-associated pathways were used from Bandres-Ciga et al. (2020) [16], in which the authors had prioritised 46 pathways for PD by using large-scale gene-set specific Polygenic risk score (PRS) based



Figure 2.5: Pathways significantly enriched for up-regulated genes. (Up-regulated in cases in comparison to control). Significance at FDR < 0.05. Abbreviations: GTP, guanosine triphosphate



Figure 2.6: **Pathways significantly enriched for down-regulated genes.** (Down-regulated in cases in comparison to control). Significance at FDR < 0.05. Abbreviations: ERBB, epidermal growth factor receptor family; ATP, Adenosine triphosphate ; NADH, nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD) and hydrogen (H); SRP, signal-recognition particle



Figure 2.7: Genetically PD-linked pathways significantly enriched for up-regulated genes. (Up-regulated in cases in comparison to control). Significance at FDR < 0.05. Abbreviations: AMPA, α -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid; GLUR2, Glutamate Receptor 2; ER, Endoplasmic Reticulum; GPCR, G protein-coupled receptor; KEGG, Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes



Figure 2.8: Genetically PD-linked pathways significantly enriched for down-regulated genes.(Down-regulated in cases in comparison to control). Significance at FDR < 0.05. Abbreviations: COPII, Coat Protein Complex II; NMDARs: Stands for N-Methyl-D-aspartate receptors

assessment of 2,199 gene sets to evaluate the role of common variation on PD risk[16]. Some of these pathways include terms related to neuronal transmission-related pathways, metabolism, programmed cell death and vesicle-mediated transport. In general, the number of perturbed pathways increased with increasing cortical involvement (i.e., PD -> PDD -> DLB) While most (17 of 31) pathways were enriched among up-and down-regulated genes, 13 pathways were uniquely enriched among down-regulated genes (Figure 2.7) and (Figure 2.8).(Appendix A, Table 6 for a full list of significant terms).

2.3.7 Heritability enrichment analysis

A major drawback of differential gene expression analysis, even at a single-cell level, is that transcriptional changes between conditions may arise both as a cause and a consequence of the disease. To try to identify transcriptional changes with a potential proximal relationship to disease, differentially expressed gene sets can be tested for enrichment of genetic variants that are associated with disease susceptibility. Here, two approaches with different assumptions and algorithms were used: (i) Stratified LD score regression (sLDSC)- a statistical method which tests the contribution of a genomic annotation to a trait heritability. In the current study, enrichment (the proportion of heritability explained by SNPs in the annotation divided by the proportion of SNPs in the annotation) was used to evaluate the significance of the association; (ii) MAGMA- a method which tests the collective association of all SNPs in a given gene with a trait while accounting for Linkage Disequilibrium between SNPs. In this study, H-MAGMA was used, which is an extension of MAGMA which uses chromatin interaction profiles from human brain tissue to assign intergenic and intronic SNPs to their nearest genes (refer to Method Section for full description of the methods).

Since co-existent AD pathology (for example, hyperphosphorylated tau and amyloid- β plaques) is a common feature in the Lewy body dementias (PDD and DLB), in addition to GWAS studies for PD age of onset [24] and PD-susceptibility [222], included GWAS summary statistics derived from a recent AD [134] GWAS was also used. For genetic enrichment analysis we considered cell-type-specific DE genes significant at FDR < 0.05 and $|\log 2(\text{fold change})| > 1.5)$, which



Figure 2.9: Genetic association analysis using Hi–C-coupled MAGMA and stratified LD score regression. a) association test using cell-type-specific differentially expressed genes in disease comparisons with controls (b) association test using top 10% most cell-type-specific genes in each disease group. Significance level are indicated by * for nominal significance (unadjusted p-value < 0.05) and ** for significant association (FDR-corrected p-value < 0.05) after adjusting for the number of cell-types tested.

were further split based on their direction of effect (Figure 2.9).

In summary, the concordance between the two methods was low; therefore, results obtained using both methods were reported separately in Appendix A, Tables 7 and 8. Using sLDSC, there was a significant association between up-regulated genes in OPCs and dysregulated (up and down) genes in astrocytes derived from PD versus control comparisons (FDR_{LDSC} = 0.0076 in OPC and FDR_{LDSC} = 0.0085 in astrocytes) and PD risk (Figure 2.9). Similarly, there was a significant association between up-regulated genes in excitatory neurons from comparison of PDD with control and PD genetic risk (FDR_{LDSC} = 0.0040). Furthermore, using HMAGMA there was a significant association between down-regulated genes in vascular and up-regulated genes in oligodendrocytes from PD-control comparison and PD genetic risk (FDR_{HMAGMA} = 0.0082 in vascular; FDR_{HMAGMA} = 0.013 in oligodendrocytes) (Figure 2.9; Full result table available in Appendix A, Table 7 and 8).

Neuronal sub-type preferential vulnerability in DLB

The above analyses revealed significant differential expression in all three diseases (PD, PDD, DLB) compared to controls in neurons, microglia and oligodendrocytes. Among these cell types, neuronal differential expression was enriched for functions relevant to the development of PD and genetic risk to PD, suggesting a possible aetiological relationship to PD.

To explore if genes differentially expressed in neurons in PD, PDD and DLB arise from a global transcriptional change across all neuronal sub-types or from a specific subset of neurons, all neurons (inhibitory and excitatory) across all 4 conditions (PD, PDD, DLB, controls) were clustered using Louvain clustering implemented in Seurat. This identified 10 neuronal clusters (Figure 2.10a).

Among the 10 clusters, Cluster 2 consisted predominantly of nuclei from PD and control cases (specifically, 90% of nuclei from Control and PD subjects), suggesting an absence of nuclei from subjects with cortical Lewy body pathology (PDD and DLB) in this cluster (Figure 2.11 and 2.10a). In contrast, Cluster 6 consisted entirely of nuclei derived from non-DLB subjects (i.e., controls, PD, and PDD), suggesting these neurons are preferentially lost in DLB. To investigate this further, neuronal clusters were assigned to cell-type subtypes using a classification scheme based on Skene et al., 2018 [284] (Figure 2.10). Nuclei in cluster 6 were identified as coming from medium spiny neurons while the remaining clusters were identified as either pyramidal neurons, interneurons or unclassified. This suggests that medium spiny neurons may represent a vulnerable cell-type in DLB, and indeed unrelated research has suggested a selective dendritic degeneration of medium spiny neurons in the caudate nucleus in DLB subjects [354].

The reason for the apparent selective vulnerability of medium spiny neurons in DLB is unclear. Several genes identified as marker genes for medium spiny neuron (cluster 6), namely Cyclin-Dependent Dinase-Like 5 (CDKL5), Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase 1 (MAPK1), Forkhead Box Protein P2 (FOXP2), Protein Phosphatase 2 Regulatory Subunit Beta (PPP2R2B), Protein Phosphatase 1 Regulatory Inhibitor subunit 1B (PPP1R1B), Insulinlike Growth Factor1 Receptor (IGF1R) and SCN1A are ubiquitously expressed across all neuronal types. In con-



 $(a)\ {\bf A}$ plot of all neuronal (excitatory and inhibitory) derived from all individuals.





Figure 2.10: Cell-type specific clustering of neurons.



Figure 2.11: Proportions of neurons derived from each group for each cluster.

trast, PPP1R1B was highly specific to cluster 6 (medium spiny neurons), and the protein product of PPP1R1B is an inhibitor of PP-1 (Protein Phosphate-1), which is known to play a role in synaptic function and dopaminergic neurotransmission [184, 195, 228].

2.4 Discussion

This study applied snRNA-Seq to profile the gene expression of 21 Lewy Bodies disease and seven neurologically "healthy" cortical samples. Differential expression analysis was performed using a scRNA-Seq-specific method, MAST[89], which produced a set of DEGs across multiple cell-types in case-control and case-case-based comparisons. Overrepresentation analysis of the DEGs identified several pathways with a previously implicated role in the development of PD, including pathways related to metabolism, the immune system and signal transduction. Overall, transcriptional similarities and differences between LBDs and control were observed for multiple cell-types. More detrimental effects were observed in excitatory and oligodendrocytes in the dementia subjects (PDD and DLB) relative to PD.

2.4.1 Transcriptional altercations in multiple cell-types distinguishes the Lewy Body diseases

The significant points that emerged from the DE analyses were: (i) cell-type specific gene expression changes were identified across different comparisons; (ii) most of the DEGs were commonly dysregulated across multiple comparisons (including Lewy Body Disease (LBD)-control and LBD-LBD comparisons); (iii) over a third (36%) of DEGs were differentially expressed in cell-type disease-specific manner; (iv) several well studied and characterised PD-associated genes were also found to be dysregulated in dementia groups (PDD and DLB). Further, most were among the commonly dysregulated genes in the LBDs. Of the 21 genetically linked PD-genes considered , 13 were dysregulated in one or more comparisons (Figure 2.2). Although this was not surprising given the neuropathological and clinical overlaps between the LBDs, the direction of effect of some of these genes was not the same in PDD and DLB as observed in PDD. For example, GBA, a gene that encodes a lysosomal enzyme, was only dysregulated in PDD (in excitatory neurons), even though previous genetic studies have identified mutations in GBA as common genetic risk factors in PD and DLB [74]. However, it has also been reported that GBA mutation carriers in PD cases have a reduced survival rate and an increased risk for early de-

mentia than noncarriers[321]. Further, a mutation of the glucocerebrosidase enzyme (encoded by GBA) was considered to induce the transition of the monomeric form of α -synuclein to an oligomeric, aggregated toxic form observed in PD [206, 297]. Similar results were observed for SNCA (up in PD, down in PDD and DLB), VPS35 (Vacuolar Protein Sorting-Associated Protein 35; up in PD, down in PDD and DLB), UCHL1 (up in PD and DLB, down in PDD), and DNAJC6 (down in PD and DLB, up in PDD). In contrast, examples of genes with the same direction of effects in the LBDs include Parkinsonism associated deglycase (PARK7), PINK1, SYNJ1 and Vacuolar Protein Sorting 13 Homolog A (VPS13A). Taken together, these observations suggest that, while it may appear at first that the two dementias are a continuation of PD, upon closer inspection, all three LBDs represent genetically heterogenous conditions with a distinct gene expression pattern of genetically linked synaptic or neuronal genes.

2.4.2 Selective vulnerability of medium spiny neurons in Dementia with Lewy bodies

The observation that excitatory neurons were more strongly impacted than other cell-types in the LBDs suggests a selective vulnerability of certain cell populations, but this effect could be confounded by the higher proportion of excitatory neurons in the samples. To address this issue, sub-clustering analysis was applied to dissect the cellular heterogeneity and identify different subpopulations of vulnerable neurons in the LBDs. This approach improved the resolution of the analysis, revealing previously unrecognised patterns of vulnerability. Furthermore, these "vulnerable" neurons were found to have a similar transcriptional profile to that of MSN, also known as GABAergic projection neurons. In a study, a selective loss of MSN was reported in the caudate nucleus regions in DLB cases [354]. Interestingly, in the current study, MSNlike neurons were present in PD and PDD subjects; therefore, it appears that the selective vulnerability of these neuronal types is unique to DLB.

2.4.3 Pathways perturbed across multiple-cell types

Functional enrichment analysis of DEGs using gene ontology (GO) terms corresponding to biological processes revealed several pathways perturbed in multiple-cell types. PDD and DLB showed a higher degree of commonality (Figure 2.5). Most GO terms were commonly enriched for both down- and up-regulated DEGs. However, it was evident that:

- Most significantly (FDR < 0.05) enriched terms were mainly enriched for down-regulated genes in a given dementias-control comparisons, and terms related to synaptic vesicle transport and response to oxidative stress were uniquely enriched for down-regulated genes in the two dementias in comparison to control and PD.
- Up-regulated genes, which were identified primarily in comparisons of PD with control, were mainly enriched for genes involved in pathways related to metabolic processes, mRNA splicing and autophagy.
- 3. There were no significant (FDR < 0.05) terms found enriched for DEGs in comparisons of DLB with PDD. In summary, GO-terms-based enrichment analyses highlighted the commonalities between DLB and PDD, while PD exhibit pathological characteristics distinct from the dementia groups.

Similarly, genetically associated PD-related pathways were (i) mainly enriched for down-regulated genes in the dementias (PDD and DLB); and terms related to cell programmed death were uniquely enriched for down-regulated genes found exclusively in glial cell-types (Figure 2.8); (ii) while, up-regulated genes in comparisons of PD with control were enriched for terms related to transmission across synapses, chromatin organisation and autophagy-lysosomal systems (Figure 2.7).

Focusing on overlapping impaired pathways in the LBDs, the most noticeable difference between PD and PDD-DLB was the down-regulation of genes involved in the autophagy–lysosome system in the two dementias and their up-regulation in PD (Figure 2.5 and 2.6). This observation was partially explained by Kong et al. (2014) [158] in which the authors demonstrated the elevated expression of genes encoding transport ATPases (for example, ATP13A2 observed in PD may be brought about by the surviving neurons of the substantia nigra pars compacta in PD overexpressing these genes as a result of increased export of exosome-associated α -Synuclein [158]. Although contradictory results have been reported in the frontal cortex of PD and DLB cases, decreased protein levels have been observed in disease cases compared to controls [221]. Furthermore, the expression of several genes that directly encode for autophagy-lysosomal components in excitatory neurons from PDD and DLB as compared to PD and control was marked by a shift in the range of the top 25% highest expressing nuclei and were highly expressed in sub-neuronal cluster 2 which mainly contained nuclei derived from PD and control subjects (Figure 2.11), suggesting these types of neurons may have been lost earliest in the progression of PDD and DLB.

2.4.4 Heritability enrichment analysis reveals a genetic association between differentially expressed genes and genetic determinants of Alzheimer's disease.

In genetic association analyses carried out using DEG sets, surprisingly, down-regulated genes in the LBDs were not enriched for genetic determinants of PD age of onset or PD risk and AD risk, suggesting that the observations may have been consequences of the disease process and not the cause. In contrast, up-regulated genes (from PD-control comparisons) were enriched for genetic risk of PD age of onset in astrocytes and OPC. Although it has previously been reported in OPCs [39, 4], the involvement of astrocytes in PD age of onset needs to be further explored since this may be the first study to have highlighted such a connection (Figure 2.9). Furthermore, several genetic associations were identified using 10% of most cell-type-specific genes in each disease group. While there was a nominal (FDR < 0.1) genetic association between PD genetic determinants and genes highly expressed in excitatory neurons, there was a significant (FDR < 0.05) enrichment of heritability for genes highly expressed in microglia and AD risk. These findings mirror similar observations reported in previous literature in which the majority of risk loci discovered through GWAS were highly expressed in microglia, which then led to the hypothesis that microglia play a role in the progression of dementia [230, 240].

2.4.5 Limitations of the study

A few limitations may complicate the interpretation of some of the observations made in this study. These limitations can be divided into technological – related to the tools and methods used- and non-technical – related to biological biases. Starting with biological limitations, there was a clear difference in the proportions of sexes between the four groups, although this is a well-known issue in the literature [225], although this could also be due to the low number of samples. Furthermore, the use of post-mortem tissue samples prevents comparing the magnitude of the difference between molecular events associated with the early stages of the disease and those that arise later. Focusing on the technical factors, except for sub-cell-type clustering analysis, all other findings presented in this chapter were based on snRNA-Seq data, which has a few challenges limiting the interpretability of the results. For example, although single-cell analysis provides a better view of the at a single-cell resolution, the tool used in the differential expression analysis is known to have a high false positive rate. However, based on a recently published study that analysed several tools used in single-cell analysis, MAST performed better than most available tools [290, 333]. Therefore, though DEA carried out using MAST provides a better result than pseudobulk analysis (which produced a significantly low number of DEGs ranging from 1-10), interpreting the results obtained from MAST should be done cautiously.

Chapter 3

Assessing gene expression changes associated with the earliest detectable abnormal Tau species

Abstract

Understanding the early cellular changes in AD is crucial for the development of effective disease-modifying therapies. This study aimed to investigate gene expression changes associated with early detectable abnormal tau species at the single-cell level. Brain samples with neurofibrillary tangles (NFTs) and tau oligomers were analysed, revealing transcriptional similarities and differences between these two tau species. Differential expression analysis identified several well-known neurodegenerative disease-associated genes, highlighting their dysregulation in the tau oligomer-positive (with few or no NFTs) group. Functional enrichment analysis revealed dysregulated pathways involved in protein aggregation processes, protein modification, mRNA splicing, and interleukin 12 (IL-12) signalling pathways. Additionally, the study observed the activation of reactive astrocytes in early tau pathology, suggesting their involvement in tau aggregate formation. The findings emphasize the importance of characterising tau oligomers in AD brain tissue to differentiate early-stage AD from established AD and avoid misclassification. In summary, this study provides valuable insights into the early molecular events in the formation of abnormal tau species, facilitating the development of targeted therapeutic strategies.

3.1 Introduction

3.1.1 Amyloid and Tau pathology in Alzheimer's disease

The German Bavarian neuroanatomist Alois Alzheimer first describedAD in 1907 when he presented his long-term study of a case involving a woman who suffered from what he described as "a severe disease process of the cerebral cortex" [28]. Since the original description, the neuropathological features of AD have included: (i) the amyloid plaques (first described by Alzheimer as "miliary foci"), which are extraneuronal aggregates of the protein amyloid beta $(A\beta)$; (ii) and neurofibrillary tangles (NFTs), which are composed of aggregated filamentous tau protein, a microtubule-associated protein. The amyloid plaques are formed due to the abnormal processing of Amyloid Precursor Protein (APP) by beta- and gamma-secretases [241]. Two main amyloid plaques are primarily observed in AD pathology- the dense core and the diffuse [70]. Diffuse plaques form in the neuropil and generally lack neuritic components, while cored plaques are associated with dystrophic neurites. While NFTs in the brain of AD mainly consist of hyperphosphorylated and aggregated tau proteins, the lesions can also include pretangle material and neurophil threads [70].

3.1.2 The role of tau oligomers in disease

Since the initial description of AD, the underlying causes and pathogenic mechanisms of AD have remained largely elusive. There are currently many proposed AD pathogeneses, including the tau pathology hypothesis [241, 70], oxidative stress [42] and the amyloid cascade hypothesis [70, 72]. The tau hyperphosphorylation hypothesis proposes that abnormal phosphorylation causes tau to dissociate from microtubules and fold into paired helical filaments, the constituents of NFTs, presumed to be neurotoxic. Further, studies have shown the pathological features of tau pathology in AD are quite distinct from that of other tau-related diseases; for example, aggregates incorporate tau molecules carrying both 3 and 4 units of the microtubule-binding domain; and elevated levels of phosphorylated tau are observed in cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) of AD patients and tau pathology has been shown to correlate more closely with cognitive decline than amyloid pathology [71, 13, 365, 345].

Physiologically tau is an unfolded protein made up of four domains: (i) an acidic N-terminal domain (ii) a proline-rich region, (iii) an MT-binding, microtubule binding (MTBR), and (iv) a carboxy-terminal tail [37]. Functional tau is involved in actin reorganisation, microtubule stabilisation and neurite growth regulation [17]. Post-translational modifications, including ubiquitination, acetylation and phosphorylation are needed to regulate the physiological functions of tau proteins[15]. However tauopathies (a group of tau-related pathologies) are associated with excessive or abnormal phosphorylation [15], although it is not completely clear if phosphorylation is the cause or consequence of tau misfolding and aggregation, as tau multimerisation can be detected at early stages, even before several phosphorylated epitopes. In some animal studies, over-expression of tau caused cell death, synaptic dysfunction and behavioural abnormalities [351, 130]. Interestingly, Santacruz et al. (2005) [269] showed that despite the continuous formation of NFTs, a reduced tau expression in mutant transgenic mice decreases neuronal cell loss, suggesting NFTs formation may not cause neuronal loss.

Additionally, some studies have suggested that NFTs may not be the toxic species but instead the tau oligomers, an intermediate species made of soluble tau aggregates, may mediate neuronal toxicity [227]. These oligomers are formed when an individual tau binds to another, forming a soluble aggregate. In some studies, the levels of tau oligomers correlated with the clinical symptoms of AD suggesting that tau oligomers may be involved in the progression of AD [227]. Furthermore, in one study [99] tau oligomers derived from traumatic brain injury were shown to cause cognitive impairment, suggesting that oligomeric forms of tau may be involved in initiating the onset and spread of neurodegenerative diseases. Additionally, unlike tau monomers, tau oligomers were shown to inhibit axonal transport [147]. By far, the most noteworthy finding was the prion-like transmission mechanism by which tau misfolded conformers propagate in tau-related neurological disorders, in which tau oligomers may play a central role [15].



3.1.3 Tau seeding and propagation



Insights into Alzheimer's Disease progression through visualisation of tau protein aggregates. a Top: Different staining patterns for tau using Tau-proximity ligation assay (tauPLA) from left to right: Normal refers to non-pathological state; Diffuse is characterised by the accumulation of small, diffuse tau protein aggregates; Pretangle refers to the early accumulation of tau aggregates; Mature stage is characterised by the formation of mature tangles that are densely packed, paired helical filaments of tau; Ghost pathology refers to the presence of tau protein aggregates that persist after the death of neurons. Scale bar 50 μ m. Bottom: distribution of tau at different Braak stages. Scale bar 2 mm. b Alzheimer's disease progression. Blue arrow indicates detectable tau in cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) c Neurofibrillary tangle formation (Khanahmadi et al. (2015) and Bengoa- Vergniory et al. (2021))

The mechanism behind the prion-like spreading of tau has been studied using cell models that mimic tau seeding and propagation. *In vitro* studies have demonstrated the ability of tau to recruit soluble monomeric tau in a similar manner to prions [15]. As the disease progress, the accumulation of tau follows structurally linked pathways. Studies in animal models have revealed that endogenous tau misfolds and propagates from unaffected brain regions to affected brain regions through neuroanatomical networks. Usually from the entorhinal cortex and progress to the hippocampus, eventually to the surrounding cortex region (Figure 3.1) [3]. In addition, tau pathology propagates at different rates in different brain regions [149]. Collectively, these observations demonstrate the existence of abnormal tau species (different strains of tau) with distinct neuropathological and morphological characteristics [128]. Therefore, identifying and characterising these tau "toxic" species is essential in designing therapies to lower the level of toxic tau, to decrease tau aggregation or to prevent the spread of pathology. Further, failure in identifying abnormal tau species, which do not carry the phosphorylated signature recognised by commonly used antibodies, could lead to a misclassification of diseased brain tissue (e.g. early stages of disease) as control, thus leading to false negative error.

3.1.4 Techniques for detecting tau species

Current methods used to identify misfolded tau on tissue sections are mostly dependent on the identification of phosphorylated tau epitopes with specific antibodies. Visualisation of phosphorylated tau has been used to develop staging schemes to classify the different phases of the pathology (Figure 3.1). Braak observed that pathological tau spreads throughout the brain in a stereotypical predictable pattern and categorised the progression of pathology in several Braak stages (I-VI)[33](Figure 3.1), currently the standard neuropathological staging of tau AD-related changes. In 2006, Braak et al. improved their staging method, originally based on the visualisation of NFTs with silver stain, by incorporating immunohistochemistry with AT8 antibody, which detects phosphorylated tau. Several other antibodies have been developed to visualise abnormal tau on tissue sections, recognising different phosphorylated tau epitopes or another biochemical characteristic of abnormal tau, such as the monoclonal Receptor Polyclonal Antibody (MC1) is an antibody, which recognise conformation-dependent epitopes in tau [140].

3.1.5 Using tau-proximity ligation assay to visualise early tau-tau interaction *in situ*

Despite the recent advancement in detecting phosphorylated tau species, a large portion of tau pathology is still not being detected using immunochemistry techniques. Recent studies have shown that tau-tau interactions occur early in the development of AD pathology (Figure 3.1), and that seed propagation of tau can happen in the absence of phosphorylation [150]. Therefore, visualising early tau-tau interaction could help identify early pathological tau-multimers and potentially representing early stages of AD. Bengoa-vergniory et al., 2021 [21] used a novel

tau-proximity ligation assay to directly visualise tau-tau interactions in situ regardless of tau phosphorylation state or conformational changes (Figure 3.1). The assay was able to recognise the multimers but not monomers. Furthermore, Bengoa-vergniory et al. were able to detect NFTs-like lesions and a small-sized diffuse pathology, which had not been reported before. The authors concluded that tau multimers were present from the earliest pre-symptomatic Braak stages [269, 21]. Most recent studies have looked at gene expression changes at late-stages of tau pathology including AD and were able to identify genes involved in the pathogenesis of AD. However, many late-stage clinical trials that were based on these studies were unsuccessful at treating AD, which has led to the recognition for the need to intervene at an early stage in the disease progression [84]. This was supported by studies showing that gene expression changes can occur even at the early stages of tau pathology [252, 154]. Therefore, it is believed that early intervention could potentially prevent the cascade of multiple pathologic pathways associated with tau pathologies and help in identifying early molecular changes that are critical for diagnosis and therapeutic strategies. Here we used snRNA-Seq analysis (to look at expression changes at the cell-type level, for example to assess the role of astrocytes in the disease progression) to identify gene expression changes occurring at the early stage of tau pathology.

3.1.6 Aims and objectives

The main aims of this study were:

1. To assess transcriptional signatures associated with oligomeric tau in the postmortem human brain using single-nucleus RNA-seq.

2. To evaluate and contrast transcriptomic similarities and dissimilarities between two distinct groups, brain tissues with tau oligomers (referred to as AT8-/tauPLA+) and those with tau oligomers and tau tangles (referred to as AT8+/tauPLA+).

3.2 Methods

3.2.1 Sample selection and tissue extraction



Figure 3.2: **Overview of samples used in the study.** 5 subjects were AT8 negative and tauPLA negative (A); 7 subjects were AT8 negative and tauPLA positive (B); 4 subjects were AT8 positive and tauPLA positive (C).

Brain tissue sample selection and preparation were performed by Dr Javier Alegre-Abarrategui and his group members using post-mortem samples donated to the Multiple Sclerosis and Parkinson's Brain Tissue Bank of Imperial College London. The samples were from temporal lobe neocortex, which sits halfway through in the Braak tau pathway between the early affected medial temporal lobe to the late affected primary sensorimotor cortices and can therefore harbour a range of tau pathology. Given that we aim at studying gene expression changes associated with the earliest tau species, and that these changes likely start at the pre-clinical phase of the disease process, all brain tissue samples were ascertained from donors with no history of neurological disease antemortem (i.e., the pathological findings are in the absence of documented AD). Tau immunohistochemistry with AT8 antibody for phosphorylated tau and tauPLA was used to classify the temporal lobe samples of these cases into three groups (Figure 3.2). Immunohistochemistry for AT8 identified a group of samples with overt NFTs formation characterised by scattered NFTs. The remaining samples included cases with no tangles or rare isolated NFTs. This group was further subdivided with tauPLA into a group with negligible tauPLA signal (tauPLA negative) and a group with overt tauPLA diffuse signal (tauPLA positive) (Figure 3.2). The three sample groups were therefore:

- AT8 negative/tauPLA negative (double negative) i.e., no abnormal tau deposition.
- AT8 negative/tauPLA positive (intermediate group) i.e., tau oligomers but very little NFTs/hyperphosphorylated tau.
- AT8 positive/tauPLA positive (double positive) i.e., presence of both tau oligomers and NFTs / hyperphosphorylated tau.

To be consistent, a cut off of 0.78 of the quantification of tauPLA diffuse signal was used to define double negative groups (tauPLA- and AT8-). Clinical and pathological features of the cohort are available in Appendix B, Table 1.

Tissue extraction

Tissue sectioning was performed by Elisavet Velentza-Almpani under the supervision of Dr Javier Alegre-Abarrategui. Tissue sections of 5 μ m thick Formalin-Fixed Paraffin-Embedded (FFPE) from the temporal cortex were used for tauPLA, and immunohistochemistry, and adjacent frozen tissue samples were homogenised in iced-cold PBS (10% w/v) using a Tissue Ruptor II with disposable probes (Qiagen) for snRNA-Seq analysis.

3.2.2 Immunohistochemistry

FFPE 5 µm thick human brain tissue samples from each individual were heated for 45 minutes at 70°C followed by dewaxing in xylene, rehydrated in 70-100% graded alcohols and finally blocked

with hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂). Microwave heating was used to retrieve antigens (with citrate buffer pH 6 for 10 minutes). Samples were then incubated (after blocking the non-specific binding sites) with antibodies AT8, AT180, MC1 for 1 hour at room temperature. Antibodies were obtained from ThermoFisher Scientific (1:500 and 1:1000) and the MC1 antibodies were provided by Peter Davies, The Feinstein Institute for Medical Research, Manhasset, New York, United States. Next day, samples were incubated with biotinylated goat anti-mouse/antirabbit IgG secondary antibody for 1 hour at room temperature, then washed and incubated with Vectastain ABC reagents. Finally, slides were counterstained with Mayer's haematoxylin solution (Sigma-Aldrich), dehydrated with alcohols and xylene, and mounted with Distyrene, a Plasticizer, and Xylene (DPX) mounting reagent.

3.2.3 In situ tau proximity ligation assay

Following manufacturer's instructions, Duolink PLA kits (Sigma) was used to perform tauPLA. Tau5 antibody (ab80579, Abcam), along with Duolink PLA +/- kits, was used to prepare conjugated tau. Dewaxing was performed as mentioned in the previous section. Samples were incubated at 37 °C for 1 hour and diluted with tau conjugates at 4°C overnight. After being washed, the samples were incubated again with ligation stock and ligased for 1 hour at 37°C, washed again, followed by incubation with the amplification stock and polymerase for further 2.5 hours at 37 °C. As a final step, samples were incubated and washed again using detection solution for 1 hour at room temperature, washing and incubation step were repeated using substrate reagent for further 20 minutes at room temperature, counterstained for 5 minutes, dehydrated and finally mounted using DPX mounting reagent.

3.2.4 Neuropathological analysis

Aperio-Scanscope (40x objective) was used for imaging analysis. Three random samples were blindly taken as representative images. Neuropathological analysis was carried out using ImageJ software. For large perikaryal lesions (which consists mostly NFTs and neuropil threads (NTs)), a threshold of 12.5–100 µm² was used, while for small structures a threshold 1.5–3.5 µm² was used. The average μ m² was calculated for each image and semi-quantitative analysis was carried out by randomly sampling three representative images for each sample. Statistical analysis and comparison analysis was carried out using GraphPad Software. Finally, unpaired two-tailed Student's t test and one-way Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) test was carried out (statistical significance at P < 0.05).

3.2.5 Nuclei Isolation and sequencing

Isolation of nuclei for snRNA-Seq and RNA isolation was performed by Elisavet Velentza-Almpani. Library preparation and sequencing of snRNA-Seq data was performed by Source BioScience. A minimum of 5,000 nuclei per sample were targeted, and nuclei were sequenced at a depth of 30,000 paired-end reads per nucleus. All samples were sequenced on a single flow-cell to avoid sequencing batch effects using NovaSeq 6000. The libraries were prepared following 10X Genomic Chromium scRNA protocol. All samples passed all internal QC steps. Raw base calls were converted to FASTQ files (Phred+33 Illumina 1.9), a text-based format used to store biological data along with their quality scores and identification numbers. Adapter sequences, which are sequences ligated to the ends of cDNA fragments that can be introduced at the library preparation, were not detected. Therefore, adapter trimming step was not needed.

3.2.6 Analysis of single-nucleus data

3.2.7 Quality control



Figure 3.3: Overview of pre-processing steps and downstream analysis carried out using 16 human brain tissue samples.

FASTQ files were processed using Cell Ranger(v 3.1.0). Reads were mapped to both intronic and exonic regions using the human reference genome GRCh38. Genes were annotated using

Ensembl v93 and the final cell matrices (both raw and filtered) were generated.

Ambient RNA containing droplets (also known as empty droplets) were distinguished from droplets containing real nuclei using **CellBender** algorithm [91]. The following parameters were applied: (i) false positive rate (FPR) value set to 0.01; (ii) expected-cells (expected number of nuclei from each sample) set to 10,000; (iii) total-droplets-included (the total number of droplets from the rank-ordered UMI plot) set to 15,000. The final output, a new .h5 count matrix with ambient RNA removed, was used directly in the downstream analyses.

The next few QC steps were carried out using the R package Seurat pipeline [41]. Briefly, for each sample a Seurat object was created using the function CreateSeuratObject(). Genes detected in a minimum of 5 nuclei and nuclei with less than 10 % mitochondrial reads and at least 200 detected genes were retained. The R package DoubletFinder removed potential doublets from each sample. DoubletFinder [209] is a software that predicts doublets (technical artefacts or two or more nuclei that appear to be one) in snRNA-Seq data.

Default parameters were used: (i) PCs (statistically-significant principal components) value set to 10; (ii) pN (number of generated artificial doublets, expressed as a proportion of the merged real-artificial data) value set to 0.25; (iii) pK (a parameter used to compute the proportion of artificial nearest neighbours) value set to 0.09; (iv) nExp (total number of predicted doublets estimated from cell densities loads used in the 10x device) value varied per sample. DoubletFinder first simulates artificial doublets by calculating the average transcriptional profile of randomly selected nuclei pairs. Doublets are then identified by comparing artificial doublets profiles to "singlets" nuclei. Nuclei with a high proportion of artificial neighbours, calculated by dividing the number of artificial neighbours by the neighbourhood size, in gene expression space are removed from the dataset.

3.2.8 Integration of samples and cell-type identification

After removing doublets, an integrated data matrix was generated for downstream analysis. All individual samples were integrated using **Seurat** integration pipeline. First, each dataset was normalised for sequencing depth using **SCTransform** [112], a variance stabilising and trans-

formation tool from Seurat. SCTransform removes technical variations, including sequencing depth (the total UMI counts per cell), by modelling the counts using a regularised negative binomial model. The variance is adjusted by merging information across genes with similar abundances after the transformation. The primary purpose for variance adjustment is due to the fact that in scRNA-Seq data, cells with low UMI counts show disproportionately higher variance for highly abundant genes, reducing the variance contribution from other lowly abundant genes. Briefly, prior to integration SCTransform() function with the default parameters was used to normalise each sample. SelectIntegrationFeatures() function was used to select 3,000 features for integration. PrepSCTIntegration() function, followed by FindIntegrationAnchors() function, were used to identify anchors (cell pairwise correspondences between single cells). Finally, IntegrateData() function was used to generate an integrated assay dataset containing: (i) all UMI counts and (ii) centred and corrected Pearson residuals. The integrated assay dataset was visualised using UMAP after integration. Seurat functions FindNeighbors() and FindClusters() were used to compute the nearest neighbours and identify clusters using a shared nearest neighbour modularity optimisation based on the Louvain clustering algorithm. FindAllMarkers() function was then used to identify marker genes for each cluster (differentially expressed genes in each cluster compared to all other clusters). Each cluster was assigned a cell type using Fisher's exact test to examine the overlap between a cluster and a list of cell-type markers from Wang et al. (2008) [332].

3.2.9 Differential gene expression

In order to identify genes that were differentially expressed across the three groups, we applied MAST [89] for each pair-wise comparison (refer to section Chapter 1.1.2 for a detailed description of MAST). To explore gene expression differences at a single-cell level between the three groups (after adjusting for sex, age and individual ID), the following comparisons were undertaken:

 i) AT8 negative/tauPLA negative (double negative) versus AT8 negative/tauPLA positive (intermediate group).
- ii) AT8 negative/tauPLA negative (double negative) versus AT8 positive/tauPLA positive (double positive).
- iii) AT8 negative/PLA positive (intermediate group) versus AT8 positive/tauPLA positive (double positive). (Table 3.1).

Analysis	Number of Subjects	
AT8-/tauPLA- (double negative)	12	
vs AT8-/tauPLA+ (intermediate)	12	
AT8-/tauPLA- (double negative)	0	
vs AT8+/tauPLA+ (double positive)	7	
AT8-/tauPLA+ (intermediate)	11	
vs AT8+/tauPLA+ (double positive)		

Table 3.1: Differential expression analyses

3.2.10 Functional enrichment of differentially expressed genes

Once differentially expressed genes were identified for each pair-wise comparison in each celltype, WEB-based GEne SeT AnaLysis Toolkit (WebGestaltR) (v 0.4.4)[182] was used to extract underlying biological themes from the identified gene sets. WebGestalt is a widely used gene set enrichment analysis software tool that has integrated functional categories derived from centrally curated databases such as Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) and GO, and from locally curated databases originated from experimental and computational analyses. The R package of WebGestalt, WebGestaltR [182] was implemented using the default values, including overlap of 10 for minimum and maximum 500 genes and FDR-correction for multiple testing was performed using BH method and significant pathways identified using a threshold of FDR < 0.05. Briefly, gene sets were divided into up- and down-regulated DEG sets across the main cell types, resulting in fourteen gene sets per pairwise comparison. Each set was tested for enrichment against gene sets annotated with biological processes GO terms.

3.2.11 H-MAGMA and LDSC

Two statistical methods, H-MAGMA [275, 67], and LDSC [40, 90] were used to prioritise DEG sets associated with neurological phenotypes based on 3 publicly available GWAS summary statistics (refer to Appendix B, Table 6 and 7 for a full list of GWAS used). The methods account in different ways for confounders, including linkage disequilibrium and gene sizes. The first method, H-MAGMA is an extension of MAGMA which assigns intronic and intergenic SNPs to their nearest genes by incorporating chromatin interaction profiles from human brain tissue. Using default parameters, H-MAGMA was run in three parts:

- 1. Using GWAS summary statistics and H-MAGMA generated annotation files for an adult brain, association statistics at the gene-level were obtained by combining individual pvalues. (H-MAGMA uses a window size 35-kb upstream and 10-kb downstream surrounding each gene, and LD is accounted for using data files from phase 3 of the 1000 Genome Project European population.) This step is used to quantify the association of each gene to a phenotype, while estimating gene correlations to reflect LD between genes. The output file includes information such as gene ID, gene mapping region (CHR, START, STOP), number of SNPs mapped to the gene, sample size for a gene, test statistic (ZSTAT and P-value), and r-squared (r^2) and adjusted r-squared values which explain the proportion of variance in the phenotype explained by the SNPs in a specific gene.
- 2. Using gene-level statistics created in the previous step, each gene set in the list of DEGs was then analyzed using a linear regression framework. The output file contains: the total number of genes in the gene set for the analysis; the linear regression parameters, including: β the regression coefficient of the gene set, β_{STD} obtained by dividing β by the standard deviation of the gene set (which can be used to compare the effect size of the gene sets), SE standard error; and corresponding p-value.
- 3. Finally, significant gene sets are identified after running Bonferroni correction for the total number of analysed sets (significance level set at FDR < 0.05).

The second method LDSC, is a technique widely used to estimate heritability (Chpater 1.1.2). As mentioned in the previous chapter, LDSC estimates heritability by considering that SNPs in higher LD with other SNPs have higher test statistics on average for a polygenic trait/disease because of more causal SNPs being tagged. In other words, LDSC quantifies the contributions of polygenic effects and estimates its bias by assessing the relationship between LD scores and test statistics of SNPs from GWASs. The analysis was carried out as follows (after converting GWAS summary stats to LDSC format using (munge_sumstats.py)):

- 1. Annotation files were generated for each gene set using default parameters. SNPs were then mapped to genes using dsSNP file NCBI Build 37 co-ordinates (build 147 and hg19).
- 2. LD scores were computed for each annotation file using a 1 cM window (restricted to Hapmap3 SNPs), and the full baseline model was downloaded from the LDSC GitHub page (https://github.com/bulik/ldsc).
- 3. An enrichment score and its corresponding P-value were calculated based on the proportion of total SNPs per annotation, after taking into account all other annotations. Annotation categories with significant positive enrichment of SNP-heritability (tested using a one-tailed test) are then reported as a final result.

3.2.12 Single-nucleus trajectory analysis

Cellular asynchrony, in which a population of cells/nuclei captured are widely distributed in terms of progress, is a major problem that contributes to the apparent high variability of gene expression in snRNA-Seq data. To overcome this challenge, Monocle [46] was used to construct trajectories to identify changes in pseudo-temporal trajectories across the three groups. Monocle orders individual cells/nucleus in an unsupervised manner along a trajectory (for this analysis along tau oligomers load (A > B > C)) and assigns a pseudotime value to each nucleus that represents where the nucleus is along a given path. To identify genes driving differential trajectories and assess their biological implications, the following steps were taken:

1. Each cell type was analysed separately in order to extract cell-type specific driver genes.

- 2. Nuclei are clustered using Leiden community detection method with the default parameters implemented in Monocle 3 function cluster_cells(). The function also calculates partitions (different branches), which are computed using a kNN pruning method and represent Leiden communities' superclusters.
- 3. Using learn_graph() function, the algorithm then learns the trajectory graph. This is done under the idea that in a high-dimensional space, a cell can be viewed as a point in space, and each dimension describes the expression of a gene. Therefore, by learning the trajectory the cells follow through that space, we can identify the program of gene expression changes. Since in snRNA-Seq data, there are many dimensions, Monocle 3 uses the UMAP algorithm to reduce these dimensions.
- 4. The algorithm then uses get_earliest_principal_node() function to select a root node. Briefly, nuclei are grouped based on which trajectory they are nearest to. Then at each node, the fraction of nuclei coming from the earliest point is calculated. The node with the highest number of early nuclei (for this analysis, early nuclei are those belonging to group A) is returned as the root.
- 5. Once the root is defined, Monocle 3 uses principal graph node IDs to specify the start of the trajectory. Further, using order_cells() function, a pseudotime value was assigned to each nucleus using the principal graph learned in the previous step and the position of the root state.
- 6. Next, genes that are differentially expressed across a trajectory were identified using spatial autocorrelation analysis (executed using the function graph_test()). Using Moran I test, nuclei with close proximity on a trajectory were tested to determine if they have similar gene expression for a given gene. The output of Moran I's test statistics include values from -1 to 1, with 0 representing no correlation, -1 anti-correlated and 1 perfect correlation. Significant genes (q-value < 0.05 and positive Moran I test statistics) were then selected for further analysis.</p>
- Using find_gene_modules() gene with similar expression (co-expressed) are then clustered into modules.

8. Finally, in order to gain more biological insight, functional enrichment analysis was run for each module identified in the previous step.

3.2.13 Code and Data availability

The raw and processed rat sequencing data generated in this study have not yet been deposited. All scripts used in this study can be found in GitHub urlhttps://github.com/rahfel. Supplementary materials including full tables can also be found in GitHub https://github.com/rahfel.

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Transcriptomic profiling of the temporal cortex

snRNA-Seq analysis was performed on 16 subjects with no history of brain disease. Each sample was allocated to one of three groups (Figure 3.2): 5 subjects with AT8-/tauPLA- (double negative), 7 subjects with AT8-/tauPLA+ (intermediate) and 4 subjects with AT8+/tauPLA+ (double positive). A diffusion score (quantification of tau-PLA labelled diffuse signal) of < 0.78 was used as a cut-off to define a **tauPLA negative** sample. Samples were matched for demographic factors; however, there was a difference in the proportions of sexes between groups due to sample unavailability (refer to Appendix B, Table 1 for sample demographics including age, sex and tauPLA diffuse score). The ratio of males in each group was as follows (male/female): 4/1 in double-negative groups, 2/5 in intermediate groups and 0/4 in double-positive groups. Overall, quality measures for read mapping and sequencing were high (Appendix B, Table 2). On average 87% of reads were mapped to the human genome version Genome Reference Consortium Human Build 38 (GRCh38-hg38). In total, snRNA-Seq was generated on 52,008 nuclei. Across the sample set, 17,483 genes were expressed (defined as genes detected (0 > read) in at least 5 nuclei), with an average of 1, 923 genes detected per nucleus (Appendix B, Table 2 for full metrics).

3.3.2 Cell-type identification

The snRNA-Seq datasets were integrated (using Seurat) and an integrated plot (using UMAP) was generated to visualise clusters representing different cell-types (Figure 3.4). Clusters were assigned a cell type using a Fisher's exact test (FET) and a list of cell-type markers from Wang et al., 2018 [332]. In total, there were 18,492 nuclei identified as excitatory neurons; 4,823 as astrocytes; 3,670 as inhibitory neurons; 18,267 as oligodendrocytes; 2,535 as OPC; 3,671 as microglia and 550 as vascular (refer to Appendix B, Table 3 for a list of nuclei derived per subject).



Figure 3.4: A UMAP plot representing nuclei dervied from all subjects. A joint plot was generated by combining approximately 52,000 nuclei. Abbreviations: UMAP, Uniform Manifold Approximation and Projection; Oligo, Oligodendrocytes.

3.3.3 Similar differential gene expression pattern was observed between intermediate and double positive groups

To explore cell-type specific transcriptional changes across the three groups, DEA was carried out in a pairwise manner across 6 broad cell-types (Table 3.1). There were significant (FDR < 0.05) DEGs in all three pairwise comparisons across all cell-types. The largest number of DEGs were identified in AT8-/tauPLA- (double negative) versus AT8+/tauPLA+ (double positive) comparison. While, the least number of DEGs were identified in AT8-/tauPLA+ (intermediate) versus AT8+/tauPLA+ (double positive) comparisons (Figure 3.5; see Appendix B, Table 4 for a full list of genes DE in each comparison).



Figure 3.5: Cell-type-specific gene expression changes and pathway across all comparison. a Total number of differentially expressed genes (DEGs) across all pairwise comparisons (FDR < 0.05, $|\log_2(\text{fold change})| > \log_2(1.5)$). b A yes/no plot indicating if a gene (column) is expressed in a given cell-type comparison. The upper panel shows down-regulated genes, while the bottom panel shows up-regulated genes. The total number of DEGs (unique) in each comparison is indicated on the x-axis.



Figure 3.6: Total number of differentially expressed genes across all cell-types. (FDR < 0.05, $|\log_2(\text{fold change})| > \log_2(1.5)$). A yes/no plot indicating if a gene (column) is expressed in a given cell-type comparison. The total number of DEGs (unique) in each cell-type is indicated on the x-axis.

From the DEA carried out between nuclei isolated from AT8-/tauPLA- (double negative) versus AT8+/tauPLA+ (double positive) subjects, excitatory neurons showed a strong signature of down-regulation (i.e., 6,207 of DEGs were up-regulated (had higher expression level in double positive groups in comparison to double negative groups) while only 695 were down-regulated). While, in astrocytes, 552 genes were up-regulated while 135 were down-regulated. A similar trend was observed for AT8-/tauPLA- (double negative) versus AT8-/tauPLA+ (intermediate) comparison: 4,134 genes were up-regulated while 557 genes were down-regulated in excitatory neurons, while in astrocytes, 1,037 were up-regulated and 334 were down-regulated. Moreover, only a few numbers of genes were found to be differentially expressed in astrocytes and excitatory neurons in AT8-/tauPLA+ (intermediate) versus AT8+/tauPLA+ (double positive)

comparisons (Figure 3.5).

Overlap between cell-type specific gene sets from each comparison was visualised on a plot generated by the R package ggplot (Figure 3.5 and 3.6). Focusing on excitatory neurons, 50 % of DEGs overlapped between AT8+/tauPLA+ (double negative) versus AT8-/tauPLA-(double negative); and AT8+/tauPLA+ (double negative) versus AT8-/tauPLA- (double negative)(2,335 of 4,691 DEGs and 2,335 of 6,902 DEGs respectively). This observation may suggest similar neuronal pathways might be perturbed in the two tau pathologies. Further, for astrocytes, the overlap was 41% and 35% for oligodendrocytes (Figure 3.6).

3.3.4 Pathway enrichment analysis

To associate DEG sets with downstream functional consequences, over-representation analysis was carried out using the R package WebGestaltR [182]. In total, 694 biological process GO (child) terms were enriched for DEG sets derived from AT8-/tauPLA- (double negative) versus AT8+/tauPLA+ (double positive) comparison, while 420 and 81 GO (child) terms were enriched for AT8-/tauPLA+ (double negative) versus AT8-/tauPLA+ (intermediate) and AT8-/tauPLA+ (intermediate) versus AT8+/tauPLA+ (double negative), respectively (Figure 3.7; refer to Appendix B, Table 5 for a list of significant GO child and corresponding parent terms across all comparisons).

Focusing on terms that were uniquely enriched for the up-regulated genes (mainly in excitatory neurons) in AT8+/tauPLA+ (double positive) group in comparison to AT8-/tauPLA- (double negative) group were terms related to:

- 1. Mitochondrion organisation, including mitochondrial electron transport, NADH to ubiquinone $(FDR = 3.28 \times 10^{-09})$, protein targeting to mitochondrion $(FDR = 3.12 \times 10^{-06})$ and regulation of autophagy of mitochondrion $(FDR = 3.14 \times 10^{-05})$.
- 2. Ubiquitination, including protein polyubiquitination (FDR = 3.05×10^{-08}), histone ubiquitination (FDR = 1.48×10^{-02}), and positive regulation of protein ubiquitination (FDR = 3.82×10^{-03}).



Figure 3.7: Reduced biological process gene ontology (GO) terms (referred to as parent terms) enriched for cell-type specific differentially expressed genes (up or down-regulated divided into two columns). The fill of each tile indicates the -log10FDR value of the most significant child term associated with the parent term. The full list of child GO terms assigned to each parent term across all pairwise comparisons in the panel is available in Appendix B, Table 5.

3. Interleukin-12 related pathways, including cellular response to interleukin-12 (FDR = 6.80×10^{-03}), interleukin-12-mediated signaling pathway (FDR = 1.65×10^{-02}), and response to interleukin-12 (FDR = 4.21×10^{-03}).

Among pathways enriched for down-regulated genes in the same comparisons were pathways related to cognition, including memory (FDR = 6.63^{11}), cognition (FDR = 4.92×10^{-12}) and regulation of system process (FDR = 2.34×10^{-04}).

3.3.5 Heritability enrichment in differentially expressed genes

Genetic enrichment of association (heritability enrichment) to neurological disease among the genes DE between the various comparisons was assessed using HMAGMA and LDSC (Figure 3.8). The aim was to test if cell-type specific DEGs from the three comparisons contribute to the common SNP heritability of AD, PD, and IQ. DEGs were split into up and down-regulated gene sets and tested separately (to provide information on the potential direction of effect). Using DEG sets from AT8-/tauPLA- (double negative) versus AT8+/tauPLA+ (double positive)

comparisons, the following were observed:

- 1. A significant (FDR < 0.05) association observed between AD genetic risk and genes up-regulated in oligodendrocytes (FDR_{LDSC}= 4.09×10^{-02} , FDR_{HMAGMA}= 0.25) and excitatory neurons (FDR_{LDSC} = 7.22×10^{-09} , FDR_{HMAGMA} = 0.14).
- 2. A significant (FDR < 0.05) association observed between PD genetic risk genes and upregulated genes in excitatory neurons (FDR_{LDSC} = 5.28×10^{-06} , FDR_{HMAGMA} = 0.71).
- 3. A significant (FDR < 0.05) association observed between IQ genetic risk genes and downregulated genes in excitatory neurons (FDR_{LDSC} = 1.29×10^{-05} , FDR_{HMAGMA} = 0.09).

Using DEG sets from AT8-/tauPLA+ (intermediate) vs AT8-/tauPLA- (double negative) comparisons, the following were observed:

- 1. A significant (FDR < 0.05) association observed between AD genetic risk and genes down-regulated in oligodendrocytes (FDR_{LDSC}= 2.53×10^{-03} , FDR_{HMAGMA}= 0.61) and excitatory neurons (FDR_{LDSC} = 3.47×10^{-02} , FDR_{HMAGMA} = 0.24).
- 2. A significant (FDR < 0.05) association observed between IQ genetic risk and genes downregulated in astrocytes (FDR_{LDSC}= 1.96×10^{-04} , FDR_{HMAGMA}= 0.18, oligodendrocytes (FDR_{LDSC}= 4.94×10^{-04} , FDR_{HMAGMA}= 0.18) and excitatory neurons (FDR_{LDSC} = 3.98×10^{-02} , FDR_{HMAGMA} = 0.15).

No significant association (FDR < 0.05) between any of the genetic risks and DEGs from AT8-/tauPLA+ (intermediate) versus AT8+/tauPLA+ (double positive) comparisons across all cell-types. A full list of analysis statistics, including LDSC and H-MAGMA based analyses can be found in Appendix B, Table 6 and 7.



Figure 3.8: Genetic association with cell-type specific differentially expressed genes across all pairwise comparisons. LDSC was used to identify associations. The x-axis indicates enrichment p-values. The black line indicates Bonferroni significance threshold (pvalues adjusted for the number of cell-types tested; FDR < 0.10). The colour of the bars indicates if the DEGs were up or down-regulated. Abbreviations: AD, Alzheimer's disease; PD, Parkinson's Disease; IQ, Intelligence quotient. Full results can be found in Appendix B, Table 6

3.3.6 Trajectory analysis

Using Monocle 3 [46], graph-autocorrelation analysis was carried out to identify co-regulated sets of genes (also referred to as modules) that vary (i.e., have a trajectory) across the natural ordering of the groups from AT8-/tauPLA- (double negative) > AT8-/tauPLA+ (intermediate) > AT8+/tauPLA+ (double positive).

Focusing only on astrocytes, Monocle 3 generated 18 modules, with each module consisting of several genes (ranging from 231 to 1,048; Figure 3.9a). To determine whether any of the modules contain genes that might play a role in the development of AD pathology, functional enrichment analysis (using over-representation analysis as implemented in the R package WebGestaltR) was carried out (Figure 3.9c). Among the modules, module 7,9, 11,12 and 18 had the largest number of enriched biological process GO (child) terms (50, 51, 51, 50 and 49, respectively; refer to Appendix B, Table 8 and 9 for genes per module and enrichment of pathways result).

In addition, a one-sided Fisher's exact test was used to determine if any of these modules are enriched for reactive astrocytes, a population of astrocytes previously reported to be involved in the pathogenesis of several neurodegenerative diseases [233, 180]. Among the modules, module 11 was found to be enriched (Fisher's P-value = 6.12×10^{-03}) for reactive astrocyte marker genes (p-values for other modules can be found in Appendix B, Table 10).

Biological process GO terms related to innate immune response (FDR = 5.67×10^{-10}), regulation of cytokine production (FDR = 1.60E-06), cytokine-mediated signalling pathway (FDR = 1.72×10^{-03}), defence response to virus (FDR = 8.84×10^{-05}) and ageing (FDR = 8.96×10^{-03}) were found to be enriched for module 11 genes (refer to Appendix B, Table 9 for a full list of significant child and parent terms).

Furthermore, enrichment of genetic association analysis revealed a significant genetic association (FDR < 0.05) between gene sets in modules 5, 6, 9 and 14 and AD genetic risk (FDR = 2.73×10^{-04} , FDR = 4.76×10^{-02} , FDR = 2.08×10^{-02} and FDR = 5.05×10^{-04} , respectively; Figure 3.9b). Functional enrichment analysis for these modules showed significant enrichment for biological process GO terms related mRNA splicing (module 5, FDR = 6.62×10^{-05} ; module



Figure 3.9: Monocle 3 identified astrocytic gene sets referred to as modules. a Number of genes per module. b Genetic associations carried out using LD score regression (LDSC). c Functional enrichment analysis using gene sets from each astrocytic module. Reduced (parent) Gene Ontology (GO) terms of the top 50 significantly enriched (FDR < 0.05) child terms per cell-type identified using overrepresentation analysis. Full overrepresentation analyses results and LDSC results can be found in Appendix B, Table 9 and Table 11, respectively.

9, FDR= 3.99×10^{-03} ; module 14 FDR= 6.03×10^{-03}) and synaptic vesicle transport (module 5, FDR = 2.45×10^{-02} ; module 9, FDR = 4.54×10^{-12} ; module 14, FDR= 2.30×10^{-12} ; Appendix B, Table 11).

Focusing on excitatory neurons, Monocle 3 generated 20 modules containing between 312 to 1,415 genes. Genetic association test revealed a significant association between AD genetic risk and module 3 and 11 genes. Furthermore, overrepresentation analysis of module 3 and 11 genes revealed significant (FDR = 8.26×10^{-03} for module 3 and FDR = 2.22×10^{-02} for module 11) enrichment for terms relating to sodium ion transport (module 3, FDR = 3.00×10^{-02}), calcium ion homeostasis (module 3, FDR = 1.60×10^{-02}) and negative regulation of proteolysis (FDR = 2.95×10^{-03}). A full list of result tables for excitatory neurons can be found Appendix B, Table 12-14.

3.4 Discussion

Despite decades of research, the knowledge of early cellular changes in AD remains unknown. This knowledge gap has made it difficult to design effective disease-modifying or preventing therapies. Recent studies have shown that early tau oligomers are toxic species that may be responsible for the spread of tau pathology [227]. The current study used brain tissue samples with NFTs and brain tissue samples with tau oligomers to assess gene expression changes associated with the earliest detectable abnormal tau species at the single-cell level.

3.4.1 Differential expression analysis highlights transcriptional similarities and differences between neurofibrillary tangle and early detected tau multimers

Differential expression analysis revealed several well-known and characterised neurogenerative disease-associated genes (50/57) derived from Genomics England Gene Panel (Adult-onset neurodegenerative disorder V 4.13; refer to Appendix B, Figure 1 for overlap plot) were differentially expressed in AT8-/tauPLA+ group compared with AT8-/tauPLA- group. Example of these includes APP, LRRK2, PINK1, SNCA, MAPT, PSEN1, PSEN2 and PARK7. Interestingly, most of these genes were not differentially expressed in any comparison carried out between the two tauPLA positive groups (AT8+/tauPLA+ (double positive) in comparison to AT8-/tauPLA+ (intermediate)). Furthermore, fewer genes were found to be differentially expressed between the two tauPLA positive groups indicating transcriptional similarities. This observation mirrors the low number of significantly enriched terms identified using DEGs from the two tauPLA positive group comparisons (Figure 3.7).

3.4.2 Dysregulated neuronal and non-neuronal pathways identified in early tau pathology

Functional enrichment analysis revealed DEGs in the tauPLA positive groups (AT8-/tauPLA+ and AT8+/tauPLA+) compared with double negative (AT8-/tauPLA-) group were highly enriched for pathways involved in:

- Protein aggregation processes including tau and amyloid β. Examples of these pathways include phosphorylation, splicing, autophagy of mitochondrion, memory and ubiquitination [186, 315, 232].
- 2. The process of modifying proteins by removing ubiquitin or ubiquitin-like molecules. Deubiquitination was among the pathways significant in up-regulated genes in tauPLA positive groups. Deubiquitinating enzymes (DUBs), which play a role in reversing the action of ligases by removing ubiquitin chains, are involved in several processes including synaptic plasticity, axonal growth, modulate mitochondrial clearance and neuronal cell fate [6, 185]. Dysregulation of certain DUBs has been found in several neurodegenerative diseases [6]. Consistent with the literature, some of these DUBs, mainly Ubiquitin Specific Protease (USPs), protease DUBs were dysregulated in the tauPLA+ groups, specifically in excitatory neurons and astrocytes. The role of USPs in glial cells is currently being investigated in various neurodegenerative disease models [139, 185]. USPs are involved in removing post-translational modification ubiquitin, thus preventing the degradation of several overexpressed proteins including tau [336]. For example, USP14 is involved in removing ubiquitin from substrate proteasome targets such as TAR DNA-binding protein 43 (TDP43), thereby rescuing the protein from degradation; and the inhibition of USP14 by 1-[1-(4-fluorophenyl)-2,5-dimethylpyrrol-3-yl]-2-pyrrolidin-1-ylethanone (IU1) was shown to enhance the degradation of proteins related to neurodegenerative diseases [172].
- 3. The process of mRNA splicing. Dysregulation of RNA Splicing in tauopathies has been reported in recent studies[125]. In the current study, genes involved in mRNA splicing were observed to be dysregulated in AT8-/tauPLA+ samples. This may indicate the role of tau oligomers in the disruption of the spliceosome.
- 4. Interleukin 12 (IL-12) -signalling pathways. Interestingly, a recent study has shown that Inhibition of IL-12 signalling reduced Alzheimer's disease-like pathology and cognitive decline [329]. In the current studies, genes that were up-regulated in tauPLA+ groups

compared with tauPLA- group were enriched in IL-12 signalling pathways.

3.4.3 Activation of reactive astrocytes observed in early tau pathology

Among the identified astrocytic modules, module 11 was enriched for reactive astrocytes marker genes. Reactive astrocytes (A1) are astrocytes that get activated as a response to abnormal events in the CNS [233, 180]. Unlike normal activated astrocytes as a result of being consistently activated by signals in the CNS, reactive astrocytes are activated due to pathological stimuli. In response to pathology (neurodegeneration, trauma, infection, etc.), reactive astrocytes are reported to be involved in molecular programs, including transcriptional regulation, and physiological and morphological remodelling. Moreover, studies have highlighted the role of A1 astrocytes in removing dysfunctional neurons to preserve neuron circuit function and killing virally infected neurons to prevent the spread of viruses [233, 180]. In the current study, marker genes for A1 astrocytes are highly expressed in tauPLA+ groups (including AT8-/tauPLA+ group), suggesting that reactive astrocytes have an earlier role in the formation of tau aggregates than previously reported.

3.4.4 Designing effective AD transcriptional analyses/ practical lessons sample selections

Surprisingly, until now, no single macroscopic feature has been used to diagnose AD. However, what is now considered the standard for pathologic diagnosis is a combination of features which taken together, are highly suggestive of AD. These features include not only the extracellular $A\beta$ and intracellular NFTs but also tau-positive neuropil threads and dystrophic neurites. Several histological stains and immunohistochemical methods have been developed to microscopically examine AD in multiple brain regions. However, most of these methods rely on the presence of hyperphosphorylated tau or neurofibrillary tangles, which are events appearing in the late stage of the disease. Therefore, this study shows how a novel *in vitro* assay, tauPLA which allows specific histological visualisation *in situ* of tau oligomers which are considered early molecular events in AD. These features have a similar transcriptional profile as pre-AD samples with numerous NFTs and A β load. Further, (assuming tau oligomers as true toxic species) failure to characterise tau oligomers in samples could potentially lead to misclassification of AD brain tissue as control, therefore increasing the likelihood of false-negative or positive findings or a failure to differentiate early-stage AD from established AD. Chapter 4

Integrative genomics reveals pathogenic mediator of valproate-induced neurodevelopmental outcomes

Abstract

Prenatal exposure to sodium valproate (VPA), an anti-seizure medication, is associated with an increased risk of adverse neurodevelopmental outcomes in children. This study aims to elucidate the molecular mechanisms underlying these consequences using integrative genomics. A rat model of VPA teratogenicity was utilised to mimic chronic oral VPA treatment during pregnancy at therapeutically relevant doses. Gene expression analysis was performed on the brains of VPA-exposed rat pups, revealing substantial differential gene expression and dysregulated splicing, independent of neuronal gain or loss. Pathway analysis demonstrated that VPA downregulated genes related to neurodevelopment and synaptic function, which were also significantly associated with heritability of human intelligence, schizophrenia, and bipolar disorder. These findings establish a mechanistic link between chronic prenatal VPA exposure and neurodevelopmental disability through transcriptional dysregulation.

4.1 Introduction

Neurodevelopmental disorders (NDDs) are a group of heterogeneous disorders that disturb the development of the central nervous system, which encompasses the brain and the spinal cord. It is estimated that >3% of children worldwide suffer from some form of NDDs [238]. As mentioned in the previous chapter, the prevalence of NDDs as defined by DSM-5 is 0.7-17% under 18 years old worldwide [92]. NDDs impair cognition, communication, behavioural, motor and daily living skills [238]. Studies have suggested that several factors contribute to the disease aetiology, including genetics variations, epigenetic mechanisms (which involve perturbations that disrupt the expression of risk genes) and environmental factors, or a combination of any of these factors [238, 268, 236]. Similar to neurodegenerative diseases, NDDs are characterised by multiple clinical features, and comorbidity is frequently reported in individual patients [236].

4.1.1 The genetic architecture of neurodevelopmental disorders

The genetic factors that determine and influence NDDs phenotypes consist of different mutations, including copy number variations (CNVs), small insertions or deletions (indels), point mutations and chromosomal rearrangements [341]. Identifying and characterising the potential genetic basis of NDDs is essential for understanding the functional and molecular mechanisms responsible for the onset and progress of these disorders. So far, several potential NDDs risk genes have been identified through GWAS, RNA-Seq-based studies and phenotype-genotype correlation studies. More importantly, family-based studies, including monozygotic twin studies, have been used to identify genetic risk factors as well as other environmental risks and protective factors that influence NDDs [341, 295].

Furthermore, GWAS, whole-exome sequencing studies and other functional studies have shown that common and risk variants associated with NDDs were found in genes involved in conserved functional molecular pathways, including chromatin remodelling, protein synthesis, epigenetic regulation, synaptic signalling and mRNA splicing [298]. Examples of NDDs-associated chromatin remodeler or splicing regulator genes, include chromodomain helicase DNA binding protein 1 (CHD1), chromodomain helicase DNA binding protein 8 (CHD8), DS cell adhesion molecule (DSCAM), ASH1 like histone lysine methyltransferase (ASH1L), AT-rich interactive domain-containing protein 1B (ARIDIB) and Lysine [K]-specific Methyl Transferase 2A (KMT2A) [298]. Other examples of NDD-associated genes involved in mRNA splicing include SON DNA binding protein (SON) [298, 155], RNA Polymerase III Subunit B (POLR3B) [265], Transcription Factor 4 (TCF4), Transcription Factor 20 (TCF20) and Lysine demethylase 6B (KDM6B) [268, 271].

4.1.2 Drug-induced neurodevelopmental disorders

Over the last decades, cross-sectional and longitudinal human studies have shown that exposure to harmful stimuli in the womb during crucial postnatal developmental stages leads to short or long-lasting changes in brain structure. Recent studies using animal and human models of NDDs have shown harmful substances such as alcohol [170], caffeine [360, 23], nicotine, cocaine [340], amphetamine, ecstasy, opiates, and prescription drugs such as anti-psychotics and antiepileptic drugs [344, 53, 65, 335] produce alterations in neurodevelopmental trajectories.

Among the proposed underlying molecular mechanisms for drug-induced cognitive impairments, the role of the drug (methamphetamine) treatment on the disruption of cAMP signalling and glutamate regulation was identified in human embryonic stem cells (hESCs) derived from cerebral organoids [296]. Furthermore, RNA sequencing was used in a similar study to show a substantial down-regulation of genes involved in neurogenesis and neuronal system development in the drug-treated organoids compared with control organoids [64]. Another study used cortical organoids from human induced pluripotent stem cells (hiPSCs) to show transcriptional similarities between antiseizure drug-exposed organoids and autism patient-derived organoids, as well as postmortem ASD brain [216].

Antiepileptic drugs

Antiepileptic drugs (AEDs) are a diverse group of drugs used to prevent epileptic seizures; however, they are also commonly used to treat non-epileptic CNS disorders, including schizophrenia, migraine, neuropathic pain, anxiety, myotonia (described as a failure of muscle relaxation after activation) and bipolar affective disorder [215, 258]. Based on the specific molecular target in the brain and the drugs' mechanism of action, AEDs can broadly be divided into four groups:

- neuronal ion channel blocking AEDs, including phenytoin, carbamazepine, lamotrigine, and ethosuximide. Many of AEDs ion channel targets overlap with known human epilepsy genes, suggesting that genetic mutations and the AEDs have opposite effects on the function of these channels. For example, while gain-of-function mutations in the Calcium channel, voltage-dependent, T type, alpha 1H subunit (CACNA1H) could potentially increase seizure susceptibility by increasing the propensity of neurons to fire action potentials [337, 249, 51], the AED ethosuximide acts by inhibiting these channels (specifically T-type calcium channel) in the thalamus [258, 215].
- 2. AEDs which enhance inhibitory gamma-aminobutyric acid A (GABAA) receptor-mediated synaptic interactions. For example, benzodiazepines, such as diazepam and phenobarbital, are AEDs that facilitate binding inhibitory neurotransmitter GABA with its receptors, thus increasing the chloride channel opening frequency and enhancing synaptic inhibition [258].
- 3. AEDs that are glutamate α-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid (AMPA) receptor antagonists. While GABAA receptor-targeting drugs mediate synaptic inhibition, AEDs such as perampanel inhibit AMPA receptor-mediated synaptic excitation.
- 4. AEDs with mixed mechanisms including felbamate and sodium valproate [215].

Valproic Acid

Sodium valproate (VPA) is an AED widely used in the treatment of epilepsy, being the most effective drug to treat seizures in Genetic Generalized Epilepsy (GGE) [203, 202]. Furthermore, VPA is also used to treat other neurological conditions, including migraine headache and bipolar disorders [330]. Furthermore, it was recently discovered that VPA acts as a positive modulator of chemotherapy in a wide range of cancer treatments [309, 47]. Studies have suggested several mechanisms by which VPA controls seizure generation and propagation. These mechanisms include increasing Gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA) levels in the cerebral, blocking voltage dependant sodium and T-type calcium channels, increasing GABA synthesis and release in substantia nigra, reducing neuronal excitation by stimulating N-metyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) glutamate receptors [31, 259, 98, 22]. Furthermore, VPA was observed to activate the extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) pathway, which is involved in neurogenesis and neuronal plasticity [31, 259]. Besides its role in neuronal membrane excitability, VPA is an established inhibitor of histone deacetylase (HDAC), a negative regulator of gene expression [22].

Although VPA is considered the first-line treatment for epileptic children and adults with either focal or general seizures [203], recent evidence suggests that VPA exerts both long-term beneficial and detrimental effects on neurons [49, 243, 320]. Neurodevelopmental Effects of Antiepileptic Drugs (NEAD) study reported cognitive impairments, including verbal and nonverbal abilities, memory, IQ and executive function in children of mothers treated with VPA [212]. In accordance with the human data, similar results were observed in animal model studies in which a higher incidence of autism was observed in the offspring born to mothers taking VPA during their first trimester of pregnancy [261]. On the contrary, positive cognitive effects were also observed in animal models of epilepsy [38, 201, 115]. Furthermore, animal-based studies have demonstrated that early and longitudinally maintained VPA exposure caused dendritic morphology alterations [289]. So far, it has been suggested that ASD like behaviour observed in VPA treated experimental models of epilepsy may be due to an imbalance between GABAergic and glutamatergic transmission; therefore, studies have proposed the use of an endogenous NMDA receptor antagonist, agmatine, to rescue activated ERK1/2 signalling in the brain thus restoring VPA-induced neurobehavioral impairment [156].

4.1.3 Translational animal model of VPA-induced teratogenicity

Although animal studies have been successfully used to give insight into the mechanisms by which VPA induces gene expression changes in the central nervous system and neurons [49, 63] , their relevance to human neurodevelopmental outcomes remains poorly defined. This could be due to the use of non-clinically utilised drug delivery systems or the use of non-therapeutically relevant VPA concentrations observed in human subjects. Recently, Jazayeri et al. (2020) [135] developed and validated a translational animal model of VPA induced teratogenicity that mimics several clinical features of human gestational VPA exposure. Furthermore, the authors managed to treat maternal rats before and after conception with VPA oral treatment concentration reflective of VPA blood levels observed in humans [135]. The model recapitulated VPA-induced brain abnormalities, including maldevelopment, altered intravertebral distances and a significant developmental delay of vertebral arches. Therefore, the model evaluated the molecular mechanisms underpinning VPA-induced adverse neurodevelopmental outcomes.

4.1.4 Aims and objectives

The main aim of this study were:

1. To evaluate the mechanistic underpinnings of VPA induced neurodevelopmental effects using brain expression changes observed in rat pups chronically exposed to VPA *in utero*.

2. To investigate the influence of epilepsy and genetic background on gene expression changes (for this both epileptic (Genetic Absence Epilepsy Rats from Strasbourg (GAERS), a model of GGE) and Non-Epileptic Control (NEC) dams were used).

4.2 Methods

GAERS NEC N-GAERS E-GAERS N-NEC E-NEC Whole Brain RNA-Extraction and Amplification Data pre-processii Quality Control (FastQC) Read Alignment (STAR) Gene Count (htseq) Data Analvsi **Differential Expression Analysis Differential Splicing Analysis** a) Functional Enrichment Analysis a) Functional Enrichment Analysis b) Heritability Enrichment Analysis b) Heritability Enrichment Analysis

4.2.1 Experimental Design

Figure 4.1: **Overview of experimental design and data processing.** Two genetic strains of rats were studied, Genetic Absence Epilepsy Rats from Strasbourg (GAERS) rats and Non-Epileptic (NEC) control rats. Whole brain samples were extracted from valproate-exposed (E-GAERS and E-NEC) and non-exposed (N-GAERS and N-NEC) pups (total n=30). Gene expression was assayed using RNA-Sequencing (RNA-Seq). Data pre-processing steps included quality control for sequence reads alignment to the rat genome and library size normalization. Differential gene expression and differential splicing analyses were carried out with downstream analyses consisting of pathway and enrichment of heritability analyses. (Feleke et al. (2022))

All wet lab-based work, including animal selection, was performed by Professor Terence J. O'Brien group members. Two strains of female rats, inbred NEC and GAERS, were obtained from the Department of Medicine, Royal Melbourne Hospital, University of Melbourne Biological Research Facility [48]. VPA was administered orally at a clinically relevant dose. The rodents were fed either standard chow or a standard rodent diet mixed with 20g/kg VPA [135]. The presence of a plug was used to mark Day 0 of pregnancy. Foetuses were extracted from the

uterus on the 21st day of the pregnancy using Caesarean section (C-section). Thereafter, the QIAGEN Simultaneous Purification of Genomic DNA was used to extract pup brain tissues and immediately samples were frozen and stored at -80 degree Celsius. Additionally, foetuses were examined for any form of birth defects using external assessments including spinal measurements (Figure 4.1).

4.2.2 Transcriptome sequencing and gene expression data processing

Total RNA was extracted from pup brain tissue samples using mRNA Isolation Kit, following manufacturer's instructions and the quality and quantity of the RNA was examined using the TruSeq Stranded Total RNA Library Prep Gold. Sequencing libraries were quantified and sequence reads per sample generated. FastQC [10] was used to carry out QC of RNA-Seq reads. Low-quality reads and ribosome RNA reads were removed and final trimmed reads were mapped to the Rattus norvegicus reference genome (rno6) using STAR [75] (v 2.5).

Fetal sex determination

Strain	VPA-Exposure	Number of pups	Abbreviation	Male	Female
GAERS	Exposed	7	E-GAERS	4	3
	Non-Exposed	8	N-GAERS	3	5
NEC	Exposed	7	E-NEC	4	3
	Non-Exposed	8	N-NEC	5	3

Table 4.1: Number of pups per group and exposure status. Abbreviations: GAERS (Generalised epileptic rats from Strasbourg); VPA (Sodium Valproate).

Fetal sex determination was carried out using a list of prenatally expressed Y-chromosomeencoding genes derived from a recently published study [253]. The list of genes was generated by comparing mRNA levels in different brain regions from human prenatal brain samples. In the current study, the expression of marker genes were assessed using the rodent orthologs: Ubiquitin Specific Peptidase 9 Y-Linked (USP9Y), DEAD-Box Helicase 3 Y-Linked (DDX3Y), and Ubiquitously Transcribed Tetratricopeptide Repeat Containing, Y-Linked (UTY). The samples were then categorised into male or female based on the expression profile of those genes. In total,14 samples were categorized as female and 16 as male (Table 4.1).

4.2.3 Differential gene expression analysis

Differential expression analysis was performed using the R package edgeR [257]. A threshold of FDR < 0.05 was used to identify DEGs. After regressing any technical differences due to sex, mRNA expression differences were explored between VPA-exposed and non-exposed pup brains. The comparisons were done in the following order:

- 1. Exposed Non-Epileptic Control (E-NEC) vs Non-Exposed Non-Epileptic Control (N-NEC)
- 2. Exposed Genetic Absence Epilepsy Rats from Strasbourg (E-GAERS) vs Non-Exposed Genetic Absence Epilepsy Rats from Strasbourg (N-GAERS)
- 3. All exposed pups (i.e., E-GAERS + E-NEC) vs All non-exposed pups (N-GAERS + N-NEC)

Although the primary aim of the study was to assess transcriptional changes following gestational VPA exposure, the gene expression changes in the rat pup brain due to epilepsy were also conducted in the following order:

- 1. E-GAERS vs E-NEC
- 2. N-GAERS vs N-NEC

(Appendix C, Table 1)

4.2.4 Functional enrichment analysis

Functional enrichment analyses of DEGs from each pairwise comparisons were performed using the R package WebGestaltR (v 0.4.4) [182], which uses databases from Gene Ontology Consortium. Default values for WebGestaltR default parameters, including the overlap of 10 for minimum and maximum 500 genes. P-values were corrected (for multiple testing) using the BH FDR-correction method. Significant pathways were then identified using a threshold of FDR < 0.05. Significant GO-terms were reduced in the following order:

- 1. To avoid redundancy, GO terms with ≥ 20 genes or ≤ 1000 genes were filtered out for each of the analyses.
- go_reduce() function from the R package r-utils was used to calculate semantic similarity of GO terms.
- 3. A threshold of 0.9 was applied to the hierarchical tree generated by reduceSimMatric() function from the R package rrvgo (v 1.1.4) (which uses a bottom-up clustering method) to get fewer GO-terms. (Appendix C, Table 2a-c).

4.2.5 LD regression

LDSC was used to test if the dysregulated gene in the pups' brain due to VPA exposure were enriched for common genetic variants associated with 7 neurological traits, namely ADHD [69], Bipolar Disorder (BD) [293], ASD [105], schizophrenia (SCZ) [255], full-scale IQ [272], Epilepsy (EPI) [1] and Cross Disorders Group (CDG) which is a GWAS meta-analysis across 8 psychiatric traits [174]. The following steps were taken to test for enrichment of heritability of the DEGs for any of the 7 traits:

 Single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) annotation files containing rows corresponding to a SNP and a column for each sub-annotation were generated and dsSNP file NCBI Build 37 co-ordinates (build 147 and hg19) were used to map the SNPs to genes and values of 0 were given to SNPs not present in the file. Ten annotation files were generated for all the comparisons, 5 files were for up-regulated and 5 were for down-regulated DEGs from each comparison.

- 2. For each generated file, LDSC was run using data files from phase 3 of the 1000 Genome Project Phase 3 European population. LD scores were calculated for the annotations using 1cM window (a default value), and the analysis was restricted to Hapmap3 SNPs.
- 3. LDSC python scripts munge_sumstats.py were used to format the summary statistic files, and for the regression weights, LD calculated for HapMap3 SNPs were downloaded from the LDSC Github page (https://github.com/bulik/ldsc) – the full baseline model was used for the analysis.
- 4. An enrichment score and its associated P-value was calculated based on the proportion of total SNPs per annotation (column), after considering all other annotation. Annotation categories with significant positive (FDR < 0.05) enrichment of SNP-heritability were then reported as a final result (a one-tailed test).

GWAS summary statistics were obtained from The European Molecular Biology Laboratory-European Bioinformatics Institute (EMBL-EBI) and Psychiatric Genomic Consortium (PGC) Cross-Disorder Group. All subjects were of European ancestry. A full detailed list of all the summary statistics used in these analyses can be found in Appendix C, Table 3.

4.2.6 Deconvolution

To deconvolute the bulk RNA-seq signature into its component single cell-type expression profiles, a scRNA-Seq dataset derived from Manno et al., 2021 [94] was utilised. In the study, the authors constructed a single-cell transcriptomic atlas of the embryonic mouse brain from gastrulation up until birth [164]. In the current study, cells from embryonic day 18 (E18) were extracted, and gene by cell-matrix was generated. Following this, cell-types were identified using functions from the R package, **Seurat** [270]. Cell-type identification was carried out in the following order:

- 1. The dataset was normalised using the NormalizeData() function, which uses a global scaling normalisation method that normalises the gene expression values by multiplying the total expression of the cell by the number (n) of cells and log transforms the values for a final expression values (a default value of 10,000 was used as a scaling factor).
- 2. The distances between two cells with similar expressions were calculated using the Euclidean algorithm, and edges were drawn.
- 3. Cells were clustered using FindClusters() function (parameters used: 30 PCs and 2 resolution value).
- 4. The clusters were visualised using non-linear dimensionality reduction algorithm UMAP (v 0.1.10).
- DEGs in one cluster compared with all other clusters (cluster-specific genes) were identified using the function FindAllMarkers() (DE method: rank sum test (FDR < 0.05)).
- Cell-types were allocated by testing if a cluster-specific DEGs set was enriched (Fisher's exact test) for cell-type specific marker genes from a gene list derived from Zeisel et al.(2018) [356].

Once cell-types were identified for each cluster, the relative proportions of cell-types in rat pups brain tissue samples were determined using, weighted least squares-based deconvolution algorithm Dampened Weighted Least Squares (DWLS). The following steps were taken to generate relative proportions of cell-types per group, namely, E-NEC, E-GAERS, N-GAERS, and N-NEC:

- 1. Expression matrix from samples was normalised using counts per million based normalisation methods.
- biomaRt R package (v 4.1)[79] was used to infer the orthologous mouse gene (for the rat genes) (Ensembl Genes 104).
- Cells were deconvolved using weighted least squares approach. (https://github.com/dtsoucas/DWLS).

4.2.7 Code and Data availability

The raw and processed rat sequencing data generated in this study have been deposited in NCBI Gene Expression Omnibus database under accession number GSE198756. All scripts used in this study can be found in GitHub https://github.com/rahfel/VPA. Supplementary materials including full tables can also be found in GitHub https://github.com/rahfel/VPA).

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Study workflow and data collection

Female rats were taken from Wistar rat colony and selectively inbred to either express or not express absence seizures (a summary of the study workflow can be found in Figure 4.1) [48, 198]. The rats were maintained at a facility on a light-dark cycle of 12 hours light, 12 hours dark and at a temperature range of 19 to 22 degree Celsius. The rats were fed a diet consisting of either a pre-mixed meal or a standard rodent diet as listed by Senn and colleagues [274] for 2 weeks before mating with males of the same strain and continued throughout pregnancy. This dose of orally administrated VPA was initially reported in the study by Jazayeri et al. (2020) [135], and resulted in a significant seizure suppression in adult GAERS.

Moreover, measured blood serum levels were equivalent to human therapeutic levels of VPA. Once the plug was present (day 0 of pregnancy), females were separated from the males for the course of their pregnancy, and the following day was classified as the first day of pregnancy. The fetuses were extracted from the uterus via C-section one day before expected birth (day 21), and the fetus's brains were removed, snap frozen and stored at -80 degree Celsius. The teratology studies, including spinal measurements are reported in Jazayeri et al. (2020) [135].

In total, 7 litters were generated for each treatment group and pup brains were randomly processed from each litter (one for exposed groups and one or two for non-exposed groups). Total RNA was extracted from 30 pup brains (Table 4.1) and genome-wide gene expression data was generated using RNA-Seq.



4.3.2Deconvolution analysis reveals no difference in cell-type com-



Figure 4.2: Deconvolution on bulk samples showing cell-type proportion for each group comparison and for each major brain cell-type. Wilcoxon rank sum test was used to determine the significance of differences in cell-type proportion between conditions. FDR correction for multiple testing was applied. There were no significant differences in celltype proportion at FDR < 5 for any of the valproate-exposured vs non-exposured comparisons. Refer to Appendix C Table 4 for DWLS cell fractions and FDR values.

Cell-type proportions in bulk-tissue RNA-Sequencing samples were estimated to test whether in utero VPA exposure is associated with significant changes in the proportion of cell-types in the rat pup brain. A weighted least squares-based deconvolution algorithm, DWLS, (which estimates cell-type composition in a bulk tissue RNA-seq dataset using prior information from an unrelated scRNA-Seq signature from an analogous tissue) was used to assess the cell-type proportional changes due to VPA exposure. Taking this approach, there was no significant (FDR-corrected Wilcoxon rank sum test) difference in cell-type composition observed between valproate-exposed and non-exposed pup brains, for either GAERS or NEC rats, suggesting gestational VPA exposure does not cause apoptosis and alter gene expression via epigenetic mechanisms (Figure 4.2 and Appendix C, Table 5).

4.3.3 Differential gene expression analysis highlights transcriptional changes in VPA-exposed pup brains



Figure 4.3: **Principal component analysis plots.** Epileptic and non-epileptic rat pups are broadly separated by PC1 and VPA-exposed and non-exposed pups by PC2.

The principal components of variation between the groups were explored prior to carrying out differential expression analysis. The function prcomp() from the R package stats (v 3.6.2) was used to calculate the PCs, and the function fviz_pca_ind() from the R package factoextra(v 1.0.7) was used to visualise the PCs (Figure 4.3). The epileptic and non-epileptic pups were separated by the first principal component (PC1) and VPA-exposed and non-exposed pups were separated by PC2. Following this, differential gene expression analyses for case (exposed) versus non-exposed comparisons were undertaken (a full list of comparisons carried out is found in Table 4.2).

Focusing on VPA-exposed versus non-exposed pup brains, the largest number of DEGs (FDR < 0.05) were observed when comparing all VPA-exposed pups (i.e., All Exposed (All-E) consisting of E-GAERS + E-NEC pups) versus all non- exposed pups (i.e., All Non-Exposed (All-N) consisting of N-GAERS + N-NEC pups), where 3,470 genes were significantly (FDR < 0.05)
Comparisons	Sample	Number of DEGs	Up-regulated	Down-regulated
	size	(FDR <0.05)	(FDR <0.05)	(FDR <0.05)
E-NEC vs N-NEC	15	2,973	1,307	1,666
E-GAERS vs N-GAERS	15	553	248	305
All-E (E-GAERS + E-NEC)				
vs	30	3,470	1,632	1,838
All-N (N-GAERS + N-NEC)				
E-GAERS vs E-NEC	14	1,885	1,039	846
N-GAERS vs N-NEC	16	1,066	548	518

Table 4.2: **Differential gene expression analysis: case control comparisons.** Table Abbreviations NEC: non-epileptic control; GAERS: Genetic Absence Epilepsy Rats from Strasbourg; E-NEC: VPA-exposed NEC pups; E-GAERS: VPA-exposed GAERS pups; N-NEC: non-exposed NEC pups; N-GAERS: non-exposed GAERS pups; All-E: All exposed pups (E-NEC + E-GAERS); All-N: All non-exposed pups (N-NEC + N-GAERS).

differentially expressed. Of these, 1,632 genes were up-regulated and 1,838 down-regulated. Figure 4.4 shows the overlaps in genes DE for each of the 3 pairwise VPA-exposed versus nonexposed comparisons (i.e., E-NEC versus N-NEC, E-GAERS versus N-GAERS and ALL-E versus ALL-N). Refer to Appendix C, Table 1 for a full list of genes DE in each comparison.

Moreover, there was a substantial overlap between genes DE following VPA exposure in GAERS pups compared to genes DE in NEC pups. Further, the majority of genes differentially expressed by VPA in GAERS pups were also differentially expressed in NEC pups, suggesting that genetic epilepsy status is not a major determinant of the pattern of differential expression induced by VPA, as was previously the case for VPA induced birth defects in this model [135] (Figure 4.4).



Figure 4.4: Summary of differential gene expression results for valproate-exposed versus non-exposed comparisons. Total number of differentially expressed genes (DEGs) for each comparison are shown (single brown dot corresponding to the first three histograms). The number of genes overlapping between each of the case versus control comparisons are shown in black (2-way) or red (3-way). The bars are arranged based on the highest number of overlaps. (Feleke et al. (2022))[86]

4.3.4 Pathway enrichment analysis reveals functional consequences of VPA-Induced differential gene expression in the developing brain

Pathway enrichment analyses of DEGs were conducted to assess the functional consequences of VPA induced differential gene expression in the developing brain. Interestingly, genes that were down-regulated following VPA exposure were significantly enriched for functional processes relating to modulation of synaptic function and neuronal processes (Figure 4.5; refer to Appendix C, Tables 2 for full details relating to pathways enrichment analysis, including significantly enriched biological processes, cellular components and molecular functions GO terms).

When considering all VPA exposed pups versus non-exposed pups (All-E vs All-N), among the set of genes down-regulated by VPA were found to be significantly enriched for terms relating to glutamate receptor complex (FDR = 9.74×10^{-12}), regulation of membrane potential (FDR =

 2.08×10^{-14}), synapse assembly (FDR = 2.17×10^{-11}), regulation of actin cytoskeleton organisation (FDR = 9.94×10^{-05}), post-synaptic membrane (FDR = 2.11×10^{-04}), neurotransmitter receptor activity (FDR = 2.33×10^{-04}) and axon guidance (FDR = 1.97×10^{-12}). Furthermore, among the pathways enriched in the down-regulated set of genes was the regulation of insulin secretion (FDR = 9.5×10^{-03}), suggesting a possible drug-induced transcriptional mechanism for the increased incidence of impaired glucose control in patients treated with VPA [14, 281].

In contrast to the substantial enrichment of neuronal functions in genes down-regulated by VPA, the genes up-regulated by VPA were generally enriched for functional terms not directly related to neural processes namely mRNA splicing (FDR = 7.29×10^{-14}), translation (FDR = 1.40×10^{-13}), extra-cellular matrix organisation (FDR = 2.41×10^{-12}) and cell cycle (FDR = 2.40×10^{-09}). Furthermore, there was an enrichment for biological processes relating to chromatin organization (FDR = 7.37×10^{-07}) and chromatin assembly/disassembly (FDR = 1.45×10^{-06}) among the genes up-regulated by VPA. Given the functional enrichment of chromatin assembly/disassembly terms among the genes upregulated by VPA, along with VPA's known activity as a histone deacetylase inhibitor [22], it seems likely that this transcriptional dysregulation is epigenetically encoded with potentially long-lasting consequences for the human brain function and health even in the absence of valproate exposure.

Taken together, genes up- and down-regulated by chronic *in utero* VPA exposure in the developing rat brain were represented by divergent functional categories, including neuronal and non-neuronal pathways. Additionally, genes down-regulated by VPA were predominantly characterized by pathways relating to nervous system function.

Therefore, the relationship between genes differentially expressed in pup brains gestationally exposed to VPA and genetic determinants of neurodevelopmental disease and behavioural traits were investigated. Further, given that neurodevelopmental diseases were shown to arise from genetic mutations, namely deleterious and loss-of-function mutations [238], in rare variant genetic analyses, it was hypothesised that genes significantly down-regulated by VPA in the developing brain are enriched for genetic risks of neurodevelopmental diseases.

4.3.5 Genes down-regulated by gestational VPA exposure are highly enriched for heritability for neurodevelopmental traits and disease

In the context of rare variant genetic analyses, neurodevelopmental disability primarily arises from loss of function and deleterious mutations [142]. Therefore, here LDSC [40] method was used to investigate if genetic risks for neurodevelopmental diseases and behavioural traits are enriched in the set of genes significantly down-regulated in pup brains following gestational VPA exposure. Given the broad range of adverse neurodevelopmental outcomes in children gestationally exposed to VPA, the following brain disorders and neurobehavioral traits related GWAS were considered: (i) ADHD [69]; (ii) BD [293]; (iii) ASD [105]; (iv) SCZ [255]; (v) full-scale IQ [272]; (vi) EPI [1]; and (vii) CDG [174] which is a GWAS meta-analysis across 8 psychiatric traits. Further, a GWAS study forWaist-to-hips ratio (WHR) [250], which was not expected to be enriched in the set of genes differentially expressed in pup brains as a result of VPA exposure, was used as a negative control.

Enrichment of genetic association analyses were run for all sets of genes significantly (FDR < 0.05) DE in the VPA-exposed pup brain (Figure 4.6; refer to Appendix C, Table 3 for full details). Interestingly, for genes down-regulated by VPA, there was a significant enrichment of heritability for BD (All-E vs All-N, FDR_{LDSC} = 1.16×10^{-08} ; E-NEC vs N-NEC, FDR_{LDSC} = 2.93×10^{-09} ; E-GAERS vs N-GAERS, FDR_{LDSC} = 1.55×10^{-03}), SCZ (All-E vs All-N, FDR_{LDSC} = 6.04×10^{-08} ; E-NEC vs N-NEC, FDR_{LDSC} = 6.40×10^{-08} ; E-GAERS vs N-GAERS, FDR_{LDSC} = 2.91×10^{-02}), IQ (All-E vs All-N, FDR_{LDSC} = 1.17×10^{-03} ; E-NEC vs N-NEC, FDR_{LDSC} = 7.03×10^{-04} ; E-GAERS vs N-GAERS, FDR_{LDSC} = 1.62×10^{-02}), and CDG (All-E vs All-N, FDR_{LDSC} = 5.44×10^{-04} ; E-NEC vs N-NEC, FDR_{LDSC} = 1.82×10^{-04} ; E-GAERS vs N-GAERS, FDR_{LDSC} = 5.44×10^{-02}). However, no significant enrichments of heritability were observed for these traits in non-exposed GAERS pups compared to non-exposed non-epileptic controls, and enrichments of association for WHR were non-significant across all comparisons (Appendix C, Table 3).

Furthermore, for VPA-exposed pups, there was no significant enrichment of heritability to ADHD (All-E vs All-N, FDR_{LDSC} = 0.69; E-NEC vs N-NEC, FDR_{LDSC} = 0.24; E-GAERS vs N-GAERS, FDR_{LDSC} = 0.88), ASD (All-E vs All-N, FDR_{LDSC} = 0.66; E-NEC vs N-NEC, FDR_{LDSC} = 0.68; E-GAERS vs N-GAERS, FDR_{LDSC} = 0.68). Moreover, there was no significant enrichment of heritability for Epilepsy (EPI) when considering DEG from the All-E vs ALL-N comparison (All-E vs All-N, FDR_{LDSC} = 0.77), and for the E-NEC vs N-NEC or E-GAERS vs N-GAERS (E-NEC vs N-NEC, FDR_{LDSC} = 0.57; E-GAERS vs N-GAERS, FDR_{LDSC} = 0.77). Notably, for genes up-regulated by gestational VPA, there was no significant enrichment to BD (All-E vs All-N, FDR_{LDSC} = 2.7 × 10⁻⁰²; E-NEC vs N-NEC, FDR_{LDSC} = 3.6×10^{-03} ; E-GAERS vs N-GAERS, FDR_{LDSC} = 0.84) as well as SCZ (All-E vs All-N, FDR_{LDSC} = 4.3×10^{-02} ; E-NEC vs N-NEC, FDR_{LDSC} = 0.32; E-GAERS vs N-GAERS, FDR_{LDSC} = 0.56) concordant with the pathway enrichment analysis.

In summary, these results suggest VPA exerts its adverse effects on fetal neurodevelopment predominantly via the down-regulation of genes highly relevant to neurodevelopment and nervous system function. The directionality of the effect is consistent with that observed from rare-variant analyses of genetic risk to neurodevelopmental disease where the predominant mechanism is a dominant negative effect [142].

4.3.6 Alternatively spliced genes in VPA exposed pups compared to non-exposed pups

Among the pathways enriched in genes up-regulated by VPA, there was a significant (FDR < 0.05) enrichment for genes involved in mRNA splicing related pathways. Therefore, the role of VPA on differential splicing was assessed by first quantifying read count to individual gene exons and then comparing differential exon usage using the R package edgeR [257]. In total, there were 57 significantly (FDR < 0.05) alternatively spliced genes, among which 21 were also differentially expressed following VPA exposure (14 were down-regulated, 7 up-regulated) (refer to Appendix C, Table 5 for full result table). Whilst there were no significant enrichments

for known functional pathways or enrichment of genetic association to neurodevelopmental disease among these genes, individual differentially spliced genes included neuronal proteins such as Calmodulin Binding Transcription Activator 1 (CAMATA1) (FDR = 3.69×10^{-26}) which is known to play a role in the regulation of glutamate levels and neuronal excitability, glutamate decarboxylase 2 (GAD2) (FDR = 9.03×10^{-25}) which plays a role GABA-synthesis in neurons [331] and Forkhead box P4 (FOXP4) (FDR = $4.62 \times 10-3$) which is known to regulate neurogenesis and in which mutations are associated with speech delay and congenital abnormalities [262].

4.3.7 A substantial overlap between genes down-regulated in VPAexposed pup brains and genes genetically linked to increased autism risk

To further assess the association between VPA exposure and ASD risk, the overlap of DEGs taken from VPA-exposed versus non-exposed comparisons and three different ASD-associated gene sets were carried out. A total of 3,162 DEGs (1,454 up-regulated genes and 1,708 down-regulated) remained after converting 3,470 rat genes to their human orthologs. The three sets of ASD-associated genes used in the analysis were:

- A set of 913 genetically linked ASD genes from Simons Foundation Autism Research Initiative (SFARI) https://gene.sfari.org/, an online database of ASD risk genes generated by integrating genetic data from several studies.
- 2. A set of 1,611 ASD associated genes identified through differential expression analysis performed using transcriptomic data from postmortem brain samples (51 ASD subjects and 936 controls) from the PsychENCODE Consortium [96]
- A set of 7,418 dysregulated genes in VPA exposed cortical organoids (early stage, day 18) derived from a male iPSC line [63].

In total, 223 VPA-induced DEGs from the current study significantly $(P = 9.99 \times 10^{-5})$ over-

lapped with genetically linked ASD risk genes from SFARI (Figure 4.7). Strikingly, the overlap was mainly for down-regulated genes (168 of the 223 overlapping genes) in VPA exposed pup brains, suggesting that there is a convergence of molecular and biological pathways underlying ASD and VPA-induced postnatal neurodevelopmental outcomes. Similarly, 219 of the 320 (nominally significant overlap, P = 0.067) overlapping genes between VPA-induced DEGs and genes dysregulated in PsychENCODE ASD brains organoids were down-regulated in the pup brains (Figure fig:Figure 4.7.0verlap). There was no significant (Overlapped genes = 1,366, P = 0.55) overlap between DEGs from the current study and DEGs identified in VPA-exposed organoids from the Cui et al. (2020) [63] (Figure 4.7).



Figure 4.5: Pathway enrichment for valproate-exposed versus non-exposed pups. Partitioned Linkage Disequilibrium Score Regression (LDSC) was used to test for enrichment of heritability in genes differentially expressed for each of the 5 case-control comparisons. Enrichment -log10(FDR) for the enrichment of genetic association is indicated by the horizontal bars coloured by the comparison group from which the differentially expressed genes were identified. Vertical line indicates FDR values at 0.05. Genome-wide association studies used for the enrichment analysis are indicated on the vertical axis. Abbreviations: ASD: Autism Spectrum Disorder, ADHD: Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder, BD: Bipolar Disorder, SCZ: Schizophrenia, IQ: Intelligence Quotient, EPI: Epilepsy, WHR: Waist-to-Hip-Ratio, CDG: Cross-Disorder Group. (Feleke et al. (2022))[86]



Figure 4.6: Heritability enrichment in differentially expressed genes. Partitioned LDSC was used to test for enrichment of heritability in genes differentially expressed for each of the 5 case control comparisons. Enrichment -log10(FDR) for the enrichment of genetic association is indicated by the horizontal bars coloured by the comparison group from which the differentially expressed genes were identified. Vertical line indicates FDR values at 0.05. Genome- wide association studies used for the enrichment analysis are indicated on the vertical axis. Abbreviations: ASD: Autism Spectrum Disorder, ADHD: Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder, BD: Bipolar Disorder, SCZ: Schizophrenia, IQ: Intelligence Quotient, EPI: Epilepsy, LDSC: Linkage Disequilibrium Score Regression, WHR: Waist-to-Hip-Ratio, CDG: Cross-Disorder Group. (Feleke et al., 2022)



Figure 4.7: **Overlapping genes between different ASD-associated genes.** VPA-induced DEGs set were genes identified in the current study. Abbreviations: ASD: Autism Spectrum Disorder; N: Number of genes in the set, VPA: Sodium Valproate, DEGs: Differentially Expressed Genes, SFARI: Simons Foundation Autism Research Initiative. (Feleke et al.(2022)) [86]

4.4 Discussion

Although VPA is considered one of the most effective treatments for epilepsy [203], women of childbearing potential are advised against the use of the drug due to its well-known and documented adverse neurodevelopmental consequences. Moreover, the biological mechanisms by which valproate contributes to behavioural and cognitive problems in children following gestational exposure remain poorly defined. Further, few studies have examined transcriptome-wide alterations in brain gene expression [63] and often are limited by non-physiological drug administration and dosing regimens. In this study, an established rat model of valproate-induced teratogenicity [135] that recapitulates human prenatal valproate exposure and chronicity of oral dosing during pregnancy was utilized to identify and assess the mechanisms by which VPA exposure induces adverse fetal health effects.

4.4.1 No substantial shifts in the composition of the major cell-types

There was no evidence for substantial shifts in the composition of the major cell-types of the brain (i.e., excitatory neurons, inhibitory neurons, astrocytes, oligodendrocytes, oligodendrocyte precursor cells, microglia) following VPA-exposure using deconvolution analysis. This does not reflect the proportion of cell-type specific sub-types occurring as a result of VPA exposure, which will require single-cell RNA-sequencing of large numbers of cells from VPA-exposed and non-exposed brains; however, these findings are consistent with no measurable differences in the proportion of the major cell-types. Focusing on major cell-types, the observed differences in gene expression between exposed and non-exposed brains arise predominantly from differential gene expression rather than substantial differences in the proportions of the major cell-types between VPA exposed and non-exposed brains.

4.4.2 Transcriptional dysregulation in pup brains following gestational VPA exposure

Furthermore, there was statistically significant (FDR < 0.05) transcriptional dysregulation in the pup brains following gestational VPA exposure. Pathway enrichment analysis revealed a noticeable separation of enriched terms between the up- and down-regulated genes. While, up-regulated genes were predominantly enriched for terms relating to mRNA splicing division, translation, cell division and extracellular matrix organisation, down-regulated genes were highly enriched for neurodevelopmental-related terms, including Extracellular Signal-Regulated Kinase 1 (ERK1) and Extracellular Signal-Regulated Kinase 2 (ERK2) cascade, regulation of neuronal membrane activity, glutamate receptor signalling pathway, gamma-aminobutyric acid signalling pathway and synaptic transmission.

4.4.3 Enrichments of heritability in the down-regulated genes

Differentially expressed genes were integrated with GWAS summary statistics from a wide range of neurological traits and diseases to assess the functional consequences of VPA-induced differential gene expression. There was significant heritability enrichment in the genes downregulated by VPA for bipolar disorder (unsurprising, due to the fact that VPA is widely used to treat bipolar disorder), schizophrenia, IQ and cross disorder (Figure 4.6). Though there was no enrichment of heritability for ASD in the down-regulated gene sets (which was surprising given that some of the features of the valproate-neurodevelopment syndrome have been likened to autism, and maternal valproate exposure has been associated with autism-like behaviours in non-human primates) [361], there was a significant (P = 9.99×10^{-05}) overlap between genes genetically linked to ASD and down-regulated genes in the VPA exposed pup brains 4.7. These include genes SCN1A, Sodium Voltage-Gated Channel Alpha Subunit 2 (SCN2A) [214], Gamma-Aminobutyric Acid Type A Receptor Subunit Beta3 (GABRB3) [305], Hyperpolarization Activated Cyclic Nu- cleotide Gated Potassium Channel 1 (HCN1) [200], Calcium/Calmodulin Dependent Protein Kinase IV (CAMK4) [355], and ATPase Plasma Membrane Ca2+ Transporting 2 (ATP2B2) [349] which harbour mutations responsible for the increased risk of ASD and other neurodevelopmental disorders. However, due to the absence of a genetic association with ASD (from the enrichment of heritability analyses results Figure 4.6), which was in stark contrast to the enrichment for bipolar disorder, schizophrenia and IQ, it is possible that valproate fetal neurodevelopmental syndrome may have specific clinical characteristics unique to valproate exposure and points to a requirement to continue to define the phenotype.

It is worth noting that the directions of effect of valproate-induced gene expression on brain function is consistent with that observed from rare-variant analyses of genetic risk to neurodevelopmental disease where the predominant mechanism is a dominant negative effect from deleterious mutations [142]. The functional enrichment of chromatin assembly/disassembly terms among the genes up-regulated by VPA suggests the VPA induced transcriptional dysregulation is epigenetically encoded and, therefore, may have potentially long-lasting consequences for human brain function, even after birth prompting the need for further clinical research on the long-term outcomes of children born following fetal VPA exposure.

4.4.4 Differential mRNA splicing in the brain

Given the significant (FDR = 7.29×10^{-14}) enrichment for genes involved in mRNA splicing in functional enrichment analysis, differential splicing analysis was performed to assess if VPAinduced transcriptional dysregulation is epigenetically controlled. In addition, recent studies have shown evidence implicating the regulatory role of neuron-specific alternative splicing in neurodevelopmental disorders [247, 334]. Further, alternative splicing in the brain is vital for several neurological processes, including cell differentiation, neurogenesis, synaptogenesis and the generation of functional neuronal networks [300]. Of those genes observed to be significantly differentially spliced in the prenatal brain following VPA exposure were GAD2 (also known as GAD65), which plays a role in GABA-synthesis in neurons [331] and FOXP4, which is known to regulate neurogenesis and is associated with speech delay and congenital abnormalities [262]. These results suggest that alternative splicing may be an additional mechanism for adverse neurodevelopment in VPA-exposed fetal brains.

4.4.5 Other anti-epileptic drugs

Though, valproate is the most widely recognised AED to affect neurodevelopment and significantly increase the risk of ASD, prenatal exposure to other anti-seizure medications such as phenytoin and phenobarbital was also associated with an increased risk of neurodevelopmental deficits [152]. However, this was not observed for lamotrigine or levetiracetam, which appear safer with respect to cognitive and behavioural outcomes [330, 152]. Additionally, studies have suggested that anti-depressant use during pregnancy may be associated with an increased risk of neurodevelopmental disorders, including ASD and ADHD [29, 335], although not for exposure to antipsychotics [335]. The research presented here, which demonstrates a robust brain transcriptional response to VPA that is both functionally and genetically associated with relevant cognitive (IQ) and psychiatric (BD, SCZ, CDG), outcomes suggests that the rat model of chronic dosing followed by transcriptional assay in pup brains may provide a more general approach for screening for drug-induced adverse neurodevelopmental effects. Moreover, the inference that the adverse behavioural and cognitive outcomes from gestational VPA exposure arise from transcriptional dysregulation, the model presents a potential system for testing drugs capable of reversing or improving these changes. For example, as previously highlighted, VPA is a well-recognised HDAC inhibitor, and pre-treatment with methionine has been shown to significantly reduce the incidence of spina bifida and other VPA-associated defects in mice [80].

4.4.6 Conclusion and future direction

In conclusion, the findings presented here offer a mechanistic explanation for the adverse neurodevelopmental effects caused by VPA. These effects are rooted in the dysregulation of gene transcription induced by the drug. The extent to which these transcriptional effects are linked to irreversible brain development or persistent changes encoded in the epigenetic makeup, or whether they are associated with a gradual restoration of normal brain transcription and function over time after birth, could be explored using the experimental approach described in this study. This underscores the critical importance of long-term follow-up studies on children born after gestational exposure to VPA.

Chapter 5

Discussion

5.1 Discussion

In the previous chapters, I have detailed three studies that utilised integrative genomic approaches to identify and evaluate the underlying biological mechanisms involved in cognitive disorders stemming from neurodegenerative and neurodevelopmental impairments. In this chapter, I will (a) provide a summary of the main findings from each study; (b) provide a summary of the primary mechanisms that were shared between these two types of cognitive disorders, as well as those that were unique to each; (c) I will address any biological or technical limitations that arose during the course of these analyses, while also discussing the notable advancements made in RNA-sequencing technologies; and (d) I will outline my research plans for future endeavours in this field.

5.1.1 Using transcriptomics profiling to study brain disorders: A summary of key findings from the current studies.

Transcriptomic analysis is a powerful tool for identifying gene expression signatures and associated biological processes in cognitive disorders Chapter 2, 3, 4. Although it cannot distinguish between causal and compensatory factors, it offers valuable insights into the molecular pathways underlying the pathogenesis of these disorders. This knowledge can aid in understanding the biological basis and help discover new therapeutic targets.

Below are summaries of the major findings, including novel discoveries, identified through transcriptomic profiling from the studies mentioned in this thesis:

Chapter 2: Single-nucleus transcriptomics identifies common and distinct molecular pathologies in Lewy body diseases.

1. In this study, transcriptional altercations were observed in multiple cell-types across several comparisons distinguishing the three LBDs under investigation. From differential expression analysis (Chapter 2.3.4; Figure 2.3), the following observations were made: (a) there was a widespread dysregulation in neurons, as well as glial cell-types; (b) gene expression profiles of PDD and DLB were very similar (this likely stems from the fact that both conditions are cortical diseases and in contrast, PD without dementia primarily affects the motor system), while there were less transcriptional similarities between PD and PDD; (c) approximately around 36% of DEGs were found uniquely expressed in one comparison; (d) focusing on the disease-control comparison, it was evident that there was more down-regulation of genes in PDD and DLB and up-regulation of genes in PD (Figure 2.4), suggesting that PD may have a distinct transcriptional profile compared to the dementia groups.

- 2. Heritability enrichment analysis revealed a genetic association between DEGs in glial cells (up-regulated genes in OPCs and dysregulated (up and down) genes in astrocytes derived from PD versus control comparisons; FDR_{LDSC} = 0.0076 in OPC and FDR_{LDSC} = 0.0085 in astrocytes) and genetic determinants of PD age of onset (Chapter 2.3.7 and Figure 2.9). Although the involvement of OPCs has been shown in previous studies [39, 4], the role of astrocytes in PD age onset was also observed in the current study, Chapter 2.3.7.
- 3. A unique population of neurons associated with DLB was identified through clustering analysis (Chapter 2.3.7). These neurons were found to share a transcriptional profile similar to that of medium spiny neurons (MSN). As mentioned in the previous chapter, MSN are a type of GABAergic neurons primarily found in the striatum (a region involved in movement control). In PD, the progressive degeneration of dopaminergic neurons in the substantia nigra leads to a reduction in dopamine levels in the striatum, which in turn, contributes to the loss of MSN [342, 364]. Interestingly, these particular sub-types were not present in DLB groups (although extensively present in PDD group Figure 2.11), which mirrors earlier findings indicating that medium spiny neurons experience selective dendritic degeneration in DLB [354]. Furthermore, Skene et al. (2018) [283] were able to find a significant enrichment for schizophrenia in striatal medium spiny neurons using both LDSC and MAGMA. This may indicate that the loss of MSNs represents a convergent mechanism for the hallucinations seen in DLB and those in schizophrenia. However, what is unclear is the role of MSNs in PDD, since they are more abundantly present in the PDD

samples than PD samples. It is worth noting that this study represents the first instance in which these neurons have been identified and characterized at the transcriptional level (refer to Appendix A, Table 5 for full list of enriched functional terms).

Chapter 3: Uncovering Early-Stage Abnormal Tau Species-Related Gene Expression Changes Through Transcriptomic Profiling.

- 1. The study in Chapter 3 looked at transcriptional profiling of brain tissue samples from both tauPLA positive (tauPLA+; containing tau oligomers and NFTs) and tauPLA negative (tauPLA-) brain tissues from temporal cortex. Analysis of the gene expressions at the single cell-level revealed distinct and similar patterns between the two groups. Notably, there was a significant down-regulation of genes in excitatory neurons in tauPLA+ samples compared to tauPLA- samples. While it is widely recognized that the presence of NFTs (in samples with tauPLA+ and AT8+) leads to changes in gene expression patterns in neurons [97, 78], this study is unique in that it explores alterations in gene expression in the absence of NFTs and in the presence of tau multimers/oligomers (tauPLA+ and AT8- samples; 3.7).
- 2. The early activation of reactive astrocytes was observed in the study. It is well-established that reactive astrocytes play a crucial role in the progression of AD [286]. Nevertheless, the observation of their activation in the absence of NFTs has not been reported previously. To our knowledge, this is the first study to have shown similar transcription profile between astrocytes derived from samples that were both AT8+/tauPLA+, and those that were AT8-/tauPLA+, suggesting that reactive astrocytes are activated even in the absence of NFTs (refer to Appendix B, Figure 1 for average expression of marker genes across the three groups).
- 3. The findings of this study highlight the need for meticulous consideration when using control samples in transcriptomic investigations that involve aged or AD brains. Notably, this study demonstrates that the presence of newly discovered tau species (containing tau oligomers/multimers) can lead to significant disruptions in various pathways, even in the absence of NFTs. These results underscore the complexities of studying the transcriptome in AD and further emphasize the importance of rigorous experimental design to achieve a more nuanced understanding of the underlying molecular mechanisms of this devastating disease.

Chapter 4: Integrative genomics reveals pathogenic mediator of valproate-induced neurodevelopmental outcomes.

- 1. In this chapter, valproate exposure was shown to cause significant changes in gene expression in gestationally exposed pup brains, specifically down-regulating genes related to synaptic function and neurodevelopment. Furthermore, these differentially expressed genes were shown to be preferentially enriched for heritability to schizophrenia, bipolar disorder and IQ (Figure 4.6). This finding indicates that foetal valproate exposure can negatively affect the developing brain through drug-induced transcriptional dysregulation of genes that may be involved in neurodevelopment, synaptic dysfunction and protein homeostasis (Appendix C, Table 2 and 3 for full functional enrichment and LDSC result tables).
- 2. Through differential splicing analysis, some of the DEGs were shown to be also differentially spliced; this may suggest that the dysregulation of transcription induced by valproate is encoded epigenetically and may have enduring effects on human brain function (Chapter 4.4.4).

5.1.2 Convergent and divergent mechanisms underlying various types of neurodegenerative disorders.

Below is a summary of convergent and divergent mechanisms identified:

 Although there were novel findings found in each chapter, most identified perturbed pathways in Chapter 2 (involving PD, PDD and DLB) and Chapter 3 (samples with NFTs (a feature of AD)) were similar. Examples of these pathways include axonal degeneration, mRNA splicing, synaptic organisation, autophagy, neuron death, phosphorylation, memory, mitochondrial function, and regulation of vesicle-mediated transport.

Given the widely accepted notion that NFTs are a hallmark of dementias such as PDD and DLB [33, 13, 78], it is perhaps not surprising that the present study's findings support previous observations made in similar studies [104, 131]. However, what is of particular interest is that the same molecular pathways were found to be perturbed in samples with few or no NFTs (Chapter 3.3.4 and Figure 3.7). This observation may indicate that tau aggregates (specifically tau oligomers/multimers) induced neurotoxicity represents an early molecular event in the pathogenesis of these diseases.

2. Another striking parallel between the two investigations was the observation of the down-regulation of genes (in the diseases tissue samples, namely PD, DLB, PDD and tau-PLA+/AT8+ samples) in glial cell types, implying that not only are neurons susceptible to toxic tau species (in this case tau oligomers/multimers), but also glial cell-types. Specifically, several genes were found to be dysregulated in astrocytes (including reactive astrocyte marker genes) and oligodendrocytes within tauPLA+ brain tissues compared to controls (tauPLA-) (Figure 2.3 and Figure 3.5.). These findings suggest that further research into the involvement of glial cells in the aetiology of neurodegenerative diseases and their potential contribution to the spread of tau pathology is needed.

5.1.3 Overlapping and distinct perturbed pathways in neurodegeneration and neurodevelopment

Neurodevelopmental disorders (NDDs) and neurodegenerative diseases (NDs) are two distinct neurological conditions, with the former commonly manifesting during the critical period of brain development, and the latter typically presenting in later stages of life. As such, NDDs are often characterised by compromised brain development and function, while NDs are marked by the gradual degeneration of neurons (as seen in this study, for example, losses of medium spiny neurons-associated nuclei in DLB (Chapter 2.3.7) and related brain function).

1. Among the similarities between NDs and NDDs is the role of abnormal protein aggregation/synthesis. In NDs, misfolded proteins such as β -amyloid, tau, and α -synuclein accumulate in different regions of the brain, leading to neuronal dysfunction and selective neuronal death [57, 315, 125]. In NDDs such as ASD and schizophrenia, there is growing evidence of altered synaptic plasticity [109, 30], and neuronal connectivity [109], which may be related to aberrant protein synthesis and degradation [189, 76]. These commonalities suggest that there may be shared mechanisms underlying protein homeostasis in both NDs and NDDs. These previous findings were mirrored in the current studies, in which terms such as protein-containing complex disassembly, protein secretion, regulation of protein polymerization were enriched for down-regulated genes across all disease groups (such as PD, PDD, DLB, tauPLA+/AT8+, VPA-Exposed groups) in comparison to control groups (2.5, Figure 2.6, Figure 3.7, Figure 4.5).

2. The involvement of GABAergic signalling in NDs and NDDs has been extensively studied in animal and human models [254, 199, 306, 156, 32]. It is widely recognized that GABAergic neurons play a crucial role in brain development and function. In NDDs, studies have shown that there may be alterations in GABAergic system [306, 126, 121] which leads to an imbalance between excitatory and inhibitory neurotransmission [306, 32]. This imbalance is believed to contribute to these disorders' cognitive and behavioural symptoms. Notably, the current study revealed that terms related to the regulation of GABAergic transmission were enriched for down-regulated genes in VPA-exposed pup brains.

In contrast, it has been reported NDDs such as AD and PD exhibit a reduction in GABAergic interneurons in certain brain regions [347, 132, 231], in addition to the loss of other types of neurons. This loss of GABAergic neurons is known to contribute to the cognitive and motor symptoms observed in these disorders. Strikingly, in the current study, medium spiny neurons (a type of GABAergic neurons) were shown to be entirely lost in DLB (Figure 2.10).

3. Inflammatory responses and inflammation-associated pathways are common features of both NDs and NDDS. Studies have shown that chronic inflammation contributes to the pathophysiology of NDs and NDDs, with increased levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines observed in individuals with AD [294, 362] and ASD. Interestingly, however, the present study did not find any enrichment of inflammation-related pathways among the DEGs identified in VPA-exposed pup brains, although these pathways were enriched for DEGs in PD, PDD and DLB.

4. In addition to inflammation, mitochondrial dysfunction is another hallmark of both NDs and NDDs [175, 276, 312]. However, the current study's perturbed pathways in VPA-exposed pup brains did not include mitochondrial dysfunction. While, several mitochondrial-associated pathways, including mitochondrion organization, apoptotic mitochondrial changes and mitochondrial transmembrane transport were enriched for DEGs from NDs (PD, PDD, DLB and tauPLA+/AT8+) versus control comparisons.

In summary, NDs and NDDs are two distinct categories of neurological conditions, each involving different underlying mechanisms and pathologies. In NDDs, pathways related to neurodevelopmental processes such as neuronal migration, differentiation, and neurogenesis are primarily affected, while in NDs, pathways related to neurodegenerative processes such as protein aggregation, autophagy, and neuroinflammation are mainly affected. However, despite their distinct differences, the current study has shown that NDDs and NDs share some commonalities in the perturbed pathways and processes that contribute to their respective pathologies. These similarities suggest that there may be some overlap in the underlying mechanisms of these disorders and highlight the need for further investigation into the shared pathways and potential therapeutic targets.

5.1.4 Challenges in transcriptomic data analysis arising from biological aspects

Ageing

Ageing is a biological process which results from the accumulation of diverse forms of molecular and cellular damage. The ageing brain undergoes a series of intricate changes, including a decline in cellular function, loss of synaptic connections, and a reduction in the production of neurotrophic factors [343, 124]. These age-related alterations contribute significantly to the onset and progression of NDs including AD and PD, by disrupting the delicate balance of the brain's physiological and biochemical processes [124].

For example, one of the hallmark features of NDs as mentioned in previous chapter is the accumulation of misfolded protein in the brain, which can lead to the formation of aggregates and neuronal death [264, 323]. Age-related changes in protein turnover and clearance mechanisms can impair the ability of the brain to remove these toxic proteins, further exacerbating disease pathology [264]. Interestingly, in the current study, trajectory analysis (Chapter 3.3.6) demonstrated an increase expression pattern of reactive astrocyte marker genes (an astrocyte population which play a key role in clearing tau protein and other debris from the brain in response to injury or disease [180]) increased with age. This may be due to reactive astrocytes becoming dysfunctional and losing their ability to clear tau protein effectively as the brain ages. This may lead to the accumulation of tau protein and the formation of toxic tau species, such as NFTs, a hallmark of AD's pathology [141]. Notably, the current study found that these marker genes were activated even in the absence of NFTs (Appendix B, Figure 1), suggesting that tau oligomers may have a similar level of neurotoxicity as hyperphosphorylated NFTs.

In addition, age-related changes in the immune system can also contribute to neurodegeneration [124]. Microglia, specialised immune cells of the brain, play a crucial role in maintaining brain homeostasis and responding to injury and infection. However, with age, microglia can become dysfunctional, leading to chronic inflammation and further damage to neurons [194]. Unlike the astrocytes, early microglia activation was not observed in samples with only tau oligomers (and few to no NFTs), suggesting that astrocytes may have an early role in the pathogenesis of neurodegeneration than microglia.

Other age-related factors include: (i) sample heterogeneity: for example, the presence of senescent cells [161], which are cells that have stopped dividing due to a variety of stressors, such as damage to their DNA or other forms of cellular stress, can affect gene expression patterns and confound interpretation of results; (ii) comorbidities: due to the nature of ageing, individuals are more likely to develop multiple health conditions [73, 357], making it difficult to detangle the effects of different factors on disease development and progression; and (iii) other timedependent variables including, duration of disease, time since intervention, length of exposure to treatment and survivorship bias (older individuals may be healthier or have a different health trajectory)[9].

Separating the effects of ageing from the effects of the disease in transcriptomic based studies.

To address the challenges related to age-related factors in case-control transcriptomic studies, careful study design is essential. Important considerations for designing such studies include the use of appropriate statistical methods to account for potential confounding variables, and the utilisation of reference datasets containing age-matched controls to ensure that age-related effects are accurately accounted for.

Stratifying samples by age groups can be an apparent choice for case-control studies. However, this approach may lead to smaller sample sizes within each age group, which can lower the statistical power and make it challenging to detect significant differences in gene expression between groups. Apart from stratifying samples into age groups, researchers have applied several means to account for age-related changes in gene expression. For example:

- Age can be incorporated as a covariate in statistical models to control its effects on gene expression (as done in the current study). This approach allows the identification of disease-related changes in gene expression that are independent of age. However, this may not completely eliminate the confounding effect of age-related changes on gene expression, as there may be other variables that are also affected by aging and contribute to gene expression changes.
- 2. Recently, machine learning algorithms have been utilised to identify age-related patterns in gene expression data [163, 85]. Briefly, the algorithms are trained on gene expression profiles from individuals of different ages, and then the model created is used to predict gene expression changes associated with ageing. Hence, this could be one way for accounting the effect of ageing on gene expression.

In addition to age, PMI can pose a challenge in transcriptomic studies, as variations in PMI among samples can impact gene expression patterns. Recently, Zhu et al., 2017 [366] conducted a systematic analysis of gene expression patterns associated with PMI in human tissues and revealed tissue and cell-type specific mRNA degradation profiles. Although PMI is currently used as a covariate in statistical methods, identifying PMI-associated genes could enhance the interpretation of gene expression patterns linked to disease status.

In both studies related to NDs and NDDs, sex-bias may possess a challenge when it comes to identifying sex-based changes or disease-driven expression changes. This is because the expression of genes can vary between males and females due to differences in hormonal and genetic factors [314, 260].

For instance, in AD, women are known to have a higher prevalence and faster progression than men. One possibility could be due to the protective effect of testosterone in males as demonstrated by Rosario et al., 2011 [260] in which the authors found inverse relationship between brain levels of testosterone and soluble $A\beta$. In contrast, as seen in the current study, in DLB men were more likely to develop the disease than women. However, there are conflicting reports have been seen in other studies [95]. Therefore, failing to account for sex differences in gene expression patterns could lead to a lack of understanding of the underlying disease mechanisms in both males and females.

Similarly, in ASD, males are known to be affected more frequently and severely than females [95]. This suggests that there could be sex-specific mechanisms underlying the disorder that are not accounted for when sex differences are not taken into consideration. Therefore, to overcome these challenges, it is important to design studies that include both males and females in sufficient numbers and to statistically account for sex differences in gene expression. This can be done by stratifying (having equal/equivalent male and female samples) or including sex as a covariate in the statistical models, as done in this study.

5.1.5 Technical differences between single-cell and single-nucleus RNA-Seq

The development of scRNA-Seq technology has revolutionised our understanding of disease by revealing previously undiscovered cellular heterogeneity and novel cell-types through the analysis of gene expression patterns at the single-cell level [127, 181]. This capability enables researchers to examine gene expression across a vast range of cell subpopulations, revealing unique cell-types that may play pivotal roles in disease pathogenesis and progression [285]. Additionally, scRNA-Seq can identify key regulatory genes and pathways that are dysregulated in disease, uncovering potential molecular mechanisms that lead to disease pathology or those involved in the progression of the disease. Hence providing new insights into disease pathogenesis and potential targets for therapeutic intervention.

Although, scRNA-Sequencing gives a comprehensive understanding of cellular heterogeneity which allows the identification of individual cell-types, splicing events and different isoforms, which may be missed in bulk RNA-Sequencing, scRNA-Seq requires the isolation of viable single cells, which can be technically challenging and may introduce bias due to the isolation process [160]. In order to overcome this technical challenge, snRNA-Seq was developed as an alternative to scRNA-Seq for analysing gene expression in samples with degraded RNA (or low RNA content) [160]. By using the nuclei of the cells rather than the entire cell, snRNA-Seq enables the analysis of gene expression in intact tissue samples at a single-cell resolution. One of the main advantages of snRNA-Seq is that it can be performed on frozen, fixed, or even archived tissues, which may be the only available samples for certain studies [160, 167].

5.1.6 The limitations of single-nucleus RNA-Sequencing

Over the last few years, numerous studies have used snRNA-Seq to unravel the complexities of the brain. These studies have focused on understanding the transcriptional and epigenetic states of the human brain, identifying neuronal subtypes, and or even exploring the singlecell transcriptional landscape of mammalian organogenesis. Notably, Habib et al., 2020 [111] identified rare cell types in the mouse brain using snRNA-Seq, while Lake et al., 2016 [166] employed the same method to uncover novel neuronal subtypes using nuclei from post-mortem brain. In another study, Zeng et al., 2016 [359] conducted both snRNA-Seq and scRNA-Seq on immortalized human myoblasts and found them to be comparable, with a distinct enrichment for long non-coding RNAs in snRNA-seq.

However, it is worth noting that snRNA-Seq has several limitations compared to scRNA-Seq including:

- 1. The potential loss of information due to the isolation of nuclei instead of whole cells (low sensitivity); thus, leading to underestimation or loss of expression patterns from rare cell-types.
- 2. Low coverage, due to low capture efficiency of nuclei and higher dropout rates, could reduce the ability to detect lowly expressed genes, or low-abundance transcripts, which could lead to inaccurate quantification of gene expression levels.
- 3. Damage to cells due to the isolation process which could lead to unreliable or lower quality data [44].
- 4. Batch effects due to the use of different isolation protocols and library preparation methods making it challenging to compare results across multiple studies.
- 5. Challenges in differentiating between transcripts present in the nucleus and cytoplasm [353].
- 6. High level of background noise (specifically in 10x-based platforms) due to the presence of mitochondrial RNA (mtRNA) and ribosomal RNA (rRNA) in the nuclei [44]. mtRNA and rRNA are highly abundant in the nucleus, and their transcripts are captured along with the mRNA during the snRNA-Seq process, leading to a large proportion of reads being derived from these RNAs [193, 369]. This can result in decreased sensitivity and accuracy of downstream analyses, as well as an increased cost due to the need for deeper

sequencing to achieve sufficient coverage. For the current study, CellBender was applied to overcome this challenge. In conclusion, snRNA-Seq remains a valuable tool for studying gene expression in individual nuclei and has led to many significant discoveries in brain sciences. However, researchers should carefully design their studies and when choosing which technology to use. Furthermore, it is important to take into account the appropriate normalisation and statistical methods when analysing the data to avoid common pitfalls in differential expression analysis.

5.1.7 Other technical limitations

(i) Proteomics

RNA-seq experiments are susceptible to technical biases, such as library preparation artefacts and amplification biases, which can lead to false positives and distort the representation of specific RNA species [280]. One notable limitation of the current studies is their exclusive reliance on mRNA expression levels, thereby overlooking the assessment of protein levels. Until recently, it was widely assumed in systems biology literature that mRNA and protein expressions measured from a tissue exhibited a proportional relationship. However, multiple studies analysing mRNA and protein expression data from the same cells under similar conditions have challenged this assumption, revealing a lack of high correlation between these two distinct molecular entities with unique properties and behaviour within cells [50, 114, 239, 108].

Several factors contribute to the disparities between mRNA and protein measurements. For example, various post-transcriptional regulations, including mRNA stability and protein degradation, can influence the abundance of proteins without corresponding changes in mRNA levels [350, 114, 326]. In addition, protein-protein interactions, post-translational modifications, such as phosphorylation, glycosylation, and acetylation, can impact the function and localisation of proteins, however, these modifications are not directly captured by mRNA measurements [11, 138, 68]. In a recent study, Takemon et al.(2021) [303] conducted a study in which they measured mRNA and protein levels in mice across various ages. The findings revealed that age-related alterations in protein levels were not solely attributed to corresponding changes in mRNA levels.

In general, the analysis of mRNA transcripts is considerably more accessible compared to proteins. Transcripts can be readily detected and characterised using techniques such as northern blotting, PCR amplification, and cDNA sequencing. Whereas, studying proteins requires a range of costly and labour-intensive methodologies, including mass spectrometry [311]. Therefore, despite the limitations, transcriptomics continues to be a valuable tool in unravelling biological processes, gene regulation, and disease mechanisms. Integrating protein measurements and other omics data can further enhance our understanding of complex cellular processes and facilitate more comprehensive investigations in the future.

(ii) Differential expression analysis methods

New tools for analysing gene expression, along with advances in scRNA-Seq technology, are greatly improving our ability to study gene expression patterns with more accuracy than ever before. While scRNA-Seq/snRNA-Seq enables the measurement of gene expression at the single-cell level, DEA allows for the identification of genes that are differentially expressed between two or more conditions, cell-types or cell-states, providing insight into the molecular basis of disease pathogenesis and progression.

However, current DEA methods have several limitations including:

- The assumption (especially in MAST) that the genes are independently and identically distributed across cells, which has been shown to not be the case in some studies [112].Furthermore, MAST assumes genes across cells follow a negative binomial distribution, which may not always be the case. This can result in inflated test statistics or inaccurate estimation of expression variability and increased number of false positives in DEA [112, 333, 291].
- 2. To address these issues, alternative methods have been developed that do not make assumptions about the distribution of gene expression levels, such as the non-parametric

approach scVI [188], which uses deep learning to model the gene expression distribution. However, machine-learning based methods also has limitations, including difficulty in identifying rare cell-types due to their absence in the training data; and requiring significant computational resources to train and implement, which may limit its accessibility for some researchers.

5.1.8 Alternatives to using single-nucleus RNA-Sequencing based differential expression analysis methods:

Pseudobulk methods are becoming widely used for differential expression analysis using sn/scRNA-Seq data [220]. These methods involve averaging the expression values of cells/nuclei within the same individual, such as cells from the same tissue or cell type, to obtain a bulk-like expression profile. However, these methods have several limitations. For example, they may fail to detect subtle gene expression changes and cell-to-cell variation within a given sample [367], potentially leading to the loss of important information regarding subpopulation-specific gene expression changes and rare cell types with distinct transcriptional profiles, as seen in the current study.

Another limitation of pseudobulk methods is the assumption that the same cell-type composition/proportion is the same across samples, which may not be the case in reality. This can mask differences in cell-type composition between samples and confound identification of DEGs. Additionally, pseudobulk methods may not perform well in detecting differential expression in lowly expressed genes.

Despite these limitations, pseudobulk methods can still be a useful tool for DEA. However, researchers should carefully consider the limitations when deciding to use the methods and supplement them with other approaches, such as MAST or other sn/scRNA-Seq based methods, to obtain a more comprehensive understanding of gene expression changes.

5.1.9 Future work

Most of the analyses carried out in the current study rely heavily on identifying potentially disease-related genes by comparing their expression levels between groups of individuals with or without the pathology. If reverse causality is present, the observed difference in gene expression could potentially be due to the disease-causing changes in gene expression rather than the gene expression changes causing the disease. Reverse causality is a type of bias that can occur in research (including ones where DEA is used) when the cause-and-effect relationship between two variables is incorrectly assumed due to an observational association. For example, instead of A (gene expression) causing B (disease), it may be that B causes A [226].

In order to explore potential causal relationships between variables and mitigate the impact confounding factors such as reverse causality, it is important to complement DEA with other additional methodologies such as expression quantitative trait loci (eQTLs) analysis, Mendelian Randomisation (MR), colocalization and mediation analysis [226]. By utilising these methods, researchers can better assess whether a given exposure (such as drug exposure) or trait is causally linked to a particular outcome of interest, such as disease risk or progression.

A brief explanation of these analyses is as follows:

- 1. expression quantitative trait loci (eQTLs) analysis is a widely used method which was first introduced as a means of identifying relationships between genetic polymorphisms and gene expression variation. These eQTLs (genetic variants associated with gene expression levels) are used in colocalization analysis (CA) to investigate the potential causal relationships between genetic variants and complex traits, including diseases [226, 246].
- 2. Colocalisation analysis (CA) is a method used to investigate whether two traits or phenotypes are associated with the same causal genetic variant; and to test if the same genetic variants are found to be associated with both the disease and the gene expression, this suggests that the genetic variant is likely to be causal for the disease through its effect on the gene expression [339].

- 3. MR is used to test the causal relationship between the genetic variants disease by utilising the variant as an instrumental variable. Briefly MR is a statistical method that uses genetic variants to determine the causal relationship between a risk factor and an outcome of interest (for example, a disease). MR utilises the random distribution of genetic variants during meiosis (gamete formation), leading to their independence from confounding factors such as lifestyle or environmental factors [173]. These genetic variants are used as instrumental variables to estimate the causal effect of the risk factor on the outcome.
- 4. Mediation analysis is a method used to investigate the mechanism or pathway through which an independent variable influences a dependent variable. The mediator variable is a variable that explains or accounts for the relationship between the independent and dependent variables. For example, when studying genes expression change, age and disease outcome; gene expression level is a mediator variable, as changes in gene expression levels with age could affect disease risk; age is the independent variable (or predictor variable) as it could predict disease outcome; and finally, disease outcome can be the dependent variable (or outcome variable) as it is the variable of interest and could be predicted by age and gene expression levels. Other variables such as sex, smoking, diet, exercise and race could be included as covariates in the analysis to control for potential confounding effects [358].

In summary, integrating these methods in a broad-ranging causal inference framework, as I plan to do in my future analyses, can provide more reliable and accurate assessment into the underlying biological mechanisms and the potential for therapeutic interventions.

Appendix

Please refer to https://github.com/rahfel/Appendices for the following xls. and png files:

- 1. Appendix A, Table 1.Sample demographics and clinical and pathological measures
- 2. Appendix A, Table 2. Quality control metrics
- 3. Appendix A, Table 3. The full number of nuclei per subject
- 4. Appendix A, Table 4.Cell-type specific differential expression analyses results
- 5. Appendix A, Table 5. Functional pathway enrichments across all comparisons
- 6. Appendix A, Table 6.Functional pathway enrichments across all comparisons (PD-linked pathways)
- 7. Appendix A, Table 7.HMAGMA full results table
- 8. Appendix A, Table 8.sLDSC full results table
- 9. Appendix B, Table 1. Clinical and pathological features of the cohort
- 10. Appendix B, Table 2. Quality measures for read mapping and sequencing
- 11. Appendix B, Table 3.List of nuclei derived per subject
- 12. Appendix B, Table 4.Cell-type specific differential expression analyses results
- 13. Appendix B, Table 5. Functional pathway enrichments across all comparisons
- 14. Appendix B, Table 6.LDSC full results table
- 15. Appendix B, Table 7.HMAGMA full results table
- 16. Appendix B, Table 8.Number of genes per astrocyte module
- Appendix B, Table 9.Enrichment of biological processes pathways result for astrocyte modules

- 18. Appendix B, Table 10.Fisher's exact test result for enrichment of reactive astrocyte marker genes
- 19. Appendix B, Table 11. Enrichment of heritability result table for astrocyte modules
- 20. Appendix B, Table 12.Number of genes per excitatory module
- 21. Appendix B, Table 13.Enrichment of biological processes pathways result for excitatory modules
- 22. Appendix B, Table 14.Enrichment of heritability result table for excitatory modules
- 23. Appendix B, Figure 1. Reactive astrocyte average gene expression per group
- 24. Appendix B, Figure 2.Overlap of DEGs and neurodegenerative associated genes from Genomics England gene panel.
- 25. Appendix C, Table 1.Differential expression analyses results table
- 26. Appendix C, Table 2.Functional enrichment.Overrepresentation analysis results table
- 27. Appendix C, Table 3.LDSC full results table
- 28. Appendix C, Table 4.DWLS reuslt table
- 29. Appendix C, Table 5.Differential splicing analyses result table

Bibliography

- Genome-wide mega-analysis identifies 16 loci and highlights diverse biological mechanisms in the common epilepsies. *Nature communications 9*, 1 (2018), 5269. 4.2.5, 4.3.5
- [2] AARSLAND, D., AND KURZ, M. W. The epidemiology of dementia associated with parkinson disease. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences 289* (2 2010), 18–22. 2.1
- [3] ADAMS, J. N., MAASS, A., HARRISON, T. M., BAKER, S. L., AND JAGUST, W. J. Cortical tau deposition follows patterns of entorhinal functional connectivity in aging. *eLife 8* (9 2019). 3.1.3
- [4] AGARWAL, D., SANDOR, C., VOLPATO, V., CAFFREY, T. M., MONZÓN-SANDOVAL, J., BOWDEN, R., ALEGRE-ABARRATEGUI, J., WADE-MARTINS, R., AND WEBBER, C. A single-cell atlas of the human substantia nigra reveals cell-specific pathways associated with neurological disorders. *Nature Communications 11* (8 2020), 4183. 2.4.4, 2
- [5] AKBARIAN, S., LIU, C., AND KNOWLES, J. The psychencode project. Nat Neurosci 18, 12, 1707–1712. 11. 1.1
- [6] AMER-SARSOUR, F., KORDONSKY, A., BERDICHEVSKY, Y., PRAG, G., AND ASHKE-NAZI, A. Deubiquitylating enzymes in neuronal health and disease. *Cell Death Dis 12*, 1. 213. 2
- [7] ANANG, J. B. M., GAGNON, J.-F., BERTRAND, J.-A., ROMENETS, S. R., LA-TREILLE, V., PANISSET, M., MONTPLAISIR, J., AND POSTUMA, R. B. Predictors
of dementia in parkinson disease: a prospective cohort study. *Neurology 83* (9 2014), 1253–60. 2.1

- [8] ANDERS, S., AND HUBER, W. Differential expression analysis for sequence count data. Genome Biology 11 (10 2010), R106. 1.1.3
- [9] ANDERSON, C. D., NALLS, M. A., BIFFI, A., ROST, N. S., GREENBERG, S. M., SINGLETON, A. B., MESCHIA, J. F., AND ROSAND, J. The effect of survival bias on case-control genetic association studies of highly lethal diseases. *Circulation: Cardiovascular Genetics* 4 (4 2011), 188–196. 5.1.4
- [10] ANDREWS, S. Fastqc: a quality control tool for high throughput sequence data. 1.1.3,4.2.2
- [11] ARCHER, T. C., EHRENBERGER, T., MUNDT, F., GOLD, M. P., KRUG, K., MAH, C. K., MAHONEY, E. L., DANIEL, C. J., LENAIL, A., RAMAMOORTHY, D., MERTINS, P., MANI, D., ZHANG, H., GILLETTE, M. A., CLAUSER, K., NOBLE, M., TANG, L. C., PIERRE-FRANÇOIS, J., SILTERRA, J., JENSEN, J., TAMAYO, P., KORSHUNOV, A., PFISTER, S. M., KOOL, M., NORTHCOTT, P. A., SEARS, R. C., LIPTON, J. O., CARR, S. A., MESIROV, J. P., POMEROY, S. L., AND FRAENKEL, E. Proteomics, post-translational modifications, and integrative analyses reveal molecular heterogeneity within medulloblastoma subgroups. *Cancer Cell 34* (9 2018), 396–410.e8. 5.1.7
- [12] ARMSTRONG, M. J. Advances in dementia with lewy bodies. Therapeutic advances in neurological disorders 14 (2021), 17562864211057666. 2.1
- [13] ARRIAGADA, P. V., GROWDON, J. H., HEDLEY-WHYTE, E. T., AND HYMAN, B. T. Neurofibrillary tangles but not senile plaques parallel duration and severity of alzheimer's disease. *Neurology* 42 (3 1992), 631–631. 3.1.2, 1
- [14] AVERY, L. B., AND BUMPUS, N. N. Valproic acid is a novel activator of amp-activated protein kinase and decreases liver mass, hepatic fat accumulation, and serum glucose in obese mice. *Molecular Pharmacology* 85 (1 2014). 4.3.4

- [15] AYERS, J. I., GIASSON, B. I., AND BORCHELT, D. R. Prion-like spreading in tauopathies. *Biological Psychiatry 83* (2 2018), 337–346. 3.1.2, 3.1.3
- [16] BANDRES-CIGA, S., SAEZ-ATIENZAR, S., AND KIM, J. Large-scale pathway specific polygenic risk and transcriptomic community network analysis identifies novel functional pathways in parkinson disease. *Acta Neuropathol* 140, 3, 341–358. 160. 2.3.5, 2.3.6
- [17] BARBIER, P., ZEJNELI, O., MARTINHO, M., LASORSA, A., BELLE, V., SMET-NOCCA, C., TSVETKOV, P. O., DEVRED, F., AND LANDRIEU, I. Role of tau as a microtubule-associated protein: Structural and functional aspects. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience 11* (8 2019). 3.1.2
- [18] BARDONI, B., ABEKHOUKH, S., ZONGARO, S., AND MELKO, M. Intellectual disabilities, neuronal posttranscriptional rna metabolism, and rna-binding proteins. In 2012, 29–51. 60. 1.2.1
- [19] BARKAS, N., PETUKHOV, V., AND NIKOLAEVA, D. Joint analysis of heterogeneous single-cell rna-seq dataset collections. *Nat Methods* 16, 8, 695–698. 147. 1.1.3, 2.2.5
- [20] BECHT, E., MCINNES, L., AND HEALY, J. Dimensionality reduction for visualizing single-cell data using umap. Nat Biotechnol 37, 1, 38–44. 31. 1.1.3
- [21] BENGOA-VERGNIORY, N., VELENTZA-ALMPANI, E., SILVA, A. M., SCOTT, C., VARGAS-CABALLERO, M., SASTRE, M., WADE-MARTINS, R., AND ALEGRE-ABARRATEGUI, J. Tau-proximity ligation assay reveals extensive previously undetected pathology prior to neurofibrillary tangles in preclinical alzheimer's disease. Acta Neuropathologica Communications 9, 1 (2021), 1–20. 3.1.5
- [22] BERENDSEN, S., FRIJLINK, E., KROONEN, J., SPLIET, W. G. M., VAN HECKE, W., SEUTE, T., SNIJDERS, T. J., AND ROBE, P. A. Effects of valproic acid on histone deacetylase inhibition in vitro and in glioblastoma patient samples. *Neuro-Oncology Advances 1* (5 2019). 4.1.2, 4.3.4

- [23] BJÖRKLUND, O., KAHLSTRÖM, J., SALMI, P., AND FREDHOLM, B. Perinatal caffeine, acting on maternal adenosine a1 receptors, causes long-lasting behavioral changes in mouse offspring. *PLoS One 3*, 12, 231, 4.1.2
- [24] BLAUWENDRAAT, C., HEILBRON, K., VALLERGA, C. L., BANDRES-CIGA, S., VON COELLN, R., PIHLSTRØM, L., SIMÓN-SÁNCHEZ, J., SCHULTE, C., SHARMA, M., KROHN, L., SIITONEN, A., IWAKI, H., LEONARD, H., NOYCE, A. J., TAN, M., GIBBS, J. R., HERNANDEZ, D. G., SCHOLZ, S. W., JANKOVIC, J., SHULMAN, L. M., LESAGE, S., CORVOL, J., BRICE, A., VAN HILTEN, J. J., MARINUS, J., EEROLA-RAUTIO, J., TIENARI, P., MAJAMAA, K., TOFT, M., GROSSET, D. G., GASSER, T., HEUTINK, P., SHULMAN, J. M., WOOD, N., HARDY, J., MORRIS, H. R., HINDS, D. A., GRATTEN, J., VISSCHER, P. M., GAN-OR, Z., NALLS, M. A., AND SINGLE-TON, A. B. Parkinson's disease age at onset genome-wide association study: Defining heritability, genetic loci, and -synuclein mechanisms. *Movement Disorders 34* (6 2019), 866–875. 2.1.2, 2.2.9, 2.3.7
- [25] BLAUWENDRAAT, C., NALLS, M. A., AND SINGLETON, A. B. The genetic architecture of parkinson's disease. *The Lancet Neurology* 19 (2 2020), 170–178. 2.1.2, 2.3.5
- [26] BLONDEL, V. D., GUILLAUME, J.-L., LAMBIOTTE, R., AND LEFEBVRE, E. Fast unfolding of communities in large networks. *Journal of statistical mechanics: theory and experiment 2008*, 10 (2008), P10008. 1.1.3
- [27] BOHNEN, N. I., MÜLLER, M. L. T. M., AND FREY, K. A. Molecular imaging and updated diagnostic criteria in lewy body dementias. *Current neurology and neuroscience reports* 17 (8 2017), 73. 2.1.1
- [28] BONDI, M. W., EDMONDS, E. C., AND SALMON, D. P. Alzheimer's disease: Past, present, and future. Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society 23 (10 2017), 818–831. 3.1.1

- [29] BOUKHRIS, T., SHEEHY, O., MOTTRON, L., AND BÉRARD, A. Antidepressant use during pregnancy and the risk of autism spectrum disorder in children. JAMA Pediatrics 170 (2 2016). 4.4.5
- [30] BOURGERON, T. From the genetic architecture to synaptic plasticity in autism spectrum disorder. Nature Reviews Neuroscience 16 (9 2015), 551–563. 1
- [31] BOURIN, M. Mechanism of action of valproic acid and its derivatives. SOJ Pharmacy Pharmaceutical Sciences (2020). 4.1.2
- [32] BOUZAMONDO-BERNSTEIN, E., HOPKINS, S. D., SPILMAN, P., UYEHARA-LOCK, J., DEERING, C., SAFAR, J., PRUSINER, S. B., RALSTON III, H. J., AND DEARMOND,
 S. J. The neurodegeneration sequence in prion diseases: evidence from functional, morphological and ultrastructural studies of the gabaergic system. *Journal of Neuropathology* & Experimental Neurology 63, 8 (2004), 882–899. 2
- [33] BRAAK, H., ALAFUZOFF, I., ARZBERGER, T., KRETZSCHMAR, H., AND TREDICI,
 K. D. Staging of alzheimer disease-associated neurofibrillary pathology using paraffin sections and immunocytochemistry. Acta Neuropathologica 112 (10 2006), 389–404. 3.1.4,
 1
- [34] BRAAK, H., AND TREDICI, K. D. Neuropathological staging of brain pathology in sporadic parkinson's disease: Separating the wheat from the chaff. *Journal of Parkinson's disease* 7 (2017), S71–S85. 2.1.1
- [35] BRAAK, H., TREDICI, K. D., RÜB, U., DE VOS, R. A., STEUR, E. N. J., AND BRAAK, E. Staging of brain pathology related to sporadic parkinson's disease. *Neurobiology of Aging* 24 (3 2003), 197–211. 2.1.1
- [36] BROWN, R., LOCKWOOD, A., AND SONAWANE, B. Neurodegenerative diseases: An overview of environmental risk factors. *Environ Health Perspect 113*, 9, 1250–1256. 1.2.2
- [37] BRUNELLO, C. A., MEREZHKO, M., URONEN, R.-L., AND HUTTUNEN, H. J. Mechanisms of secretion and spreading of pathological tau protein. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences* 77 (5 2020), 1721–1744. 3.1.2

- [38] BRUNO, V., SORTINO, M. A., SCAPAGNINI, U., NICOLETTI, F., AND CANONICO,
 P. L. Antidegenerative effects of mg(2+)-valproate in cultured cerebellar neurons. *Func*tional neurology 10 (1995), 121–30. 4.1.2
- [39] BRYOIS, J., SKENE, N. G., HANSEN, T. F., KOGELMAN, L. J. A., WATSON, H. J., LIU, Z., ADAN, R., ALFREDSSON, L., ANDO, T., ANDREASSEN, O., BAKER, J., BERGEN, A., BERRETTINI, W., BIRGEGÅRD, A., BODEN, J., BOEHM, I., BONI, C., PERICA, V. B., BRANDT, H., BREEN, G., BRYOIS, J., BUEHREN, K., BULIK, C., BURGHARDT, R., CASSINA, M., CICHON, S., CLEMENTI, M., COLEMAN, J., CONE, R., COURTET, P., CRAWFORD, S., CROW, S., CROWLEY, J., DANNER, U., DAVIS, O., DE ZWAAN, M., DEDOUSSIS, G., DEGORTES, D., DESOCIO, J., DICK, D., DIKEOS, D., DINA, C., DMITRZAK-WEGLARZ, M., MARTINEZ, E. D., DUNCAN, L., EGBERTS, K., EHRLICH, S., ESCARAMÍS, G., ESKO, T., ESTIVILL, X., FARMER, A., FAVARO, A., FERNÁNDEZ-ARANDA, F., FICHTER, M., FISCHER, K., FÖCKER, M., FORETOVA, L., FORSTNER, A., FORZAN, M., FRANKLIN, C., GALLINGER, S., GASPAR, H., GIEGLING, I., GIURANNA, J., GIUSTI-RODRÍQUEZ, P., GONIDAKIS, F., GORDON, S., GORWOOD, P., MAYORA, M. G., GROVE, J., GUILLAUME, S., GUO, Y., HAKONARSON, H., HALMI, K., HANSCOMBE, K., HATZIKOTOULAS, K., HAUSER, J., HEBEBRAND, J., HELDER, S., HENDERS, A., HERMS, S., HERPERTZ-DAHLMANN, B., HERZOG, W., HINNEY, A., HORWOOD, L. J., HÜBEL, C., HUCK-INS, L., HUDSON, J., IMGART, H., INOKO, H., JANOUT, V., JIMÉNEZ-MURCIA, S., JOHNSON, C., JORDAN, J., JULIÀ, A., JURÉUS, A., KALSI, G., KAMINSKÁ, D., KAPLAN, A., KAPRIO, J., KARHUNEN, L., KARWAUTZ, A., KAS, M., KAYE, W., KENNEDY, J., KENNEDY, M., KESKI-RAHKONEN, A., KIEZEBRINK, K., KIM, Y.-R., KIRK, K., KLARESKOG, L., KLUMP, K., KNUDSEN, G. P., VIA, M. L., LANDÉN, M., LARSEN, J., HELLARD, S. L., LEPPÄ, V., LEVITAN, R., LI, D., LICHTENSTEIN, P., LILENFELD, L., LIN, B. D., LISSOWSKA, J., LUYKX, J., MAG-ISTRETTI, P., MAJ, M., MANNIK, K., MARSAL, S., MARSHALL, C., MARTIN, N., MATTHEISEN, M., MATTINGSDAL, M., MCDEVITT, S., MCGUFFIN, P., MEDLAND, S., Metspalu, A., Meulenbelt, I., Micali, N., Mitchell, J., Mitchell, K.,

MONTELEONE, P., MONTELEONE, A. M., MONTGOMERY, G., MORTENSEN, P. B., MUNN-CHERNOFF, M., NACMIAS, B., NAVRATILOVA, M., NORRING, C., NTALLA, I., Olsen, C., Ophoff, R., O'Toole, J., Padyukov, L., Palotie, A., Pan-TEL, J., PAPEZOVA, H., PARKER, R., PEARSON, J., PEDERSEN, N., PETERSEN, L., PINTO, D., PURVES, K., RABIONET, R., RAEVUORI, A., RAMOZ, N., REICHBORN-KJENNERUD, T., RICCA, V., RIPATTI, S., RIPKE, S., RITSCHEL, F., ROBERTS, M., ROTONDO, A., RUJESCU, D., RYBAKOWSKI, F., SANTONASTASO, P., SCHERAG, A., SCHERER, S., SCHMIDT, U., SCHORK, N., SCHOSSER, A., SEITZ, J., SLACHTOVA, L., SLAGBOOM, P. E., 'T LANDT, M. S.-O., SLOPIEN, A., SORBI, S., STROBER, M., STUBER, G., SULLIVAN, P., ŚWIATKOWSKA, B., SZATKIEWICZ, J., TACHMAZI-DOU, I., TENCONI, E., THORNTON, L., TORTORELLA, A., TOZZI, F., TREASURE, J., TSITSIKA, A., TYSZKIEWICZ-NWAFOR, M., TZIOUVAS, K., VAN ELBURG, A., VAN FURTH, E., WADE, T., WAGNER, G., WALTON, E., WATSON, H., WERGE, T., WHITEMAN, D., WIDEN, E., WOODSIDE, D. B., YAO, S., YILMAZ, Z., ZEGGINI, E., ZERWAS, S., ZIPFEL, S., ANTTILA, V., ARTTO, V., BELIN, A. C., DE BOER, I., BOOMSMA, D. I., BØRTE, S., CHASMAN, D. I., CHERKAS, L., CHRISTENSEN, A. F., CORMAND, B., CUENCA-LEON, E., DAVEY-SMITH, G., DICHGANS, M., VAN DUIJN, C., ESKO, T., ESSERLIND, A. L., FERRARI, M., FRANTS, R. R., FREILINGER, T., FURLOTTE, N., GORMLEY, P., GRIFFITHS, L., HAMALAINEN, E., HANSEN, T. F., HIEKKALA, M., IKRAM, M. A., INGASON, A., JÄRVELIN, M.-R., KAJANNE, R., KALLELA, M., KAPRIO, J., KAUNISTO, M., KOGELMAN, L. J. A., KUBISCH, C., KURKI, M., KURTH, T., LAUNER, L., LEHTIMAKI, T., LESSEL, D., LIGTHART, L., LITTERMAN, N., VAN DEN MAAGDENBERG, A., MACAYA, A., MALIK, R., MANGINO, M., McMahon, G., Muller-Myhsok, B., Neale, B. M., Northover, C., Ny-HOLT, D. R., OLESEN, J., PALOTIE, A., PALTA, P., PEDERSEN, L., PEDERSEN, N., POSTHUMA, D., POZO-ROSICH, P., PRESSMAN, A., RAITAKARI, O., SCHÜRKS, M., SINTAS, C., STEFANSSON, K., STEFANSSON, H., STEINBERG, S., STRACHAN, D., TERWINDT, G., VILA-PUEYO, M., WESSMAN, M., WINSVOLD, B. S., ZHAO, H., ZWART, J. A., AGEE, M., ALIPANAHI, B., AUTON, A., BELL, R., BRYC, K.,

ELSON, S., FONTANILLAS, P., FURLOTTE, N., HEILBRON, K., HINDS, D., HUBER,
K., KLEINMAN, A., LITTERMAN, N., MCCREIGHT, J., MCINTYRE, M., MOUNTAIN,
J., NOBLIN, E., NORTHOVER, C., PITTS, S., SATHIRAPONGSASUTI, J., SAZONOVA,
O., SHELTON, J., SHRINGARPURE, S., TIAN, C., TUNG, J., VACIC, V., WILSON, C.,
BRUEGGEMAN, L., BREEN, G., BULIK, C. M., ARENAS, E., HJERLING-LEFFLER,
J., AND SULLIVAN, P. F. Genetic identification of cell types underlying brain complex
traits yields insights into the etiology of parkinson's disease. *Nature Genetics* 52 (5 2020),
482–493. 2.4.4, 2

- [40] BULIK-SULLIVAN, B., LOH, P., AND FINUCANE, H. Ld score regression distinguishes confounding from polygenicity in genome-wide association studies. *Nat Genet* 47, 3, 291–295. 47. 1.1.3, 3.2.11, 4.3.5
- [41] BUTLER, A., HOFFMAN, P., SMIBERT, P., PAPALEXI, E., AND SATIJA, R. Integrating single-cell transcriptomic data across different conditions, technologies, and species. *Nature Biotechnology 36* (5 2018), 411–420. 1.1.3, 2.2.3, 3.2.7
- [42] BUTTERFIELD, D. A., AND HALLIWELL, B. Oxidative stress, dysfunctional glucose metabolism and alzheimer disease. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience 20* (3 2019), 148–160.
 3.1.2
- [43] CA, L., JM, M., T, H., AND MAGMA, P. D. Generalized gene-set analysis of gwas data. PLoS Comput Biol 11, 4. 46. 1.1.3
- [44] CAGLAYAN, E., LIU, Y., AND KONOPKA, G. Neuronal ambient rna contamination causes misinterpreted and masked cell types in brain single-nuclei datasets. *Neuron 110* (12 2022), 4043–4056.e5. 3, 6
- [45] CANNOODT, R., SAELENS, W., AND SAEYS, Y. Computational methods for trajectory inference from single-cell transcriptomics. *Eur J Immunol* 46, 11, 2496–2506. 49. 1.1.3
- [46] CAO, J., SPIELMANN, M., QIU, X., HUANG, X., IBRAHIM, D. M., HILL, A. J., ZHANG, F., MUNDLOS, S., CHRISTIANSEN, L., STEEMERS, F. J., TRAPNELL, C., AND

SHENDURE, J. The single-cell transcriptional landscape of mammalian organogenesis. Nature 566 (2 2019), 496–502. 1.1.3, 3.2.12, 3.3.6

- [47] CAPONIGRO, F., GENNARO, E. D., IONNA, F., LONGO, F., AVERSA, C., PAVONE,
 E., MAGLIONE, M. G., MARZO, M. D., MUTO, P., CAVALCANTI, E., PETRILLO,
 A., SANDOMENICO, F., MAIOLINO, P., D'ANIELLO, R., BOTTI, G., CECIO, R. D.,
 LOSITO, N. S., SCALA, S., TROTTA, A., ZOTTI, A. I., BRUZZESE, F., DAPONTE,
 A., CALOGERO, E., MONTANO, M., PONTONE, M., FEO, G. D., PERRI, F., AND
 BUDILLON, A. Phase ii clinical study of valproic acid plus cisplatin and cetuximab in
 recurrent and/or metastatic squamous cell carcinoma of head and neck-v-chance trial.
 BMC Cancer 16 (12 2016), 918. 4.1.2
- [48] CASILLAS-ESPINOSA, P., POWELL, K., AND ZHU, M. Evaluating whole genome sequence data from the genetic absence epilepsy rat from strasbourg and its related nonepileptic strain. *PLoS One 12*, 7. 271. 4.2.1, 4.3.1
- [49] CHAU, D. K.-F., CHOI, A. Y.-T., YANG, W., LEUNG, W. N., AND CHAN, C. W. Downregulation of glutamatergic and gabaergic proteins in valproric acid associated social impairment during adolescence in mice. *Behavioural Brain Research 316* (1 2017). 4.1.2, 4.1.3
- [50] CHEN, G., GHARIB, T. G., HUANG, C.-C., TAYLOR, J. M., MISEK, D. E., KARDIA, S. L., GIORDANO, T. J., IANNETTONI, M. D., ORRINGER, M. B., HANASH, S. M., AND BEER, D. G. Discordant protein and mrna expression in lung adenocarcinomas. *Molecular Cellular Proteomics 1* (4 2002), 304–313. 5.1.7
- [51] CHEN, Y., LU, J., PAN, H., ZHANG, Y., WU, H., XU, K., LIU, X., JIANG, Y., BAO, X., YAO, Z., DING, K., LO, W. H. Y., QIANG, B., CHAN, P., SHEN, Y., AND WU, X. Association between genetic variation of cacna1h and childhood absence epilepsy. Annals of Neurology 54 (8 2003), 239–243. 1
- [52] CHIA, R., SABIR, M. S., BANDRES-CIGA, S., SAEZ-ATIENZAR, S., REYNOLDS, R. H., GUSTAVSSON, E., WALTON, R. L., AHMED, S., VIOLLET, C., DING, J., MAKARI-

OUS, M. B., DIEZ-FAIREN, M., PORTLEY, M. K., SHAH, Z., ABRAMZON, Y., HER-NANDEZ, D. G., BLAUWENDRAAT, C., STONE, D. J., EICHER, J., PARKKINEN, L., Ansorge, O., Clark, L., Honig, L. S., Marder, K., Lemstra, A., George-Hyslop, P. S., Londos, E., Morgan, K., Lashley, T., Warner, T. T., Jaun-MUKTANE, Z., GALASKO, D., SANTANA, I., TIENARI, P. J., MYLLYKANGAS, L., OINAS, M., CAIRNS, N. J., MORRIS, J. C., HALLIDAY, G. M., DEERLIN, V. M. V., TROJANOWSKI, J. Q., GRASSANO, M., CALVO, A., MORA, G., CANOSA, A., FLORIS, G., BOHANNAN, R. C., BRETT, F., GAN-OR, Z., GEIGER, J. T., MOORE, A., MAY, P., Krüger, R., Goldstein, D. S., Lopez, G., Tayebi, N., Sidransky, E., So-TIS, A. R., SUKUMAR, G., ALBA, C., LOTT, N., MARTINEZ, E. M., TUCK, M., SINGH, J., BACIKOVA, D., ZHANG, X., HUPALO, D. N., ADELEYE, A., WILKERSON, M. D., POLLARD, H. B., NORCLIFFE-KAUFMANN, L., PALMA, J.-A., KAUFMANN, H., SHAKKOTTAI, V. G., PERKINS, M., NEWELL, K. L., GASSER, T., SCHULTE, C., LANDI, F., SALVI, E., CUSI, D., MASLIAH, E., KIM, R. C., CARAWAY, C. A., MONUKI, E. S., BRUNETTI, M., DAWSON, T. M., ROSENTHAL, L. S., ALBERT, M. S., PLETNIKOVA, O., TRONCOSO, J. C., FLANAGAN, M. E., MAO, Q., BIGIO, E. H., RODRÍGUEZ-RODRÍGUEZ, E., INFANTE, J., LAGE, C., GONZÁLEZ-ARAMBURU, I., SANCHEZ-JUAN, P., GHETTI, B., KEITH, J., BLACK, S. E., MASELLIS, M., RO-GAEVA, E., DUYCKAERTS, C., BRICE, A., LESAGE, S., XIROMERISIOU, G., BAR-RETT, M. J., TILLEY, B. S., GENTLEMAN, S., LOGROSCINO, G., SERRANO, G. E., BEACH, T. G., MCKEITH, I. G., THOMAS, A. J., ATTEMS, J., MORRIS, C. M., PALMER, L., LOVE, S., TROAKES, C., AL-SARRAJ, S., HODGES, A. K., AARSLAND, D., KLEIN, G., KAISER, S. M., WOLTJER, R., PASTOR, P., BEKRIS, L. M., LEV-ERENZ, J. B., BESSER, L. M., KUZMA, A., RENTON, A. E., GOATE, A., BENNETT, D. A., SCHERZER, C. R., MORRIS, H. R., FERRARI, R., ALBANI, D., PICKERING-BROWN, S., FABER, K., KUKULL, W. A., MORENAS-RODRIGUEZ, E., LLEÓ, A., FORTEA, J., ALCOLEA, D., CLARIMON, J., NALLS, M. A., FERRUCCI, L., RESNICK, S. M., TANAKA, T., FOROUD, T. M., GRAFF-RADFORD, N. R., WSZOLEK, Z. K., FERMAN, T., BOEVE, B. F., HARDY, J. A., TOPOL, E. J., TORKAMANI, A., SIN-

GLETON, A. B., RYTEN, M., DICKSON, D. W., CHIÒ, A., ROSS, O. A., GIBBS, J. R., DALGARD, C. L., TRAYNOR, B. J., AND SCHOLZ, S. W. Genome sequencing analysis identifies new loci associated with lewy body dementia and provides insights into its genetic architecture. *Nature Genetics* 53 (3 2021), 294–303. 2.1.2

- [53] CHRISTENSEN, J., GRØNBORG, T. K., SØRENSEN, M. J., SCHENDEL, D., PARNER, E. T., PEDERSEN, L. H., AND VESTERGAARD, M. Prenatal valproate exposure and risk of autism spectrum disorders and childhood autism. JAMA 309 (4 2013), 1696. 4.1.2
- [54] CLARK, L. N., KARTSAKLIS, L. A., GILBERT, R. W., DORADO, B., ROSS, B. M., KISSELEV, S., VERBITSKY, M., MEJIA-SANTANA, H., COTE, L. J., ANDREWS, H., VONSATTEL, J.-P., FAHN, S., MAYEUX, R., HONIG, L. S., AND MARDER, K. Association of glucocerebrosidase mutations with dementia with lewy bodies. Archives of neurology 66 (5 2009), 578–83. 2.1.2
- [55] CLINTON, L. K., BLURTON-JONES, M., MYCZEK, K., TROJANOWSKI, J. Q., AND LAFERLA, F. M. Synergistic interactions between abeta, tau, and alpha-synuclein: acceleration of neuropathology and cognitive decline. *The Journal of neuroscience : the* official journal of the Society for Neuroscience 30 (5 2010), 7281–9. 2.1.1
- [56] CLOONAN, N., FORREST, A., AND KOLLE, G. Stem cell transcriptome profiling via massive-scale mrna sequencing. Nat Methods 5, 7, 613–619. 2. 1
- [57] COMPTA, Y., PARKKINEN, L., KEMPSTER, P., SELIKHOVA, M., LASHLEY, T., HOLTON, J. L., LEES, A. J., AND REVESZ, T. The significance of -synuclein, amyloidand tau pathologies in parkinson's disease progression and related dementia. *Neurode*generative Diseases 13 (2014), 154–156. 2.1.1, 1
- [58] CONESA, A., MADRIGAL, P., TARAZONA, S., GOMEZ-CABRERO, D., CERVERA, A., MCPHERSON, A., SZCZEŚNIAK, M. W., GAFFNEY, D. J., ELO, L. L., ZHANG, X., AND MORTAZAVI, A. A survey of best practices for rna-seq data analysis. *Genome Biology* 17 (12 2016), 13. 1.1.2

- [59] CONSORTIUM, . G. P., ET AL. An integrated map of genetic variation from 1,092 human genomes. *Nature 491*, 7422 (2012), 56. 2.2.9
- [60] CONSORTIUM, I. H. ., ET AL. Integrating common and rare genetic variation in diverse human populations. *Nature* 467, 7311 (2010), 52. 2.2.9
- [61] CONSORTIUM, T. Creating the gene ontology resource: Design and implementation. Genome Res 11, 8, 1425–1433. 43. 1.1.3
- [62] COUGHLIN, D. G., HURTIG, H. I., AND IRWIN, D. J. Pathological influences on clinical heterogeneity in lewy body diseases. *Movement disorders : official journal of the Movement Disorder Society 35* (1 2020), 5–19. 2.1, 2.1.1
- [63] CUI, K., WANG, Y., ZHU, Y., TAO, T., YIN, F., GUO, Y., LIU, H., LI, F., WANG, P., CHEN, Y., AND QIN, J. Neurodevelopmental impairment induced by prenatal valproic acid exposure shown with the human cortical organoid-on-a-chip model. *Mi*crosystems Nanoengineering 6 (12 2020). 4.1.3, 3, 4.3.7, 4.4
- [64] DANG, J., TIWARI, S. K., AGRAWAL, K., HUI, H., QIN, Y., AND RANA, T. M. Glial cell diversity and methamphetamine-induced neuroinflammation in human cerebral organoids. *Molecular Psychiatry 26* (4 2021), 1194–1207. 4.1.2
- [65] DAUGAARD, C. A., PEDERSEN, L., SUN, Y., DREIER, J. W., AND CHRISTENSEN, J. Association of prenatal exposure to valproate and other antiepileptic drugs with intellectual disability and delayed childhood milestones. JAMA Network Open 3 (11 2020), e2025570. 4.1.2
- [66] DAY, J. O., AND MULLIN, S. The genetics of parkinson's disease and implications for clinical practice. *Genes 12* (6 2021), 1006. 2.1.2
- [67] DE LEEUW, C. A., MOOIJ, J. M., HESKES, T., AND POSTHUMA, D. Magma: generalized gene-set analysis of gwas data. *PLoS computational biology 11*, 4 (2015), e1004219.
 3.2.11

- [68] DE LICHTENBERG, U., JENSEN, L. J., BRUNAK, S., AND BORK, P. Dynamic complex formation during the yeast cell cycle. *science* 307, 5710 (2005), 724–727. 5.1.7
- [69] DEMONTIS, D., WALTERS, R. K., MARTIN, J., MATTHEISEN, M., ALS, T. D., AGERBO, E., BALDURSSON, G., BELLIVEAU, R., BYBJERG-GRAUHOLM, J., BÆKVAD-HANSEN, M., CERRATO, F., CHAMBERT, K., CHURCHHOUSE, C., DUMONT, A., ERIKSSON, N., GANDAL, M., GOLDSTEIN, J. I., GRASBY, K. L., GROVE, J., GUDMUNDSSON, O. O., HANSEN, C. S., HAUBERG, M. E., HOLLEGAARD, M. V., HOWRIGAN, D. P., HUANG, H., MALLER, J. B., MARTIN, A. R., MARTIN, N. G., MORAN, J., PALLESEN, J., PALMER, D. S., PEDERSEN, C. B., PEDERSEN, M. G., POTERBA, T., POULSEN, J. B., RIPKE, S., ROBINSON, E. B., SATTERSTROM, F. K., STEFANSSON, H., STEVENS, C., TURLEY, P., WALTERS, G. B., WON, H., WRIGHT, M. J., ANDREASSEN, O. A., ASHERSON, P., BURTON, C. L., BOOMSMA, D. I., CORMAND, B., DALSGAARD, S., FRANKE, B., GELERNTER, J., GESCHWIND, D., HAKONARSON, H., HAAVIK, J., KRANZLER, H. R., KUNTSI, J., LANGLEY, K., LESCH, K.-P., MIDDELDORP, C., REIF, A., ROHDE, L. A., ROUSSOS, P., SCHACHAR, R., SKLAR, P., SONUGA-BARKE, E. J. S., SULLIVAN, P. F., THAPAR, A., TUNG, J. Y., WALDMAN, I. D., MEDLAND, S. E., STEFANSSON, K., NOR-DENTOFT, M., HOUGAARD, D. M., WERGE, T., MORS, O., MORTENSEN, P. B., DALY, M. J., FARAONE, S. V., BØRGLUM, A. D., AND NEALE, B. M. Discovery of the first genome-wide significant risk loci for attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Nature Genetics 51 (1 2019). 4.2.5, 4.3.5
- [70] DETURE, M. A., AND DICKSON, D. W. The neuropathological diagnosis of alzheimer's disease. *Molecular Neurodegeneration* 14 (12 2019), 32. 3.1.1, 3.1.2
- [71] DEVOS, S. L., CORJUC, B. T., OAKLEY, D. H., NOBUHARA, C. K., BANNON,
 R. N., CHASE, A., COMMINS, C., GONZALEZ, J. A., DOOLEY, P. M., FROSCH,
 M. P., AND HYMAN, B. T. Synaptic tau seeding precedes tau pathology in human alzheimer's disease brain. *Frontiers in Neuroscience 12* (4 2018). 3.1.2

- [72] DICKSON, D. Neuropathological diagnosis of alzheimer's disease: A perspective from longitudinal clinicopathological studies. *Neurobiology of Aging 18* (7 1997), S21–S26.
 3.1.2
- [73] DIVO, M. J., MARTINEZ, C. H., AND MANNINO, D. M. Ageing and the epidemiology of multimorbidity. *European Respiratory Journal* 44 (10 2014), 1055–1068. 5.1.4
- [74] DO, J., MCKINNEY, C., SHARMA, P., AND SIDRANSKY, E. Glucocerebrosidase and its relevance to parkinson disease. *Molecular Neurodegeneration* 14 (12 2019), 36. 2.1.2, 2.4.1
- [75] DOBIN, A., DAVIS, C. A., SCHLESINGER, F., DRENKOW, J., ZALESKI, C., JHA, S., BATUT, P., CHAISSON, M., AND GINGERAS, T. R. Star: ultrafast universal rna-seq aligner. *Bioinformatics 29* (1 2013). 1.1.3, 4.2.2
- [76] DOMÍNGUEZ-ITURZA, N., LO, A. C., SHAH, D., ARMENDÁRIZ, M., VANNELLI, A., MERCALDO, V., TRUSEL, M., LI, K. W., GASTALDO, D., SANTOS, A. R., ET AL. The autism-and schizophrenia-associated protein cyfip1 regulates bilateral brain connectivity and behaviour. *Nature communications 10*, 1 (2019), 3454.
- [77] DOOLEY, T., V., C. E., AND REDDY, S. Regulation of gene expression in inflammatory bowel disease and correlation with ibd drugs. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 10, 1, 1–14. 3. 1
- [78] DUNCKLEY, T., BEACH, T. G., RAMSEY, K. E., GROVER, A., MASTROENI, D., WALKER, D. G., LAFLEUR, B. J., COON, K. D., BROWN, K. M., CASELLI, R., KUKULL, W., HIGDON, R., MCKEEL, D., MORRIS, J. C., HULETTE, C., SCHMECHEL, D., REIMAN, E. M., ROGERS, J., AND STEPHAN, D. A. Gene expression correlates of neurofibrillary tangles in alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiology of Aging* 27 (10 2006), 1359–1371. 1, 1
- [79] DURINCK, S., SPELLMAN, P. T., BIRNEY, E., AND HUBER, W. Mapping identifiers for the integration of genomic datasets with the r/bioconductor package biomart. *Nature Protocols* 4 (8 2009), 1184–1191. 2

- [80] EHLERS, K., ELMAZAR, M. M. A., AND NAU, H. Methionine reduces the valproic acidinduced spina bifida rate in mice without altering valproic acid kinetics. *The Journal of Nutrition 126* (1 1996), 67–75. 4.4.5
- [81] EMRE, M., AARSLAND, D., BROWN, R., BURN, D. J., DUYCKAERTS, C., MIZUNO, Y., BROE, G. A., CUMMINGS, J., DICKSON, D. W., GAUTHIER, S., GOLDMAN, J., GOETZ, C., KORCZYN, A., LEES, A., LEVY, R., LITVAN, I., MCKEITH, I., OLANOW, W., POEWE, W., QUINN, N., SAMPAIO, C., TOLOSA, E., AND DUBOIS, B. Clinical diagnostic criteria for dementia associated with parkinson's disease. *Movement Disorders* 22 (9 2007), 1689–1707. 1.2.2, 2.2.1
- [82] ENGELHARDT, E., AND DA MOTA GOMES, M. Lewy and his inclusion bodies: Discovery and rejection. *Dementia Neuropsychologia* 11 (6 2017), 198–201. 2.1
- [83] ESCAYG, A., AND GOLDIN, A. Sodium channel scn1a and epilepsy: Mutations and mechanisms. *Epilepsia* 51, 9, 1650–1658. 1.2.1
- [84] EXTANCE, A. Alzheimer's failure raises questions about disease-modifying strategies. Nature Reviews Drug Discovery 9 (10 2010), 749–751. 3.1.5
- [85] FABRIS, F., DE MAGALHÃES, J. P., AND FREITAS, A. A. A review of supervised machine learning applied to ageing research. *Biogerontology* 18 (4 2017), 171–188. 2
- [86] FELEKE, R., JAZAYERI, D., ABOUZEID, M., POWELL, K. L., SRIVASTAVA, P. K., O'BRIEN, T. J., JONES, N. C., AND JOHNSON, M. R. Integrative genomics reveals pathogenic mediator of valproate-induced neurodevelopmental disability. *Brain 145* (11 2022), 3832–3842. 4.4, 4.5, 4.7
- [87] FELEKE, R., REYNOLDS, R. H., SMITH, A. M., TILLEY, B., TALIUN, S. A. G., HARDY, J., MATTHEWS, P. M., GENTLEMAN, S., OWEN, D. R., JOHNSON, M. R., SRIVASTAVA, P. K., AND RYTEN, M. Cross-platform transcriptional profiling identifies common and distinct molecular pathologies in lewy body diseases. *Acta neuropathologica* 142 (9 2021), 449–474. 2.3

- [88] FINAK, G., MCDAVID, A., AND YAJIMA, M. Mast: a flexible statistical framework for assessing transcriptional changes and characterizing heterogeneity in single-cell rna sequencing data. *Genome Biol 16*, 1. 37. 1.1.3
- [89] FINAK, G., MCDAVID, A., YAJIMA, M., DENG, J., GERSUK, V., SHALEK, A. K., SLICHTER, C. K., MILLER, H. W., MCELRATH, M. J., PRLIC, M., LINSLEY, P. S., AND GOTTARDO, R. Mast: a flexible statistical framework for assessing transcriptional changes and characterizing heterogeneity in single-cell rna sequencing data. *Genome Biology 16* (12 2015), 278. 1.1.3, 2.2.7, 2.4, 3.2.9
- [90] FINUCANE, H. K., BULIK-SULLIVAN, B., GUSEV, A., TRYNKA, G., RESHEF, Y., LOH, P.-R., ANTTILA, V., XU, H., ZANG, C., FARH, K., RIPKE, S., DAY, F. R., PURCELL, S., STAHL, E., LINDSTROM, S., PERRY, J. R. B., OKADA, Y., RAY-CHAUDHURI, S., DALY, M. J., PATTERSON, N., NEALE, B. M., AND PRICE, A. L. Partitioning heritability by functional annotation using genome-wide association summary statistics. *Nature Genetics* 47 (11 2015), 1228–1235. 2.2.9, 3.2.11
- [91] FLEMING, S. J., MARIONI, J. C., AND BABADI, M. Cellbender remove-background: a deep generative model for unsupervised removal of background noise from scrna-seq datasets. *BioRxiv* 791699 (2019). 3.2.7
- [92] FRANCÉS, L., QUINTERO, J., AND FERNÁNDEZ, A. Current state of knowledge on the prevalence of neurodevelopmental disorders in childhood according to the dsm-5: a systematic review in accordance with the prisma criteria. *Child Adolesc Psychiatry Ment Health 16*, 1. 58. 1.2.1, 4.1
- [93] FRIEDMAN, B., SRINIVASAN, K., AND AYALON, G. Diverse brain myeloid expression profiles reveal distinct microglial activation states and aspects of alzheimer 's disease not evident in mouse models resource diverse brain myeloid expression profiles reveal distinct microglial activation states and asp. *CellReports 22*, 3, 832–847. 14. 1.1.1
- [94] G, M., K, S., AND A, F. Molecular architecture of the developing mouse brain. Nature 596, 7870. 283. 4.2.6

- [95] GAN, J., CHEN, Z., SHI, Z., LI, X., LIU, S., LIU, Y., ZHU, H., SHEN, L., ZHANG, G., YOU, Y., GUO, Q., ZHANG, N., LV, Y., GANG, B., YUAN, J., AND JI, Y. Sex differences in clinical cognitive impairment with lewy bodies: a chinese multicenter study. *Biology of Sex Differences 13* (10 2022), 55. 5.1.4
- [96] GANDAL, M. J., ZHANG, P., HADJIMICHAEL, E., WALKER, R. L., CHEN, C., LIU, S., WON, H., VAN BAKEL, H., VARGHESE, M., WANG, Y., SHIEH, A. W., HANEY, J., PARHAMI, S., BELMONT, J., KIM, M., LOSADA, P. M., KHAN, Z., MLECZKO, J., XIA, Y., DAI, R., WANG, D., YANG, Y. T., XU, M., FISH, K., HOF, P. R., WAR-RELL, J., FITZGERALD, D., WHITE, K., JAFFE, A. E., PETERS, M. A., GERSTEIN, M., LIU, C., IAKOUCHEVA, L. M., PINTO, D., GESCHWIND, D. H., ASHLEY-KOCH, A. E., CRAWFORD, G. E., GARRETT, M. E., SONG, L., SAFI, A., JOHNSON, G. D., WRAY, G. A., REDDY, T. E., GOES, F. S., ZANDI, P., BRYOIS, J., JAFFE, A. E., PRICE, A. J., IVANOV, N. A., COLLADO-TORRES, L., HYDE, T. M., BURKE, E. E., KLEIMAN, J. E., TAO, R., SHIN, J. H., AKBARIAN, S., GIRDHAR, K., JIANG, Y., KUNDAKOVIC, M., BROWN, L., KASSIM, B. S., PARK, R. B., WISEMAN, J. R., ZHAROVSKY, E., JACOBOV, R., DEVILLERS, O., FLATOW, E., HOFFMAN, G. E., LIPSKA, B. K., LEWIS, D. A., HAROUTUNIAN, V., HAHN, C.-G., CHARNEY, A. W., DRACHEVA, S., KOZLENKOV, A., BELMONT, J., DELVALLE, D., FRANCOEUR, N., HADJIMICHAEL, E., PINTO, D., VAN BAKEL, H., ROUSSOS, P., FULLARD, J. F., BENDL, J., HAUBERG, M. E., MANGRAVITE, L. M., PETERS, M. A., CHAE, Y., PENG, J., NIU, M., WANG, X., WEBSTER, M. J., BEACH, T. G., CHEN, C., JIANG, Y., DAI, R., SHIEH, A. W., LIU, C., GRENNAN, K. S., XIA, Y., VADUKAPURAM, R., WANG, Y., FITZGERALD, D., CHENG, L., BROWN, M., BROWN, M., BRUNETTI, T., GOODMAN, T., ALSAYED, M., GANDAL, M. J., GESCHWIND, D. H., WON, H., PO-LIOUDAKIS, D., WAMSLEY, B., YIN, J., HADZIC, T., UBIETA, L. D. L. T., SWARUP, V., SANDERS, S. J., STATE, M. W., WERLING, D. M., AN, J.-Y., SHEPPARD, B., WILLSEY, A. J., WHITE, K. P., RAY, M., GIASE, G., KEFI, A., MATTEI, E., PUR-CARO, M., WENG, Z., MOORE, J., PRATT, H., HUEY, J., BORRMAN, T., SULLIVAN, P. F., GIUSTI-RODRIGUEZ, P., KIM, Y., SULLIVAN, P., SZATKIEWICZ, J., RHIE,

S. K., ARMOSKUS, C., CAMARENA, A., FARNHAM, P. J., SPITSYNA, V. N., WITT, H., SCHREINER, S., EVGRAFOV, O. V., KNOWLES, J. A., GERSTEIN, M., LIU, S., WANG, D., NAVARRO, F. C. P., WARRELL, J., CLARKE, D., EMANI, P. S., GU, M., SHI, X., XU, M., YANG, Y. T., KITCHEN, R. R., GÜRSOY, G., ZHANG, J., CAR-LYLE, B. C., NAIRN, A. C., LI, M., POCHAREDDY, S., SESTAN, N., SKARICA, M., LI, Z., SOUSA, A. M. M., SANTPERE, G., CHOI, J., ZHU, Y., GAO, T., MILLER, D. J., CHERSKOV, A., YANG, M., AMIRI, A., COPPOLA, G., MARIANI, J., SCUDERI, S., SZEKELY, A., VACCARINO, F. M., WU, F., WEISSMAN, S., ROYCHOWDHURY, T., AND ABYZOV, A. Transcriptome-wide isoform-level dysregulation in asd, schizophrenia, and bipolar disorder. *Science 362* (12 2018). 2

- [97] GARCIA, A. X., XU, J., CHENG, F., RUPPIN, E., AND SCHÄFFER, A. A. Altered gene expression in excitatory neurons is associated with alzheimer's disease and its higher incidence in women. *Alzheimer's Dementia: Translational Research Clinical Interventions* 9 (1 2023). 1
- [98] GEAN, P.-W., HUANG, C.-C., HUNG, C.-R., AND TSAI, J.-J. Valproic acid suppresses the synaptic response mediated by the nmda receptors in rat amygdalar slices. *Brain Research Bulletin 33* (1 1994), 333–336. 4.1.2
- [99] GERSON, J., CASTILLO-CARRANZA, D. L., SENGUPTA, U., BODANI, R., PROUGH, D. S., DEWITT, D. S., HAWKINS, B. E., AND KAYED, R. Tau oligomers derived from traumatic brain injury cause cognitive impairment and accelerate onset of pathology in htau mice. *Journal of Neurotrauma 33* (11 2016), 2034–2043. 3.1.2
- [100] GEUT, H., HEPP, D. H., FONCKE, E., BERENDSE, H. W., ROZEMULLER, J. M., HUITINGA, I., AND VAN DE BERG, W. D. J. Neuropathological correlates of parkinsonian disorders in a large dutch autopsy series. Acta Neuropathologica Communications 8 (12 2020), 39. 2.1.1
- [101] GOETZ, C. The history of parkinson's disease: Early clinical descriptions and neurological therapies. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med 1, 1. 79. 2.1

- [102] GOKCAL, E., GUR, V. E., SELVITOP, R., YILDIZ, G. B., AND ASIL, T. Motor and non-motor symptoms in parkinson's disease: Effects on quality of life. Noro Psikiyatri Arsivi 54 (6 2017), 143–148. 2.1
- [103] GOLDMAN, S. M., MAREK, K., OTTMAN, R., MENG, C., COMYNS, K., CHAN, P., MA, J., MARRAS, C., LANGSTON, J. W., ROSS, G. W., AND TANNER, C. M. Concordance for parkinson's disease in twins: A 20-year update. *Annals of Neurology 85* (4 2019), 600–605. 2.1.3
- [104] GOMPERTS, S. N. Lewy body dementias: Dementia with lewy bodies and parkinson disease dementia. *Continuum (Minneapolis, Minn.)* 22 (4 2016), 435–63. 1
- [105] GROVE, J., RIPKE, S., ALS, T. D., MATTHEISEN, M., WALTERS, R. K., WON, H., PALLESEN, J., AGERBO, E., ANDREASSEN, O. A., ANNEY, R., AWASHTI, S., BEL-LIVEAU, R., BETTELLA, F., BUXBAUM, J. D., BYBJERG-GRAUHOLM, J., BÆKVAD-HANSEN, M., CERRATO, F., CHAMBERT, K., CHRISTENSEN, J. H., CHURCHHOUSE, C., Dellenvall, K., Demontis, D., Rubeis, S. D., Devlin, B., Djurovic, S., DUMONT, A. L., GOLDSTEIN, J. I., HANSEN, C. S., HAUBERG, M. E., HOLLE-GAARD, M. V., HOPE, S., HOWRIGAN, D. P., HUANG, H., HULTMAN, C. M., KLEI, L., MALLER, J., MARTIN, J., MARTIN, A. R., MORAN, J. L., NYEGAARD, M., Nærland, T., Palmer, D. S., Palotie, A., Pedersen, C. B., Pedersen, M. G., DPOTERBA, T., POULSEN, J. B., POURCAIN, B. S., QVIST, P., REHNSTRÖM, K., REICHENBERG, A., REICHERT, J., ROBINSON, E. B., ROEDER, K., ROUSSOS, P., SAEMUNDSEN, E., SANDIN, S., SATTERSTROM, F. K., SMITH, G. D., STEFANS-SON, H., STEINBERG, S., STEVENS, C. R., SULLIVAN, P. F., TURLEY, P., WAL-TERS, G. B., XU, X., STEFANSSON, K., GESCHWIND, D. H., NORDENTOFT, M., HOUGAARD, D. M., WERGE, T., MORS, O., MORTENSEN, P. B., NEALE, B. M., DALY, M. J., AND BØRGLUM, A. D. Identification of common genetic risk variants for autism spectrum disorder. Nature Genetics 51 (3 2019). 4.2.5, 4.3.5
- [106] GUERREIRO, R., ROSS, O. A., KUN-RODRIGUES, C., HERNANDEZ, D. G., ORME, T., EICHER, J. D., SHEPHERD, C. E., PARKKINEN, L., DARWENT, L., HECKMAN,

M. G., SCHOLZ, S. W., TRONCOSO, J. C., PLETNIKOVA, O., ANSORGE, O., CLARI-MON, J., LLEO, A., MORENAS-RODRIGUEZ, E., CLARK, L., HONIG, L. S., MARDER,
K., LEMSTRA, A., ROGAEVA, E., GEORGE-HYSLOP, P. S., LONDOS, E., ZETTER-BERG, H., BARBER, I., BRAAE, A., BROWN, K., MORGAN, K., TROAKES, C., AL-SARRAJ, S., LASHLEY, T., HOLTON, J., COMPTA, Y., DEERLIN, V. V., SERRANO,
G. E., BEACH, T. G., LESAGE, S., GALASKO, D., MASLIAH, E., SANTANA, I.,
PASTOR, P., DIEZ-FAIREN, M., AGUILAR, M., TIENARI, P. J., MYLLYKANGAS, L.,
OINAS, M., REVESZ, T., LEES, A., BOEVE, B. F., PETERSEN, R. C., FERMAN,
T. J., ESCOTT-PRICE, V., GRAFF-RADFORD, N., CAIRNS, N. J., MORRIS, J. C.,
PICKERING-BROWN, S., MANN, D., HALLIDAY, G. M., HARDY, J., TROJANOWSKI,
J. Q., DICKSON, D. W., SINGLETON, A., STONE, D. J., AND BRAS, J. Investigating the genetic architecture of dementia with lewy bodies: a two-stage genome-wide association study. *The Lancet. Neurology 17* (1 2018), 64–74. 2.1.3

- [107] GUO, P., GONG, W., LI, Y., LIU, L., YAN, R., WANG, Y., ZHANG, Y., AND YUAN,
 Z. Pinpointing novel risk loci for lewy body dementia and the shared genetic etiology with alzheimer's disease and parkinson's disease: a large-scale multi-trait association analysis.
 BMC Medicine 20 (12 2022), 214. 2.1.2
- [108] GYGI, S. P., ROCHON, Y., FRANZA, B. R., AND AEBERSOLD, R. Correlation between protein and mrna abundance in yeast. *Molecular and Cellular Biology 19* (3 1999), 1720– 1730. 5.1.7
- [109] HABELA, C. W., SONG, H., AND LI MING, G. Modeling synaptogenesis in schizophrenia and autism using human ipsc derived neurons. *Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience* 73 (6 2016), 52–62. 1
- [110] HABIB, N., AVRAHAM-DAVIDI, I., AND BASU, A. Massively parallel single-nucleus rna-seq with dronc-seq. Nat Methods 14, 10, 955–958. 17. 1.1.1
- [111] HABIB, N., MCCABE, C., MEDINA, S., VARSHAVSKY, M., KITSBERG, D., DVIR-SZTERNFELD, R., GREEN, G., DIONNE, D., NGUYEN, L., MARSHALL, J. L., CHEN,

F., ZHANG, F., KAPLAN, T., REGEV, A., AND SCHWARTZ, M. Disease-associated astrocytes in alzheimer's disease and aging. *Nature Neuroscience 23* (6 2020), 701–706. 5.1.6

- [112] HAFEMEISTER, C., AND SATIJA, R. Normalization and variance stabilization of singlecell rna-seq data using regularized negative binomial regression. *Genome Biology 20* (12 2019), 296. 1.1.3, 3.2.8, 1
- [113] HAGHVERDI, L., LUN, A., MORGAN, M., AND MARIONI, J. Batch effects in single-cell rna-sequencing data are corrected by matching mutual nearest neighbors. *Nat Biotechnol* 36, 5, 421–427. 26. 1.1.3
- [114] HAIDER, S., AND PAL, R. Integrated analysis of transcriptomic and proteomic data. Current Genomics 14 (2 2013), 91–110. 5.1.7
- [115] HALBSGUT, L. R., FAHIM, E., KAPOOR, K., HONG, H., AND FRIEDMAN, L. K. Certain secondary antiepileptic drugs can rescue hippocampal injury following a critical growth period despite poor anticonvulsant activity and cognitive deficits. *Epilepsy Behavior 29* (12 2013), 466–477. 4.1.2
- [116] HARVEY, P. Domains of cognition and their assessment. Dialogues Clin Neurosci 21, 3, 227–237. 54. 1.2
- [117] HEATHER, J., AND CHAIN, B. The sequence of sequencers: The history of sequencing dna. Genomics 107, 1, 1–8. 12. 1.1.1
- [118] HEILBRON, K., JENSEN, M. P., BANDRES-CIGA, S., FONTANILLAS, P., BLAUWEN-DRAAT, C., NALLS, M. A., SINGLETON, A. B., SMITH, G. D., CANNON, P., AND NOYCE, A. J. Unhealthy behaviours and risk of parkinson's disease: A mendelian randomisation study. *Journal of Parkinson's Disease 11* (10 2021), 1981–1993. 2.1.3
- [119] HEPP, D. H., VERGOOSSEN, D. L., HUISMAN, E., LEMSTRA, A. W., BERENDSE, H. W., ROZEMULLER, A. J., FONCKE, E. M., AND VAN DE BERG, W. D. Distribution and load of amyloid- pathology in parkinson disease and dementia with lewy bodies. Journal of Neuropathology Experimental Neurology 75 (10 2016), 936–945. 2.1.1

- [120] HOANG, T., WANG, J., AND BOYD, P. Gene regulatory networks controlling vertebrate retinal regeneration. *Science*, 2020 370 6519. 5. 1
- [121] HOLLESTEIN, V., POELMANS, G., FORDE, N. J., BECKMANN, C. F., ECKER, C., MANN, C., SCHÄFER, T., MOESSNANG, C., BAUMEISTER, S., BANASCHEWSKI, T., BOURGERON, T., LOTH, E., DELL'ACQUA, F., MURPHY, D. G. M., PUTS, N. A., TILLMANN, J., CHARMAN, T., JONES, E. J. H., MASON, L., AMBROSINO, S., HOLT, R., BÖLTE, S., BUITELAAR, J. K., AND NAAIJEN, J. Excitatory/inhibitory imbalance in autism: the role of glutamate and gaba gene-sets in symptoms and cortical brain structure. *Translational Psychiatry 13* (1 2023), 18. 2
- [122] HOOD, L., AND ROWEN, L. The human genome project: big science transforms biology and medicine. *Genome Med* 5, 9. 10. 1.1
- [123] НООК, Р., MCCLYMONT, S., AND CANNON, G. Single-cell rna-seq of mouse dopaminergic neurons informs candidate gene selection for sporadic parkinson disease. Am J Hum Genet 102, 3, 427–446. 15. 1.1.1
- [124] HOU, Y., DAN, X., BABBAR, M., WEI, Y., HASSELBALCH, S. G., CROTEAU, D. L., AND BOHR, V. A. Ageing as a risk factor for neurodegenerative disease. *Nature Reviews Neurology 15* (10 2019), 565–581. 1.2.2, 5.1.4
- [125] HSIEH, Y.-C., GUO, C., YALAMANCHILI, H. K., ABREHA, M., AL-OURAN, R., LI, Y., DAMMER, E. B., LAH, J. J., LEVEY, A. I., BENNETT, D. A., JAGER, P. L. D., SEYFRIED, N. T., LIU, Z., AND SHULMAN, J. M. Tau-mediated disruption of the spliceosome triggers cryptic rna splicing and neurodegeneration in alzheimer's disease. *Cell Reports 29* (10 2019), 301–316.e10. 3, 1
- [126] HSU, Y.-T., CHANG, Y.-G., AND CHERN, Y. Insights into gaba jsub¿aj/sub¿ ergic system alteration in huntington's disease. Open Biology 8 (12 2018). 2
- [127] HWANG, B., LEE, J. H., AND BANG, D. Single-cell rna sequencing technologies and bioinformatics pipelines. *Experimental Molecular Medicine* 50 (8 2018), 1–14. 1.1.3, 5.1.5

- [128] HYMAN, B. Tau propagation, different tau phenotypes, and prion-like properties of tau. Neuron 82 (6 2014), 1189–1190. 3.1.3
- [129] HYMAN, S. L. Mental retardation, 2007. 1.2.1
- [130] IKEDA, M., KAWARAI, T., KAWARABAYASHI, T., MATSUBARA, E., MURAKAMI, T., SASAKI, A., TOMIDOKORO, Y., IKARASHI, Y., KURIBARA, H., ISHIGURO, K., HASEGAWA, M., YEN, S.-H., CHISHTI, M. A., HARIGAYA, Y., ABE, K., OKAMOTO, K., GEORGE-HYSLOP, P. S., WESTAWAY, D., AND SHOJI[†], M. Accumulation of filamentous tau in the cerebral cortex of human tau r406w transgenic mice. *The American Journal of Pathology 166* (2 2005), 521–531. 3.1.2
- [131] IRWIN, D. J., WHITE, M. T., TOLEDO, J. B., XIE, S. X., ROBINSON, J. L., DEER-LIN, V. V., LEE, V. M.-Y., LEVERENZ, J. B., MONTINE, T. J., DUDA, J. E., HURTIG, H. I., AND TROJANOWSKI, J. Q. Neuropathologic substrates of parkinson disease dementia. Annals of Neurology 72 (10 2012), 587–598. 2.1.4, 1
- [132] IWAKI, H., BLAUWENDRAAT, C., LEONARD, H. L., LIU, G., MAPLE-GRØDEM, J., CORVOL, J.-C., PIHLSTRØM, L., VAN NIMWEGEN, M., HUTTEN, S. J., NGUYEN, K.-D. H., RICK, J., EBERLY, S., FAGHRI, F., AUINGER, P., SCOTT, K. M., WI-JEYEKOON, R., DEERLIN, V. M. V., HERNANDEZ, D. G., DAY-WILLIAMS, A. G., BRICE, A., ALVES, G., NOYCE, A. J., TYSNES, O.-B., EVANS, J. R., BREEN, D. P., ESTRADA, K., WEGEL, C. E., DANJOU, F., SIMON, D. K., RAVINA, B., TOFT, M., HEUTINK, P., BLOEM, B. R., WEINTRAUB, D., BARKER, R. A., WILLIAMS-GRAY, C. H., VAN DE WARRENBURG, B. P., HILTEN, J. J. V., SCHERZER, C. R., SINGLE-TON, A. B., AND NALLS, M. A. Genetic risk of parkinson disease and progression: Neurology Genetics 5 (8 2019), e348. 2.1.2, 2
- [133] JAGADEESH, K. A., DEY, K. K., MONTORO, D. T., MOHAN, R., GAZAL, S., ENGRE-ITZ, J. M., XAVIER, R. J., PRICE, A. L., AND REGEV, A. Identifying disease-critical cell types and cellular processes by integrating single-cell rna-sequencing and human genetics. *Nature Genetics* 54 (10 2022), 1479–1492. 1

- [134] JANSEN, I. E., SAVAGE, J. E., WATANABE, K., BRYOIS, J., WILLIAMS, D. M., STEINBERG, S., SEALOCK, J., KARLSSON, I. K., HÄGG, S., ATHANASIU, L., VOYLE, N., PROITSI, P., WITOELAR, A., STRINGER, S., AARSLAND, D., ALM-DAHL, I. S., ANDERSEN, F., BERGH, S., BETTELLA, F., BJORNSSON, S., BRÆKHUS, A., BRÅTHEN, G., DE LEEUW, C., DESIKAN, R. S., DJUROVIC, S., DUMITRESCU, L., FLADBY, T., HOHMAN, T. J., JONSSON, P. V., KIDDLE, S. J., RONGVE, A., SALTVEDT, I., SANDO, S. B., SELBÆK, G., SHOAI, M., SKENE, N. G., SNAEDAL, J., STORDAL, E., ULSTEIN, I. D., WANG, Y., WHITE, L. R., HARDY, J., HJERLING-LEFFLER, J., SULLIVAN, P. F., VAN DER FLIER, W. M., DOBSON, R., DAVIS, L. K., STEFANSSON, H., STEFANSSON, K., PEDERSEN, N. L., RIPKE, S., ANDREASSEN, O. A., AND POSTHUMA, D. Genome-wide meta-analysis identifies new loci and functional pathways influencing alzheimer's disease risk. *Nature Genetics 51* (3 2019), 404– 413. 2.2.9, 2.3.7
- [135] JAZAYERI, D., BRAINE, E., MCDONALD, S., DWORKIN, S., POWELL, K. L., GRIGGS, K., VAJDA, F. J. E., O'BRIEN, T. J., AND JONES, N. C. A rat model of valproate teratogenicity from chronic oral treatment during pregnancy. *Epilepsia 61* (6 2020), 1291–1300. 4.1.3, 4.2.1, 4.3.1, 4.3.3, 4.4
- [136] JELLINGER, K. A. A critical evaluation of current staging of -synuclein pathology in lewy body disorders. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Molecular Basis of Disease* 1792 (7 2009), 730–740. 2.1.1
- [137] JELLINGER, K. A., AND KORCZYN, A. D. Are dementia with lewy bodies and parkinson's disease dementia the same disease? *BMC Medicine 16* (12 2018), 34. 2.1, 2.1.1
- [138] JENSEN, O. N. Interpreting the protein language using proteomics. Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology 7 (6 2006), 391–403. 5.1.7
- [139] JIANG, X., YU, M., OU, Y., CAO, Y., YAO, Y., CAI, P., AND ZHANG, F. Downregulation of usp4 promotes activation of microglia and subsequent neuronal inflammation in rat spinal cord after injury. *Neurochemical Research* 42 (11 2017), 3245–3253. 2

- [140] JICHA, G. A., BERENFELD, B., AND DAVIES, P. Sequence requirements for formation of conformational variants of tau similar to those found in alzheimer's disease. *Journal* of Neuroscience Research 55 (3 1999), 713–723. 3.1.4
- [141] JIWAJI, Z., TIWARI, S. S., AVILÉS-REYES, R. X., HOOLEY, M., HAMPTON, D., TORVELL, M., JOHNSON, D. A., MCQUEEN, J., BAXTER, P., SABARI-SANKAR, K., QIU, J., HE, X., FOWLER, J., FEBERY, J., GREGORY, J., ROSE, J., TULLOCH, J., LOAN, J., STORY, D., MCDADE, K., SMITH, A. M., GREER, P., BALL, M., KIND, P. C., MATTHEWS, P. M., SMITH, C., DANDO, O., SPIRES-JONES, T. L., JOHNSON, J. A., CHANDRAN, S., AND HARDINGHAM, G. E. Reactive astrocytes acquire neuroprotective as well as deleterious signatures in response to tau and aß pathology. *Nature Communications 13* (1 2022), 135. 5.1.4
- [142] JOHNSON, M. R., SHKURA, K., LANGLEY, S. R., DELAHAYE-DURIEZ, A., SRIVAS-TAVA, P., HILL, W. D., RACKHAM, O. J. L., DAVIES, G., HARRIS, S. E., MORENO-MORAL, A., ROTIVAL, M., SPEED, D., PETROVSKI, S., KATZ, A., HAYWARD, C., PORTEOUS, D. J., SMITH, B. H., PADMANABHAN, S., HOCKING, L. J., STARR, J. M., LIEWALD, D. C., VISCONTI, A., FALCHI, M., BOTTOLO, L., ROSSETTI, T., DANIS, B., MAZZUFERI, M., FOERCH, P., GROTE, A., HELMSTAEDTER, C., BECKER, A. J., KAMINSKI, R. M., DEARY, I. J., AND PETRETTO, E. Systems genetics identifies a convergent gene network for cognition and neurodevelopmental disease. *Nature Neuroscience* 19 (2 2016), 223–232. 1, 4.3.5, 4.3.5, 4.4.3
- [143] JOLLIFFE, I. T., AND CADIMA, J. Principal component analysis: a review and recent developments. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical* and Engineering Sciences 374 (4 2016), 20150202. 1.1.3
- [144] K, B., BÉZIEUX H, R., AND K, S. Trajectory-based differential expression analysis for single-cell sequencing data. Nat Commun 11, 1. 50. 1.1.3
- [145] KALAITZAKIS, M. E., GENTLEMAN, S. M., AND PEARCE, R. K. B. Disturbed sleep in parkinson's disease: anatomical and pathological correlates. *Neuropathology and Applied Neurobiology 39* (10 2013), 644–653. 2.1.1

- [146] KALRA, S., BERGERON, C., AND LANG, A. E. Lewy body disease and dementia. a review. Archives of internal medicine 156 (3 1996), 487–93. 2.1
- [147] KANAAN, N., MORFINI, G., AND LAPOINTE, N. Pathogenic forms of tau inhibit kinesin-dependent axonal transport through a mechanism involving activation of axonal phosphotransferases. *Journal of Neuroscience 31*, 27, 9858–9868. 195. 3.1.2
- [148] KARMILOFF-SMITH, A., CASEY, B., MASSAND, E., TOMALSKI, P., AND THOMAS,
 M. Environmental and genetic influences on neurocognitive development. *Clinical Psy*chological Science 2, 5, 628–637. 1.2
- [149] KAUFMAN, S. K., SANDERS, D. W., THOMAS, T. L., RUCHINSKAS, A. J., VAQUER-ALICEA, J., SHARMA, A. M., MILLER, T. M., AND DIAMOND, M. I. Tau prion strains dictate patterns of cell pathology, progression rate, and regional vulnerability in vivo. *Neuron 92* (11 2016), 796–812. 3.1.3
- [150] KAUFMAN, S. K., TREDICI, K. D., THOMAS, T. L., BRAAK, H., AND DIAMOND, M. I. Tau seeding activity begins in the transentorhinal/entorhinal regions and anticipates phospho-tau pathology in alzheimer's disease and part. Acta Neuropathologica 136 (7 2018), 57–67. 3.1.5
- [151] KELLER, M. F., SAAD, M., BRAS, J., BETTELLA, F., NICOLAOU, N., SIMON-SANCHEZ, J., MITTAG, F., BUCHEL, F., SHARMA, M., GIBBS, J. R., SCHULTE, C., MOSKVINA, V., DURR, A., HOLMANS, P., KILARSKI, L. L., GUERREIRO, R., HERNANDEZ, D. G., BRICE, A., YLIKOTILA, P., STEFANSSON, H., MAJAMAA, K., MORRIS, H. R., WILLIAMS, N., GASSER, T., HEUTINK, P., WOOD, N. W., HARDY, J., MARTINEZ, M., SINGLETON, A. B., AND NALLS, M. A. Using genome-wide complex trait analysis to quantify 'missing heritability' in parkinson's disease. *Human Molecular Genetics 21* (11 2012), 4996–5009. 2.1.3
- [152] KELLOGG, M., AND MEADOR, K. J. Neurodevelopmental effects of antiepileptic drugs. Neurochemical Research 42 (7 2017), 2065–2070. 4.4.5

- [153] KHARCHENKO, P. V., SILBERSTEIN, L., AND SCADDEN, D. T. Bayesian approach to single-cell differential expression analysis. *Nature methods* 11, 7 (2014), 740–742. 1.1.3
- [154] KIM, H., KIM, Y., LEE, C.-Y., KIM, D.-G., AND CHEON, M. Investigation of early molecular alterations in tauopathy with generative adversarial networks. *Scientific Reports* 13 (1 2023), 732. 3.1.5
- [155] KIM, J.-H., SHINDE, D., REIJNDERS, M., HAUSER, N., BELMONTE, R., WILSON, G., BOSCH, D., BUBULYA, P., SHASHI, V., PETROVSKI, S., STONE, J., PARK, E., VELTMAN, J., SINNEMA, M., STUMPEL, C., DRAAISMA, J., NICOLAI, J., YNTEMA, H., LINDSTROM, K., DE VRIES, B., JEWETT, T., SANTORO, S., VOGT, J., BACHMAN, K., SEELEY, A., KROKOSKY, A., TURNER, C., ROHENA, L., HEMPEL, M., KORTÜM, F., LESSEL, D., NEU, A., STROM, T., WIECZOREK, D., BRAMSWIG, N., LACCONE, F., BEHUNOVA, J., REHDER, H., GORDON, C., RIO, M., ROMANA, S., TANG, S., EL-KHECHEN, D., CHO, M., MCWALTER, K., DOUGLAS, G., BASKIN, B., BEGTRUP, A., FUNARI, T., SCHOCH, K., STEGMANN, A., STEVENS, S., ZHANG, D.-E., TRAVER, D., YAO, X., MACARTHUR, D., BRUNNER, H., MANCINI, G., MYERS, R., OWEN, L., LIM, S.-T., STACHURA, D., VISSERS, L., AND AHN, E.-Y. De novo mutations in son disrupt rna splicing of genes essential for brain development and metabolism, causing an intellectual-disability syndrome. *The American Journal of Human Genetics 99* (9 2016), 711–719. 4.1.1
- [156] KIM, Y. S., AND YOON, B.-E. Altered gabaergic signaling in brain disease at various stages of life. *Experimental neurobiology 26* (6 2017), 122–131. 4.1.2, 2
- [157] KLEIN, C., AND WESTENBERGER, A. Genetics of parkinson's disease. Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in medicine 2 (1 2012), a008888. 2.1.2
- [158] KONG, S. M., CHAN, B. K., PARK, J.-S., HILL, K. J., AITKEN, J. B., COTTLE, L., FARGHAIAN, H., COLE, A. R., LAY, P. A., SUE, C. M., AND COOPER, A. A. Parkinson's disease-linked human park9/atp13a2 maintains zinc homeostasis and promotes -synuclein externalization via exosomes. *Human Molecular Genetics 23* (6 2014), 2816–2833. 2.4.3

- [159] KOULI, A., TORSNEY, K., AND KUAN, W. Parkinson's disease: Etiology, neuropathology, and pathogenesis. *Parkinson's Disease: Pathogenesis and Clinical Aspects*. 2.1.1
- [160] KRISHNASWAMI, S. R., GRINDBERG, R. V., NOVOTNY, M., VENEPALLY, P., LACAR, B., BHUTANI, K., LINKER, S. B., PHAM, S., ERWIN, J. A., MILLER, J. A., HODGE, R., MCCARTHY, J. K., KELDER, M., MCCORRISON, J., AEVERMANN, B. D., FUERTES, F. D., SCHEUERMANN, R. H., LEE, J., LEIN, E. S., SCHORK, N., MC-CONNELL, M. J., GAGE, F. H., AND LASKEN, R. S. Using single nuclei for rna-seq to capture the transcriptome of postmortem neurons. *Nature Protocols 11* (3 2016), 499–524. 2.2.1, 5.1.5
- [161] KRITSILIS, M., RIZOU, S. V., KOUTSOUDAKI, P., EVANGELOU, K., GORGOULIS, V.,
 AND PAPADOPOULOS, D. Ageing, cellular senescence and neurodegenerative disease.
 International Journal of Molecular Sciences 19 (9 2018), 2937. 5.1.4
- [162] KUKURBA, K. R., AND MONTGOMERY, S. B. Rna sequencing and analysis. Cold Spring Harbor Protocols 2015 (11 2015), pdb.top084970. 1.1.2
- [163] KULAGA, A. Y., URSU, E., TOREN, D., TYSHCHENKO, V., GUINEA, R., PUSHKOVA, M., FRAIFELD, V. E., AND TACUTU, R. Machine learning analysis of longevityassociated gene expression landscapes in mammals. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences 22* (1 2021), 1073. 2
- [164] LA MANNO, G., SILETTI, K., FURLAN, A., GYLLBORG, D., VINSLAND, E., MOSSI ALBIACH, A., MATTSSON LANGSETH, C., KHVEN, I., LEDERER, A. R., DRATVA, L. M., ET AL. Molecular architecture of the developing mouse brain. Nature 596, 7870 (2021), 92–96. 4.2.6
- [165] LACAR, B., LINKER, S., AND JAEGER, B. Nuclear rna-seq of single neurons reveals molecular signatures of activation. *Nat Commun* 7, 11022. 18. 1.1.1
- [166] LAKE, B. B., AI, R., KAESER, G. E., SALATHIA, N. S., YUNG, Y. C., LIU, R., WILDBERG, A., GAO, D., FUNG, H.-L., CHEN, S., VIJAYARAGHAVAN, R., WONG, J., CHEN, A., SHENG, X., KAPER, F., SHEN, R., RONAGHI, M., FAN, J.-B., WANG,

W., CHUN, J., AND ZHANG, K. Neuronal subtypes and diversity revealed by singlenucleus rna sequencing of the human brain. *Science 352* (6 2016), 1586–1590. 1.1.1, 5.1.6

- [167] LAKE, B. B., CHEN, S., HOSHI, M., PLONGTHONGKUM, N., SALAMON, D., KNOTEN, A., VIJAYAN, A., VENKATESH, R., KIM, E. H., GAO, D., GAUT, J., ZHANG, K., AND JAIN, S. A single-nucleus rna-sequencing pipeline to decipher the molecular anatomy and pathophysiology of human kidneys. *Nature Communications 10* (6 2019), 2832. 5.1.5
- [168] LANDRIGAN, P., SONAWANE, B., BUTLER, R., TRASANDE, L., CALLAN, R., AND DROLLER, D. Early environmental origins of neurodegenerative disease in later life. *Environ Health Perspect 113*, 9, 1230–1233. 69. 1.2.2
- [169] LANGSTON, J. W., BALLARD, P., TETRUD, J. W., AND IRWIN, I. Chronic parkinsonism in humans due to a product of meperidine-analog synthesis. *Science 219* (2 1983), 979–980. 2.1.3
- [170] LARKBY, C., AND DAY, N. The effects of prenatal alcohol exposure. Alcohol health and research world 21 (1997), 192–8. 4.1.2
- [171] LEDERGERBER, C., AND DESSIMOZ, C. Base-calling for next-generation sequencing platforms. Briefings in bioinformatics 12, 5 (2011), 489–497. 1.1.1
- [172] LEE, B.-H., LEE, M. J., PARK, S., OH, D.-C., ELSASSER, S., CHEN, P.-C., GART-NER, C., DIMOVA, N., HANNA, J., GYGI, S. P., WILSON, S. M., KING, R. W., AND FINLEY, D. Enhancement of proteasome activity by a small-molecule inhibitor of usp14. *Nature 467* (9 2010), 179–184. 2
- [173] LEE, K., AND LIM, C.-Y. Mendelian randomization analysis in observational epidemiology. Journal of Lipid and Atherosclerosis 8 (2019), 67. 2.1.3, 3
- [174] LEE, P. H., ANTTILA, V., WON, H., FENG, Y.-C. A., ROSENTHAL, J., ZHU, Z., TUCKER-DROB, E. M., NIVARD, M. G., GROTZINGER, A. D., POSTHUMA, D., ET AL. Genomic relationships, novel loci, and pleiotropic mechanisms across eight psychiatric disorders. *Cell 179*, 7 (2019), 1469–1482. 4.2.5, 4.3.5

- [175] LEE, R. G., SEDGHI, M., SALARI, M., SHEARWOOD, A.-M. J., STENTENBACH, M., KARIMINEJAD, A., GOULLEE, H., RACKHAM, O., LAING, N. G., TAJSHARGHI, H., AND FILIPOVSKA, A. Early-onset parkinson disease caused by a mutation in chchd2 and mitochondrial dysfunction. *Neurology Genetics* 4 (10 2018), e276. 2.1.2, 4
- [176] LEE, S., ABECASIS, G. R., BOEHNKE, M., AND LIN, X. Rare-variant association analysis: study designs and statistical tests. *The American Journal of Human Genetics* 95, 1 (2014), 5–23. 1.1.3
- [177] LEIN, E. S., HAWRYLYCZ, M. J., AO, N., AYRES, M., BENSINGER, A., BERNARD, A., BOE, A. F., BOGUSKI, M. S., BROCKWAY, K. S., BYRNES, E. J., CHEN, L., CHEN, L., CHEN, T.-M., CHIN, M. C., CHONG, J., CROOK, B. E., CZAPLINSKA, A., DANG, C. N., DATTA, S., DEE, N. R., DESAKI, A. L., DESTA, T., DIEP, E., DOLBEARE, T. A., DONELAN, M. J., DONG, H.-W., DOUGHERTY, J. G., DUNCAN, B. J., EBBERT, A. J., EICHELE, G., ESTIN, L. K., FABER, C., FACER, B. A., FIELDS, R., FISCHER, S. R., FLISS, T. P., FRENSLEY, C., GATES, S. N., GLAT-TFELDER, K. J., HALVERSON, K. R., HART, M. R., HOHMANN, J. G., HOWELL, M. P., JEUNG, D. P., JOHNSON, R. A., KARR, P. T., KAWAL, R., KIDNEY, J. M., KNAPIK, R. H., KUAN, C. L., LAKE, J. H., LARAMEE, A. R., LARSEN, K. D., LAU, C., LEMON, T. A., LIANG, A. J., LIU, Y., LUONG, L. T., MICHAELS, J., Morgan, J. J., Morgan, R. J., Mortrud, M. T., Mosqueda, N. F., NG, L. L., NG, R., ORTA, G. J., OVERLY, C. C., PAK, T. H., PARRY, S. E., PATHAK, S. D., PEARSON, O. C., PUCHALSKI, R. B., RILEY, Z. L., ROCKETT, H. R., ROWLAND, S. A., ROYALL, J. J., RUIZ, M. J., SARNO, N. R., SCHAFFNIT, K., SHAPOVAL-OVA, N. V., SIVISAY, T., SLAUGHTERBECK, C. R., SMITH, S. C., SMITH, K. A., SMITH, B. I., SODT, A. J., STEWART, N. N., STUMPF, K.-R., SUNKIN, S. M., SUTRAM, M., TAM, A., TEEMER, C. D., THALLER, C., THOMPSON, C. L., VAR-NAM, L. R., VISEL, A., WHITLOCK, R. M., WOHNOUTKA, P. E., WOLKEY, C. K., Wong, V. Y., Wood, M., Yaylaoglu, M. B., Young, R. C., Youngstrom, B. L., YUAN, X. F., ZHANG, B., ZWINGMAN, T. A., AND JONES, A. R. Genome-

wide atlas of gene expression in the adult mouse brain. *Nature* 445 (1 2007), 168–176. 1.1

- [178] LEVERENZ, J. B., HAMILTON, R., TSUANG, D. W., SCHANTZ, A., VAVREK, D., LARSON, E. B., KUKULL, W. A., LOPEZ, O., GALASKO, D., MASLIAH, E., KAYE, J., WOLTJER, R., CLARK, C., TROJANOWSKI, J. Q., AND MONTINE, T. J. Research article: Empiric refinement of the pathologic assessment of lewy-related pathology in the dementia patient. *Brain Pathology 18* (1 2008), 220–224. 2.1.1
- [179] LI, B., AND LEAL, S. M. Methods for detecting associations with rare variants for common diseases: application to analysis of sequence data. The American Journal of Human Genetics 83, 3 (2008), 311–321. 1.1.3
- [180] LI, K., LI, J., ZHENG, J., AND QIN, S. Reactive astrocytes in neurodegenerative diseases. Aging and disease 10 (2019), 664. 3.3.6, 3.4.3, 5.1.4
- [181] LI, X., AND WANG, C.-Y. From bulk, single-cell to spatial rna sequencing. International Journal of Oral Science 13 (12 2021), 36. 1.1.1, 5.1.5
- [182] LIAO, Y., WANG, J., JAEHNIG, E. J., SHI, Z., AND ZHANG, B. Webgestalt 2019: gene set analysis toolkit with revamped uis and apis. *Nucleic Acids Research* 47 (7 2019), W199–W205. 1.1.3, 2.2.8, 3.2.10, 3.3.4, 4.2.4
- [183] LINDERMAN, G. C., RACHH, M., HOSKINS, J. G., STEINERBERGER, S., AND KLUGER, Y. Fast interpolation-based t-sne for improved visualization of single-cell rnaseq data. *Nature Methods 16* (3 2019), 243–245. 1.1.3
- [184] LIU, K., ZHAO, J., CHEN, C., XU, J., BELL, R. L., HALL, F. S., KOOB, G. F., VOLKOW, N. D., QING, H., AND LIN, Z. Epistatic evidence for gender-dependant slow neurotransmission signalling in substance use disorders: Ppp1r12b versus ppp1r1b. *EBioMedicine 61* (11 2020), 103066. 2.3.7
- [185] LIU, X., AND MOUSSA, C. Regulatory role of ubiquitin specific protease-13 (usp13) in misfolded protein clearance in neurodegenerative diseases. *Neuroscience 460* (4 2021), 161–166. 2

- [186] LIU, X., YE, M., AND MA, L. The emerging role of autophagy and mitophagy in tauopathies: From pathogenesis to translational implications in alzheimer's disease. Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience 14 (10 2022). 1
- [187] LIVINGSTON, G., HUNTLEY, J., SOMMERLAD, A., AMES, D., BALLARD, C., BANERJEE, S., BRAYNE, C., BURNS, A., COHEN-MANSFIELD, J., COOPER, C., COSTAFREDA, S. G., DIAS, A., FOX, N., GITLIN, L. N., HOWARD, R., KALES, H. C., KIVIMÄKI, M., LARSON, E. B., OGUNNIYI, A., ORGETA, V., RITCHIE, K., ROCKWOOD, K., SAMPSON, E. L., SAMUS, Q., SCHNEIDER, L. S., SELBÆK, G., TERI, L., AND MUKADAM, N. Dementia prevention, intervention, and care: 2020 report of the lancet commission. *The Lancet 396* (8 2020), 413–446. 2.1.3
- [188] LOPEZ, R., REGIER, J., COLE, M. B., JORDAN, M. I., AND YOSEF, N. Deep generative modeling for single-cell transcriptomics. *Nature Methods* 15 (12 2018), 1053– 1058. 2
- [189] LOUROS, S. R., AND OSTERWEIL, E. K. Perturbed proteostasis in autism spectrum disorders. Journal of Neurochemistry 139 (12 2016), 1081–1092. 1
- [190] LUECKEN, M., AND THEIS, F. Current best practices in single-cell rna-seq analysis: a tutorial. Mol Syst Biol 15, 6. 25. 1.1.3
- [191] LUN, A., RIESENFELD, S., ANDREWS, T., DAO, T., GOMES, T., AND MARIONI,
 J. Emptydrops: distinguishing cells from empty droplets in droplet-based single-cell rna sequencing data. *Genome Biol 20*, 1. 144. 1.1.3
- [192] LUN, A. T., MCCARTHY, D. J., AND MARIONI, J. C. A step-by-step workflow for low-level analysis of single-cell rna-seq data with bioconductor. *F1000Research 5* (10 2016), 2122. 1.1.3
- [193] LUN, A. T. L., RIESENFELD, S., ANDREWS, T., DAO, T. P., GOMES, T., AND MARIONI, J. C. Emptydrops: distinguishing cells from empty droplets in droplet-based single-cell rna sequencing data. *Genome Biology 20* (12 2019), 63. 2.2.3, 6

- [194] LUO, X.-G., DING, J.-Q., AND CHEN, S.-D. Microglia in the aging brain: relevance to neurodegeneration. *Molecular Neurodegeneration* 5 (12 2010), 12. 5.1.4
- [195] MA, H., QIU, R., ZHANG, W., CHEN, X., ZHANG, L., AND WANG, M. Association of ppp1r1b polymorphisms with working memory in healthy han chinese adults. *Frontiers* in Neuroscience 16 (11 2022). 2.3.7
- [196] MACOSKO, E., BASU, A., SATIJA, R., NEMESH, J., SHEKHAR, K., GOLDMAN, M., TIROSH, I., BIALAS, A., KAMITAKI, N., MARTERSTECK, E., TROMBETTA, J., WEITZ, D., SANES, J., SHALEK, A., REGEV, A., AND MCCARROLL, S. Highly parallel genome-wide expression profiling of individual cells using nanoliter droplets. *Cell 161* (5 2015), 1202–1214. 1.1.3
- [197] MAIA, N., NABAIS SÁ, M., MELO-PIRES, M., BROUWER, A., AND JORGE, P. Intellectual disability genomics: current state, pitfalls and future challenges. *BMC Genomics* 22, 1. 1.2.1
- [198] MARESCAUX, C., VERGNES, M., AND DEPAULIS, A. Genetic absence epilepsy in rats from strasbourg — a review. In *Generalized Non-Convulsive Epilepsy: Focus on GABA-B Receptors*. Springer Vienna. 289. 4.3.1
- [199] MARIANI, J., COPPOLA, G., ZHANG, P., ABYZOV, A., PROVINI, L., TOMASINI, L., AMENDUNI, M., SZEKELY, A., PALEJEV, D., WILSON, M., GERSTEIN, M., GRIG-ORENKO, E. L., CHAWARSKA, K., PELPHREY, K. A., HOWE, J. R., AND VACCARINO, F. M. Foxg1-dependent dysregulation of gaba/glutamate neuron differentiation in autism spectrum disorders. *Cell 162* (7 2015), 375–390. 2
- [200] MARINI, C., PORRO, A., RASTETTER, A., DALLE, C., RIVOLTA, I., BAUER, D., OEGEMA, R., NAVA, C., PARRINI, E., MEI, D., MERCER, C., DHAMIJA, R., CHAM-BERS, C., COUBES, C., THÉVENON, J., KUENTZ, P., JULIA, S., PASQUIER, L., DUBOURG, C., CARRÉ, W., ROSATI, A., MELANI, F., PISANO, T., GIARDINO, M., INNES, A. M., ALEMBIK, Y., SCHEIDECKER, S., SANTOS, M., FIGUEIROA, S., GAR-RIDO, C., FUSCO, C., FRATTINI, D., SPAGNOLI, C., BINDA, A., GRANATA, T.,

RAGONA, F., FRERI, E., FRANCESCHETTI, S., CANAFOGLIA, L., CASTELLOTTI, B., GELLERA, C., MILANESI, R., MANCARDI, M. M., CLARK, D. R., KOK, F., HELBIG, K. L., ICHIKAWA, S., SADLER, L., NEUPAUEROVÁ, J., LAŠŠUTHOVA, P., ŠTĚRBOVÁ, K., LARIDON, A., BRILSTRA, E., KOELEMAN, B., LEMKE, J. R., ZARA, F., STRI-ANO, P., SOBLET, J., SMITS, G., DECONINCK, N., BARBUTI, A., DIFRANCESCO, D., LEGUERN, E., GUERRINI, R., SANTORO, B., HAMACHER, K., THIEL, G., MORONI, A., DIFRANCESCO, J. C., AND DEPIENNE, C. ji¿hcn1¡/i¿ mutation spectrum: from neonatal epileptic encephalopathy to benign generalized epilepsy and beyond. *Brain 141* (11 2018), 3160–3178. 4.4.3

- [201] MARK, R. J., ASHFORD, J. W., GOODMAN, Y., AND MATTSON, M. P. Anticonvulsants attenuate amyloid -peptide neurotoxicity, ca2+ deregulation, and cytoskeletal pathology. *Neurobiology of Aging 16* (3 1995), 187–198. 4.1.2
- [202] MARSON, A., BURNSIDE, G., APPLETON, R., SMITH, D., LEACH, J. P., SILLS, G., TUDUR-SMITH, C., PLUMPTON, C., HUGHES, D. A., WILLIAMSON, P., BAKER, G. A., BALABANOVA, S., TAYLOR, C., BROWN, R., HINDLEY, D., HOWELL, S., MAGUIRE, M., MOHANRAJ, R., SMITH, P. E., LANYON, K., MANFORD, M., CHITRE, M., Parker, A., Swiderska, N., Appleton, R., Pauling, J., Hughes, A., GUPTA, R., HANIF, S., AWADH, M., RAGUNATHAN, S., CABLE, N., COOPER, P., HINDLEY, D., RAKSHI, K., MOLLOY, S., REUBER, M., AYONRINDE, K., WILSON, M., SALADI, S., GIBB, J., FUNSTON, L.-A., CASSIDY, D., BOYD, J., RATNAYAKA, M., FAZA, H., SADLER, M., AL-MOASSEB, H., GALTREY, C., WREN, D., OLABI, A., FULLER, G., KHAN, M., KALLAPPA, C., CHINTHAPALLI, R., AJI, B., DAVIES, R., FOSTER, K., HITIRIS, N., MAGUIRE, M., HUSSAIN, N., DOWSON, S., ELLI-SON, J., SHARRACK, B., GANDHI, V., POWELL, R., TITTENSOR, P., SUMMERS, B., SHASHIKIRAN, S., DISON, P. J., SAMARASEKERA, S., MCCORRY, D., WHITE, K., NITHI, K., RICHARDSON, M., BROWN, R., PAGE, R., DEEKOLLU, D., SLAGHT, S., WARRINER, S., AHMED, M., CHAUDHURI, A., CHOW, G., ARTAL, J., KUCIN-SKIENE, D., SREENIVASA, H., , S. V., ZIPITIS, C. S., MCLEAN, B., LAL, V., GREGORIOU, A., MADDISON, P., PICKERSGILL, T., ANDERSON, J., LAWTHOM, C.,

HOWELL, S., WHITLINGUM, G., RAKOWICZ, W., KINTON, L., MCLELLAN, A., ZUBERI, S., KELSO, A., HUGHES, I., MARTLAND, J., EMSLEY, H., DE GOEDE, C., SINGH, R., MOOR, C.-C., ARAM, J., MOHANRAJ, R., SAKTHIVEL, K., NELAPATLA, S., RITTEY, C., PINTO, A., LEACH, J. P., COCK, H., RICHARDSON, A., HOUSTON, E., COOPER, C., LAWSON, G., MASSARANO, A., BURNESS, C., MARSON, A., SMITH, D., WIESHMANN, U., DEY, I., SIVAKUMAR, P., YEUNG, L.-K., SMITH, P., BENTUR, H., HEAFIELD, T., MATHEW, A., SMITH, D., AND JAUHARI, P. The sanad ii study of the effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of valproate versus levetiracetam for newly diagnosed generalised and unclassifiable epilepsy: an open-label, non-inferiority, multicentre, phase 4, randomised controlled trial. *The Lancet 397* (4 2021), 1375–1386.

- [203] MARSON, A. G., AL-KHARUSI, A. M., ALWAIDH, M., APPLETON, R., BAKER, G. A., CHADWICK, D. W., CRAMP, C., COCKERELL, O. C., COOPER, P. N., DOUGHTY, J., EATON, B., GAMBLE, C., GOULDING, P. J., HOWELL, S. J., HUGHES, A., JACKSON, M., JACOBY, A., KELLETT, M., LAWSON, G. R., LEACH, J. P., NICO-LAIDES, P., ROBERTS, R., SHACKLEY, P., SHEN, J., SMITH, D. F., SMITH, P. E., SMITH, C. T., VANOLI, A., AND WILLIAMSON, P. R. The sanad study of effectiveness of valproate, lamotrigine, or topiramate for generalised and unclassifiable epilepsy: an unblinded randomised controlled trial. *The Lancet 369* (3 2007), 1016–1026. 4.1.2, 4.4
- [204] MATHYS, H., DAVILA-VELDERRAIN, J., AND PENG, Z. Single-cell transcriptomic analysis of alzheimer's disease. *Nature* 570, 7761, 332–337. 1
- [205] MATHYS, H., DAVILA-VELDERRAIN, J., PENG, Z., GAO, F., MOHAMMADI, S., YOUNG, J. Z., MENON, M., HE, L., ABDURROB, F., JIANG, X., MARTORELL, A. J., RANSOHOFF, R. M., HAFLER, B. P., BENNETT, D. A., KELLIS, M., AND TSAI, L.-H. Single-cell transcriptomic analysis of alzheimer's disease. *Nature 570* (6 2019), 332–337. 1
- [206] MAZZULLI, J., XU, Y.-H., SUN, Y., KNIGHT, A., MCLEAN, P., CALDWELL, G., SIDRANSKY, E., GRABOWSKI, G., AND KRAINC, D. Gaucher disease glucocerebrosidase

and -synuclein form a bidirectional pathogenic loop in synucleinopathies. *Cell 146* (7 2011), 37–52. 2.4.1

- [207] MCDERMOTT, S., WU, J., CAI, B., LAWSON, A., AND MARJORIE AELION, C. Probability of intellectual disability is associated with soil concentrations of arsenic and lead. *Chemosphere* 84, 1, 31–38. 65. 1.2.1
- [208] MCDONALD, W. Overview of neurocognitive disorders. Focus (Madison 15, 1, 4–12. 1.2)
- [209] MCGINNIS, C. S., MURROW, L. M., AND GARTNER, Z. J. Doubletfinder: Doublet detection in single-cell rna sequencing data using artificial nearest neighbors. *Cell Systems* 8 (4 2019), 329–337.e4. 1.1.3, 2.2.4, 3.2.7
- [210] MCKEITH, I., BOEVE, B., AND DICKSON, D. Diagnosis and management of dementia with lewy bodies. *Neurology* 89, 1, 88–100. et al. 1.2.2
- [211] MCKEITH, I. G., BOEVE, B. F., DICKSON, D. W., HALLIDAY, G., TAYLOR, J.-P., WEINTRAUB, D., AARSLAND, D., GALVIN, J., ATTEMS, J., BALLARD, C. G., BAYSTON, A., BEACH, T. G., BLANC, F., BOHNEN, N., BONANNI, L., BRAS, J., BRUNDIN, P., BURN, D., CHEN-PLOTKIN, A., DUDA, J. E., EL-AGNAF, O., FELDMAN, H., FERMAN, T. J., FFYTCHE, D., FUJISHIRO, H., GALASKO, D., GOLDMAN, J. G., GOMPERTS, S. N., GRAFF-RADFORD, N. R., HONIG, L. S., IRANZO, A., KANTARCI, K., KAUFER, D., KUKULL, W., LEE, V. M., LEVERENZ, J. B., LEWIS, S., LIPPA, C., LUNDE, A., MASELLIS, M., MASLIAH, E., MCLEAN, P., MOLLENHAUER, B., MONTINE, T. J., MORENO, E., MORI, E., MURRAY, M., O'BRIEN, J. T., ORIMO, S., POSTUMA, R. B., RAMASWAMY, S., ROSS, O. A., SALMON, D. P., SINGLETON, A., TAYLOR, A., THOMAS, A., TIRABOSCHI, P., TOLEDO, J. B., TROJANOWSKI, J. Q., TSUANG, D., WALKER, Z., YAMADA, M., AND KOSAKA, K. Diagnosis and management of dementia with lewy bodies. *Neurology 89* (7 2017), 88–100. 2.1.1
- [212] MEADOR, K. J., BAKER, G. A., BROWNING, N., COHEN, M. J., BROMLEY, R. L., CLAYTON-SMITH, J., KALAYJIAN, L. A., KANNER, A., LIPORACE, J. D., PENNELL,

P. B., PRIVITERA, M., AND LORING, D. W. Fetal antiepileptic drug exposure and cognitive outcomes at age 6 years (nead study): a prospective observational study. *The Lancet Neurology 12* (3 2013), 244–252. 4.1.2

- [213] MEEUS, B., VERSTRAETEN, A., CROSIERS, D., ENGELBORGHS, S., DEN BROECK, M. V., MATTHEIJSSENS, M., PEETERS, K., CORSMIT, E., ELINCK, E., PICKUT, B., VANDENBERGHE, R., CRAS, P., DEYN, P. P. D., BROECKHOVEN, C. V., AND THEUNS, J. Dlb and pdd: a role for mutations in dementia and parkinson disease genes? *Neurobiology of Aging 33* (3 2012), 629.e5–629.e18. 2.1.2
- [214] MEISLER, M. H., HILL, S. F., AND YU, W. Sodium channelopathies in neurodevelopmental disorders. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* 22 (3 2021), 152–166. 4.4.3
- [215] MELDRUM, B. S., AND ROGAWSKI, M. A. Molecular targets for antiepileptic drug development. *Neurotherapeutics* 4 (1 2007), 18–61. 4.1.2, 1, 4
- [216] MENG, Q., ZHANG, W., WANG, X., JIAO, C., XU, S., LIU, C., TANG, B., AND CHEN, C. Human forebrain organoids reveal connections between valproic acid exposure and autism risk. *Translational Psychiatry 12* (3 2022), 130. 4.1.2
- [217] MEREDITH, G. E., AND RADEMACHER, D. J. Mptp mouse models of parkinson's disease: an update. *Journal of Parkinson's disease 1* (2011), 19–33. 2.1.3
- [218] MHYRE, T., BOYD, J., HAMILL, R., AND MAGUIRE-ZEISS, K. Parkinson's disease. In 2012, 389–455. 1.2.2
- [219] MONFRINI, E., SPAGNOLO, F., CANESI, M., SERESINI, A., RINI, A., PASSARELLA, B., PERCETTI, M., SEIA, M., GOLDWURM, S., CEREDA, V., COMI, G. P., PEZZOLI, G., AND FONZO, A. D. Vps13c-associated parkinson's disease: Two novel cases and review of the literature. *Parkinsonism Related Disorders 94* (1 2022), 37–39. 2.1.2
- [220] MURPHY, A. E., AND SKENE, N. G. A balanced measure shows superior performance of pseudobulk methods in single-cell rna-sequencing analysis. *Nature Communications 13* (12 2022), 7851. 5.1.8
- [221] MURPHY, K. E., COTTLE, L., GYSBERS, A. M., COOPER, A. A., AND HALLIDAY,
 G. M. Atp13a2 (park9) protein levels are reduced in brain tissue of cases with lewy bodies. Acta Neuropathologica Communications 1 (12 2013), 11. 2.4.3
- [222] NALLS, M. A., BLAUWENDRAAT, C., VALLERGA, C. L., HEILBRON, K., BANDRES-CIGA, S., CHANG, D., TAN, M., KIA, D. A., NOYCE, A. J., XUE, A., BRAS, J., YOUNG, E., VON COELLN, R., SIMÓN-SÁNCHEZ, J., SCHULTE, C., SHARMA, M., KROHN, L., PIHLSTRØM, L., SIITONEN, A., IWAKI, H., LEONARD, H., FAGHRI, F., GIBBS, J. R., HERNANDEZ, D. G., SCHOLZ, S. W., BOTIA, J. A., MARTINEZ, M., Corvol, J.-C., Lesage, S., Jankovic, J., Shulman, L. M., Sutherland, M., TIENARI, P., MAJAMAA, K., TOFT, M., ANDREASSEN, O. A., BANGALE, T., BRICE, A., YANG, J., GAN-OR, Z., GASSER, T., HEUTINK, P., SHULMAN, J. M., WOOD, N. W., HINDS, D. A., HARDY, J. A., MORRIS, H. R., GRATTEN, J., VISSCHER, P. M., GRAHAM, R. R., SINGLETON, A. B., ADARMES-GÓMEZ, A. D., AGUILAR, M., AITKULOVA, A., AKHMETZHANOV, V., ALCALAY, R. N., ALVAREZ, I., ALVAREZ, V., BANDRES-CIGA, S., BARRERO, F. J., YARZA, J. A. B., BERNAL-BERNAL, I., BILLINGSLEY, K., BLAUWENDRAAT, C., BLAZQUEZ, M., BONILLA-TORIBIO, M., BOTÍA, J. A., BOUNGIORNO, M. T., BRAS, J., BRICE, A., BROCKMANN, K., BUBB, V., BUIZA-RUEDA, D., CÁMARA, A., CARRILLO, F., CARRIÓN-CLARO, M., CERdan, D., Chelban, V., Clarimón, J., Clarke, C., Compta, Y., Cookson, M. R., CORVOL, J.-C., CRAIG, D. W., DANJOU, F., DIEZ-FAIREN, M., DOLS-ICARDO, O., DUARTE, J., DURAN, R., ESCAMILLA-SEVILLA, F., ESCOTT-PRICE, V., EZQUERRA, M., FAGHRI, F., FELIZ, C., FERNÁNDEZ, M., FERNÁNDEZ-SANTIAGO, R., FINKBEINER, S., FOLTYNIE, T., GAN-OR, Z., GARCIA, C., GARCÍA-RUIZ, P., GASSER, T., GIBBS, J. R., HEREDIA, M. J. G., GÓMEZ-GARRE, P., GONZÁLEZ, M. M., GONZALEZ-ARAMBURU, I., GUELFI, S., GUERREIRO, R., HARDY, J., HASSIN-BAER, S., HERNANDEZ, D. G., HEUTINK, P., HOENICKA, J., HOLMANS, P., HOULDEN, H., INFANTE, J., IWAKI, H., JESÚS, S., JIMENEZ-ESCRIG, A., KAISHY-BAYEVA, G., KAIYRZHANOV, R., KARIMOVA, A., KIA, D. A., KINGHORN, K. J., Koks, S., Krohn, L., Kulisevsky, J., Labrador-Espinosa, M. A., Leonard,

H. L., LESAGE, S., LEWIS, P., LOPEZ-SENDON, J. L., LOVERING, R., LUBBE, S., LUNGU, C., MACIAS, D., MAJAMAA, K., MANZONI, C., MARÍN, J., MARINUS, J., MARTI, M. J., MARTINEZ, M., TORRES, I. M., MARTÍNEZ-CASTRILLO, J. C., MATA, M., MENCACCI, N. E., DEL BARRIO, C. M., MIDDLEHURST, B., MÍNGUEZ, A., MIR, P., MOK, K. Y., MORRIS, H. R., MUÑOZ, E., NALLS, M. A., NARENDRA, D., NOYCE, A. J., OJO, O. O., OKUBADEJO, N. U., PAGOLA, A. G., PASTOR, P., ERRAZQUIN, F. P., PERIÑÁN-TOCINO, T., PIHLSTROM, L., PLUN-FAVREAU, H., QUINN, J., R'BIBO, L., REED, X., REZOLA, E. M., RIZIG, M., RIZZU, P., ROBAK, L., RODRIGUEZ, A. S., ROULEAU, G. A., RUIZ-MARTÍNEZ, J., RUZ, C., RYTEN, M., SADYKOVA, D., SCHOLZ, S. W., SCHREGLMANN, S., SCHULTE, C., SHARMA, M., SHASHKIN, C., SHULMAN, J. M., SIERRA, M., SIITONEN, A., SIMÓN-SÁNCHEZ, J., SINGLETON, A. B., SUAREZ-SANMARTIN, E., TABA, P., TABERNERO, C., TAN, M. X., TARTARI, J. P., TEJERA-PARRADO, C., TOFT, M., TOLOSA, E., TRABZUNI, D., VALLDEORIOLA, F., VAN HILTEN, J. J., KEUREN-JENSEN, K. V., VARGAS-GONZÁLEZ, L., VELA, L., VIVES, F., WILLIAMS, N., WOOD, N. W., ZHARKIN-BEKOVA, N., ZHARMUKHANOV, Z., ZHOLDYBAYEVA, E., ZIMPRICH, A., YLIKOTILA, P., Shulman, L. M., von Coelln, R., Reich, S., Savitt, J., Agee, M., Ali-PANAHI, B., AUTON, A., BELL, R. K., BRYC, K., ELSON, S. L., FONTANILLAS, P., FURLOTTE, N. A., HUBER, K. E., HICKS, B., JEWETT, E. M., JIANG, Y., KLEIN-MAN, A., LIN, K.-H., LITTERMAN, N. K., MCCREIGHT, J. C., MCINTYRE, M. H., MCMANUS, K. F., MOUNTAIN, J. L., NOBLIN, E. S., NORTHOVER, C. A., PITTS, S. J., POZNIK, G. D., SATHIRAPONGSASUTI, J. F., SHELTON, J. F., SHRINGARPURE, S., TIAN, C., TUNG, J., VACIC, V., WANG, X., WILSON, C. H., ANDERSON, T., BENTLEY, S., DALRYMPLE-ALFORD, J., FOWDAR, J., GRATTEN, J., HALLIDAY, G., HENDERS, A. K., HICKIE, I., KASSAM, I., KENNEDY, M., KWOK, J., LEWIS, S., Mellick, G., Montgomery, G., Pearson, J., Pitcher, T., Sidorenko, J., Sil-BURN, P. A., VALLERGA, C. L., VISSCHER, P. M., WALLACE, L., WRAY, N. R., XUE, A., YANG, J., AND ZHANG, F. Identification of novel risk loci, causal insights, and heritable risk for parkinson's disease: a meta-analysis of genome-wide association studies. The Lancet Neurology 18 (12 2019), 1091–1102. 2.2.9, 2.3.7

- [223] NALLS, M. A., PANKRATZ, N., LILL, C. M., DO, C. B., HERNANDEZ, D. G., SAAD, M., DESTEFANO, A. L., KARA, E., BRAS, J., SHARMA, M., SCHULTE, C., KELLER, M. F., AREPALLI, S., LETSON, C., EDSALL, C., STEFANSSON, H., LIU, X., PLINER, H., LEE, J. H., CHENG, R., IKRAM, M. A., IOANNIDIS, J. P. A., HADJIGEORGIOU, G. M., BIS, J. C., MARTINEZ, M., PERLMUTTER, J. S., GOATE, A., MARDER, K., FISKE, B., SUTHERLAND, M., XIROMERISIOU, G., MYERS, R. H., CLARK, L. N., STEFANSSON, K., HARDY, J. A., HEUTINK, P., CHEN, H., WOOD, N. W., HOULDEN, H., PAYAMI, H., BRICE, A., SCOTT, W. K., GASSER, T., BERTRAM, L., ERIKSSON, N., FOROUD, T., AND SINGLETON, A. B. Large-scale meta-analysis of genome-wide association data identifies six new risk loci for parkinson's disease. *Nature Genetics 46* (9 2014), 989–993. 2.1.2
- [224] NELSON, M. E., JESTER, D. J., PETKUS, A. J., AND ANDEL, R. Cognitive reserve, alzheimer's neuropathology, and risk of dementia: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Neuropsychology Review 31* (6 2021), 233–250. 2.1.3
- [225] NELSON, P. T., SCHMITT, F. A., JICHA, G. A., KRYSCIO, R. J., ABNER, E. L., SMITH, C. D., ELDIK, L. J. V., AND MARKESBERY, W. R. Association between male gender and cortical lewy body pathology in large autopsy series. *Journal of Neurology* 257 (11 2010), 1875–1881. 2.3.2, 2.4.5
- [226] NEUMEYER, S., HEMANI, G., AND ZEGGINI, E. Strengthening causal inference for complex disease using molecular quantitative trait loci. *Trends in Molecular Medicine 26* (2 2020), 232–241. 5.1.9, 1
- [227] NIEWIADOMSKA, G., NIEWIADOMSKI, W., STECZKOWSKA, M., AND GASIOROWSKA,A. Tau oligomers neurotoxicity. *Life 11* (1 2021), 28. 3.1.2, 3.4
- [228] NISHI, A., MATAMALES, M., MUSANTE, V., VALJENT, E., KUROIWA, M., KITA-HARA, Y., REBHOLZ, H., GREENGARD, P., GIRAULT, J.-A., AND NAIRN, A. C. Glutamate counteracts dopamine/pka signaling via dephosphorylation of darpp-32 ser-97

and alteration of its cytonuclear distribution. *Journal of Biological Chemistry 292* (1 2017), 1462–1476. 2.3.7

- [229] NONPROFIT ORGANIZATION, T. P. F. Statistics, 2023. 2.1
- [230] NOVIKOVA, G., KAPOOR, M., TCW, J., ABUD, E. M., EFTHYMIOU, A. G., CHEN, S. X., CHENG, H., FULLARD, J. F., BENDL, J., LIU, Y., ROUSSOS, P., BJÖRKEGREN, J. L., LIU, Y., POON, W. W., HAO, K., MARCORA, E., AND GOATE, A. M. Integration of alzheimer's disease genetics and myeloid genomics identifies disease risk regulatory elements and genes. *Nature Communications 12* (3 2021), 1610. 2.4.4
- [231] NULAND, A. J. M., OUDEN, H. E. M., ZACH, H., DIRKX, M. F. M., ASTEN, J. J. A., SCHEENEN, T. W. J., TONI, I., COOLS, R., AND HELMICH, R. C. Gabaergic changes in the thalamocortical circuit in parkinson's disease. *Human Brain Mapping 41* (3 2020), 1017–1029. 2
- [232] ODDO, S. The ubiquitin-proteasome system in alzheimer's disease. Journal of Cellular and Molecular Medicine 12 (4 2008), 363–373. 1
- [233] OKSANEN, M., LEHTONEN, S., JARONEN, M., GOLDSTEINS, G., HÄMÄLÄINEN, R. H., AND KOISTINAHO, J. Astrocyte alterations in neurodegenerative pathologies and their modeling in human induced pluripotent stem cell platforms. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences 76* (7 2019), 2739–2760. 3.3.6, 3.4.3
- [234] ON AGING, N. I. What happens to the brain in alzheimer's disease?, 2022. 1.2.2
- [235] ORGANISATION, W. H. Global action plan on the public health response to dementia 2017 - 2025, 2022. 1.2.2
- [236] OUELLETTE, J., AND LACOSTE, B. From neurodevelopmental to neurodegenerative disorders: The vascular continuum. Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience 13 (10 2021). 4.1
- [237] OUTEIRO, T. F., KOSS, D. J., ERSKINE, D., WALKER, L., KURZAWA-AKANBI, M., BURN, D., DONAGHY, P., MORRIS, C., TAYLOR, J.-P., THOMAS, A., ATTEMS, J.,

AND MCKEITH, I. Dementia with lewy bodies: an update and outlook. *Molecular* Neurodegeneration 14 (12 2019), 5. 2.1.1

- [238] PARENTI, I., RABANEDA, L. G., SCHOEN, H., AND NOVARINO, G. Neurodevelopmental disorders: From genetics to functional pathways. *Trends in Neurosciences* 43 (8 2020). 1.2.1, 4.1, 4.3.4
- [239] PASCAL, L. E., TRUE, L. D., CAMPBELL, D. S., DEUTSCH, E. W., RISK, M., COLEMAN, I. M., EICHNER, L. J., NELSON, P. S., AND LIU, A. Y. Correlation of mrna and protein levels: Cell type-specific gene expression of cluster designation antigens in the prostate. *BMC Genomics 9* (2008), 246. 5.1.7
- [240] PATEL, D., ZHANG, X., FARRELL, J. J., CHUNG, J., STEIN, T. D., LUNETTA, K. L., AND FARRER, L. A. Cell-type-specific expression quantitative trait loci associated with alzheimer disease in blood and brain tissue. *Translational Psychiatry 11* (4 2021), 250. 2.4.4
- [241] PERL, D. P. Neuropathology of alzheimer's disease. The Mount Sinai journal of medicine, New York 77 (2010), 32–42. 3.1.1, 3.1.2
- [242] PERRY, R. H., IRVING, D., BLESSED, G., FAIRBAIRN, A., AND PERRY, E. K. Senile dementia of lewy body type. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences 95* (2 1990), 119–139.
 2.1
- [243] PERUCCA, E. Pharmacological and therapeutic properties of valproate. CNS Drugs 16 (2002), 695–714. 4.1.2
- [244] POEWE, W., GAUTHIER, S., AARSLAND, D., LEVERENZ, J. B., BARONE, P., WEIN-TRAUB, D., TOLOSA, E., AND DUBOIS, B. Diagnosis and management of parkinson's disease dementia. *International journal of clinical practice 62* (10 2008), 1581–7. 2.1
- [245] POEWE, W., SEPPI, K., AND TANNER, C. Parkinson disease. Nat Rev Dis Primers 3, 1. et al. 1.2.2

[246] PORCU, E., RÜEGER, S., LEPIK, K., AGBESSI, M., AHSAN, H., ALVES, I., ANDI-APPAN, A., ARINDRARTO, W., AWADALLA, P., BATTLE, A., BEUTNER, F., BON-DER, M. J., BOOMSMA, D., CHRISTIANSEN, M., CLARINGBOULD, A., DEELEN, P., Esko, T., Favé, M.-J., Franke, L., Frayling, T., Gharib, S. A., Gibson, G., HEIJMANS, B. T., HEMANI, G., JANSEN, R., KÄHÖNEN, M., KALNAPENKIS, A., KASELA, S., KETTUNEN, J., KIM, Y., KIRSTEN, H., KOVACS, P., KROHN, K., KRONBERG-GUZMAN, J., KUKUSHKINA, V., LEE, B., LEHTIMÄKI, T., LOEFFLER, M., MARIGORTA, U. M., MEI, H., MILANI, L., MONTGOMERY, G. W., MÜLLER-NURASYID, M., NAUCK, M., NIVARD, M., PENNINX, B., PEROLA, M., PERVJAKOVA, N., PIERCE, B. L., POWELL, J., PROKISCH, H., PSATY, B. M., RAITAKARI, O. T., RIPATTI, S., ROTZSCHKE, O., SAHA, A., SCHOLZ, M., SCHRAMM, K., SEPPÄLÄ, I., SLAGBOOM, E. P., STEHOUWER, C. D. A., STUMVOLL, M., SULLIVAN, P., 'T HOEN, P. A. C., TEUMER, A., THIERY, J., TONG, L., TÖNJES, A., VAN DONGEN, J., VAN ITERSON, M., VAN MEURS, J., VELDINK, J. H., VERLOUW, J., VISSCHER, P. M., VÖLKER, U., VÕSA, U., WESTRA, H.-J., WIJMENGA, C., YAGHOOTKAR, H., YANG, J., ZENG, B., ZHANG, F., ARINDRARTO, W., BEEKMAN, M., BOOMSMA, D. I., BOT, J., DEELEN, J., DEELEN, P., FRANKE, L., HEIJMANS, B. T., 'T HOEN, P. A. C., HOFMAN, B. A., HOTTENGA, J. J., ISAACS, A., BONDER, M. J., JHAMAI, P. M., JANSEN, R., KIELBASA, S. M., LAKENBERG, N., LUIJK, R., MEI, H., MOED, M., NOOREN, I., POOL, R., SCHALKWIJK, C. G., SLAGBOOM, P. E., STEHOUWER, C. D. A., SUCHIMAN, H. E. D., SWERTZ, M. A., TIGCHELAAR, E. F., UITTERLIN-DEN, A. G., VAN DEN BERG, L. H., VAN DER BREGGEN, R., VAN DER KALLEN, C. J. H., VAN DIJK, F., VAN DONGEN, J., VAN DUIJN, C. M., VAN GALEN, M., VAN GREEVENBROEK, M. M. J., VAN HEEMST, D., VAN ITERSON, M., VAN MEURS, J., VAN ROOIJ, J., VAN'T HOF, P., VAN ZWET, E. W., VERMAAT, M., VELDINK, J. H., Verbiest, M., Verkerk, M., Wijmenga, C., Zhernakova, D. V., Zhernakova, S., SANTONI, F. A., REYMOND, A., AND KUTALIK, Z. Mendelian randomization integrating gwas and eqtl data reveals genetic determinants of complex and clinical traits. Nature Communications 10 (7 2019), 3300. 1

- [247] PORTER, R. S., JAAMOUR, F., AND IWASE, S. Neuron-specific alternative splicing of transcriptional machineries: Implications for neurodevelopmental disorders. *Molecular* and Cellular Neuroscience 87 (3 2018). 4.4.4
- [248] POSTUMA, R. B., BERG, D., STERN, M., POEWE, W., OLANOW, C. W., OERTEL, W., OBESO, J., MAREK, K., LITVAN, I., LANG, A. E., HALLIDAY, G., GOETZ, C. G., GASSER, T., DUBOIS, B., CHAN, P., BLOEM, B. R., ADLER, C. H., AND DEUSCHL, G. Mds clinical diagnostic criteria for parkinson's disease. *Movement Disorders 30* (10 2015), 1591–1601. 2.2.1
- [249] PROFT, J., RZHEPETSKYY, Y., LAZNIEWSKA, J., ZHANG, F.-X., CAIN, S. M., SNUTCH, T. P., ZAMPONI, G. W., AND WEISS, N. The cacnalh mutation in the gaers model of absence epilepsy enhances t-type ca2+ currents by altering calnexin-dependent trafficking of cav3.2 channels. *Scientific Reports* 7 (9 2017), 11513. 1
- [250] PULIT, S. L., STONEMAN, C., MORRIS, A. P., WOOD, A. R., GLASTONBURY, C. A., TYRRELL, J., YENGO, L., FERREIRA, T., MAROULI, E., JI, Y., YANG, J., JONES, S., BEAUMONT, R., CROTEAU-CHONKA, D. C., WINKLER, T. W., HATTERSLEY, A. T., LOOS, R. J. F., HIRSCHHORN, J. N., VISSCHER, P. M., FRAYLING, T. M., YAGHOOTKAR, H., AND LINDGREN, C. M. Meta-analysis of genome-wide association studies for body fat distribution in 694 649 individuals of european ancestry. *Human Molecular Genetics 28* (1 2019). 4.3.5
- [251] QIU, X., MAO, Q., AND TANG, Y. Reversed graph embedding resolves complex singlecell trajectories. Nat Methods 14, 10, 979–982. 1.1.3
- [252] RASMUSSEN, J., EWING, A. D., BODEA, L., BODEA, G. O., GEARING, M., AND FAULKNER, G. J. An early proinflammatory transcriptional response to tau pathology is age-specific and foreshadows reduced tau burden. *Brain Pathology* 32 (5 2022). 3.1.5
- [253] REINIUS, B., AND JAZIN, E. Prenatal sex differences in the human brain. Molecular Psychiatry 14 (11 2009), 988–989. 4.2.2

- [254] RHO, J. M., DONEVAN, S. D., AND ROGAWSKI, M. A. Direct activation of gabaa receptors by barbiturates in cultured rat hippocampal neurons. *The Journal of Physiology* 497 (12 1996), 509–522. 2
- [255] RIPKE, S., WALTERS, J., O'DONOVAN, M., AND OF THE PSYCHIATRIC GE-NOMICS CONSORTIUM, S. W. G. Mapping genomic loci prioritises genes and implicates synaptic biology in schizophrenia. *MedRxiv* (2020). 4.2.5, 4.3.5
- [256] ROBINSON, J. E., AND GRADINARU, V. Dopaminergic dysfunction in neurodevelopmental disorders: recent advances and synergistic technologies to aid basic research. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology* 48 (2 2018), 17–29. 1.2.1, 2.1.1
- [257] ROBINSON, M. D., MCCARTHY, D. J., AND SMYTH, G. K. edger: a bioconductor package for differential expression analysis of digital gene expression data. *Bioinformatics* 26 (1 2010). 1.1.3, 4.2.3, 4.3.6
- [258] ROGAWSKI, M. A., AND LÖSCHER, W. The neurobiology of antiepileptic drugs. Nature Reviews Neuroscience 5 (7 2004), 553–564. 4.1.2, 1, 2
- [259] ROMOLI, M., MAZZOCCHETTI, P., D'ALONZO, R., SILIQUINI, S., RINALDI, V. E., VERROTTI, A., CALABRESI, P., AND COSTA, C. Valproic acid and epilepsy: From molecular mechanisms to clinical evidences. *Current Neuropharmacology* 17 (9 2019), 926–946. 4.1.2
- [260] ROSARIO, E. R., CHANG, L., HEAD, E. H., STANCZYK, F. Z., AND PIKE, C. J. Brain levels of sex steroid hormones in men and women during normal aging and in alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiology of Aging 32* (4 2011), 604–613. 5.1.4
- [261] ROULLET, F. I., LAI, J. K., AND FOSTER, J. A. In utero exposure to valproic acid and autism — a current review of clinical and animal studies. *Neurotoxicology and Teratology* 36 (3 2013), 47–56. 4.1.2
- [262] ROUSSO, D., PEARSON, C., GABER, Z., MIQUELAJAUREGUI, A., LI, S., PORTERA-CAILLIAU, C., MORRISEY, E., AND NOVITCH, B. Foxp-mediated suppression of n-

cadherin regulates neuroepithelial character and progenitor maintenance in the cns. *Neuron* 74 (4 2012). 4.3.6, 4.4.4

- [263] SAELENS, W., CANNOODT, R., TODOROV, H., AND SAEYS, Y. A comparison of single-cell trajectory inference methods. *Nat Biotechnol* 37, 5, 547–554. 1.1.3
- [264] SAEZ, I., AND VILCHEZ, D. Protein clearance mechanisms and their demise in agerelated neurodegenerative diseases. AIMS Molecular Science 2 (2015), 1–21. 5.1.4
- [265] SAGHI, M., INANLOORAHATLOO, K., ALAVI, A., KAHRIZI, K., AND NAJMABADI, H. Intellectual disability associated with craniofacial dysmorphism due to polr3b mutation and defect in spliceosomal machinery. *BMC Medical Genomics* 15 (12 2022), 89. 4.1.1
- [266] SAINI, J., CORNEO, B., AND MILLER, J. Nicotinamide ameliorates disease phenotypes in a human ipsc model of age-related macular degeneration. *Cell Stem Cell 20*, 5, 635–647.
 1
- [267] SALIMI, M., TABASI, F., AND ABDOLSAMADI, M. Disrupted connectivity in the olfactory bulb-entorhinal cortex-dorsal hippocampus circuit is associated with recognition memory deficit in alzheimer's disease model. *Sci Rep 12*, 1. 71. 1.2.2
- [268] SANDERS, S. J., SCHWARTZ, G. B., AND FARH, K. K.-H. Clinical impact of splicing in neurodevelopmental disorders. *Genome Medicine* 12 (12 2020), 36. 4.1, 4.1.1
- [269] SANTACRUZ, K., LEWIS, J., SPIRES, T., PAULSON, J., KOTILINEK, L., INGELSSON, M., GUIMARAES, A., DETURE, M., RAMSDEN, M., MCGOWAN, E., FORSTER, C., YUE, M., ORNE, J., JANUS, C., MARIASH, A., KUSKOWSKI, M., HYMAN, B., HUT-TON, M., AND ASHE, K. H. Tau suppression in a neurodegenerative mouse model improves memory function. *Science 309* (7 2005), 476–481. 3.1.2, 3.1.5
- [270] SATIJA, R., FARRELL, J. A., GENNERT, D., SCHIER, A. F., AND REGEV, A. Spatial reconstruction of single-cell gene expression data. *Nature Biotechnology* 33 (5 2015). 1.1.3, 4.2.6

[271] SATTERSTROM, F. K., KOSMICKI, J. A., WANG, J., BREEN, M. S., RUBEIS, S. D., AN, J.-Y., PENG, M., COLLINS, R., GROVE, J., KLEI, L., STEVENS, C., RE-ICHERT, J., MULHERN, M. S., ARTOMOV, M., GERGES, S., SHEPPARD, B., XU, X., BHADURI, A., NORMAN, U., BRAND, H., SCHWARTZ, G., NGUYEN, R., GUER-RERO, E. E., DIAS, C., BETANCUR, C., COOK, E. H., GALLAGHER, L., GILL, M., SUTCLIFFE, J. S., THURM, A., ZWICK, M. E., BØRGLUM, A. D., STATE, M. W., CICEK, A. E., TALKOWSKI, M. E., CUTLER, D. J., DEVLIN, B., SANDERS, S. J., ROEDER, K., DALY, M. J., BUXBAUM, J. D., ALEKSIC, B., ANNEY, R., BAR-BOSA, M., BISHOP, S., BRUSCO, A., BYBJERG-GRAUHOLM, J., CARRACEDO, A., CHAN, M. C., CHIOCCHETTI, A. G., CHUNG, B. H., COON, H., CUCCARO, M. L., CURRÓ, A., BERNARDINA, B. D., DOAN, R., DOMENICI, E., DONG, S., FALLERINI, C., FERNÁNDEZ-PRIETO, M., FERRERO, G. B., FREITAG, C. M., FROMER, M., GARGUS, J. J., GESCHWIND, D., GIORGIO, E., GONZÁLEZ-PEÑAS, J., GUTER, S., HALPERN, D., HANSEN-KISS, E., HE, X., HERMAN, G. E., HERTZ-PICCIOTTO, I., HOUGAARD, D. M., HULTMAN, C. M., IONITA-LAZA, I., JACOB, S., JAMISON, J., JUGESSUR, A., KAARTINEN, M., KNUDSEN, G. P., KOLEVZON, A., KUSHIMA, I., LEE, S. L., LEHTIMÄKI, T., LIM, E. T., LINTAS, C., LIPKIN, W. I., LOPERGOLO, D., LOPES, F., LUDENA, Y., MACIEL, P., MAGNUS, P., MAHJANI, B., MALTMAN, N., MANOACH, D. S., MEIRI, G., MENASHE, I., MILLER, J., MINSHEW, N., MON-TENEGRO, E. M., MOREIRA, D., MORROW, E. M., MORS, O., MORTENSEN, P. B., MOSCONI, M., MUGLIA, P., NEALE, B. M., NORDENTOFT, M., OZAKI, N., PALOTIE, A., PARELLADA, M., PASSOS-BUENO, M. R., PERICAK-VANCE, M., PERSICO, A. M., PESSAH, I., PUURA, K., REICHENBERG, A., RENIERI, A., RIBERI, E., ROBINSON, E. B., SAMOCHA, K. E., SANDIN, S., SANTANGELO, S. L., SCHELLENBERG, G., SCHERER, S. W., SCHLITT, S., SCHMIDT, R., SCHMITT, L., SILVA, I. M., SINGH, T., SIPER, P. M., SMITH, M., SOARES, G., STOLTENBERG, C., SUREN, P., SUSSER, E., SWEENEY, J., SZATMARI, P., TANG, L., TASSONE, F., TEUFEL, K., TRABETTI, E., DEL PILAR TRELLES, M., WALSH, C. A., WEISS, L. A., WERGE, T., WER-LING, D. M., WIGDOR, E. M., WILKINSON, E., WILLSEY, A. J., YU, T. W., YU, M. H., YUEN, R., ZACHI, E., AGERBO, E., ALS, T. D., APPADURAI, V., BÆKVAD-HANSEN, M., BELLIVEAU, R., BUIL, A., CAREY, C. E., CERRATO, F., CHAMBERT, K., CHURCHHOUSE, C., DALSGAARD, S., DEMONTIS, D., DUMONT, A., GOLDSTEIN, J., HANSEN, C. S., HAUBERG, M. E., HOLLEGAARD, M. V., HOWRIGAN, D. P., HUANG, H., MALLER, J., MARTIN, A. R., MARTIN, J., MATTHEISEN, M., MORAN, J., PALLESEN, J., PALMER, D. S., PEDERSEN, C. B., PEDERSEN, M. G., POTERBA, T., POULSEN, J. B., RIPKE, S., SCHORK, A. J., THOMPSON, W. K., TURLEY, P., AND WALTERS, R. K. Large-scale exome sequencing study implicates both developmental and functional changes in the neurobiology of autism. *Cell 180* (2 2020), 568–584.e23.

[272] SAVAGE, J. E., JANSEN, P. R., STRINGER, S., WATANABE, K., BRYOIS, J., DE LEEUW, C. A., NAGEL, M., AWASTHI, S., BARR, P. B., COLEMAN, J. R. I., GRASBY, K. L., HAMMERSCHLAG, A. R., KAMINSKI, J. A., KARLSSON, R., KRAPOHL, E., LAM, M., NYGAARD, M., REYNOLDS, C. A., TRAMPUSH, J. W., YOUNG, H., ZABANEH, D., HÄGG, S., HANSELL, N. K., KARLSSON, I. K., LIN-NARSSON, S., MONTGOMERY, G. W., MUÑOZ-MANCHADO, A. B., QUINLAN, E. B., SCHUMANN, G., SKENE, N. G., WEBB, B. T., WHITE, T., ARKING, D. E., AVRAMOPOULOS, D., BILDER, R. M., BITSIOS, P., BURDICK, K. E., CANNON, T. D., CHIBA-FALEK, O., CHRISTOFOROU, A., CIRULLI, E. T., CONGDON, E., CORVIN, A., DAVIES, G., DEARY, I. J., DEROSSE, P., DICKINSON, D., DJUROVIC, S., DONOHOE, G., CONLEY, E. D., ERIKSSON, J. G., ESPESETH, T., FREIMER, N. A., GIAKOUMAKI, S., GIEGLING, I., GILL, M., GLAHN, D. C., HARIRI, A. R., HATZIMANOLIS, A., KELLER, M. C., KNOWLES, E., KOLTAI, D., KONTE, B., LAHTI, J., Hellard, S. L., Lencz, T., Liewald, D. C., London, E., Lundervold, A. J., MALHOTRA, A. K., MELLE, I., MORRIS, D., NEED, A. C., OLLIER, W., PALOTIE, A., PAYTON, A., PENDLETON, N., POLDRACK, R. A., RÄIKKÖNEN, K., REINVANG, I., ROUSSOS, P., RUJESCU, D., SABB, F. W., SCULT, M. A., SMELAND, O. B., SMYRNIS, N., STARR, J. M., STEEN, V. M., STEFANIS, N. C., STRAUB, R. E., SUNDET, K., TIEMEIER, H., VOINESKOS, A. N., WEINBERGER, D. R., WIDEN, E.,

YU, J., ABECASIS, G., ANDREASSEN, O. A., BREEN, G., CHRISTIANSEN, L., DE-BRABANT, B., DICK, D. M., HEINZ, A., HJERLING-LEFFLER, J., IKRAM, M. A., KENDLER, K. S., MARTIN, N. G., MEDLAND, S. E., PEDERSEN, N. L., PLOMIN, R., POLDERMAN, T. J. C., RIPKE, S., VAN DER SLUIS, S., SULLIVAN, P. F., VRIEZE, S. I., WRIGHT, M. J., AND POSTHUMA, D. Genome-wide association meta-analysis in 269,867 individuals identifies new genetic and functional links to intelligence. *Nature Genetics* 50 (7 2018). 4.2.5, 4.3.5

- [273] SCHRAMM, A., KÖSTER, J., AND MARSCHALL, T. Next-generation rna sequencing reveals differential expression of mycn target genes and suggests the mtor pathway as a promising therapy target in mycn- amplified neuroblastoma. Int J Cancer 132, 3. 1. 1
- [274] SENN, S. M., KANTOR, S., POULTON, I. J., MORRIS, M. J., SIMS, N. A., O'BRIEN,
 T. J., AND WARK, J. D. Adverse effects of valproate on bone: Defining a model to investigate the pathophysiology. *Epilepsia 51* (2 2010). 4.3.1
- [275] SEY, N. Y. A., HU, B., MAH, W., FAUNI, H., MCAFEE, J. C., RAJARAJAN, P., BRENNAND, K. J., AKBARIAN, S., AND WON, H. A computational tool (h-magma) for improved prediction of brain-disorder risk genes by incorporating brain chromatin interaction profiles. *Nature Neuroscience 23* (4 2020), 583–593. 3.2.11
- [276] SHAFIEI, S. S., GUERRERO-MUÑOZ, M. J., AND CASTILLO-CARRANZA, D. L. Tau oligomers: Cytotoxicity, propagation, and mitochondrial damage. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience 9* (4 2017). 4
- [277] SHENDURE, J., BALASUBRAMANIAN, S., CHURCH, G. M., GILBERT, W., ROGERS, J., SCHLOSS, J. A., AND WATERSTON, R. H. Dna sequencing at 40: past, present and future. *Nature 550* (10 2017), 345–353. 1.1.1
- [278] SHENDURE, J., AND JI, H. Next-generation dna sequencing. Nature Biotechnology 26 (10 2008), 1135–1145. 1.1.1
- [279] SHI, H., ZHOU, Y., JIA, E., PAN, M., BAI, Y., AND GE, Q. Bias in rna-seq library preparation: Current challenges and solutions. *Biomed Res Int 2021*, 1–11. 24. 1.1.3

- [280] SHI, H., ZHOU, Y., JIA, E., PAN, M., BAI, Y., GE, Q., ET AL. Bias in rna-seq library preparation: current challenges and solutions. *BioMed Research International* 2021 (2021). 5.1.7
- [281] SIDHU, H. S., SRINIVAS, R., AND SADHOTRA, A. Evaluate the effects of long-term valproic acid treatment on metabolic profiles in newly diagnosed or untreated female epileptic patients: A prospective study. *Seizure 48* (5 2017). 4.3.4
- [282] SINGH, T., POTERBA, T., CURTIS, D., AKIL, H., AL EISSA, M., BARCHAS, J. D., BASS, N., BIGDELI, T. B., BREEN, G., BROMET, E. J., ET AL. Rare coding variants in ten genes confer substantial risk for schizophrenia. *Nature 604*, 7906 (2022), 509–516. 1.1.3
- [283] SKENE, N., BRYOIS, J., AND BAKKEN, T. Genetic identification of brain cell types underlying schizophrenia. Nat Genet 50, 6, 825–833. 161. 3
- [284] SKENE, N. G., BRYOIS, J., BAKKEN, T. E., BREEN, G., CROWLEY, J. J., GASPAR, H. A., GIUSTI-RODRIGUEZ, P., HODGE, R. D., MILLER, J. A., MUÑOZ-MANCHADO, A. B., O'DONOVAN, M. C., OWEN, M. J., PARDIÑAS, A. F., RYGE, J., WALTERS, J. T. R., LINNARSSON, S., LEIN, E. S., SULLIVAN, P. F., AND HJERLING-LEFFLER, J. Genetic identification of brain cell types underlying schizophrenia. *Nature Genetics* 50 (6 2018), 825–833. 2.2.10, 2.3.7
- [285] SKENE, N. G., AND GRANT, S. G. N. Identification of vulnerable cell types in major brain disorders using single cell transcriptomes and expression weighted cell type enrichment. *Frontiers in Neuroscience 10* (1 2016). 2.2.6, 5.1.5
- [286] SMIT, T., DESHAYES, N. A. C., BORCHELT, D. R., KAMPHUIS, W., MIDDELDORP, J., AND HOL, E. M. Reactive astrocytes as treatment targets in alzheimer's diseasesystematic review of studies using the appsweps1de9 mouse model. *Glia 69* (8 2021), 1852–1881. 2
- [287] SMITH, C., MALEK, N., GROSSET, K., CULLEN, B., GENTLEMAN, S., AND GROSSET,D. G. Neuropathology of dementia in patients with parkinson's disease: a systematic

review of autopsy studies. Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery Psychiatry (8 2019), jnnp-2019-321111. 2.1.1

- [288] SMYTH, G. K. Linear models and empirical bayes methods for assessing differential expression in microarray experiments. *Statistical applications in genetics and molecular biology 3*, 1 (2004). 1.1.3
- [289] SNOW, W. M., HARTLE, K., AND IVANCO, T. L. Altered morphology of motor cortex neurons in the vpa rat model of autism. *Developmental Psychobiology* 50 (11 2008), 633–639. 4.1.2
- [290] SONESON, C., AND DELORENZI, M. A comparison of methods for differential expression analysis of rna-seq data. BMC Bioinformatics 14, 1. 34. 1.1.3, 2.4.5
- [291] SONESON, C., AND ROBINSON, M. D. Bias, robustness and scalability in single-cell differential expression analysis. *Nature Methods* 15 (4 2018), 255–261. 1
- [292] SPILLANTINI, M. G., SCHMIDT, M. L., LEE, V. M.-Y., TROJANOWSKI, J. Q., JAKES,
 R., AND GOEDERT, M. -synuclein in lewy bodies. *Nature 388* (8 1997), 839–840. 2.1.1
- [293] STAHL, E. A., BREEN, G., FORSTNER, A. J., MCQUILLIN, A., RIPKE, S., TRUBETSKOY, V., MATTHEISEN, M., WANG, Y., COLEMAN, J. R. I., GASPAR, H. A., DE LEEUW, C. A., STEINBERG, S., PAVLIDES, J. M. W., TRZASKOWSKI, M., BYRNE, E. M., PERS, T. H., HOLMANS, P. A., RICHARDS, A. L., ABBOTT, L., AGERBO, E., AKIL, H., ALBANI, D., ALLIEY-RODRIGUEZ, N., ALS, T. D., ANJORIN, A., ANTILLA, V., AWASTHI, S., BADNER, J. A., BÆKVAD-HANSEN, M., BARCHAS, J. D., BASS, N., BAUER, M., BELLIVEAU, R., BERGEN, S. E., PEDERSEN, C. B., BØEN, E., BOKS, M. P., BOOCOCK, J., BUDDE, M., BUNNEY, W., BURMEISTER, M., BYBJERG-GRAUHOLM, J., BYERLEY, W., CASAS, M., CERRATO, F., CERVANTES, P., CHAMBERT, K., CHARNEY, A. W., CHEN, D., CHURCHHOUSE, C., CLARKE, T.-K., CORYELL, W., CRAIG, D. W., CRUCEANU, C., CURTIS, D., CZERSKI, P. M., DALE, A. M., DE JONG, S., DEGENHARDT, F., DEL-FAVERO, J., DEPAULO, J. R., DJUROVIC, S., DOBBYN, A. L., DUMONT, A., ELVSÅSHAGEN, T., ESCOTT-PRICE,

V., FAN, C. C., FISCHER, S. B., FLICKINGER, M., FOROUD, T. M., FORTY, L., FRANK, J., FRASER, C., FREIMER, N. B., FRISÉN, L., GADE, K., GAGE, D., GAR-NHAM, J., GIAMBARTOLOMEI, C., PEDERSEN, M. G., GOLDSTEIN, J., GORDON, S. D., GORDON-SMITH, K., GREEN, E. K., GREEN, M. J., GREENWOOD, T. A., GROVE, J., GUAN, W., GUZMAN-PARRA, J., HAMSHERE, M. L., HAUTZINGER, M., Heilbronner, U., Herms, S., Hipolito, M., Hoffmann, P., Holland, D., HUCKINS, L., JAMAIN, S., JOHNSON, J. S., JURÉUS, A., KANDASWAMY, R., KARLS-SON, R., KENNEDY, J. L., KITTEL-SCHNEIDER, S., KNOWLES, J. A., KOGEVINAS, M., KOLLER, A. C., KUPKA, R., LAVEBRATT, C., LAWRENCE, J., LAWSON, W. B., LEBER, M., LEE, P. H., LEVY, S. E., LI, J. Z., LIU, C., LUCAE, S., MAASER, A., MACINTYRE, D. J., MAHON, P. B., MAIER, W., MARTINSSON, L., MCCARROLL, S., MCGUFFIN, P., MCINNIS, M. G., MCKAY, J. D., MEDEIROS, H., MEDLAND, S. E., MENG, F., MILANI, L., MONTGOMERY, G. W., MORRIS, D. W., MÜHLEISEN, T. W., MULLINS, N., NGUYEN, H., NIEVERGELT, C. M., ADOLFSSON, A. N., NWU-LIA, E. A., O'DONOVAN, C., LOOHUIS, L. M. O., ORI, A. P. S., ORUC, L., OSBY, U., PERLIS, R. H., PERRY, A., PFENNIG, A., POTASH, J. B., PURCELL, S. M., REGEER, E. J., REIF, A., REINBOLD, C. S., RICE, J. P., RIVAS, F., RIVERA, M., ROUSSOS, P., RUDERFER, D. M., RYU, E., SÁNCHEZ-MORA, C., SCHATZBERG, A. F., Scheftner, W. A., Schork, N. J., Weickert, C. S., Shehktman, T., SHILLING, P. D., SIGURDSSON, E., SLANEY, C., SMELAND, O. B., SOBELL, J. L., HANSEN, C. S., SPIJKER, A. T., CLAIR, D. S., STEFFENS, M., STRAUSS, J. S., STREIT, F., STROHMAIER, J., SZELINGER, S., THOMPSON, R. C., THORGEIRSSON, T. E., TREUTLEIN, J., VEDDER, H., WANG, W., WATSON, S. J., WEICKERT, T. W., WITT, S. H., XI, S., XU, W., YOUNG, A. H., ZANDI, P., ZHANG, P., ZÖLLNER, S., Adolfsson, R., Agartz, I., Alda, M., Backlund, L., Baune, B. T., Bellivier, F., BERRETTINI, W. H., BIERNACKA, J. M., BLACKWOOD, D. H. R., BOEHNKE, M., BØRGLUM, A. D., CORVIN, A., CRADDOCK, N., DALY, M. J., DANNLOWSKI, U., Esko, T., Etain, B., Frye, M., Fullerton, J. M., Gershon, E. S., Gill, M., GOES, F., GRIGOROIU-SERBANESCU, M., HAUSER, J., HOUGAARD, D. M., HULT-

MAN, C. M., JONES, I., JONES, L. A., KAHN, R. S., KIROV, G., LANDÉN, M., LEBOYER, M., LEWIS, C. M., LI, Q. S., LISSOWSKA, J., MARTIN, N. G., MAYORAL, F., MCELROY, S. L., MCINTOSH, A. M., MCMAHON, F. J., MELLE, I., METSPALU, A., MITCHELL, P. B., MORKEN, G., MORS, O., MORTENSEN, P. B., MÜLLER-MYHSOK, B., MYERS, R. M., NEALE, B. M., NIMGAONKAR, V., NORDENTOFT, M., NÖTHEN, M. M., O'DONOVAN, M. C., OEDEGAARD, K. J., OWEN, M. J., PACIGA, S. A., PATO, C., PATO, M. T., POSTHUMA, D., RAMOS-QUIROGA, J. A., RIBASÉS, M., RIETSCHEL, M., ROULEAU, G. A., SCHALLING, M., SCHOFIELD, P. R., SCHULZE, T. G., SERRETTI, A., SMOLLER, J. W., STEFANSSON, K., STORDAL, E., SULLIVAN, P. F., TURECKI, G., VAALER, A. E., VIETA, E., VINCENT, J. B., WERGE, T., NURNBERGER, J. I., WRAY, N. R., FLORIO, A. D., EDENBERG, H. J., CICHON, S., OPHOFF, R. A., SCOTT, L. J., ANDREASSEN, O. A., KELSOE, J., AND SKLAR, P. Genome-wide association study identifies 30 loci associated with bipolar disorder. *Nature Genetics 51* (5 2019). 4.2.5, 4.3.5

- [294] STAMOULI, E., AND POLITIS, A. Pro-inflammatory cytokines in alzheimer's disease. Psychiatriki 27 (10 2016), 264–275. 3
- [295] STAMOULI, S., ANDERLID, B.-M., WILLFORS, C., THIRUVAHINDRAPURAM, B., WEI, J., BERGGREN, S., NORDGREN, A., SCHERER, S. W., LICHTENSTEIN, P., TAM-MIMIES, K., AND BÖLTE, S. Copy number variation analysis of 100 twin pairs enriched for neurodevelopmental disorders. *Twin Research and Human Genetics 21* (2 2018), 1–11. 4.1.1
- [296] STANKOVIC, I. N., AND COLAK, D. Prenatal drugs and their effects on the developing brain: Insights from three-dimensional human organoids. *Frontiers in Neuroscience 16* (3 2022). 4.1.2
- [297] STEFANIS, L. -synuclein in parkinson's disease. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Medicine 2 (2 2012), a009399–a009399. 2.1.1, 2.1.2, 2.4.1
- [298] STESSMAN, H. A. F., XIONG, B., COE, B. P., WANG, T., HOEKZEMA, K., FENCK-OVA, M., KVARNUNG, M., GERDTS, J., TRINH, S., COSEMANS, N., VIVES, L., LIN,

J., TURNER, T. N., SANTEN, G., RUIVENKAMP, C., KRIEK, M., VAN HAERINGEN, A., ATEN, E., FRIEND, K., LIEBELT, J., BARNETT, C., HAAN, E., SHAW, M., GECZ, J., ANDERLID, B.-M., NORDGREN, A., LINDSTRAND, A., SCHWARTZ, C., KOOY, R. F., VANDEWEYER, G., HELSMOORTEL, C., ROMANO, C., ALBERTI, A., VINCI, M., AVOLA, E., GIUSTO, S., COURCHESNE, E., PRAMPARO, T., PIERCE, K., NALABOLU, S., AMARAL, D. G., SCHEFFER, I. E., DELATYCKI, M. B., LOCKHART, P. J., HORMOZDIARI, F., HARICH, B., CASTELLS-NOBAU, A., XIA, K., PEETERS, H., NORDENSKJÖLD, M., SCHENCK, A., BERNIER, R. A., AND EICHLER, E. E. Targeted sequencing identifies 91 neurodevelopmental-disorder risk genes with autism and developmental-disability biases. *Nature Genetics 49* (4 2017), 515–526. 4.1.1

- [299] STUART, T., BUTLER, A., HOFFMAN, P., HAFEMEISTER, C., PAPALEXI, E., MAUCK,
 W. M., HAO, Y., STOECKIUS, M., SMIBERT, P., AND SATIJA, R. Comprehensive integration of single-cell data. *Cell* 177 (6 2019), 1888–1902.e21. 1.1.3
- [300] SU, C.-H., D, D., AND TARN, W.-Y. Alternative splicing in neurogenesis and brain development. Frontiers in Molecular Biosciences 5 (2 2018). 4.4.4
- [301] SUBRAMANIAN, A., TAMAYO, P., AND MOOTHA, V. Gene set enrichment analysis: A knowledge-based approach for interpreting genome-wide expression profiles. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences 102, 43, 15545–15550. 42. 1.1.3
- [302] SUN, S., ZHU, J., MA, Y., AND ZHOU, X. Accuracy, robustness and scalability of dimensionality reduction methods for single-cell rna-seq analysis. *Genome Biology 20* (12 2019), 269. 1.1.3
- [303] TAKEMON, Y., CHICK, J. M., GYURICZA, I. G., SKELLY, D. A., DEVUYST, O., GYGI, S. P., CHURCHILL, G. A., AND KORSTANJE, R. Proteomic and transcriptomic profiling reveal different aspects of aging in the kidney. *eLife 10* (3 2021). 5.1.7
- [304] TAN, M. M., LAWTON, M. A., JABBARI, E., REYNOLDS, R. H., IWAKI, H., BLAUWENDRAAT, C., KANAVOU, S., POLLARD, M. I., HUBBARD, L., MALEK, N., GROSSET, K. A., MARRINAN, S. L., BAJAJ, N., BARKER, R. A., BURN, D. J.,

BRESNER, C., FOLTYNIE, T., WOOD, N. W., WILLIAMS-GRAY, C. H., HARDY, J., NALLS, M. A., SINGLETON, A. B., WILLIAMS, N. M., BEN-SHLOMO, Y., HU, M. T., GROSSET, D. G., SHOAI, M., AND MORRIS, H. R. Genome-wide association studies of cognitive and motor progression in parkinson's disease. *Movement Disorders 36* (2 2021), 424–433. 2.1.2

- [305] TANAKA, M., OLSEN, R. W., MEDINA, M. T., SCHWARTZ, E., ALONSO, M. E., DURON, R. M., CASTRO-ORTEGA, R., MARTINEZ-JUAREZ, I. E., PASCUAL-CASTROVIEJO, I., MACHADO-SALAS, J., SILVA, R., BAILEY, J. N., BAI, D., OCHOA, A., JARA-PRADO, A., PINEDA, G., MACDONALD, R. L., AND DELGADO-ESCUETA, A. V. Hyperglycosylation and reduced gaba currents of mutated gabrb3 polypeptide in remitting childhood absence epilepsy. *The American Journal of Human Genetics 82* (6 2008), 1249–1261. 4.4.3
- [306] TANG, X., JAENISCH, R., AND SUR, M. The role of gabaergic signalling in neurodevelopmental disorders. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience 22* (5 2021), 290–307. 2
- [307] TANNER, C. M., KAMEL, F., ROSS, G. W., HOPPIN, J. A., GOLDMAN, S. M., KORELL, M., MARRAS, C., BHUDHIKANOK, G. S., KASTEN, M., CHADE, A. R., COMYNS, K., RICHARDS, M. B., MENG, C., PRIESTLEY, B., FERNANDEZ, H. H., CAMBI, F., UMBACH, D. M., BLAIR, A., SANDLER, D. P., AND LANGSTON, J. W. Rotenone, paraquat, and parkinson's disease. *Environmental Health Perspectives 119* (6 2011), 866–872. 2.1.3
- [308] THALER, A., ASH, E., GAN-OR, Z., ORR-URTREGER, A., AND GILADI, N. The lrrk2 g2019s mutation as the cause of parkinson's disease in ashkenazi jews. *Journal of Neural Transmission 116* (11 2009), 1473–1482. 2.1.2
- [309] THOTALA, D., KARVAS, R. M., ENGELBACH, J. A., GARBOW, J. R., HALLAHAN, A. N., DEWEES, T. A., LASZLO, A., AND HALLAHAN, D. E. Valproic acid enhances the efficacy of radiation therapy by protecting normal hippocampal neurons and sensitizing malignant glioblastoma cells. Oncotarget 6 (10 2015), 35004–35022. 4.1.2

- [310] TILLEY, B. S. A clinico-pathological investigation of the human basal ganglia and brainstem in clinical subtypes of parkinson's disease. 2.1.3, 2.2.1
- [311] TIMP, W., AND TIMP, G. Beyond mass spectrometry, the next step in proteomics. Science Advances 6 (1 2020). 5.1.7
- [312] TONG, V., TENG, X. W., CHANG, T. K. H., AND ABBOTT, F. S. Valproic acid ii: Effects on oxidative stress, mitochondrial membrane potential, and cytotoxicity in glutathione-depleted rat hepatocytes. *Toxicological Sciences 86* (8 2005). 4
- [313] TRAAG, V., WALTMAN, L., AND ECK, N. From louvain to leiden: guaranteeing wellconnected communities. Sci Rep 9, 1. 1.1.3
- [314] TRABZUNI, D., RAMASAMY, A., IMRAN, S., WALKER, R., SMITH, C., WEALE, M. E., HARDY, J., AND RYTEN, M. Widespread sex differences in gene expression and splicing in the adult human brain. *Nature Communications* 4 (12 2013). 5.1.4
- [315] TRACY, T. E., AND GAN, L. Tau-mediated synaptic and neuronal dysfunction in neurodegenerative disease. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology* 51 (8 2018), 134–138. 1, 1
- [316] TRAPNELL, C., CACCHIARELLI, D., AND GRIMSBY, J. The dynamics and regulators of cell fate decisions are revealed by pseudotemporal ordering of single cells. *Nat Biotechnol* 32, 4, 381–386. 51. 1.1.2, 1.1.3
- [317] TREDICI, K. D., AND BRAAK, H. Idiopathic parkinson's disease: Staging an synucleinopathy with a predictable pathoanatomy. *Madame Curie Bioscience Database* (2000). 2.1.1
- [318] (US), N. A. P. Clinical characteristics of intellectual disabilities. 1.2.1
- [319] V., G. R., JL, Y.-G., AND MJ, M. Rna-sequencing from single nuclei. In Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. Published online 2013. 19. 1.1.1
- [320] VAJDA, F. J., O'BRIEN, T. J., GRAHAM, J. E., LANDER, C. M., AND EADIE, M. J. Dose dependence of fetal malformations associated with valproate. *Neurology 81* (9 2013), 999–1003. 4.1.2

- [321] VELEZ-PARDO, C., LORENZO-BETANCOR, O., AND JIMENEZ-DEL-RIO, M. The distribution and risk effect of gba variants in a large cohort of pd patients from colombia and peru. *Parkinsonism Relat Disord 63*, 204–208. 118. 2.1.2, 2.4.1
- [322] VIETH, B., PAREKH, S., ZIEGENHAIN, C., ENARD, W., AND HELLMANN, I. A systematic evaluation of single cell rna-seq analysis pipelines. *Nature Communications 10* (10 2019), 4667. 1.1.2
- [323] VILCHEZ, D., SAEZ, I., AND DILLIN, A. The role of protein clearance mechanisms in organismal ageing and age-related diseases. *Nature Communications 5* (12 2014), 5659.
 5.1.4
- [324] VISSCHER, P., BROWN, M., MCCARTHY, M., AND YANG, J. Five years of gwas discovery. The American Journal of Human Genetics 90, 1, 7–24. 45. 1.1.3
- [325] VISSERS, L., GILISSEN, C., AND VELTMAN, J. Genetic studies in intellectual disability and related disorders. Nat Rev Genet 17, 1, 9–18. 1.2.1
- [326] VOGEL, C., AND MARCOTTE, E. M. Insights into the regulation of protein abundance from proteomic and transcriptomic analyses. *Nature Reviews Genetics* 13 (4 2012), 227– 232. 5.1.7
- [327] VOGT, B. Cingulate cortex in parkinson's disease. In 2019, 253–266. 2.1.4
- [328] VOLPICELLI-DALEY, L., AND BRUNDIN, P. Prion-like propagation of pathology in parkinson disease. In 2018, 321–335. 2.1.1
- [329] VOM BERG, J., PROKOP, S., MILLER, K. R., OBST, J., KÄLIN, R. E., LOPATEGUI-CABEZAS, I., WEGNER, A., MAIR, F., SCHIPKE, C. G., PETERS, O., ET AL. Inhibition of il-12/il-23 signaling reduces alzheimer's disease–like pathology and cognitive decline. *Nature medicine 18*, 12 (2012), 1812–1819. 4
- [330] VOSSLER, D. G. Comparative risk of major congenital malformations with 8 different antiepileptic drugs: A prospective cohort study of the eurap registry. *Epilepsy Currents* 19 (3 2019). 4.1.2, 4.4.5

- [331] WALLS, A. B., NILSEN, L. H., EYJOLFSSON, E. M., VESTERGAARD, H. T., HANSEN, S. L., SCHOUSBOE, A., SONNEWALD, U., AND WAAGEPETERSEN, H. S. Gad65 is essential for synthesis of gaba destined for tonic inhibition regulating epileptiform activity. *Journal of Neurochemistry 115* (12 2010). 4.3.6, 4.4.4
- [332] WANG, D., LIU, S., WARRELL, J., WON, H., SHI, X., NAVARRO, F. C. P., CLARKE, D., GU, M., EMANI, P., YANG, Y. T., XU, M., GANDAL, M. J., LOU, S., ZHANG, J., PARK, J. J., YAN, C., RHIE, S. K., MANAKONGTREECHEEP, K., ZHOU, H., NATHAN, A., PETERS, M., MATTEI, E., FITZGERALD, D., BRUNETTI, T., MOORE, J., JIANG, Y., GIRDHAR, K., HOFFMAN, G. E., KALAYCI, S., GÜMÜS, Z. H., CRAW-FORD, G. E., ROUSSOS, P., AKBARIAN, S., JAFFE, A. E., WHITE, K. P., WENG, Z., SESTAN, N., GESCHWIND, D. H., KNOWLES, J. A., GERSTEIN, M. B., ASHLEY-KOCH, A. E., CRAWFORD, G. E., GARRETT, M. E., SONG, L., SAFI, A., JOHNSON, G. D., WRAY, G. A., REDDY, T. E., GOES, F. S., ZANDI, P., BRYOIS, J., JAFFE, A. E., PRICE, A. J., IVANOV, N. A., COLLADO-TORRES, L., HYDE, T. M., BURKE, E. E., KLEIMAN, J. E., TAO, R., SHIN, J. H., AKBARIAN, S., GIRDHAR, K., JIANG, Y., KUNDAKOVIC, M., BROWN, L., KASSIM, B. S., PARK, R. B., WISEMAN, J. R., ZHAROVSKY, E., JACOBOV, R., DEVILLERS, O., FLATOW, E., HOFFMAN, G. E., LIPSKA, B. K., LEWIS, D. A., HAROUTUNIAN, V., HAHN, C.-G., CHARNEY, A. W., DRACHEVA, S., KOZLENKOV, A., BELMONT, J., DELVALLE, D., FRANCOEUR, N., HADJIMICHAEL, E., PINTO, D., VAN BAKEL, H., ROUSSOS, P., FULLARD, J. F., BENDL, J., HAUBERG, M. E., MANGRAVITE, L. M., PETERS, M. A., CHAE, Y., PENG, J., NIU, M., WANG, X., WEBSTER, M. J., BEACH, T. G., CHEN, C., JIANG, Y., DAI, R., SHIEH, A. W., LIU, C., GRENNAN, K. S., XIA, Y., VADUKAPURAM, R., WANG, Y., FITZGERALD, D., CHENG, L., BROWN, M., BROWN, M., BRUNETTI, T., GOODMAN, T., ALSAYED, M., GANDAL, M. J., GESCHWIND, D. H., WON, H., PO-LIOUDAKIS, D., WAMSLEY, B., YIN, J., HADZIC, T., UBIETA, L. D. L. T., SWARUP, V., SANDERS, S. J., STATE, M. W., WERLING, D. M., AN, J.-Y., SHEPPARD, B., WILLSEY, A. J., WHITE, K. P., RAY, M., GIASE, G., KEFI, A., MATTEI, E., PUR-CARO, M., WENG, Z., MOORE, J., PRATT, H., HUEY, J., BORRMAN, T., SULLIVAN,

P. F., GIUSTI-RODRIGUEZ, P., KIM, Y., SULLIVAN, P., SZATKIEWICZ, J., RHIE, S. K., ARMOSKUS, C., CAMARENA, A., FARNHAM, P. J., SPITSYNA, V. N., WITT, H., SCHREINER, S., EVGRAFOV, O. V., KNOWLES, J. A., GERSTEIN, M., LIU, S., WANG, D., NAVARRO, F. C. P., WARRELL, J., CLARKE, D., EMANI, P. S., GU, M., SHI, X., XU, M., YANG, Y. T., KITCHEN, R. R., GÜRSOY, G., ZHANG, J., CAR-LYLE, B. C., NAIRN, A. C., LI, M., POCHAREDDY, S., SESTAN, N., SKARICA, M., LI, Z., SOUSA, A. M. M., SANTPERE, G., CHOI, J., ZHU, Y., GAO, T., MILLER, D. J., CHERSKOV, A., YANG, M., AMIRI, A., COPPOLA, G., MARIANI, J., SCUDERI, S., SZEKELY, A., VACCARINO, F. M., WU, F., WEISSMAN, S., ROYCHOWDHURY, T., AND ABYZOV, A. Comprehensive functional genomic resource and integrative model for the human brain. *Science 362* (12 2018). 2.2.5, 2.3.3, 3.2.8, 3.3.2

- [333] WANG, T., LI, B., NELSON, C. E., AND NABAVI, S. Comparative analysis of differential gene expression analysis tools for single-cell rna sequencing data. *BMC Bioinformatics* 20 (12 2019), 40. 1.1.3, 2.4.5, 1
- [334] WANG, Y., LIU, J., HUANG, B., XU, Y.-M., LI, J., HUANG, L.-F., LIN, J., ZHANG, J., MIN, Q.-H., YANG, W.-M., AND WANG, X.-Z. Mechanism of alternative splicing and its regulation. *Biomedical Reports* 3 (3 2015). 4.4.4
- [335] WANG, Z., CHAN, A. Y. L., COGHILL, D., IP, P., LAU, W. C. Y., SIMONOFF, E., BRAUER, R., WEI, L., WONG, I. C. K., AND MAN, K. K. C. Association between prenatal exposure to antipsychotics and attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder, autism spectrum disorder, preterm birth, and small for gestational age. JAMA Internal Medicine 181 (10 2021). 4.1.2, 4.4.5
- [336] WEI, Z., ZENG, K., HU, J., LI, X., HUANG, F., ZHANG, B., WANG, J.-Z., LIU, R.,
 LI, H.-L., AND WANG, X. Usp10 deubiquitinates tau, mediating its aggregation. *Cell Death Disease 13* (8 2022), 726. 2
- [337] WEISS, N., AND ZAMPONI, G. W. Genetic t-type calcium channelopathies. Journal of Medical Genetics 57 (1 2020), 1–10. 1

- [338] WELCH, J. D., KOZAREVA, V., FERREIRA, A., VANDERBURG, C., MARTIN, C., AND MACOSKO, E. Z. Single-cell multi-omic integration compares and contrasts features of brain cell identity. *Cell* 177 (6 2019), 1873–1887.e17. 1.1.3
- [339] WEN, X., PIQUE-REGI, R., AND LUCA, F. Integrating molecular qtl data into genomewide genetic association analysis: Probabilistic assessment of enrichment and colocalization. PLOS Genetics 13 (3 2017), e1006646. 2
- [340] WENDELL, A. D. Overview and epidemiology of substance abuse in pregnancy. Clinical Obstetrics Gynecology 56 (3 2013), 91–96. 4.1.2
- [341] WILFERT, A. B., SULOVARI, A., TURNER, T. N., COE, B. P., AND EICHLER, E. E. Recurrent de novo mutations in neurodevelopmental disorders: properties and clinical implications. *Genome Medicine 9* (12 2017), 101. 4.1.1
- [342] WITZIG, V. S., KOMNIG, D., AND FALKENBURGER, B. H. Changes in striatal medium spiny neuron morphology resulting from dopamine depletion are reversible. *Cells 9* (11 2020), 2441. 3
- [343] WYSS-CORAY, T. Ageing, neurodegeneration and brain rejuvenation. Nature 539, 7628, 180–186. 1.2.2, 5.1.4
- [344] WÜRTZ, A., RYTTER, D., VESTERGAARD, C., CHRISTENSEN, J., VESTERGAARD, M., AND BECH, B. Prenatal exposure to antiepileptic drugs and use of primary healthcare during childhood: a population-based cohort study in denmark. *BMJ Open 7*, 1. 233. 4.1.2
- [345] XIA, C., MAKARETZ, S. J., CASO, C., MCGINNIS, S., GOMPERTS, S. N., SEPULCRE, J., GOMEZ-ISLA, T., HYMAN, B. T., SCHULTZ, A., VASDEV, N., JOHNSON, K. A., AND DICKERSON, B. C. Association of in vivo [jsup;18j/sup; f]av-1451 tau pet imaging results with cortical atrophy and symptoms in typical and atypical alzheimer disease. JAMA Neurology 74 (4 2017), 427. 3.1.2
- [346] XU, Y., YANG, J., AND SHANG, H. Meta-analysis of risk factors for parkinson's disease dementia. *Translational Neurodegeneration* 5 (12 2016), 11. 2.1.3

- [347] XU, Y., ZHAO, M., HAN, Y., AND ZHANG, H. Gabaergic inhibitory interneuron deficits in alzheimer's disease: Implications for treatment. *Frontiers in Neuroscience* 14 (6 2020).
 2
- [348] YADAV, S. The wholeness in suffix -omics, -omes, and the word om. J Biomol Tech 18, 5. 1.1
- [349] YANG, W., LIU, J., ZHENG, F., JIA, M., ZHAO, L., LU, T., RUAN, Y., ZHANG, J., YUE, W., ZHANG, D., AND WANG, L. The evidence for association of atp2b2 polymorphisms with autism in chinese han population. *PLoS ONE 8* (4 2013), e61021.
 4.4.3
- [350] YEUNG, E. S. Genome-wide correlation between mrna and protein in a single cell. Angewandte Chemie International Edition 50 (1 2011), 583–585. 5.1.7
- [351] YOSHIYAMA, Y., HIGUCHI, M., ZHANG, B., HUANG, S.-M., IWATA, N., SAIDO, T., MAEDA, J., SUHARA, T., TROJANOWSKI, J. Q., AND LEE, V. M.-Y. Synapse loss and microglial activation precede tangles in a p301s tauopathy mouse model. *Neuron 53* (2 2007), 337–351. 3.1.2
- [352] YU, G. Gene ontology semantic similarity analysis using gosemsim. In 2020, 207–215.
 1.1.2, 2.2.8
- [353] ZAGHLOOL, A., NIAZI, A., ÅSA K. BJÖRKLUND, WESTHOLM, J. O., AMEUR, A., AND FEUK, L. Characterization of the nuclear and cytosolic transcriptomes in human brain tissue reveals new insights into the subcellular distribution of rna transcripts. *Scientific Reports 11* (2 2021), 4076. 5
- [354] ZAJA-MILATOVIC, S., KEENE, C., MONTINE, K., LEVERENZ, J., TSUANG, D., AND MONTINE, T. Selective dendritic degeneration of medium spiny neurons in dementia with lewy bodies. *Neurology 66*, 10, 1591–1593. 162. 2.3.7, 2.4.2, 3
- [355] ZECH, M., LAM, D. D., WEBER, S., BERUTTI, R., POLÁKOVÁ, K., HAVRÁNKOVÁ, P., FEČÍKOVÁ, A., STROM, T. M., RŮŽIČKA, E., JECH, R., AND WINKELMANN, J.

A unique de novo gain-of-function variant in camk4 associated with intellectual disability and hyperkinetic movement disorder. *Cold Spring Harbor molecular case studies* 4 (12 2018). 4.4.3

- [356] ZEISEL, A., HOCHGERNER, H., LÖNNERBERG, P., JOHNSSON, A., MEMIC, F., VAN DER ZWAN, J., HÄRING, M., BRAUN, E., BORM, L. E., MANNO, G. L., CODELUPPI, S., FURLAN, A., LEE, K., SKENE, N., HARRIS, K. D., HJERLING-LEFFLER, J., ARENAS, E., ERNFORS, P., MARKLUND, U., AND LINNARSSON, S. Molecular architecture of the mouse nervous system. *Cell* 174 (8 2018). 6
- [357] ZENG, L., YANG, J., PENG, S., ZHU, J., ZHANG, B., SUH, Y., AND TU, Z. Transcriptome analysis reveals the difference between "healthy" and "common" aging and their connection with age-related diseases. *Aging Cell* 19 (3 2020). 5.1.4
- [358] ZENG, P., SHAO, Z., AND ZHOU, X. Statistical methods for mediation analysis in the era of high-throughput genomics: Current successes and future challenges. *Computational* and Structural Biotechnology Journal 19 (2021), 3209–3224. 4
- [359] ZENG, W., JIANG, S., KONG, X., EL-ALI, N., BALL, A. R., MA, C. I.-H., HASHIMOTO, N., YOKOMORI, K., AND MORTAZAVI, A. Single-nucleus rna-seq of differentiating human myoblasts reveals the extent of fate heterogeneity. *Nucleic Acids Research* (8 2016), gkw739. 5.1.6
- [360] ZHANG, R., MANZA, P., AND VOLKOW, N. D. Prenatal caffeine exposure: association with neurodevelopmental outcomes in 9- to 11-year-old children. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry 63* (5 2022), 563–578. 4.1.2
- [361] ZHAO, H., WANG, Q., YAN, T., ZHANG, Y., JUAN XU, H., PENG YU, H., TU, Z., GUO, X., HUI JIANG, Y., JIANG LI, X., ZHOU, H., AND ZHANG, Y. Q. Maternal valproic acid exposure leads to neurogenesis defects and autism-like behaviors in nonhuman primates. *Translational Psychiatry 9* (12 2019). 4.4.3

- [362] ZHENG, C., ZHOU, X.-W., AND WANG, J.-Z. The dual roles of cytokines in alzheimer's disease: update on interleukins, tnf-, tgf- and ifn-. *Translational Neurodegeneration* 5 (12 2016), 7. 3
- [363] ZHENG, G., TERRY, J., AND BELGRADER, P. Massively parallel digital transcriptional profiling of single cells. *Nat Commun* 8, 1. 22. 1.1.3
- [364] ZHOU, F.-M. The striatal medium spiny neurons: what they are and how they link with parkinson's disease. In *Genetics, Neurology, Behavior, and Diet in Parkinson's Disease*. Elsevier, 2020, pp. 395–412.
- [365] ZHOU, J., GENNATAS, E., KRAMER, J., MILLER, B., AND SEELEY, W. Predicting regional neurodegeneration from the healthy brain functional connectome. *Neuron* 73 (3 2012), 1216–1227. 3.1.2
- [366] ZHU, Y., WANG, L., YIN, Y., AND YANG, E. Systematic analysis of gene expression patterns associated with postmortem interval in human tissues. *Scientific Reports* 7 (7 2017), 5435. 5.1.4
- [367] ZIMMERMAN, K. D., EVANS, C., AND LANGEFELD, C. D. Reply to: A balanced measure shows superior performance of pseudobulk methods in single-cell rna-sequencing analysis. *Nature Communications 13* (12 2022), 7852. 5.1.8
- [368] ÉVA MÉSZÁROS. Dna sequencing methods: from sanger to ngs. 1.1.1
- [369] 'FLEMING S, 'MARIONI J, M. Cellbender remove-background: a deep generative model for unsupervised removal of background noise from scrna-seq datasets. 23. 1.1.3, 6